

# COMMENTARY ON THE UNITED NATIONS CONVENTION AGAINST ILLICIT TRAFFIC IN NARCOTIC DRUGS AND PSYCHOTROPIC SUBSTANCES 1988

Done at Vienna on 20 December 1988



## COMMENTARY ON THE UNITED NATIONS CONVENTION AGAINST ILLICIT TRAFFIC IN NARCOTIC DRUGS AND PSYCHOTROPIC SUBSTANCES 1988

Done at Vienna on 20 December 1988



### NOTE

 $Symbols \ of \ United \ Nations \ documents \ are \ composed \ of \ capital \ letters \ combined \ with \ figures. \ Mention \ of such a \ symbol \ indicates \ a \ reference \ to \ a \ United \ Nations \ document.$ 

E/CN.7/590

UNITED NATIONS PUBLICATION Sales No. E.98.XI.5 ISBN 92-1-148106-6

### **PREFACE**

The present Commentary on the United Nations Convention against Illicit Traffic in Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances, 1988, was prepared at the request of the Economic and Social Council and comes at a most appropriate time. The tenth anniversary of the adoption of the Convention—the latest in a continuum of drug abuse control treaties—falls in the same year as the General Assembly's special session devoted to international efforts to fight drug abuse and drug trafficking.

This work is one of a long and distinguished series of commentaries on international drug control conventions dating back to the time of the League of Nations. While the States parties to any treaty may be its final authoritative interpreters, it would be fair to say that these commentaries have been well received as helpful in furthering a mutual understanding of the contents and objectives of the conventions. They have certainly added an international perspective to what might otherwise have represented a more restricted and parochial—not to say partisan—vision.

In the case of this *Commentary*, at the request of the Commission on Narcotic Drugs and the Economic and Social Council the usual legal exegesis of the text has been supplemented by a section on the practical implementation of the Convention. I hope this additional feature will make the *Commentary* particularly useful.

The twentieth special session of the General Assembly, held in New York from 8 to 10 June 1998, provided a welcome opportunity for the international community to review the harmful effects of drug abuse and trafficking on the individual, on society, on the economy and on the body politic. It also gave all nations an opportunity to reaffirm their commitment to confronting those problems and to identify measures and priorities at the community, national, regional and global levels.

It is my hope that this *Commentary* will be a useful tool in helping us rise to that challenge.

New York, June 1998

Kofi A. Annan Secretary-General of the United Nations

### **FOREWORD**

### Origin of the Commentary

Recalling that the earlier commentaries—on the Single Convention on Narcotic Drugs of 1961, on the 1972 Protocol amending that Convention and on the Convention on Psychotropic Substances of 1971—were of considerable value to a number of Governments as a guide in framing legislative and administrative measures for the application of those conventions, the Economic and Social Council, in its resolution 1993/42 requested the Secretary-General to prepare a commentary on the United Nations Convention against Illicit Traffic in Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances of 1988, which had then been in force for almost three years. In similar requests for the earlier commentaries, the Council had underlined their potential usefulness in ensuring a more uniform interpretation of the treaties. In its request for the present Commentary, the Council specified that the work should be of assistance to States not only in their interpretation of the 1988 Convention but also in their effective implementation of it. The present Commentary, therefore, has been organized along somewhat different lines than its predecessors, and the drafting procedure also called for a different approach.

The body of most of the text was first prepared by four principal drafters: Henri Mazaud, former Assistant Director of the Division of Human Rights of the United Nations Secretariat in charge of international instruments and procedures, and John F. Scott, former Director of the Office of Legal Counsel and Deputy Director to the Under-Secretary-General for Legal Affairs of the United Nations Secretariat, both of whom had acted as legal consultants to the plenipotentiary conference that adopted the Convention, William C. Gilmore, Professor of International Criminal Law at the University of Edinburgh, and David McClean, Q.C., Professor, Department of Law of the University of Sheffield. Their invaluable contribution to this *Commentary* is hereby acknowledged with thanks.

The evolving texts on various technical articles were routinely submitted for comment and evaluation to a broad cross-section of government experts from all geographical regions, many of whom had participated in the drafting process of the Convention and had attended the plenipotentiary conference. In addition, particularly with regard to the comments on articles 12, 13 and 16, the views of the secretariat of the International Narcotics Control Board were greatly appreciated.

The multidisciplinary approach adopted, required by the very nature of the contents of the Convention, was further enhanced at a number of expert review groups that were convened by the Legal Affairs Section of the United Nations International Drug Control Programme, which constantly revised and completed the manuscript. The Legal Affairs Section also liaised throughout the drafting process with the Treaty Section of the Office of Legal Affairs of the United Nations Secretariat.

Overall coordination of the project and supervision of the manuscript was ensured by Paulsen K. Bailey, the former Secretary of the Commission on Narcotic Drugs for many years who had served as Secretary of the Conference and of its General Committee and Committee I.

Lastly, thanks are due to all others—too numerous to mention individually—who contributed in various ways to the successful completion of the long and meticulous task of drafting and reviewing the *Commentary* and preparing it for publication.

### Structure of the Commentary

The *Commentary* is divided into five functional parts in addition to the "Introduction", which gives an overview of the genesis of the 1988 Convention from its conception by the General Assembly in December of 1984 to its adoption at the plenipotentiary conference in December of 1988.

"Part One", entitled "General Provisions", covers the Preamble, article 1 ("Definitions") and article 2 ("Scope of the Convention"). Although the Preamble of the Convention is not of the same legal significance as one of its articles, its perusal, together with that of article 2, provides a sound background for an understanding of the objectives of the Convention and, with article 1, a general introduction to its subject matter.

The titles of the remaining four parts are self-explanatory. Thus, "Part Two", entitled "Substantive Provisions", covers articles 3-19, the substantive or technical articles, many of which are self-contained mini-treaties on particular topics. The roles of the Commission on Narcotic Drugs and the International Narcotics Control Board and the reporting requirements of parties, to ensure proper implementation of the Convention, are the subjects of "Part Three", entitled "Implementation Provisions". "Part Four", entitled "Final Clauses", explains the standard provisions included in many multilateral conventions to regulate such technicalities as becoming a party to or amending the Convention.

The annex to the Convention, which lists the substances governed by the provisions of article 12, is the subject of "Part Five".

Background information on the "final clauses" as adopted and on the matter of reservations to and territorial application of the Convention (issues not explicitly dealt with) is included in two annexes to the *Commentary*.

A particular and distinctive feature of the present *Commentary* arises from the request of the Economic and Social Council that it should be directly useful to parties in their effective implementation of the provisions of the Convention. This has led, in addition to the exegesis of the final text as adopted, a standard feature in legal commentaries, to the inclusion, where appropriate, of a section or sections entitled "Implementation considerations". These considerations reflect government practices with respect to the matter under examination or examples of practical application measures in use or recommended by various government agencies or authoritative international bodies. Because of the nature of the contents of the articles, such considerations are limited to articles 3-19, i.e. "Part Two", on "Substantive Provisions". Depending on the internal content of each article, the consideration may apply to an article as a whole or to various subsections.

Finally, the paragraph numbering system used in this Commentary calls for a brief explanation. Each chapter begins with a new series of paragraph numbers, the first digit or digits of which reflect the article number (for example, the chapter on article 7 begins with paragraphs 7.1, 7.2 etc., and the chapter on article 19 runs from paragraph 19.1 to paragraph 19.24). This facilitates reference to any given paragraph by obviating the need to refer to a section or chapter and immediately identifies the article in question. To accommodate this general system, some exceptions needed to be made: the paragraphs in the "Introduction" are numbered 1, 2 etc.; the paragraphs in the "Preamble" are numbered 0.1, 0.2 etc.; and the section entitled "Attestation clause and concluding paragraph" and "Part Five", on Table I and Table II, annexed to the Convention, use, respectively, 35 and 36 as prefix digits in the paragraph numbers (since the last numbered article is article 34). The annexes follow a similar system. It is hoped that the reader and those reviewing or commenting on the content matter of the Commentary will find the system helpful and easy to use.

## **CONTENTS**

		Page
Prefac	ce	iii
Forev	vord	iv
Expla	natory notes	ix
Introd	luction	1
	Part One: General Provisions	
Prean	ıble	12
Article No.	2	
1.	Definitions	26
2.	Scope of the Convention	40
	Part Two: Substantive Provisions	
3.	Offences and sanctions	48
4.	Jurisdiction	100
5.	Confiscation	117
6.	Extradition	152
7.	Mutual legal assistance	176
8.	Transfer of proceedings	212
9.	Other forms of co-operation and training	216
10.	International co-operation and assistance for transit States	231
11.	Controlled delivery	235
12.	Substances frequently used in the illicit manufacture of	
	narcotic drugs or psychotropic substances	251
13.	Materials and equipment	289
14.	Measures to eradicate illicit cultivation of narcotic plants	
	and to eliminate illicit demand for narcotic drugs and	
	psychotropic substances	294
15.	Commercial carriers	311
16.	Commercial documents and labelling of exports	319
17.	Illicit traffic by sea	323
18.	Free trade zones and free ports	346
19.	The use of the mails	351

Article No.				
	Part Three: Implementation Provisions	0		
20.	Information to be furnished by the Parties	360		
21.	Functions of the Commission	368		
22.	Functions of the Board	374		
23.	Reports of the Board	386		
	Part Four: Final Clauses			
24.	Application of stricter measures than those required by this			
	Convention	390		
25.	Non-derogation from earlier treaty rights and obligations	393		
26.	Signature	397		
27.	Ratification, acceptance, approval or act of formal			
20	confirmation	401		
28.	Accession	404		
29.	Entry into force	406		
30. 31.	Denunciation	409		
31. 32.	Amendments	411		
32. 33.	Settlement of disputes	416 421		
33. 34.		421		
3 <del>4</del> .	Depositary	422		
Attest	ation clause and concluding paragraph	425		
	Part Five: Tables Annexed to the Convention			
Anne	to the Convention	426		
	Annexes			
I.	Legislative history of the final clauses	434		
II.	Subjects not included in the Convention	436		
	A. Reservations	436		
	B. Territorial application	441		

### **EXPLANATORY NOTES**

The following acronyms are used in this publication:

Interpol International Criminal Police Organization

OAS Organization of American States

UPU Universal Postal Union
WHO World Health Organization

\*\*\*

The following short titles are used in this publication:

"Assembly" for the General Assembly of the United Nations.

"Board" for the International Narcotics Control Board.

"Commission" for the Commission on Narcotic Drugs of the Economic and Social Council.

"Conference" for the United Nations Conference for the Adoption of a Convention against Illicit Traffic in Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances, held at Vienna from 25 November to 20 December 1988.

"Council" for the Economic and Social Council of the United Nations.

"Schengen Convention" for the Convention applying the Schengen Agreement of 14 June 1985 between the Governments of the States of the Benelux Economic Union, the Federal Republic of Germany and the French Republic, on the gradual abolition of checks at their common borders.

"Secretary-General" for the Secretary-General of the United Nations.

\*\*\*

The following abbreviated forms have been used for publications and other references occurring frequently in the text:

"1912 Convention" for the International Opium Convention, signed at The Hague on 23 January 1912, reproduced in League of Nations, *Treaty Series*, vol. VIII, p. 187.

"1925 Convention", for the International Opium Convention signed at Geneva on 19 February, reproduced in League of Nations, *Treaty Series*, vol. LXXXI, p. 317.

"1931 Convention" for the Convention for Limiting the Manufacture and Regulating the Distribution of Narcotic Drugs, signed at Geneva on 13 July 1931, reproduced in League of Nations, *Treaty Series*, vol. CXXXIX, p. 301.

"1936 Convention" for the Convention for the Suppression of the Illicit Traffic in Dangerous Drugs, signed at Geneva on 26 June 1936, reproduced in League of Nations, *Treaty Series*, vol. CXCVIII, p. 299.

"1948 Protocol" for the Protocol Bringing under International Control Drugs Outside the Scope of the Conventions of 13 July 1931 for Limiting the Manufacture and Regulating the Distribution of Narcotic Drugs as Amended by the Protocol signed at Lake Success, New York, on 11 December 1946, signed in Paris on 19 November 1948, reproduced in United Nations, *Treaty Series*, vol. 44, p. 277.

"1953 Protocol", for the Protocol Limiting and Regulating the Cultivation of the Poppy Plant, the Production of, International and Wholesale Trade in, and Use of Opium, signed at New York on 23 June 1953, reproduced in United Nations, *Treaty Series*, vol. 456, p. 3.

"1961 Convention" for the Single Convention on Narcotic Drugs, 1961, done at New York on 30 March 1961, reproduced in United Nations, *Treaty Series*, vol. 520, No. 7515, p. 204.

"1961 Convention as amended" for the Single Convention on Narcotic Drugs, 1961, as amended by the Protocol amending the Single Convention on Narcotic Drugs, 1961, done at New York on 8 August 1975, reproduced in United Nations, *Treaty Series*, vol. 976, No. 14152, p. 105.

"1971 Convention" for the Convention on Psychotropic Substances, Done at Vienna on 21 February 1971, reproduced in United Nations, *Treaty Series*, vol. 1019, No. 14956, p. 175.

"1972 Protocol" for the Protocol amending the single Convention on Narcotic Drugs, 1961, done at Geneva on 25 March 1972, reproduced in United Nations, *Treaty Series*, vol. 976, No. 14151, p. 3.

"1988 Convention" for the United Nations Convention against Illicit Traffic in Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances, done at Vienna on 20 December 1988.

"Commentary on the 1961 Convention" for Commentary on the Single Convention on Narcotic Drugs, 1961 (Prepared by the Secretary-General in accordance with paragraph 1 of Economic and Social Council resolution 914 D (XXXIV) of 3 August 1962) (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.73.XI.1).

"Commentary on the 1971 Convention" for Commentary on the Convention on Psychotropic Substances, Done at Vienna on 21 February 1971 (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.76.XI.5).

"Commentary on the 1972 Protocol" for Commentary on the Protocol Amending the Single Convention on Narcotic Drugs, 1961, Done at Geneva on 25 March 1972 (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.76.XI.6).

"Official Records, vol. I ...," for Official Records of the United Nations Conference for the Adoption of a Convention against Illicit Traffic in Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances, Vienna, 25 November-20 December 1988, vol. I (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.94.XI.5).

"Official Records, vol. II ...," for Official Records of the United Nations Conference for the Adoption of a Convention against Illicit Traffic in Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances, Vienna, 25 November-20 December 1988, vol. II (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.91.XI.1).

\* \* \*

Countries are referred to by the names that were in official use at the time.

The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the Secretariat of the United Nations concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries.

\* \* \*

### INTRODUCTION

### Origin of the Convention

- 1. In reviewing the situation and trends in drug abuse and illicit trafficking since the entry into force of the 1961 Convention, the 1961 Convention as amended and the 1971 Convention, both the Commission on Narcotic Drugs, in its deliberations and resolutions, and the International Narcotics Control Board, in its annual reports, noted with deep concern that the situation was steadily and rapidly deteriorating. On the basis of information available from States Members of the United Nations during the early 1980s, it was becoming evident that drug abuse and illicit traffic had reached unprecedented dimensions. The General Assembly, in its resolution 36/168, by which it adopted the International Drug Abuse Control Strategy in 1981, also noted that "the scourge of drug abuse" had reached "epidemic proportions in many parts of the world".
- 2. Illicit drug traffic menaced the health and well-being of individuals, spread corruption, abetted criminal conspiracy, and subverted public order. It threatened the sovereignty and security of States and disrupted the economic, social and cultural structures of society. In particular circumstances, it generated or supported other serious forms of organized crime.
- 3. Faced with a problem of this magnitude, Governments, acting in isolation, could not be expected to counter and suppress the consequences of widespread and highly organized drug trafficking. The existing drug control treaties, which continued to provide a sound international legal framework for the regulation of a number of specific narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances, were no longer alone adequate because they had been devised to respond to a situation that had since changed dramatically. Moreover, their criminal law provisions for suppressing the illicit traffic were limited in scope.
- 4. In the 1980s, the international community at large and specifically States parties to the international drug control treaties were more convinced than ever that the time had come to move forward and take new initiatives not only to intensify efforts and coordinate strategies within the existing framework, but also to conceive and elaborate another instrument, which would enable them to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The names of these and other conventions and publications mentioned frequently in the present *Commentary* are listed in full in the explanatory notes at the beginning of this publication.

attack more forcefully, through cooperation and concerted action, the complex problem of drug trafficking and all its implications.

5. Several aspects of the problem of the illicit traffic had attracted the attention of the relevant United Nations bodies and consideration had been given to the development of possible countermeasures. Two expert groups met in 1982 to study the functioning, adequacy and enhancement of the 1961 Convention and the 1971 Convention. Their reports (E/CN.7/1983/2/Add.1 and 2) touched upon such topics as the possibility of merging the two conventions or introducing new provisions concerning extradition procedures or measures aimed at depriving drug traffickers of the proceeds of their illicit activities. An expert group meeting on the forfeiture of the proceeds of drug crimes, convened by the Commission on Narcotic Drugs, met twice in 1983 and 1984. At its second meeting, it produced a set of suggestions (MNAR/1984/13) for including, in a relevant international instrument, elements or clauses that would supplement the sanctions concerning deprivation of liberty following conviction for serious drug-related offences that already existed in the conventions in force. At the Eleventh Meeting of the Operational Heads of National Narcotics Law Enforcement Agencies, Far East Region,<sup>2</sup> in November 1984, the opinion was expressed that any new convention "might very usefully address means of streamlining mutual judicial and other assistance in order to facilitate the tracing, freezing and forfeiture of the proceeds of drug crimes at the international level" (E/CN.7/1985/9). Attention was also directed to extradition procedures, with a view to including appropriate provisions in any future convention. A major study was undertaken by the Division of Narcotic Drugs; it examined existing extradition practices for drug-related offences, suggested guidelines for use in concluding extradition treaties, and identified areas for possible concrete action.<sup>3</sup> Consideration was also given to related topics, such as the establishment of closer control measures over some chemicals that are essential for the manufacture of illicit drugs and are readily available on the licit market, as well as the interdiction of drug smuggling in aircraft and vessels, the use of the law enforcement technique of controlled delivery, and cooperation across frontiers to enable drug law enforcement agencies to collect and exchange information and evidence on identified drug trafficking groups and operations.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The name was changed in 1986 to Heads of National Drug Law Enforcement Agencies, Asia and the Pacific.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>The study was later issued as *Extradition for Drug-Related Offences* (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.85.XI.6).

- 6. The urgent need for decisive action and for a comprehensive approach that would embrace all aspects of the traffic prompted several Governments of Latin American countries to adopt two solemn declarations, which were transmitted in 1984 to the General Assembly for consideration at its thirty-ninth session. The Quito Declaration against Traffic in Narcotic Drugs (A/39/407, annex)4 called for international legislative action that would be capable of directing an effective campaign against the illicit traffic beyond national frontiers and would impose penalties on offenders, wherever they might be, and proposed that drug trafficking should be considered a crime against humanity, with all the implicit legal consequences. In the New York Declaration against Drug Trafficking and the Illicit Use of Drugs (A/39/55 and Corr.1 and 2, annex),5 the United Nations was urged to convene as soon as possible a special conference to consider the legal and institutional problems involved, adopt an international plan of action against drug trafficking, and consider declaring drug trafficking to be a crime against humanity.
- 7. At its thirty-ninth session, the General Assembly had on its agenda an item entitled "International campaign against traffic in drugs". The discussions on that item led to the adoption of three significant resolutions. First, in its resolution 39/142, the Assembly adopted a Declaration on the Control of Drug Trafficking and Drug Abuse, in which it declared, *inter alia*, that drug trafficking had become "an international criminal activity demanding urgent attention and maximum priority". Secondly, in its resolution 39/143, the Assembly requested the Economic and Social Council, through the Commission on Narcotic Drugs, "to consider the legal, institutional and social elements relevant to all aspects of combating drug trafficking, including the possibility of convening a specialized conference".
- 8. Thirdly, in its resolution 39/141, the Assembly, bearing in mind the Quito Declaration and the New York Declaration, expressed its conviction that the wide scope of the illicit drug traffic and its consequences made it necessary to prepare a convention which would consider the various aspects of the problem as a whole and, in particular, those not envisaged in existing international instruments. It accordingly requested that the preparation of such a convention should be initiated, as a matter of priority, by the Commission on Narcotic

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Signed on behalf of Bolivia, Colombia, Ecuador, Nicaragua, Panama, Peru and Venezuela.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Signed on behalf of Argentina, Bolivia, Brazil, Ecuador, Peru and Venezuela.

Drugs and, to that end, transmitted to it, as a working paper, the text of a draft convention annexed to the resolution.

### Preliminary elaboration of the draft Convention

- 9. The draft Convention transmitted to the Commission as a working paper covered, in 18 articles, a wide range of issues. It specified, in particular, that illicit trafficking constituted "a grave international crime against humanity", that the offences enumerated in the Convention would not be subject to any statute of limitations and that they should not be considered as political crimes for the purpose of extradition. Stringent criminal penalties should be meted out to individuals responsible for the illicit activities enumerated in the Convention. Trial of offenders by a competent international tribunal was also envisaged, and disputes relating to the interpretation, application or fulfilment of the Convention would be submitted to the International Court of Justice. A fund would be established to assist developing countries affected by the illicit traffic.
- 10. At its thirty-first session, the Commission responded to the request of the General Assembly and its members exchanged preliminary views on what the substantive content of the new instrument should be and on how it should be produced. It was generally recognized that the new instrument should not duplicate the provisions of, or derogate from the obligations in, the conventions already in force, but should concentrate on concrete and innovative elements complementary in substance and closely linked to the existing drug control treaties. To make it really effective, it should be formulated in such a way that its provisions would be acceptable to the greatest possible number of States, thus facilitating universal adherence. To that end, and to accommodate the interests of all countries, its provisions should, as far as possible, be compatible with the various constitutional and legal systems and consistent with the generally accepted principles of criminal law. Respect for the sovereignty of States should be ensured.
- 11. With respect to the procedure to be followed to carry out its mandate, the Commission, realizing that the drafting of the new instrument would represent a complex undertaking requiring high-level expertise, decided that the first step would be to seek from Governments comments and proposals on the elements they would like to see incorporated in the draft Convention.

In its resolution 1 (XXXI), 6 the Commission therefore requested the 12. Secretary-General to circulate for that purpose, to Member States and States parties to the existing drug control treaties, a set of 17 documents comprising the text of the draft Convention annexed to General Assembly resolution 39/141 and of the Quito and New York Declarations and other relevant reports and notes. The Secretary-General was asked to compile and consolidate the comments received from Governments, as well as other relevant studies, and to prepare a report that would identify elements to be considered for inclusion in the draft Convention. In his report (E/CN.7/1986/2 and Corr.1 and 2 and Add.1-3), which contained a systematic analysis of the replies from Governments and of other relevant material, the Secretary-General identified the elements that were generally considered to be worth including in the draft Convention, as well as other elements that needed more consideration before a decision could be reached on whether or not to include them. A series of other elements, namely the qualification of drug trafficking as a crime against humanity, the exclusion of drug trafficking from any statute of limitations, the creation of an international criminal tribunal, the establishment of a new assistance fund<sup>7</sup> and compulsory jurisdiction of the International Court of Justice, set out in the draft Convention transmitted to the Commission as a working paper, met with strong opposition from many of the Governments that replied. Their inclusion did not seem to meet the standard of acceptability considered essential if the Convention was to become an effective instrument.

13. Governments did not dispute in their replies the need for, or the desirability of, the proposed new instrument but they did emphasize that, since it would be limited to only one aspect of drug control, namely illicit traffic, it would be important to ensure that States not already parties to the existing conventions would accede to those instruments. As to the form of the proposed instrument, some Governments expressed a definite preference for the adoption of a protocol or additional instrument amending and supplementing the existing conventions. In view, however, of the legal difficulties that such a formula would involve, the idea was not pursued and the proposal to draft a distinct instrument prevailed.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Official Records of the Economic and Social Council, 1985, Supplement No. 3 (E/1985/23), chap. IX, sect. A.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>There was already a United Nations Fund for Drug Abuse Control, established by the Economic and Social Council in its resolution 1559 (XLIX) of 11 November 1970 with a view to assisting Governments and international organizations in their efforts to reduce drug abuse and suppress illicit trafficking. With the creation of the United Nations International Drug Control Programme in 1990, the Fund and the Programme were merged.

14. At the fortieth session of the General Assembly, satisfaction was expressed with the support that the Assembly's initiative had encountered worldwide, not only from Governments but also from international, regional and nongovernmental organizations concerned with the drug problem. In particular, it was noted with appreciation that the Seventh United Nations Congress on the Prevention of Crime and the Treatment of Offenders had recommended in its resolution 28 that the preparation of a new international instrument against illicit traffic should be considered an absolute priority. In its resolution 40/122, the Assembly, after referring to the common concern regarding the "awesome and vicious effects of drug abuse and illicit trafficking", in pursuance of a proposal made by the Secretary-General earlier in the year, decided to convene at Vienna, in 1987, an International Conference on Drug Abuse and Illicit Trafficking at the ministerial level. The Conference was given the mandate to adopt a comprehensive multidisciplinary outline of future activities in drug abuse control,9 which would focus on concrete and substantive issues directly relevant to the problems of drug abuse and illicit traffic and, inter alia, support the elaboration of a convention against illicit traffic.

- 15. In its resolution 40/120, the Assembly expressed its appreciation to Member States for their response to the request of the Secretary-General for their comments on the proposed draft instrument and requested the Economic and Social Council to instruct the Commission on Narcotic Drugs, following consideration at its ninth special session of the report of the Secretary-General, to decide on the elements that could be included in the Convention, and to request the Secretary-General to prepare a draft on the basis of those elements.
- 16. At its ninth special session, in February 1986, on the basis of its consideration of the report of the Secretary-General, the Commission adopted resolution 1 (S-IX), entitled "Guidance on the drafting of an international

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>Seventh United Nations Congress on the Prevention of Crime and the Treatment of Offenders, Milan, 26 August-6 September 1985: report prepared by the Secretariat (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.86.IV.1), chap. I, sect. E.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>The Comprehensive Multidisciplinary Outline of Future Activities in Drug Abuse Control ultimately adopted by the Conference (*Report of the International Conference on Drug Abuse and Illicit Trafficking, Vienna, 17-26 June 1987* (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.87.I.18), chap. I, sect. A) is referred to in article 14, paragraph 4, of the Convention as one of the bases on which parties might be ready to adopt appropriate measures aimed at eliminating or reducing illicit demand for narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances.

convention to combat drug trafficking". <sup>10</sup> In that resolution, the Commission recommended 14 elements for inclusion in an initial draft Convention, namely: definitions, as required for the purpose of the Convention; identification, tracing, freezing and forfeiture of the proceeds of drug trafficking; strengthening of the obligations concerning extradition for offences relating to drug trafficking; measures to monitor or control specific chemicals, solvents and precursors used in the illegal processing or manufacture of controlled drugs; measures to ensure that commercial carriers are not used to transport illicit narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances, including the development of a system of sanctions; means of cooperation among countries, particularly among law enforcement agencies, for the exchange of information, as well as the establishment of joint communications links, training assistance and the exchange of expertise, including the posting of drug liaison officers as needed, taking into consideration the special problems of transit States; strengthening of cooperation among countries to provide mutual legal and judicial assistance in cases relating to drug trafficking, and promotion of mutual legal assistance in investigative and prosecutorial matters; controlled delivery; adequacy of sanctions for offences relating to drug trafficking; strengthening of mutual cooperation among States in the suppression of illicit drug trafficking on the high seas; measures to curtail the illicit and uncontrolled cultivation of narcotic plants, including prevention, crop substitution and eradication; extension of controls in free trade zones and free ports; prevention of the receipt, possession and transfer of equipment for the purpose of illegal manufacturing, compounding or processing of narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances; and prevention of the use of the mails for the illegal transport of narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances. The Commission also requested the Secretary-General to prepare a preliminary draft of a convention containing those specified elements and to circulate the draft to members of the Commission and other interested Governments for their comments or proposed textual changes.

17. In pursuance of the request by the Commission, the Secretary-General prepared a draft text consisting of 14 articles corresponding to the elements recommended for inclusion by the Commission and elaborating their substantive contents. This preliminary draft text, as well as a compilation of the comments or textual changes submitted by Governments (E/CN.7/1987/2/Add.1), were considered by the Commission at its thirty-second session. The draft did not

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>Official Records of the Economic and Social Council, 1986, Supplement No. 3 (E/1986/23), chap. X, sect. A.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>Official Records, vol. I ..., document E/CN.7/1987/2.

contain any preambular provisions or articles dealing with implementation measures and mechanisms or final clauses, the formulation of which was considered to be premature at that stage and to require further guidance from the Commission.

### Work of the open-ended intergovernmental expert group

- After a general debate on the approach and content of the draft and a discussion of it article by article, the Commission came to the conclusion that, in order to expedite the elaboration of the Convention so that it might enter into force as soon as possible, as the General Assembly had requested in its resolution 41/26, it was necessary to establish an open-ended intergovernmental expert group whose sole task would be to review a working document to be prepared for that purpose by the Secretary-General. The document in question would consolidate the draft prepared by the Secretary-General, the comments made by the Governments and members of the Commission participating in the thirty-second session, in February 1987, and the results of discussions at that session, as well as those of the informal working group that had examined the article on definitions during the session. It would also contain a draft preambular part, a section on the implementation mechanisms, and draft final clauses. States were invited to submit comments for consideration by the expert The Economic and Social Council endorsed the decisions of the Commission in its resolution 1987/27 and confirmed that the established expert group should meet, if necessary, twice during 1987.
- 19. The expert group accordingly held two sessions in 1987, the first from 29 June to 10 July, the second from 5 to 16 October. It had before it a working document (DND/DCIT/WP.1) prepared by the Secretary-General. Over a total of 39 plenary meetings, the expert group covered all 14 articles included in the draft and held a preliminary exchange of views on the preamble, implementation measures and final clauses.
- 20. At its forty-second session, the General Assembly gave further instructions for speeding up the preparation of the draft Convention. <sup>12</sup> In its resolution 42/111, the Assembly, noting that the time available to the expert

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>In the Declaration adopted on 26 June 1987 by the International Conference on Drug Abuse and Illicit Trafficking (*Report of the International Conference on Drug Abuse and Illicit Trafficking, Vienna, 17-26 June 1987* (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.87.I.18), chap. I, sect. B), the Conference had called for urgent finalization of the draft Convention to ensure its entry into force at the earliest possible date and to complement existing international instruments.

group had not permitted thorough consideration of all articles, requested the Secretary-General to consider convening a third session of the intergovernmental expert group to continue the work on the draft Convention prior to the tenth special session of the Commission in February 1988. It also requested the Commission to consider and, if possible, approve the draft Convention at its tenth special session and to prepare recommendations on measures to be taken with a view to concluding the preparation of the draft Convention, including the possibility of convening a plenipotentiary conference in 1988 for its adoption.

21. A third session of the open-ended intergovernmental expert group was convened from 25 January to 5 February 1988, at which 15 plenary meetings were held. The expert group continued to base its discussions on the working document it had had before it at its first and second sessions. The expert group completed its discussion of a number of articles, approved some revised texts and indicated variants when complete agreement could not be reached. It did not have time to deal with definitions, preambular provisions, implementation articles and final clauses.

### Work of the review group

The reports of the three sessions of the intergovernmental expert group<sup>13</sup> 22. were before the Commission at its tenth special session, held from 8 to 19 February 1988. The Commission conducted a detailed review of the draft articles emerging from the expert group and of the other drafts made available to it and decided that certain articles on which a large measure of agreement had been reached should be transmitted to the projected Conference. Other articles, however, the substance of which constituted the core of the instrument, required further examination. They concerned definitions; penal provisions and adequacy of sanctions; identification, tracing, freezing, seizure and forfeiture of the proceeds of illicit traffic; extradition; mutual legal assistance; and law enforcement cooperation and training. On the recommendation of the Commission, the Council, in its resolution 1988/8, therefore decided to convene a group to review the draft texts of those articles, with a view to submitting them to the Conference; in addition, the review group might review the draft Convention as a whole, in order to achieve consistency. The review group was also to consider organizational matters relating to the Conference and the draft provisional rules of procedure to be prepared by the Secretary-General.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>Official Records, vol. I ..., documents E/CN.7/1988/2 (Part II) and (Part IV).

23. The review group met from 27 June to 8 July 1988 and held 19 plenary meetings, in the course of which it discussed the articles of the draft referred to it for consideration and organizational matters relating to the Conference. He review group agreed to transmit to the Conference the text of those articles on which a consensus had emerged and, for those articles where no agreement could be reached, their text with variants. These texts, together with the texts approved for transmittal to the Conference by the Commission at its tenth special session, were submitted to the Conference as the basic proposal. A number of further proposals put forward by the review group, relating to the text of the draft Convention, were also forwarded for consideration by the Conference.

### The Conference

- 24. Acting on the recommendation of the Commission, the Council, by its resolution 1988/8, decided "to convene, in accordance with article 62, paragraph 4, of the Charter of the United Nations and within the provisions of General Assembly resolution 366 (IV) of 3 December 1949, a conference of plenipotentiaries for the adoption of a convention against illicit traffic in narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances".
- 25. In accordance with Council resolution 1988/8, the Conference was held at Vienna from 25 November to 20 December 1988. Representatives from 106 States participated in the Conference. It was also attended by representatives of national liberation movements, specialized agencies of the United Nations system, intergovernmental organizations and interested United Nations organs and related bodies, and by observers from non-governmental organizations. The Conference set up a General Committee, a Credentials Committee and a Drafting Committee. It established two Committees of the Whole (Committee I and Committee II) and divided between them the articles contained in the draft Convention. The preamble and articles 1-5 in the text originally submitted to the Conference<sup>17</sup> were referred to Committee I and the remaining articles to Committee II. It was decided that the Conference would work by consensus. For each article, the relevant committee had before it the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>Ibid., document E/CONF.82/3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>Ibid., annex II.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup>Ibid., annex IV.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup>These later became articles 1-8 in the final text.

basic proposal submitted to the Conference and the amendments to that proposal submitted on behalf of Governments. When discussion on specific provisions ended in a deadlock, informal consultations were held to find a compromise between conflicting views and propose a new draft. In some instances, informal working groups were set up, in particular to reach an agreement on the drafting of the complex provisions of article 3, on offences and sanctions, or to elaborate the set of final clauses. Informal consultations and the proceedings of informal working groups, although not reflected in detail in the official records, played a crucial role in advancing consensus on the draft provisions. The Committees of the Whole, after agreeing upon a text for a particular article, referred it to the Drafting Committee. The Committees of the Whole reported to the Conference on the outcome of their work and the Drafting Committee submitted to the Conference a complete text of the draft Convention. That text was adopted by the Conference on 19 December 1988 as the United Nations Convention against Illicit Traffic in Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances. The Convention consists of a preamble and 34 articles, together with an annex containing two lists of substances frequently used in the illicit manufacture of narcotic drugs or psychotropic substances, which are amended from time to time by the Commission on Narcotic Drugs in accordance with article 12. The Convention was opened for signature on 20 December 1988 and, in accordance with the provisions of article 26, remained open for signature until 20 December 1989. The necessary number of ratifications and accessions having been reached as provided for in article 29, the Convention entered into force on 11 November 1990.

### PART ONE

### **GENERAL PROVISIONS**

### PREAMBLE AND ARTICLES 1-2

### **PREAMBLE**

### General comments

- 0.1 The preamble of a treaty does not, in itself, have a binding force; it nevertheless has a recognized legal significance and constitutes, in accordance with article 31 of the Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties, 18 one of the elements to be taken into consideration for the purpose of interpretation.
- 0.2 The preamble of the 1988 Convention is longer and more wide-ranging than the preambular parts of the previous drug control treaties. It not only sets out the intentions of the parties and the purpose of the instrument they agreed to conclude but also expounds general guidelines underlying, if not all, at least several provisions of the Convention. Although selective in this respect and somewhat unsystematic, inasmuch as it does not follow the sequence of the articles in the Convention, it provides a useful insight into some of those articles and throws light on their meaning in the overall context of the Convention.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup>United Nations, *Treaty Series*, vol. 1155, p. 331.

0.3 It should be noted that the draft preamble forwarded to the Conference by the Commission on Narcotic Drugs<sup>19</sup> did not give rise to any major objections or divergent opinions when it was considered by Committee I. It was subject only to a limited number of amendments, largely of an editorial nature, and to a few additions.<sup>20</sup> The draft, which had been prepared by the Secretary-General at the request of the Commission, was based essentially on language used in preambular parts of resolutions adopted earlier by United Nations organs dealing with the drug problem, namely the General Assembly, the Economic and Social Council and the Commission, and was therefore not open to controversy.

### **Opening**

### The Parties to this Convention,

### Commentary

0.4 The "Parties" referred to in the opening of the preamble include the entities specifically designated in articles 26 and 27 of the Convention as having competence to sign and ratify, accept, approve or formally confirm the Convention, or accede thereto.<sup>21</sup> They comprise not only States formally recognized at the time and Namibia,<sup>22</sup> but also regional economic integration organizations with competence to negotiate, conclude and apply international agreements in matters covered by the Convention.<sup>23</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup>Official Records, vol. I ..., document E/CONF.82/3, annex II, pp. 74-75.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup>Official Records, vol. II ..., Summary records of meetings of the Committees of the Whole, Committee I, 33rd meeting, paras. 22-168.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup>See below, comments on articles 26-28.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup>For the special status of Namibia at the time of the Conference, see paragraphs 26.3, 26.6 and 26.9 below.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup>Regional economic integration organizations are specifically referred to in articles 26-29.

### First paragraph

Deeply concerned by the magnitude of and rising trend in the illicit production of, demand for and traffic in narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances, which pose a serious threat to the health and welfare of human beings and adversely affect the economic, cultural and political foundations of society,

- The concern expressed in the first preambular paragraph reflects the 0.5 very considerations that had led the General Assembly to initiate the preparation of a draft convention against illicit traffic. In its resolution 39/141, the Assembly voiced its concern "at the increasing damage which the illicit drug traffic causes to public health, the economic and social development of peoples, and young people in particular". The magnitude and extent of the drug problem worldwide and its harmful consequences had been noted in the Quito Declaration against Narcotic Drugs and the New York Declaration against Drug Trafficking and the Illicit Use of Drugs, which prompted the Assembly to take its decision.<sup>24</sup> Similar concerns regarding the human suffering, loss of life and social disruption brought about by drug abuse and its effects on the economic, social, political and cultural structures of States were expressed in the Declaration adopted in 1987 by the International Conference on Drug Abuse and Illicit Trafficking.<sup>25</sup> The annual reports of the International Narcotics Control Board, as well as the resolutions adopted over the years by the Commission on Narcotic Drugs, abounded in similar findings and expressions of concern.
- 0.6 In its preamble, the 1961 Convention recognized that "addiction to narcotic drugs constitutes a serious evil for the individual and is fraught with social and economic danger to mankind", while in the 1971 Convention the parties noted "with concern the public health and social problems resulting from the use of certain psychotropic substances". The language used in the 1988 Convention embraces the entire range of the drug problem; it covers narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances and targets illicit traffic as well as illicit production and demand. As regards the meaning to be attributed to "illicit

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup>See "Introduction", paragraphs 6 and 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup>Report of the International Conference on Drug Abuse and Illicit Trafficking, Vienna, 17-26 June 1987 (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.87.I.18), chap. I.

traffic", reference must be made to the definition given in article 1, namely "the offences set forth in article 3, paragraphs 1 and 2, of this Convention".

### Second paragraph

Deeply concerned also by the steadily increasing inroads into various social groups made by illicit traffic in narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances, and particularly by the fact that children are used in many parts of the world as an illicit drug consumers market and for purposes of illicit production, distribution and trade in narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances, which entails a danger of incalculable gravity,

- 0.7 The text of the second preambular paragraph did not appear in the basic proposal before Committee I. It was introduced during the discussion of the preamble and was sponsored by 18 delegations. In view of the importance attached to its content, it was decided to place it towards the beginning of the preamble. The subject of the paragraph, namely the involvement of children in drug trafficking, was considered to be a matter of the gravest concern.<sup>26</sup>
- 0.8 This concern for children finds substantive expression in article 3, paragraph 5, which provides that certain factual circumstances, such as the victimization or use of minors, or the fact that an offence established in accordance with paragraph 1 of that article is committed in an educational institution or in its immediate vicinity or in other places to which schoolchildren resort for educational, sports and social activities, make the commission of the offence particularly serious. Moreover, in paragraph 7, it is stipulated that parties should ensure that their courts or other competent authorities bear in mind the serious nature of these offences and of such factual circumstances "when considering the eventuality of early release or parole of persons convicted of such offences".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup>See the detailed statement by the representative of Peru (*Official Records*, vol. II ..., Summary records of meetings of the Committees of the Whole, Committee I, 33rd meeting, paras. 151 and 152).

### Third paragraph

Recognizing the links between illicit traffic and other related organized criminal activities which undermine the legitimate economies and threaten the stability, security and sovereignty of States,

- 0.9 The need to recognize the links between illicit traffic and other forms of organized criminal activities and the disrupting and destabilizing effect of those activities was emphasized at an early stage of the preparatory work.<sup>27</sup> It was later suggested that appropriate reference to that problem should also find a place in the preamble of the Convention.
- 0.10 There was some discussion on whether the third preambular paragraph should be couched in general terms or should enumerate the related criminal activities that were being targeted. It was finally agreed that it should be as general as possible and should not single out specific criminal activities. Drawing from other authoritative sources, <sup>28</sup> it may be inferred that illegal smuggling and traffic in firearms, subversion and international terrorism fall in the category of the activities in question. Economic and commercial frauds may also be considered relevant. The use of the word "international" to qualify these activities was deliberately avoided in order to indicate that they were very often of a local nature, especially in their initial stages. It was understood, however, and put on record<sup>29</sup> that the expression "organized criminal activities" covers "all forms of criminal activities including international criminal activities".
- 0.11 Two articles in the Convention require parties to consider taking specific action in relation to other criminal activities. Under article 3, paragraph 5, subparagraphs (a) and (b), the involvement in an offence established under paragraph 1 of the article of an organized criminal group to which the offender belongs, or the involvement of the offender in other international

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup>These links were recognized in paragraph 5 of the Declaration of the International Conference on Drug Abuse and Illicit Trafficking (see footnote 25 above).

 $<sup>^{28}\</sup>mbox{See},$  for instance, Commission on Narcotic Drugs resolution 3 (S-VIII) and General Assembly resolution 40/121.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup>Official Records, vol. I ..., document E/CONF.82/11, "Preamble" (E/CONF.82/C.1/L.18/Add.8), para. 8.

organized criminal activities, may constitute aggravating circumstances. Under article 9, paragraph 1, subparagraph (a), "the secure and rapid exchange of information concerning all aspects of offences established in accordance with article 3, paragraph 1, including, if the Parties concerned deem it appropriate, links with other criminal activities", is to be facilitated.

### Fourth paragraph

Recognizing also that illicit traffic is an international criminal activity, the suppression of which demands urgent attention and the highest priority,

### Commentary

- 0.12 The fourth paragraph uses very general wording to characterize illicit traffic as an "international criminal activity". The General Assembly, in its resolution 39/42, had used the same expression in the Declaration on the Control of Drug Trafficking and Drug Abuse, adopted in 1984. More precise wording was purposely avoided in the Convention. The expression "crime against humanity", which had been used in the first draft of the proposed Convention, annexed to the General Assembly resolution, 30 was considered objectionable by many States and not suitable in the context of an instrument aimed specifically at the suppression of illicit drug trafficking.
- 0.13 Although the criminal activity of illicit traffic has a recognized international dimension, it is left to each party to decide what type of offence it may constitute under that party's criminal law. In article 3, paragraph 11, it is clearly stated that nothing in the article shall affect the principle that the "description" of the offences to which it refers is reserved to the domestic law of each party.

### Fifth and sixth paragraphs

Aware that illicit traffic generates large financial profits and wealth enabling transnational criminal organizations to penetrate, contaminate and corrupt the structures of government, legitimate commercial and financial business, and society at all its levels,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup>See "Introduction", paragraphs 9 and 12.

18

Determined to deprive persons engaged in illicit traffic of the proceeds of their criminal activities and thereby eliminate their main incentive for so doing,

### Commentary

0.14 The fifth and sixth paragraphs are closely related and should be read as an introduction to article 5, on confiscation, and article 3, as it relates to money-laundering.<sup>31</sup> The factual observations in the fifth paragraph are the basis for the determination expressed in the sixth paragraph to deprive persons engaged in illicit traffic of the proceeds of their activities, leading in turn to the adoption of the measures set out in article 5. The confiscation of proceeds derived from the commission of offences established in accordance with article 3, paragraph 1, is also one of the sanctions envisaged in article 3, paragraph 4, subparagraph (*a*).

### Seventh paragraph

Desiring to eliminate the root causes of the problem of abuse of narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances, including the illicit demand for such drugs and substances and the enormous profits derived from illicit traffic,

- 0.15 Although the subject of the Convention is illicit traffic, it was considered necessary to introduce in the preamble a paragraph pointing to the connection between drug abuse and illicit traffic. As there was no such provision in the original draft, a proposal to that effect was made in Committee I. The paragraph serves as an introduction to article 14, paragraph 4, in which parties are required to adopt appropriate measures "aimed at eliminating or reducing illicit demand for narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances, with a view to reducing human suffering and eliminating financial incentives for illicit traffic".
- 0.16 The reference to the "root causes" of drug abuse gave rise to some discussion in view of the divergent views held by States on the subject. It is, however, generally accepted that social, economic and cultural factors must be taken into account, particularly lack of education, unemployment and poor

 $<sup>^{31}</sup>$ See also the comments on article 3, paragraph 1, subparagraphs (a), clause (v), and (b).

housing. In many resolutions adopted by the General Assembly, the Economic and Social Council and the Commission, States have been requested to inquire into the many possible causes of drug abuse and to take appropriate action to eliminate them or at least the most serious of them. The two causes specifically referred to in the paragraph, namely illicit demand and profits derived from illicit traffic for which measures of confiscation are provided, are dealt with respectively in article 14, paragraph 4, and article 5.

### Eighth paragraph

Considering that measures are necessary to monitor certain substances, including precursors, chemicals and solvents, which are used in the manufacture of narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances, the ready availability of which has led to an increase in the clandestine manufacture of such drugs and substances,

- 0.17 The eighth paragraph serves as an introduction to article 12. It lists some categories of substances frequently used in the illicit manufacture of narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances and which are regulated by that article: precursors, <sup>32</sup> chemicals and solvents.
- 0.18 The proposed addition of a new paragraph "recognizing the necessity to avoid any adverse effect on the legitimate activities of chemical and pharmaceutical industries" was not accepted.<sup>33</sup> It was considered that the restrictive import of the sentence would have introduced a kind of safeguard clause out of place in the preamble and without equivalent in any other preambular paragraph.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup>See paragraph 12.8 below.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup>Official Records, vol. I ..., document E/CONF.82/11, "Preamble" (E/CONF.82/C.1/L.18/Add.8), sect. II, pp. 94-95, para. 3 ("Seventh paragraph").

### Ninth paragraph

Determined to improve international co-operation in the suppression of illicit traffic by sea,

### Commentary

0.19 The ninth paragraph constitutes a recognition of the need to improve international cooperation in the suppression of illicit traffic by sea. While article 108 of the 1982 United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea<sup>34</sup> imposed a general obligation on States to cooperate in this area, it was considered necessary to elaborate more detailed provisions in the specific context of the 1988 Convention. This concern is dealt with primarily in article 17.<sup>35</sup>

### Tenth paragraph

Recognizing that eradication of illicit traffic is a collective responsibility of all States and that, to that end, co-ordinated action within the framework of international co-operation is necessary,

### Commentary

0.20 The fact that eradication of illicit traffic is "the collective responsibility of all States" was expressly stated in the Declaration on the Control of Drug Trafficking and Drug Abuse, adopted by the General Assembly in its resolution 39/142. In the Declaration, States were also called upon to coordinate strategies to achieve that objective. Coordinated action within the framework of international cooperation is the essential ingredient of the Convention. It finds formal expression and confirmation in article 2 and permeates all subsequent substantive articles.<sup>36</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup>Official Records of the Third United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea, vol. XVII (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.84.V.3), document A/CONF.62/121, annex I.

 $<sup>^{35}</sup>$ See also comments on article 4, paragraph 1, subparagraphs (a), clause (ii), and (b), clause (ii).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup>See below, comments on article 2.

0.21 In affirming in this regard the collective responsibility of all States and not only, or even especially, those affected by problems relating to illicit production, traffic or abuse, the preamble places the Convention in the category of multilateral treaties responding to general concerns or interests affecting all States within the international community in a similar manner. The General Assembly repeatedly invites States, to the extent they are able to do so, to apply provisionally the measures set forth in the Convention, pending its entry into force for each of them.<sup>37</sup> Moreover, article 21, subparagraph (f), of the Convention enables the Commission to draw the attention of non-parties to decisions and recommendations which it adopts under the Convention, with a view to their considering taking action in accordance therewith.

### Eleventh paragraph

Acknowledging the competence of the United Nations in the field of control of narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances and desirous that the international organs concerned with such control should be within the framework of that Organization,

- 0.22 The 1961 Convention, the 1961 Convention as amended, and the 1971 Convention contain a similar preambular paragraph.
- 0.23 The competence of the United Nations in the field of drug control originates in the 1946 Protocol, which transferred to the United Nations the functions previously exercised in that field by the League of Nations.
- 0.24 The international drug control organs within the framework of the United Nations include, under the authority of the General Assembly, the Economic and Social Council, which is responsible for coordinating drug control activities and preparing draft international conventions for submission to the Assembly; it supervises their implementation and makes relevant recommendations to Governments. The Council is assisted and advised in its task by the Commission on Narcotic Drugs as the principal United Nations policy-making body on drug control issues. The International Narcotics Control Board carries out the functions assigned to it by the drug control treaties in force

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup>See, for example, General Assembly resolutions 44/140, S-17/2, annex, and 45/146.

and promotes compliance with their provisions. The Secretary-General also fulfils the treaty functions entrusted to him under the various instruments. He is assisted in this capacity by the United Nations International Drug Control Programme, established pursuant to General Assembly resolution 45/179.

0.25 The 1988 Convention assigns specific functions to the Economic and Social Council, in article 22; the Commission on Narcotic Drugs, in articles 12, 20, and 21; the International Narcotics Control Board, in articles 12, 22, 23 and 32; the Secretary-General, in articles 5, 7, 12, 17, 20, 23, 27 to 31 and 34; and the International Court of Justice, in article 32.

### Twelfth paragraph

Reaffirming the guiding principles of existing treaties in the field of narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances and the system of control which they embody,

### **Commentary**

The guiding principles of the existing treaties in the field of narcotic 0.26 drugs and psychotropic substances reaffirmed in the twelfth paragraph are outlined in the preambles of the 1961 Convention, the 1961 Convention as amended, and the 1971 Convention. The system of control established under their substantive articles to put these principles into effect is analysed in detail and clarified in the commentaries on these conventions. In the course of the preparatory work on the 1988 Convention, it was repeatedly stressed that formal acknowledgement of those guiding principles should be made in the new instrument. It was also emphasized that the 1988 Convention should in no way derogate from the provisions of the previous treaties. The clear intent of the parties was that, taken together, the four instruments would form an integral system based on common concepts and principles and would constitute a comprehensive legal framework for international action. The 1988 Convention does not modify the provisions or affect the operation of the pre-existing conventions.38

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup>See below, comments on article 25.

# Thirteenth paragraph

Recognizing the need to reinforce and supplement the measures provided in the Single Convention on Narcotic Drugs, 1961, that Convention as amended by the 1972 Protocol Amending the Single Convention on Narcotic Drugs, 1961, and the 1971 Convention on Psychotropic Substances, in order to counter the magnitude and extent of illicit traffic and its grave consequences,

#### Commentary

0.27 Articles 35 and 36 of the 1961 Convention and the 1961 Convention as amended, and articles 21 and 22 of the 1971 Convention, provide for action to be taken to combat illicit traffic and contain penal provisions to punish drug offences. The view was taken that these provisions were no longer sufficient to tackle effectively illicit traffic as it had developed and diversified since those conventions had been adopted. It was therefore found necessary to expand those provisions and to adjust them to the distinct requirements of an instrument directed specifically against illicit traffic.

# Fourteenth paragraph

Recognizing also the importance of strengthening and enhancing effective legal means for international co-operation in criminal matters for suppressing the international criminal activities of illicit traffic.

# Commentary

0.28 The fourteenth paragraph was proposed in Committee I as an additional paragraph. It originally described in detail the legal means of cooperation that were envisaged, enumerating, as examples, the areas in which international cooperation in criminal matters for suppressing illicit traffic should be strengthened, namely confiscation, extradition, mutual legal assistance and controlled delivery. It was, however, considered inappropriate in a preamble to be too specific about the forms that such cooperation might take. Moreover, a list of specific forms of cooperation might have been called into question as being incomplete. As indicated below, several articles, including articles 5, 6, 7 and 11, respond to the considerations expressed in this paragraph.

# Fifteenth paragraph

Desiring to conclude a comprehensive, effective and operative international convention that is directed specifically against illicit traffic and that considers the various aspects of the problem as a whole, in particular those aspects not envisaged in the existing treaties in the field of narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances,

#### Commentary

O.29 The wording of the fifteenth paragraph is borrowed from General Assembly resolution 39/141, in which the Assembly initiated the preparation of the Convention. As reflected below in the comments on each article, the Convention satisfies the criteria set forth in this preambular paragraph. It is specific in the sense that the objective of combating illicit traffic and its adverse consequences is central to its substantive content in accord with its title. It is comprehensive in that it covers the various aspects of the problem of illicit traffic as defined in article 1, subparagraph (m), and in particular, as mentioned above in the comments on the thirteenth paragraph, those aspects not envisaged in the existing treaties. It is designed to be effective and operative inasmuch as it sets out in detail the obligations of parties to take concrete and appropriate measures to achieve its purposes and institutes procedures for monitoring the proper implementation of its provisions.

#### Close

### Hereby agree as follows:

#### Commentary

0.30 The Convention was adopted by the Conference on 19 December 1988 and opened for signature the following day.<sup>39</sup> Of the 106 States<sup>40</sup> participating in the Conference, 43 signed the Convention on 20 December 1988.<sup>41</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup>Official Records, vol. I ..., document E/CONF.82/14, para. 21; see also "Introduction", para. 25.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup>For the complete list, see the Final Act (*Official Records*, vol. I ..., document E/CONF.82/14, para. 7).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup>Afghanistan, Algeria, Argentina, Bahamas, Bolivia, Brazil, Canada, Chile, China, Colombia, Côte d'Ivoire, Cyprus, Denmark, Egypt, Ghana, Guatemala, Holy See, Honduras, Iran (Islamic Republic of), Israel, Italy, Jordan, Malaysia, Mauritania, Mauritius, Nicaragua, Norway, Panama, Paraguay, Peru, Philippines, Senegal, Spain, Suriname, Sweden, Turkey, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, United Republic of Tanzania, United States of America, Venezuela, Yemen, Yugoslavia, Zaire.

#### **ARTICLE 1**

#### **Definitions**

#### **General Comments**

- 1.1 Some of the terms listed under article 1 of the 1988 Convention had already been defined under the 1961 Convention or the 1971 Convention. Such definitions were usually carried over verbatim in article 1 of the 1988 Convention, except when the Conference agreed that there was a specific reason not to do so, as, for example, in the case of the definition of "illicit traffic" (see paragraph 1.14 below).
- Other terms defined under the earlier conventions, although used in the 1988 Convention, are not covered in article 1. This is, for instance, the case with the terms "cultivation", "exportation", "importation", "manufacture", and "production" which appear in article 3, paragraph 1, subparagraph (a), of the 1988 Convention, listing acts which should be established as criminal offences. In such cases, definitions in the earlier conventions apply to the terms used in the 1988 Convention, all the more so since article 3, paragraph 1, subparagraph (a), clause (i), establishes an explicit link with the provisions of the 1961 and 1971 Conventions.
- 1.3 It should be noted that the present *Commentary* elaborates on the definition of terms listed in article 1 when analysing certain substantive articles. Thus, for example, a further examination of the meaning of "Confiscation" will be found in the section on article 5, "Controlled delivery" under article 11, and "Transit State" under article 10. Moreover, the *Commentary* proposes definitions of terms used in the Convention but not defined under article 1 or under the previous conventions. These include, for instance, the terms "brokerage" (paragraph 3.25), "chemicals" (paragraph 12.1), "conversion or transfer of property" (paragraphs 3.47-3.49), "delivery" (paragraph 3.24), "dispatch" (paragraph 3.26), "distribution" (paragraph 3.22), "extraction" (paragraph 3.16), "equipment" (paragraph 5.11 and 13.1), "free ports" and "free trade zones"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup>The 1961 and 1971 Conventions used the term "export".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup>The 1961 and 1971 Conventions used the term "import".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup>These terms are examined in paragraphs 3.14, 3.15, 3.28 and 3.29 below.

(paragraph 18.1), "incitement" and "inducement" (paragraphs 3.72-3.75), "instrumentalities" (paragraph 5.11), "management" (paragraph 3.33), "materials" (paragraphs 5.11 and 13.1), "offering" and "offering for sale" (paragraphs 3.19-3.21), "organization" (paragraph 3.33), "ordre public" (paragraph 7.50), "precursors" (paragraph 12.1), "preparations" (paragraphs 3.17-3.18 and 12.43-12.45), "solvents" (paragraph 12.1) and "transport" (paragraph 3.27).

# Introductory part and subparagraph (a)

Except where otherwise expressly indicated or where the context otherwise requires, the following definitions shall apply throughout this Convention:

(a) "Board" means the International Narcotics Control Board established by the Single Convention on Narcotic Drugs, 1961, and that Convention as amended by the 1972 Protocol Amending the Single Convention on Narcotic Drugs, 1961;

#### Commentary

1.4 The International Narcotics Control Board was established<sup>45</sup> by the 1961 Convention, which contains detailed provisions regarding the composition and functions of the Board,<sup>46</sup> the terms of office and remuneration of its members,<sup>47</sup> its rules of procedure,<sup>48</sup> steps the Board is required to take in administering the control systems established by that Convention,<sup>49</sup> and reports to be prepared by the Board.<sup>50</sup> These provisions were considerably amended by the 1972 Protocol,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup>The International Narcotics Control Board replaced two organs established by earlier treaties in the narcotics field: the Permanent Central Board and the Drug Supervisory Body.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup>1961 Convention, art. 9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup>Ibid., art. 10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup>Ibid., art. 11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup>Ibid., arts. 12-14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup>Ibid., art. 15.

notably by increasing the size of the Board from 11 to 13 members,<sup>51</sup> lengthening the term of office from three to five years,<sup>52</sup> and adding and amending provisions as to the Board's functions.<sup>53</sup> The 1988 Convention makes further provisions regarding the functions<sup>54</sup> and reports<sup>55</sup> of the Board.

# Subparagraph (b)

# (b) "Cannabis plant" means any plant of the genus Cannabis;

#### Commentary

1.5 The definition of "cannabis plant", in common with the definitions of narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances, was determined by the Drafting Committee of the Conference on the advice of the chairman of Committee II.<sup>56</sup> The definition is the same as in the 1961 Convention,<sup>57</sup> in which "cannabis" and "cannabis resin" are also defined. The latter definitions are not repeated in the text of the 1988 Convention the relevant provisions of which<sup>60</sup> are concerned with the cultivation of the plant as a whole. The genus Cannabis

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup>1961 Convention as amended, art. 9, para. 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup>1961 Convention as amended, art. 10, para. 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup>1961 Convention as amended, art. 9, paras. 4 and 5, and arts. 12, 14 and 14 bis.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup>1988 Convention, art. 22.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>55</sup>Ibid., art. 23.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup>Official Records, vol. II ..., Summary records of meetings of the Committees of the Whole, Committee II, 34th meeting, para. 89.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup>1961 Convention, art. 1, subpara. (*c*).

 $<sup>^{58}</sup>$ Defined as the "flowering or fruiting tops of the cannabis plant (excluding the seeds and leaves when not accompanied by the tops) from which the resin has not been extracted, by whatever name they may be designated" (1961 Convention, art. 1, subpara. (b)). The 1925 Convention used the term "Indian hemp".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup>Defined as "the separated resin, whether crude or purified, obtained from the cannabis plant" (1961 Convention, art. 1, subpara. (d)).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>60</sup>See article 3, paragraph 1, subparagraph (a), clause (ii), and article 14, paragraph 2.

consists of the single species *Cannabis sativa* L., the scientific name used in the 1925 Convention for the Indian hemp plant.

## Subparagraph (c)

(c) "Coca bush" means the plant of any species of the genus Erythroxylon;

#### Commentary

1.6 This definition again reproduces that of the 1961 Convention, 61 where a definition of "coca leaf", not required for the 1988 Convention, is also provided. 62 There are some 200 species of the genus *Erythroxylon*, of which two, *Erythroxylon coca* Lamarck and *Erythroxylon novaranatense* (Morris) *Hieronymus*, are of importance for present purposes as their leaves contain cocaine and other ecgonine derivatives.

## Subparagraph (d)

(d) "Commercial carrier" means any person or any public, private or other entity engaged in transporting persons, goods or mails for remuneration, hire or any other benefit;

# Commentary

1.7 The definition of "commercial carrier" is above all relevant to article 15, since commercial carriers are the subject of the article. The definition covers natural and legal persons, and entities under both public and private law, whatever legal form the relevant business association may take. Similarly the concluding reference to "remuneration, hire or any other benefit" is intended to cover every form of reward, whether pecuniary or not. The provisions of article 15, which cover, *inter alia*, a commercial carrier's principal place of business and personnel, make it clear that the article is concerned with entities

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>61</sup>1961 Convention, art. 1, subpara. (e).

 $<sup>^{62}</sup>$ 1961 Convention, art. 1, subpara. (f).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>63</sup>For the discussion of this definition in Committee II, see *Official Records*, vol. II ..., Summary records of meetings of the Committees of the Whole, Committee II, 3rd meeting, paras. 56-91.

regularly involved in transport, as opposed to a person carrying goods for reward on an isolated occasion; the words "engaged in transporting" convey this meaning.

## Subparagraph (e)

(e) "Commission" means the Commission on Narcotic Drugs of the Economic and Social Council of the United Nations:

#### Commentary

1.8 In pursuance of Article 68 of the Charter of the United Nations, the Commission is a functional commission of the Economic and Social Council established in 1946 by its resolution 9 (I) which also sets out the mandate of the Commission. That mandate was later enlarged in 1991 by Economic and Social Council resolution 1991/38 and General Assembly resolution 46/185 C, section XVI. The 1961, 1971 and 1988 Conventions also confer functions on the Commission<sup>64</sup> but contain no provisions relating to its membership or procedure; these are governed by the Economic and Social Council or the General Assembly.

# Subparagraph (f)

(f) "Confiscation", which includes forfeiture where applicable, means the permanent deprivation of property by order of a court or other competent authority;

# Commentary

1.9 This definition is primarily of importance in relation to article 5, which deals with confiscation.<sup>65</sup> Reference is made to "forfeiture" in order to meet the needs of some national legal systems, in which this was a more appropriate term than "confiscation". The French and Spanish versions do not have the phrase "which includes forfeiture where applicable", since the terms "confiscation" in French and "decomiso" in Spanish were deemed to be the only appropriate ones. It was stressed, in particular, that in Spanish the use of the term "confiscación"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>64</sup>In the 1988 Convention, for example, see articles 12, 20, 21 and 23.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>65</sup>See also article 3, paragraph 4, subparagraph (a).

should be avoided in the context of article 5. Committee I placed on record its understanding that the word "property" as used in this definition also included "proceeds" and that the word "permanent" indicated that confiscation, being the end result of a legal process, was distinct from provisional measures.<sup>66</sup>

#### Subparagraph (g)

(g) "Controlled delivery" means the technique of allowing illicit or suspect consignments of narcotic drugs, psychotropic substances, substances in Table I and Table II annexed to this Convention, or substances substituted for them, to pass out of, through or into the territory of one or more countries, with the knowledge and under the supervision of their competent authorities, with a view to identifying persons involved in the commission of offences established in accordance with article 3, paragraph 1 of the Convention;

#### **Commentary**

1.10 The substantive provisions regarding controlled delivery are in article 11, the text of which makes it clear that decisions to use the technique are to be made on a case-by-case basis. <sup>67</sup> For that reason, it was possible to agree on a broad definition in article 1. It was thought that some States might be reluctant to agree to use controlled delivery in respect of substances used in the illicit manufacture of narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances despite the usefulness of the technique, *inter alia*, in discovering clandestine laboratories. Therefore, the substantive provisions as adopted ensure that no State is obliged to agree to the use of controlled delivery in cases where its use is judged inappropriate for any reason. The reference to "suspect" consignments ensures that the technique can also be used in the case of consignments of substances that are only suspected of being intended for illicit use. <sup>68</sup> The technique, under this definition, does not apply to consignments of currency or equipment (see paragraph 11. 28 below).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>66</sup>Official Records, vol. I ..., document E/CONF.82/11, "Article 3" (E/CONF.82/C.1/L.18/Add.2), sect. III, p. 116, para. 50.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>67</sup>Art. 11, para. 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>68</sup>See *Official Records*, vol. II ..., Summary records of meetings of the Committees of the Whole, Committee II, 10th meeting, paras. 1-7.

## Subparagraphs (h), (i) and (j)

- (h) "1961 Convention" means the Single Convention on Narcotic Drugs, 1961;
- (i) "1961 Convention as amended" means the Single Convention on Narcotic Drugs, 1961, as amended by the 1972 Protocol Amending the Single Convention on Narcotic Drugs, 1961;
- (j) "1971 Convention" means the Convention on Psychotropic Substances, 1971;

#### **Commentary**

1.11 These definitions provide useful short titles for the earlier texts.<sup>69</sup> Short titles of earlier conventions do not appear in the 1961 and 1971 Conventions.

## Subparagraph (k)

(k) "Council" means the Economic and Social Council of the United Nations;

# Commentary

1.12 The Economic and Social Council was constituted under Article 61 of the Charter of the United Nations. The Council has a number of functions under the Convention; for example, it receives the reports of the International Narcotics Control Board<sup>70</sup> and, at the request of a party, it reviews any decision of the Commission under article 12 amending the contents of Table I or Table II.<sup>71</sup> In the latter case, the Council may confirm or reverse any such decision.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>69</sup>See the explanatory notes at the beginning of this *Commentary*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>70</sup>Art. 23, para. 7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>71</sup>Art. 12, para. 7.

#### Subparagraph (l)

(1) "Freezing" or "seizure" means temporarily prohibiting the transfer, conversion, disposition or movement of property or temporarily assuming custody or control of property on the basis of an order issued by a court or a competent authority;

#### **Commentary**

1.13 In the draft text submitted to the Conference, separate definitions (each with two variants) were given for the terms "freezing" and "seizure". Different national legal systems may use one or both of these terms, which in the provisions of article 5 are used as alternatives. It was therefore decided to combine the definitions, including for both terms reference to the temporary nature of the action taken. This decision was also seen as helping reduce the translation difficulties presented by each term standing alone. Similarly, "custody" and "control" are both used, as they may have different connotations in the legal usage of different States.

## Subparagraph (m)

(m) "Illicit traffic" means the offences set forth in article 3, paragraphs 1 and 2, of this Convention;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>72</sup>Freezing (variant A) means prohibiting the transfer, conversion, disposition or movement of proceeds by order of a court or other appropriate authority; freezing (variant B) means temporarily prohibiting the transfer, conversion disposition or movement of property. Seizure (variant A) means assuming custody or control of proceeds as directed by order of a court or other appropriate authority; seizure (variant B) means assuming custody or control of property by a competent authority (*Official Records*, vol. I ..., document E/CONF.82/3, annex, pp. 75-76).

 $<sup>^{73}</sup>$ An exception is in article 5, paragraph 3, where only "seized" is used; the context, however, is that of bank, financial or commercial records rather than of property or proceeds. In article 7, paragraph 2, subparagraph (c), in the context of mutual legal assistance, "seizure" alone is used in the familiar term "searches and seizures".

#### Commentary

The term "illicit traffic" 74 features in the title of the Convention, in the great majority of the preambular paragraphs, and in several articles throughout the Convention. In the draft submitted to the Conference it was a key term in the substantive provisions, with a lengthy definition.<sup>75</sup> The Conference finally decided to define "illicit traffic" by reference to offences under article 3, paragraphs 1 and 2. Many of the detailed provisions of the Convention, however, do not use the term "illicit traffic" with its broad definition but refer instead to "offences established in accordance with article 3, paragraph 1". This formulation was used to limit obligations arising under those provisions to more serious offences, as opposed to offences of possession, purchase or cultivation for personal consumption, which were recognized as less serious in nature. The term "illicit traffic" is found in article 10 (International co-operation and assistance for transit States), article 17 (Illicit traffic by sea), article 18 (Free trade zones and free ports), article 19 (The use of the mails), article 20 (Information to be furnished by the Parties), and article 24 (Application of stricter measures than those required by this Convention). In the last of these, it would seem that the term must be given a wider meaning than that specified in the definition, for the stricter measures may well go beyond the limits set in article 3, paragraphs 1 and 2. The expression "illicit traffic in and abuse of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>74</sup>The term "illicit traffic" was included among the definitions of article 1 of the 1961 Convention (subpara.1 (*I*)) and of article 1 of the 1971 Convention (subpara. (*j*)). It was defined under the 1961 Convention as "cultivation or trafficking in drugs contrary to the provisions of this Convention" and under the 1971 Convention as "manufacture of or trafficking in psychotropic substances contrary to the provisions of this Convention".

<sup>75&</sup>quot; 'Illicit traffic' means [includes] [inter alia] the [sowing] cultivation, [harvesting] production, [fabrication] manufacture, extraction, preparation, [conditioning] offering, offering for sale, distribution, [possession] [supply] [storage] purchase, [acquisition] sale, [prescription] delivery on any terms whatsoever, brokerage, dispatch, dispatch through the mails, dispatch in transit, transport, importation and exportation [and the traffic in any other form] of any narcotic drugs or psychotropic substances contrary to the provisions of the Single Convention on Narcotic Drugs, 1961, of that Convention as amended by the 1972 Protocol Amending the Single Convention on Narcotic Drugs, 1961, and of the Convention on Psychotropic Substances, 1971. [Illicit traffic also includes the possession of any narcotic drugs or psychotropic substances for the purpose of any of the foregoing activities] [as well as the consumption or improper use of such substances]. [It also includes traffic in substances in List A and List B contrary to article 8 of the present Convention]. The organization, management, financing or facilitating of the aforementioned operations or activities are also considered as illicit traffic for the purposes of this Convention" (Official Records, vol. I ..., document E/CONF.82/3, annex, p. 75). List A and List B in the basic proposal before the Conference correspond to Table I and Table II of the Convention as later adopted.

narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances" occurs in article 5, paragraph 5, subparagraph (b), clause (i), but in the context of identifying intergovernmental bodies which might receive a share in the value of confiscated property.

## Subparagraph (n)

(n) "Narcotic drug" means any of the substances, natural or synthetic, in Schedules I and II of the Single Convention on Narcotic Drugs, 1961, and that Convention as amended by the 1972 Protocol Amending the Single Convention on Narcotic Drugs, 1961;

#### Commentary

1.15 This definition reproduces in substance that of the 961 Convention. The text of the 1961 Convention, as opposed to its title, did not use the term "narcotic drug" but contained a definition of the term "drug" having the same import as the one now used in the 1988 Convention. It should be noted that the opium poppy, coca bush and cannabis plant are not within the definition, although they are identified in article 14, paragraph 2, of the 1988 Convention as examples of the category of "plants containing narcotic or psychotropic substances". Although certain provisions of the 1961 Convention apply only to natural as opposed to synthetic drugs, this distinction, while repeated in the definition in the 1988 Convention, is not material for the purposes of the latter.

# Subparagraph (o)

(o) "Opium poppy" means the plant of the species Papaver somniferum L;

# Commentary

1.16 The definition "opium poppy" follows that given in the 1961 Convention, rather than that given in the 1953 Protocol, which also includes any other species of *Papaver* which may be used for the production of opium. The position under the 1988 Convention is that the offence established in accordance with article 3, paragraph 1, subparagraph (a) (ii), is limited to the opium poppy as defined in article 1. The obligation created under article 14, paragraph 2, however, is to "take appropriate measures to prevent illicit cultivation of and to eradicate plants containing narcotic [...] substances, such as opium poppy". If a plant considered not to be a variety of the species *Papaver somniferum* L. but

of another species of the genus *Papaver* were found to yield narcotic substances, it would then also fall within the category of plants subject to that obligation.

# Subparagraph (p)

(p) "Proceeds" means any property derived from or obtained, directly or indirectly, through the commission of an offence established in accordance with article 3, paragraph 1;

#### Commentary

- 1.17 In the text submitted to the Conference, the proposed definition of "proceeds" was in fact a variant of the definition of "property", both being listed under the common heading "Property". Neither draft definition contained any reference to the source or derivation of the property. The decision to include such a reference made it important that "proceeds" and "property" should be separately defined.
- 1.18 The inclusion of the words "directly or indirectly" proved controversial. A number of representatives registered their doubts on this point,  $^{77}$  and the inclusion of those words may have contributed to what one representative described as a "logical incoherence" between the definition and the substantive text. In two instances the wording of the Convention fails to relate clearly to the definition set out in article 1, subparagraph (p). The first is found in article 3, where, at a number of points,  $^{79}$  the text uses the phrase "property [...] derived from" an offence; the second occurs in the text of article 5, paragraph 1, subparagraph (a), which requires each party to adopt such measures as may be necessary to enable confiscation of "proceeds derived from offences established in accordance with article 3, paragraph 1". It appears that the words "derived from" in article 5, paragraph 1, incorporate the sense of the definition of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>76</sup>Official Records, vol. I ..., document E/CONF.82/3, annex II, p. 76. The only difference between the two variants was that the definition of "property" also contained a reference to "assets".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>77</sup>Official Records, vol. I ..., document E/CONF.82/11, "Article 3" (E/CONF.82/C.1/L.18/Add.2), sect. III, para. 50; and Official Records, vol. II ..., Summary records of plenary meetings, 6th plenary meeting, paras. 64-66.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>78</sup>Official Records, vol. II ..., Summary records of plenary meetings, 6th plenary meeting, para. 66.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>79</sup>Art. 3, para. 1, subparas. (b), clauses (i) and (ii), and (c), clause (i).

proceeds and so mean "derived from or obtained, directly or indirectly, through". In the context of article 3, where the word "proceeds" as such is not used, the position is less clear (see paragraph 3.46 below).

# Subparagraph (q)

(q) "Property" means assets of every kind, whether corporeal or incorporeal, movable or immovable, tangible or intangible, and legal documents or instruments evidencing title to, or interest in, such assets;

#### Commentary

1.19 In the earliest drafts of the Convention, this was the definition of the term "proceeds", 80 but it became clear that two definitions were needed, one (that of "property") serving to emphasize that assets of every possible kind were included and the second (that of "proceeds") referring to the derivation of the property. The language used is apt for the various classifications of property to be found in national legal systems. In some systems the legal documents of title to property are not merely evidence but have value in themselves, and this is catered for in the definition.

# Subparagraph (r)

(r) "Psychotropic substance" means any substance, natural or synthetic, or any natural material in Schedules I, II, III and IV of the Convention on Psychotropic Substances, 1971;

# Commentary

1.20 This reproduces the definition used in the 1971 Convention. The categorization of the relevant substances as natural or synthetic substances or as natural material has no legal significance in the context of the present Convention.<sup>81</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>80</sup>See Official Records, vol. I ..., document E/CN.7/1987/2, sect. II.

 $<sup>^{81}</sup>$ It had virtually none in the 1971 text (see Commentary on the 1971 Convention, comments on article 1, subparagraph (e)).

#### Subparagraph (s)

# (s) "Secretary-General" means the Secretary-General of the United Nations;

## Commentary

1.21 As in the 1961 and 1971 Conventions, the Secretary-General of the United Nations has two types of function under the 1988 Convention. The first concerns the operation of the substantive provisions of the Convention, as in article 5 (reception of texts of laws and regulations, which implies a duty to make the information available as appropriate), 82 article 7 (reception of various types of information needed in the practical working of mutual legal assistance), 83 article 12 (duties relating to the work of the Board, the Commission and the Council in relation to Table I and Table II<sup>84</sup> and also in the activation of provisions regarding information on exports), 85 article 17 (reception of designations of authorities to respond to requests relating to steps to be taken in cases of illicit traffic by sea), 86 article 20 (reception of various types of information furnished by the parties) 7 and article 23 (distribution of the reports of the Board). 88 The second type of function relates to the duties as depositary of the Convention. The Secretary-General is given this role by article 34 and has related duties under other final clauses. 89

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>82</sup>Art. 5, para. 4, subpara. (e).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>83</sup>Art. 7, para. 8 (designated authorities) and para. 9 (translation requirements).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>84</sup>Art. 12, paras. 3, 6 and 7.

<sup>85</sup>Art. 12, para. 10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>86</sup>Art. 17, para. 7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>87</sup>Art. 20, para. 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>88</sup>Art. 23, para. 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>89</sup>See articles 27-32.

## Subparagraph (t)

(t) "Table I" and "Table II" mean the correspondingly numbered lists of substances annexed to this Convention, as amended from time to time in accordance with article 12;

#### Commentary

1.22 The draft before the Conference referred to "List A" and "List B". These terms were altered to "Schedule I" and "Schedule II" in the course of the negotiations, using the terms consecrated in the 1961 and 1971 Conventions, and in the end became "Table I" and "Table II" on the suggestion of the Drafting Committee. (See comments on article 12 in paragraph 12.8 below for details on the type of substances listed in Table I and Table II and the use of the term "precursor".)

# Subparagraph (u)

(u) "Transit State" means a State through the territory of which illicit narcotic drugs, psychotropic substances and substances in Table I and Table II are being moved, which is neither the place of origin nor the place of ultimate destination thereof.

# Commentary

1.23 The background to the provisions in the 1988 Convention regarding transit States, and some discussion of the appropriateness of the definition is to be found in the commentary on article 10 below (see in particular paragraphs 10.3 and 10.4).

#### **ARTICLE 2**

#### Scope of the Convention

#### General comments

- 2.1 In the course of the discussions at various stages of the preparatory work, the point was made that, in order to produce an instrument that could prove acceptable to as many States as possible, it would be advisable to include in several articles, if not in all of them, appropriate safeguard clauses, taking into account the existence of the different national legal systems and the domestic laws of the States concerned. The idea was also put forward that, in addition to including such safeguard clauses, it would be desirable to devise a separate article of general application, covering the whole Convention, which would ensure that the obligations assumed by parties would in no way infringe universally recognized legal principles such as the sovereign equality and territorial integrity of States. This was considered particularly important in view of the far-reaching and, in many instances, innovative character of the penal provisions of the Convention.
- 2.2 A formal proposal to introduce a new article in that sense was made by the representative of Mexico in the review group on the draft Convention. The proposed text was submitted for consideration to Committee I as article 1 bis. In view of the strong objections that some representatives had expressed informally, however, it was not discussed in its original form. A revised, more concise and less controversial formulation was presented after consultations among delegations. The revised formulation became the framework of the final text of article 2 as later adopted.

 $<sup>^{90}</sup> O\!f\!f\!icial~Records,$  vol. I ..., document E/CONF.82/3, chap. III, para. 120.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>91</sup>Ibid., document E/CONF.82/11, "Article 1 *bis*" (E/CONF.82/C.1/L.18/Add.6), sect. III, para. 3, p. 97.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>92</sup>The revised proposal (*Official Records*, vol. I ..., document E/CONF.82/11 "Article 1 *bis*" (E/CONF.82/C.1/L.18/Add.6), sect. III, para. 3, p. 98) was sponsored by 42 delegations.

- 2.3 In order to dispel doubts about the need for such an article in view of the numerous safeguard clauses included throughout the Convention93 and to answer possible fears that it might be interpreted as a sweeping escape clause enabling parties to evade their obligations, the representative of Canada, as one of the sponsors, explained the rationale for the revised proposal.<sup>94</sup> He pointed out that none of the principles enunciated in the proposed article went beyond those contained in the other articles of the draft Convention and that it was useful to emphasize such general principles at the beginning of the instrument so that there could be no misunderstanding. If such an article, which had no equivalent in the 1961 and 1971 Conventions, was considered necessary, it was because the present instrument was significantly broader in scope, particularly with regard to its penal provisions. It had to be clearly understood, however, that the article "was not intended to derogate from obligations assumed pursuant to the Convention and was not meant to go beyond those principles of international law that were well established and universally accepted".95
- 2.4 The revised proposal was further amended to give a more positive tone to the wording. A redraft<sup>96</sup> emphasizing the obligations of the parties under the Convention was ultimately adopted without objection or reservation on the part of any delegation. It now constitutes article 2.
- 2.5 Article 2 is a distinctive feature of the 1988 Convention. Although not conceived as an overriding safeguard clause governing all the articles of the Convention, whether or not they themselves contain a safeguard clause, article 2 has the import of a statement of guiding principles for a correct interpretation and proper implementation of the substantive articles of the Convention. The choice of the word "Scope" for its title is in itself an indication of its role. It suggests that its purport is to define the object and ultimate design of the

 $<sup>^{93}</sup>$ The 1988 Convention stipulates a variety of safeguard or qualifying clauses (see article 3, paragraphs 1, 2, 5 and 10; article 5, paragraph 7; article 6, paragraphs 8 and 10; article 7, paragraph 4; article 9, paragraph 1, subparagraph (c); article 11, paragraph 1; and the comments below on these articles). By comparison, the 1961 Convention as amended and the 1971 Convention contained safeguard clauses in three articles (articles 35, 36 and 38 bis) and two articles (articles 21 and 22), respectively.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>94</sup>Official Records, vol. II ..., Summary records of meetings of the Committees of the Whole, Committee I, 24th meeting, paras. 86-93.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>95</sup>Ibid., para. 93.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>96</sup>Official Records, vol. I ..., document E/CONF.82/11, "Article 1 bis" (E/CONF.82/C.1/L.18/Add.6), sect. II, para. 3, and sect. IV, para. 13.

Convention while indicating the legal context within which parties are to fulfil their obligations.

## Paragraph 1

1. The purpose of this Convention is to promote cooperation among the Parties so that they may address more effectively the various aspects of illicit traffic in narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances having an international dimension. In carrying out their obligations under the Convention, the Parties shall take necessary measures, including legislative and administrative measures, in conformity with the fundamental provisions of their respective domestic legislative systems.

#### **Commentary**

- 2.6 In choosing to enunciate the "purpose" of the Convention in article 2, the parties have elevated to the level of a binding article a statement that it would be more customary to find in the preambular part of a treaty. In substance and language, it sums up the intentions of the parties as stated in the preamble, more specifically in the tenth paragraph, where it is recognized that eradication of illicit traffic requires "co-ordinated action within the framework of international co-operation", and in the fourteenth paragraph, where "the importance of strengthening and enhancing effective legal means for international co-operation in criminal matters for suppressing the international criminal activities of illicit traffic" is also recognized.
- 2.7 The key word in the first sentence is "co-operation". The whole Convention is framed with this purpose in view. It may be noted that the words "co-operation" or "co-operate" appear in a number of articles. Even where they are not expressly used, they may be considered implicit; there is hardly any article that could be effectively and fully implemented without some form of international cooperation at the bilateral or multilateral level. In the original draft of the proposed article, the Convention was said to constitute "an instrument of international co-operation". Although the formula was not retained in the final text of the article, the characterization remains valid, and parties are expressly invited, in several articles, to conclude bilateral and multilateral agreements to

enhance the effectiveness of the international cooperation called for pursuant to those articles.<sup>97</sup>

- 2.8 It may be inferred from the preparatory work that the language used in the second sentence does not mean that obligations assumed by parties under the Convention are subject to domestic law. It was emphasized on behalf of the sponsors of the text originally considered in Committee I, which was not substantially different from the adopted draft, that "the sentence was not in any way to be interpreted as a derogation from specific obligations assumed by Parties. Rather, it was to clarify that while Parties assumed obligations, it was up to each of them to decide what laws they would require and what institutions they would need to establish to meet such obligations". <sup>98</sup>
- 2.9 The sentence is a factual statement to the effect that parties are bound to take measures in order to introduce in the form they deem appropriate the kind of legislation that will satisfy the exigencies of the Convention. Such measures, whatever their nature or designation may be in the respective legal systems of the parties (they may consist of statutes, regulations or other formal enactments), are to be taken "in conformity with the fundamental provisions of [the Parties'] respective domestic legislative systems". <sup>99</sup> This formula is to be understood as referring to the legislative organs and law-making process established in each State by the basic law of the land. It covers institutions as well as procedure.
- 2.10 Other provisions of the Convention contain similar phrases, to the effect that the measures that parties are required to adopt will assume various forms according to those parties' legal systems and that parties are free to exercise discretion regarding the implementation modalities of those measures. Such phrases can be found, for instance, in article 3, paragraph 9, concerning the cautious use by a party of bail or pre-trial release "consistent with its legal system"; in article 3, paragraph 11, regarding the prosecution or punishment of offences "in conformity with [each Party's domestic] law"; or in article 9,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>97</sup>See articles 5, 6, 7, 9, 11, 14 and 17.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>98</sup>Official Records, vol. II ..., Summary records of meetings of the Committees of the Whole, Committee I, 24th meeting, para. 88.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>99</sup>The wording in the French text, "compatibles avec", might seem more restrictive than "in conformity with", used in the English text. There was, however, no indication during the discussion of any intention to that effect. In other parts of the Convention, it appears that the terms "in conformity with" and "consistent with" were interchangeable.

paragraph 1, on close international cooperation "consistent with [the Parties'] respective domestic legal and administrative systems". These formulas should be distinguished from the safeguard clauses, 100 which limit the obligations of parties in case of conflicting constitutional or legislative domestic rules by stipulating that the parties shall adopt certain measures "subject to", "to the extent permitted by", or "without prejudice to" the basic principles of their domestic legal systems. In some cases, both types of clauses are combined when a measure is required "if [the Party's] law so permits and in conformity with the requirements of such law". 101

2.11 The second sentence of paragraph 1 would suggest that no provision in the Convention is considered self-executing. In order to carry out their obligations under the Convention, Parties must incorporate in their domestic law, through appropriate legislative and administrative action, the relevant substantive elements of its provisions.

## Paragraph 2

2. The Parties shall carry out their obligations under this Convention in a manner consistent with the principles of sovereign equality and territorial integrity of States and that of non-intervention in the domestic affairs of other States.

# Commentary

- 2.12 Paragraph 2 reiterates universally accepted and well-established principles of international law concerning the sovereign equality and territorial integrity of States and non-intervention in the domestic affairs of States. These closely related principles, enshrined in the Charter of the United Nations (Article 2, paragraphs 1 and 7), have been reaffirmed and elaborated upon in subsequent authoritative documents, in particular the Declaration on Principles of International Law concerning Friendly Relations and Co-operation among States in accordance with the Charter of the United Nations, adopted by the General Assembly in its resolution 2625 (XXV).
- 2.13 The rationale for restating these principles in article 2 lies in the fact that the Convention, as already noted above, goes much further than previous drug control treaties in matters of law enforcement and mutual legal assistance.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>100</sup>See footnote 93 above.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>101</sup>See article 6, paragraph 10, and article 5, paragraphs 4 and 9.

- 2.14 As will be shown in greater detail in the comments on the respective articles, care has been taken throughout the Convention to ensure that disputes or friction between parties do not arise because of a failure to comply strictly with the said principles. Formal requests have to be made, and authorizations granted, for putting in motion certain procedures or operations requiring the express prior consent of parties.
- 2.15 Special attention has been paid to this problem in a number of articles. Article 9 (Other forms of co-operation and training) requires that parties exercise caution in applying the forms of cooperation that are envisaged. It provides, for instance, for the establishment of joint teams "in appropriate cases and if not contrary to domestic law". It stresses that officials of any party taking part in such teams "shall act as authorized by the appropriate authorities of the Party in whose territory the action is to take place; in all such cases, the Parties involved shall ensure that the sovereignty of the Party on whose territory the operation is to take place is fully respected". In all cases, cooperation shall be initiated and conducted "on the basis of bilateral or multilateral agreements or arrangements". The use of controlled delivery at the international level contemplated in article 11 is also subject to prior agreement or arrangement between the parties.
- 2.16 The conclusion of formal or informal agreements or arrangements between parties, recommended in several articles as a means of giving practical effect to certain provisions of the Convention and enhancing cooperation, should contribute to fostering respect for the principles of sovereign equality and territorial integrity referred to in paragraph 2.
- 2.17 Generally speaking, a party has no right to undertake law enforcement action in the territory of another party without the prior consent of that party. The principle of non-intervention excludes all kinds of territorial encroachment, including temporary or limited operations (so-called "in-and-out operations"). It also prohibits the exertion of pressure in a manner inconsistent with international law in order to obtain from a party "the subordination of the exercise of its sovereign rights". Thus, for instance, the unauthorized undertaking by a party, within the territory of another party, of surveys to detect areas of illicit cultivation of narcotic plants, or the spraying of such areas for purpose of eradication, would not be in order.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>102</sup>Declaration on Principles of International Law concerning Friendly Relations and Co-operation among States in accordance with the Charter of the United Nations (General Assembly resolution 2625 (XXV), annex), "Principle concerning the duty not to intervene in matters within the domestic jurisdiction of any State, in accordance with the Charter", para. 2.

- 2.18 It would be futile to attempt to draw up a comprehensive catalogue of possible violations of those principles that might result from an arbitrary, indiscriminate application of specific provisions of the Convention. Occurrences that are open to dispute will have to be approached and resolved on a case-by-case basis in the light of the development of international law, taking into account the particular circumstances of each incident.<sup>103</sup>
- 2.19 It was emphasized by the sponsors of the proposed text that the reference to the "territorial integrity of States" could in no way be interpreted by parties as a springboard to assert particular claims of rights to lands and waters. 104

# Paragraph 3

3. A Party shall not undertake in the territory of another Party the exercise of jurisdiction and performance of functions which are exclusively reserved for the authorities of that other Party by its domestic law.

#### Commentary

- 2.20 Paragraph 3 is conceptually linked to the preceding paragraph and is complementary to it insofar as practical implications are concerned. Whereas paragraph 2 lays down, in affirmative language, a code of conduct to which parties should conform in fulfilling their obligations under the Convention, paragraph 3 sets out, in negative language, what parties should not do if they are to comply with the accepted customary norms of international law. Exclusive exercise of territorial jurisdiction is a corollary of sovereignty and has the same function as the prohibition of intervention in the domestic affairs of other States and due respect for territorial integrity. Compliance with these principles constitutes in fact a guarantee of the independent exercise of jurisdiction and performance of functions that a State considers to be within its own *domaine réservé*.
- 2.21 Nevertheless, by agreeing to be bound by the obligations imposed by the Convention in matters that otherwise might be considered to pertain to its domaine réservé, a party is precluded, in the absence of a specific safeguard

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>103</sup>See article 32 and the comments thereon below.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>104</sup>Official Records, vol. II ..., Summary records of meetings of the Committees of the Whole, Committee I, 24th meeting, para. 89.

clause, from invoking an exception of exclusive jurisdiction in connection with the implementation of one of its provisions. A broad interpretation that domestic law should prevail in all cases would defeat the object and purpose of the Convention.

- 2.22 The conditions governing the establishment by parties of prescriptive jurisdiction are regulated in detail in article 4, which envisages the establishment of such jurisdiction on either a territorial or an extraterritorial basis. The establishment of prescriptive extraterritorial jurisdiction, widely accepted under international law, must be distinguished from the power to exercise jurisdiction and take enforcement action abroad, which, as emphasized by article 2, paragraph 3, is prohibited under international law save when undertaken with the consent of the State concerned.
- 2.23 The conduct of inquiries or investigations, including covert operations, on the territory of another State without its consent, in relation to criminal offences established in accordance with article 3, is not permissible. The conditions for taking action on the basis of cooperation are clearly set out in articles 7 (Mutual legal assistance), 9 (Other forms of co-operation and training) and 17 (Illicit traffic by sea).
- 2.24 Similarly, there is no general right of hot pursuit across land boundaries. Such a right may be the object of specific agreements between neighbouring States, as for instance between the Benelux countries since 1962, and between the parties to the Schengen agreements since 1990. It should be noted that in these instances an offender arrested following the exercise of the right to hot pursuit will have to be handed over to the competent local authorities, which may keep him under arrest pending the initiation of extradition procedures. It should also be borne in mind that, as affirmed by international case law, the generality and exclusivity that characterize territorial sovereignty and its implications as regards jurisdiction and functions, have a counterpart in the obligation for a State to protect within its territory the rights of other States and, more specifically, the "duty not to allow knowingly its territory to be used for acts contrary to the rights of other States". 105

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>105</sup>International Court of Justice reports, 1949, p. 18.

## **PART TWO**

# SUBSTANTIVE PROVISIONS

A	D	T	CI	ES	2 1	10
$\boldsymbol{H}$	. 17	ш		100	.7-	17

#### **ARTICLE 3**

#### Offences and sanctions

#### General comments

- 3.1 Article 3 is central to the promotion of the goals of the Convention as set out in the preamble<sup>106</sup> and to the achievement of its primary purpose, stated in article 2, paragraph 1, "to promote co-operation among the Parties so that they may address more effectively the various aspects of illicit traffic in narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances having an international dimension". <sup>107</sup> Towards that end, it requires parties to legislate as necessary to establish a modern code of criminal offences relating to the various aspects of illicit trafficking and to ensure that such illicit activities are dealt with as serious offences by each State's judiciary and prosecutorial authorities.
- 3.2 The underlying philosophy embodied in article 3 is that improving the effectiveness of domestic criminal justice systems in relation to drug trafficking is a precondition for enhanced international cooperation. While, however, the decision was taken to deal in article 3, paragraph 2, with offences of possession, purchase and cultivation aimed at personal consumption, it was recognized that for various reasons, including considerations of expense and administrative practicality, the obligations imposed in certain key areas such as extradition

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>106</sup>See above, comments on the preamble.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>107</sup>See also above, comments on article 2, paragraph 1.

(article 6), confiscation (article 5) and mutual legal assistance (article 7) would be restricted to the more serious trafficking offences established in accordance with paragraph 1. As has been pointed out elsewhere: "The article focuses and imposes the greatest international obligations on those offences which have the most international impact".<sup>108</sup>

At a practical level it was appreciated that, given the scope and ambition 3.3 of article 3 and the nature of the obligations imposed, especially in respect of offences, many States wishing to become parties to the Convention would be faced with the need to enact complex implementing legislation in order to be in a position to comply fully with its terms. While it is important to stress that the Convention seeks to establish a common minimum standard for implementation, there is nothing to prevent parties from adopting stricter measures than those mandated by the text should they think fit to do so, 109 subject always to the requirement that such initiatives are consistent with applicable norms of public international law, in particular norms protecting human rights. Furthermore, it is important not to lose sight of the fact that those involved in trafficking activity frequently breach laws other than those directly related to drugs. As was noted in the 1987 Comprehensive Multidisciplinary Outline of Future Activities in Drug Abuse Control: "The illicit traffic in drugs not only violates national drug laws and international conventions, but may in many cases also involve other antisocial activities, such as organized crime, conspiracy, bribery, corruption and intimidation of public officials, tax evasion, banking law violations, illegal money transfers, criminal violations of import or export regulations, crimes involving firearms, and crimes of violence."110 Thus the adequacy of other relevant parts of the criminal justice system may have an important bearing on the effectiveness of drug law enforcement efforts.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>108</sup>"Report of the United States Delegation to the United Nations Conference for the adoption of a Convention Against Illicit Traffic in Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances", 101st Congress, Senate, Exec. Rept. 101-15, p. 26.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>109</sup>See below, comments on article 24; see also article 39 of the 1961 Convention and article 23 of the 1971 Convention, both of which adopt a similar approach to this issue.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>110</sup>Report of the International Conference on Drug Abuse and Illicit Trafficking, Vienna, 17-26 June 1987 (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.87.I.18), chap. I, sect. A, para. 223.

## Paragraph 1, introductory part

1. Each Party shall adopt such measures as may be necessary to establish as criminal offences under its domestic law, when committed intentionally:

#### Commentary

- 3.4 The criminalization and punishment of illicit traffic is one of the basic features of the Convention, and action under paragraph 1 is mandatory on all parties.
- 3.5 The corresponding provisions in the articles of the 1961 Convention, the 1961 Convention as amended, and the 1971 Convention dealing with penal provisions<sup>111</sup> contain the safeguard clause "Subject to its constitutional limitations". This clause was judged inappropriate in the 1988 Convention, although a similar phrase is used in the particular context of article 3, paragraph 1, subparagraph (c), as the authors of the Convention were anxious to make the present text fully mandatory, allowing parties no loopholes. In the context of the 1961 Convention, the United Nations Secretariat had placed on record the fact that it was not aware of any constitutional limitations which would have the effect of preventing a party to that Convention from implementing the relevant provisions of the Convention, <sup>112</sup> so the safeguard clause was almost certainly unnecessary.
- 3.6 The obligation of a party is to take the necessary measures to establish certain "criminal offences under its domestic law". This phrase, which makes no reference to any categorization of offences (for example as "felonies") which may be found in a particular legal system, was chosen in order to accommodate the various approaches found in domestic laws on illicit traffic and drug offences. Where a distinction is drawn in a particular legal system between criminal offences and regulatory infractions, 113 the Convention refers to the former category.

<sup>11111961</sup> Convention, art. 36, para. 1; 1961 Convention as amended, art. 36, para. 1, subpara. (a); 1971 Convention, art. 22, para. 1, subpara. (a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>112</sup>Commentary on the 1961 Convention, paragraph 13 of the comments on article 36.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>113</sup>For example, the German Ordnungswidrigkeiten.

3.7 The various types of conduct listed in article 3, paragraph 1, are required to be established as criminal offences only "when committed intentionally"; unintentional conduct is not included. It accords with the general principles of criminal law that the element of intention is required to be proved in respect of every factual element of the proscribed conduct. It will not be necessary to prove that the actor knew that the conduct was contrary to law. Proof of the element of intention is the subject of a specific provision in article 3, paragraph 3. It is, of course, open to individual parties to provide in their domestic law that reckless or negligent conduct should be punishable, or indeed to impose strict liability without proof of any fault element.

## Paragraph 1, subparagraph (a), clause (i)

(a) (i) The production, manufacture, extraction, preparation, offering, offering for sale, distribution, sale, delivery on any terms whatsoever, brokerage, dispatch, dispatch in transit, transport, importation or exportation of any narcotic drug or any psychotropic substance contrary to the provisions of the 1961 Convention, the 1961 Convention as amended or the 1971 Convention;

# Commentary

3.8 In paragraph 1, subparagraph (a), clause (i), as in some other parts of article 3,<sup>114</sup> express reference is made to the provisions of the earlier conventions. It was argued by some that the text of the 1988 Convention should in this respect be self-contained and independent of the earlier treaties, a point seen as of special relevance to States which might become parties to the 1988 Convention without ever having been parties to the earlier ones. The majority view, however, favoured an explicit linkage: the earlier conventions, in setting up the international drug control system, provided standards against which the illicit nature of the activities listed in the new convention could be gauged, and a consistent treatment was considered highly desirable.<sup>115</sup> The resulting reference in the text serves to identify the relevant categories of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>114</sup>Art. 3, para. 1, subpara. (a), clause (ii), and para. 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>115</sup>Official Records, vol. I ..., document E/CONF.82/3, chap. III, para. 35.

narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances and to distinguish between licit and illicit uses.

- Regarding the description of certain types of conduct as "contrary to the provisions of" the earlier conventions, it should be noted that those conventions, operating necessarily at the level of public international law, do not in themselves prohibit any conduct by an individual or group of individuals. The 1961 Convention requires parties to adopt measures rendering certain types of conduct punishable offences<sup>116</sup> and so could not be a self-executing treaty. As explained by the Legal Adviser to the 1971 Conference, it was in recognition of this fact<sup>117</sup> that the language of the 1971 Convention was even less direct: a party is to treat as a punishable offence "any action contrary to a law or regulation adopted in pursuance of its obligations under this Convention".<sup>118</sup>
- 3.10 It seems clear, however, that the reference to the provisions of the earlier conventions was intended to reduce the scope of the otherwise very broad language of the subparagraph. A fair interpretation would seem to be that the types of conduct listed are to be criminalized in the circumstances which would attract the obligations of parties to the earlier conventions. For example, drugs listed in Schedule II of the 1961 Convention are subject to a less demanding regime, which takes account of the existence of a substantial legitimate retail trade in such drugs. It was plainly not intended that article 3 of the 1988 Convention should impose any additional requirement that parties make the offering for sale of such drugs a criminal offence. Similarly, under the 1971 Convention a party may give notice prohibiting the import of certain substances from among those listed in Schedule II, Schedule III or Schedule IV of that Convention, and other parties must take measures to ensure that none of the notified substances is exported to the country concerned. It follows that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>116</sup>In article 36, paragraph 1, of the 1961 Convention, the relevant types of activity are described as being "contrary to the provisions of this Convention".

<sup>117</sup> Official Records of the United Nations Conference on the Adoption of a Protocol on Psychotropic Substances, Vienna, 11 January 1971-21 February 1971, vol. II (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.73.XI.4), Summary records of the plenary meetings, 12th plenary meeting, para. 10; and Commentary on the 1971 Convention, paragraph 2 of the comments on article 22, paragraph 1, subparagraph (a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>118</sup>1971 Convention, art. 22, para. 1, subpara. (a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>119</sup>1961 Convention, art. 2, para. 2, and art. 30, para. 6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>120</sup>1971 Convention, art.13.

- "exportation" of substances in clause (i) must be interpreted by reference to the provision of article 13 of the 1971 Convention.
- 3.11 In short, the effect of the references to the earlier conventions is to incorporate by reference the regimes applicable to particular categories of narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances. For this purpose, a party to the 1988 Convention, in implementing its obligation to render prescribed conduct a criminal offence, must have regard to the provisions of the earlier conventions even if it is not a party to them.
- 3.12 The text of paragraph 1, subparagraph (a), clause (i), is closely modelled upon article 36, paragraph 1, of the 1961 Convention. Of the types of activity listed in that provision, "cultivation", "possession" and "purchase" are dealt with separately, in paragraph 1, subparagraph (a), clauses (ii) and (iii), and paragraph 2. This presentation facilitates the reference, in the case of cultivation, possession and purchase, to the purpose of these activities and to the specific treatment of such offences for the personal consumption referred to in paragraph 2.
- 3.13 Some of the types of activity listed in clause (i) are defined in the 1961 Convention; it will be convenient to examine each one in turn.

#### "Production"

3.14 "Production" is defined in the 1961 Convention<sup>121</sup> as "the separation of opium, coca leaves, cannabis and cannabis resin from the plants from which they are obtained". The definition is specific as to the products and the plants from which they are obtained and it cannot be generalized because in other international instruments, as well as in many national laws and in the pharmaceutical industry, "production" is usually a synonym for "manufacture". The term "production" is not used in the 1971 Convention.

# "Manufacture"

3.15 "Manufacture" is defined in both the 1961 and 1971 Conventions. The 1961 definition is "all processes, other than production, by which drugs may be obtained and includes refining as well as the transformation of drugs into other drugs". <sup>122</sup> In the 1971 Convention, "manufacture" means "all processes by which psychotropic substances may be obtained, and includes refining as well as the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>121</sup>1961 Convention, art. 1, para. 1, subpara. (t).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>122</sup>1961 Convention, art. 1, para.1, subpara. (n).

transformation of psychotropic substances into other psychotropic substances ... [and] also ... the making of preparations other than those made on prescription in pharmacies". These definitions are fully discussed in the commentaries on the earlier conventions. 124

#### "Extraction"

3.16 The term "extraction" was used in the 1961 Convention without definition. Extraction is the separation and collection of one or more substances from a mixture by whatever means: physical, chemical or a combination thereof.

# "Preparation"

- 3.17 The 1961 Convention contains a definition of the word "preparation", <sup>125</sup> but the definition refers to the noun (used in a number of articles of the 1961 Convention) <sup>126</sup> denoting the result of a process rather than the process itself of preparing something. Accordingly, the definition in the 1961 Convention can be ignored for present purposes.
- 3.18 "Preparation", also referred to as "compounding", denotes the mixing of a given quantity of a drug with one or more other substances (buffers, diluents), subsequently divided into units or packaged for therapeutic or scientific use. This understanding is supported by the sequence of words used: "preparation" comes immediately before "offering" and "offering for sale".

# "Offering" and "Offering for sale"

- 3.19 The similarity of the terms "offering" and "offering for sale", which makes it convenient to examine them together, may be misleading. In the French text no such similarity appears, and *l'offre* can be contrasted with *la mise en vente*.
- 3.20 "To offer" something is to hold it out, or make it available, so that another may receive it. Although providing a person with narcotic drugs or

 $<sup>^{123}</sup>$ 1971 Convention, art. 1, subpara. (i). "Preparation" is defined in article 1, subparagraph (f); but see the discussion of that word in paragraphs 3.17 and 3.18 below.

 $<sup>^{124}</sup>$ Commentary on the 1961 Convention, comments on article 1, paragraph 1, subparagraph (n); and Commentary on the 1971 Convention, comments on article 1, subparagraph (i).

 $<sup>^{125}</sup>$ "A mixture, solid or liquid, containing a drug" (1961 Convention, art. 1, para. 1, subpara. (s)).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>126</sup>For example, article 2, paragraphs 3 and 4.

psychotropic substances as a gift is not expressly mentioned in the subparagraph, the process of making the gift will commonly involve "offering" or, if the donee is given no opportunity to refuse, "delivery".

3.21 "Offering for sale" includes any displaying of goods or other indication that they are available for purchase. It would seem to include any solicitation, for example the question "Would you be interested in buying X?".

#### "Distribution"

3.22 Although the term "distribution" can be used when anything is shared out between a number of people, a more apt reference may be to the notion of "distributorship", the commercial role for ensuring that goods pass from manufacturer or importer to wholesaler or retailer. In other words, it refers to the movement of goods through the chain of supply.<sup>127</sup>

"Sale"

3.23 The word "sale" requires no elaboration. It will be noted, however, that "purchase" is not included in this subparagraph. 128

## "Delivery on any terms whatever"

3.24 The term "delivery" clearly covers the physical delivery of goods to a person or a destination, and it is immaterial whether this is as a result of a sale, a gift, or an arrangement under which the recipient is to carry or transmit the goods to some other place. In some legal systems the transfer of documents of title relating to goods, or of the keys to storage facilities in which the goods are kept, may amount to the "delivery" of the goods themselves. The inclusion of the words "on any terms whatever" suggests that these extended understandings of delivery may properly be included.

# "Brokerage"

3.25 A "broker" is an agent employed to make bargains or contracts on behalf of another. He or she acts as a middleman, a negotiator or a "fixer". In some legal systems, the term is limited to persons who are not themselves in possession of the relevant goods: an agent in possession is a "factor" rather than a "broker". In other legal systems, a broker will be regarded as having participated in the main offence.

 $<sup>^{127}</sup>$ Compare the heading of article 30 of the 1961 Convention, "Trade and distribution".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>128</sup>See below, comments on article 3, paragraph 1, subparagraph (a), clause (iii).

# "Dispatch" and "dispatch in transit"

3.26 The terms "dispatch" and "dispatch in transit" both cover the activity of sending goods on their way, either to a fixed destination known to the sender or to a carrier who will take the goods to a destination of which the sender may be ignorant.

# "Transport"

3.27 "Transport" covers carriage by any mode (land, sea or air). It would seem that a contract of carriage is not required; merely gratuitous carriage is within the scope of the paragraph.

## "Importation or exportation"

3.28 The terms "importation" and "exportation" are not defined in the 1988 Convention, but the words "import" and "export" were defined in the 1961 Convention. There they mean "the physical transfer of drugs from one State to another State, or from one territory to another territory of the same State", the latter part of the definition referring to territories identified as separate entities for the system of certificates and authorizations under article 31 of the 1961 Convention.

## Paragraph 1, subparagraph (a), clause (ii)

(ii) The cultivation of opium poppy, coca bush or cannabis plant for the purpose of the production of narcotic drugs contrary to the provisions of the 1961 Convention and the 1961 Convention as amended;

# Commentary

3.29 Subparagraph (a), clause (ii), covers the actual cultivation of the specified plants<sup>130</sup> for the purpose of the production of narcotic drugs. The subject of cultivation for personal consumption was dealt with in article 3, paragraph 2. The reference in the present subparagraph to the provisions of the 1961 Convention and of that Convention as amended is important; under those texts some cultivation is licit. Article 22 of the 1961 Convention enables parties to prohibit the cultivation of the opium poppy, the coca bush or the cannabis

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>129</sup>1961 Convention, art. 1, para. 1, subpara. (*m*).

 $<sup>^{130}</sup>$ For definitions of "opium poppy", "coca bush" and "cannabis plant", see the 1961 Convention, article 1.

plant, but does not require such action in every case. Where cultivation is permitted for licit purposes, a system of controls must be applied.<sup>131</sup> Provision is made under the 1961 Convention for the destruction of illicitly cultivated coca bushes and under the 1961 Convention as amended for the destruction of illicitly cultivated opium poppies and cannabis plants.<sup>132</sup>

### Paragraph 1, subparagraph (a), clause (iii)

(iii) The possession or purchase of any narcotic drug or psychotropic substance for the purpose of any of the activities enumerated in (i) above;

#### Commentary

3.30 Under subparagraph (a), clause (iii), a party must criminalize the possession of narcotic drugs or psychotropic substances, or their purchase, whether or not the purchaser actually takes possession, where the possession or purchase is for the purpose of an activity established as a criminal offence under article 3, paragraph 1, subparagraph (a), clause (i). This provision does not cover possession or purchase for personal consumption, which is dealt with in article 3, paragraph 2.

# Paragraph 1, subparagraph (a), clause (iv)

(iv) The manufacture, transport or distribution of equipment, materials or of substances listed in Table I and Table II, knowing that they are to be used in or for the illicit cultivation, production or manufacture of narcotic drugs or psychotropic substances;

# Commentary

3.31 The provision in subparagraph (a), clause (iv), requires the creation of criminal offences and forms a counterpart to the regulatory provisions of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>131</sup>See the 1961 Convention, article 23 (opium poppy, as to which see also article 25), article 26 (coca bush and coca leaves, as to which see also article 27) and article 28 (cannabis).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>132</sup>See article 26, paragraph 2, of the 1961 Convention and article 22, paragraph 2, of the 1961 Convention as amended; for a synopsis of the control measures applicable to the opium poppy, the coca bush and the cannabis plant, see article 2, paragraph 7, of the 1961 Convention as amended.

articles 12 and 13. Article 12 provides that parties must take such measures as they deem appropriate to prevent diversion of substances in Table I and Table II for illicit production or manufacture of narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances. Article 13 deals with trade in and diversion of materials and equipment used in the illicit production of narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances. The present subparagraph makes use of a number of terms, the meaning of which has already been examined. It should be compared with article 3, paragraph 1, subparagraph (c), clause (ii), which deals with the possession of equipment, materials and substances as opposed to their manufacture, transport or distribution. The "possession" provision is subject to the safeguard clause in subparagraph (c), but the establishment of offences of manufacture, transport and distribution is mandatory on all parties.

## Paragraph 1, subparagraph (a), clause (v)

(v) The organization, management or financing of any of the offences enumerated in (i), (ii), (iii) or (iv) above;

#### Commentary

3.32 The focus of the present provision is the leadership of drug trafficking groups and it was regarded as being of great importance in efforts to disrupt major trafficking networks. Its value was seen to flow from the potential to reach those at the highest levels of the illicit drug trade. This provision, it should be noted, constitutes a strengthening and expansion of the scope of article 36, paragraph 2, subparagraph (a), clause (ii), of the 1961 Convention, which was confined to financial operations in relation to trafficking and where this obligation was also subject to the operation of a limiting chapeau, namely that it was "subject to the constitutional limitations of a Party, its legal system and domestic law". A later provision of the Convention, article 3, paragraph 1, subparagraph (c), clause (iv), which is prefaced by a safeguard clause, deals in more general terms with various types of participation in offences, including conspiracy and the facilitation of offences. The present subparagraph makes it mandatory, without any safeguard clause, for parties to create offences

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>133</sup>For "cultivation", see paragraph 3.29 above; for "distribution", see paragraph 3.22 above; for "manufacture", see paragraph 3.15 above; for "production", see paragraph 3.14 above; and for "transport", see paragraph 3.27 above.

 $<sup>^{134}</sup>$ See Commentary on the 1961 Convention, comments on article 36, paragraph 2, subparagraph (a), clause (i), and paragraphs 6-8 of the comments on article 36, paragraph 2, subparagraph (a), clause (ii).

covering particular types of conduct, some of which might otherwise be considered to fall within the provision of subparagraph (c), clause (iv).

3.33 "Organization" and "management" are not defined, but are apt to describe the activities of those actors in organized crime who keep themselves well away from direct involvement in illicit traffic but who direct the activities of subordinates. "Financing" covers the provision of capital needed for illicit operations and would seem to be narrower than the term "financial operations", used in the 1961 Convention; other types of conduct covered by that latter expression will be dealt with under the money-laundering provisions of article 3, paragraph 1, subparagraph (b).

## Implementation considerations: paragraph 1, subparagraph (a)

- 3.34 As was noted above, under paragraph 1, subparagraph (a), each party shall "establish as criminal offences under its domestic law, when committed intentionally", a fairly comprehensive list of activities that have a major international impact. This subparagraph seeks to reinforce and to supplement the penal measures contained in pre-existing multilateral instruments negotiated under the auspices of the United Nations. Article 36 of the 1961 Convention and of that Convention as amended, and article 22 of the 1971 Convention are particularly relevant in this context. The closeness of the relationship with these instruments is especially evident in the first two subparagraphs, which define the prohibited activities in question by referring to them as being "contrary to the provisions of" the relevant conventions.
- 3.35 This drafting method ensures that the many States that have become parties to the 1961 Convention as amended and to the 1971 Convention and have effectively implemented them in their domestic legal systems will have in place the basic framework for compliance, including the necessary system to establish which substances are subject to control and for what licit purposes such substances can be manufactured, possessed and transferred. Even for such States, however, it will be necessary to examine closely pre-existing laws in order to ensure full compliance with the obligations contained in subparagraph (a), clauses (i) and (ii). This flows from the fact that those obligations are absolute and, unlike the previous penal provisions, not subject to the limiting effect of safeguard clauses.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>135</sup>1961 Convention, art. 36, para. 2, subpara. (a), clause (ii).

- 3.36 Becoming a party to, and effectively implementing, the 1961 Convention as amended and the 1971 Convention is a highly desirable step for any State about to become or that has become a party to the 1988 Convention. In the present context the task faced by any State that is not a party to all of the other relevant drug control conventions will be a more complex and demanding one. A close examination of the adequacy of existing domestic laws in relation to the classification and regulation of the licit cultivation, production, manufacture and trading of narcotic drugs, psychotropic substances and the chemical substances used in their manufacture will be required. For any State that determines that its current position is inadequate in this regard, appropriate action will have to be taken. For those contemplating major legislative changes, consideration might be given to the drafting of a single national law in respect of these matters.<sup>136</sup>
- 3.37 In seeking to ascertain the extent to which existing domestic criminal law complies with the requirements of paragraph 1, subparagraph (a), it should be borne in mind that, following previous practice, the obligations are stated with a deliberate degree of generality. Consequently, each party is left with considerable flexibility in determining how best, in the light of its moral, cultural and legal traditions, to secure the required goal. This important factor is further emphasized in paragraph 11.<sup>137</sup> Consequently it is not necessary for relevant domestic criminal laws to make specific mention of each distinct category and element mentioned in paragraph 1, subparagraph (a). What is required is that the criminal law of each party, when taken as a whole, should provide comprehensive coverage. The requirement is for the establishment of criminal offences. Resort to the creation of administrative offences in this context would therefore not satisfy the requirements of the Convention.
- 3.38 One area in which existing law may well be found wanting is that covered by paragraph 1, subparagraph (a), clause (iv). It will be recalled that this new provision requires the criminalization of the intentional manufacture, transport or distribution of equipment, materials and substances listed in Table I and Table II (substances frequently used in the illicit manufacture of narcotic drugs or psychotropic substances) knowing that they are to be used in or for the illicit cultivation, production or manufacture of substances controlled under the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>136</sup>See, for example, United Nations International Drug Control Programme, "Model Law on the Classification and Regulation of the Licit Cultivation, Production, Manufacture and Trading of Narcotic Drugs, Psychotropic Substances and Precursors", *Model Legislation* (June 1992), vol. I.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>137</sup>See below, comments on article 3, paragraph 11.

1961 or 1971 Convention. The inclusion here of a specific requirement that the ultimate use of the substances be known in addition to the requirement that the offences be committed intentionally, contained in the preambular wording for subparagraph (a) as a whole, underlines the difficulty of projecting the criminal law into areas in which lawful commercial activity predominates. It is important in developing an appropriate national approach to this subject to note the close relationship with the criminal law measures envisaged in article 3, paragraph 1, subparagraph (c), clause (ii), as well as the regulatory and other measures to be taken by the parties pursuant to the terms of articles 12 and 13.  $^{138}$ 

- 3.39 A further area that has been the source of difficulty in terms of effective implementation is that covered by subparagraph (a), clause (v), namely the organization, management or financing of any of the serious offences mentioned elsewhere in subparagraph (a).
- 3.40 In dealing with these matters, some States have been able to rely heavily or exclusively on widely drawn legislative provisions, often in conjunction with the inchoate offence of conspiracy. <sup>139</sup> In other instances, traditional mechanisms of the criminal law have been supplemented or substituted by new legislative strategies designed specifically to attack the financial and managerial dimensions of drug trafficking or organized crime more generally. <sup>140</sup>

# Paragraph 1, subparagraph (b)

(b) (i) The conversion or transfer of property, knowing that such property is derived from any offence or offences established in accordance with subparagraph (a) of this paragraph, or from an act of participation in such offence or offences, for the purpose of concealing or disguising the illicit origin of the property or of assisting any person who is involved in the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>138</sup>See below, comments on articles 12 and 13.

 $<sup>^{139}</sup>$ See below, comment on article 3, paragraph 1, subparagraph (c) (see also Italy, Decree No. 309 of 9 October 1990).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>140</sup>United States law has created special criminal offences for such activities. The criminal law categories of the continuing criminal enterprise, 21 USC s.848, and racketeer influenced and corrupt organizations, 18 USC s.1961-1964, have been particularly significant. Article 222.34 of the French Penal Code of 1994 has created a specific criminal offence in this regard.

commission of such an offence or offences to evade the legal consequences of his actions;

(ii) The concealment or disguise of the true nature, source, location, disposition, movement, rights with respect to, or ownership of property, knowing that such property is derived from an offence or offences established in accordance with subparagraph (a) of this paragraph or from an act of participation in such an offence or offences;

#### Commentary

- 3.41 The provisions of paragraph 1, subparagraph (b), strike at money-laundering and, like those in subparagraph (a), make the creation of offences mandatory for all parties. Their content and drafting style owe much to the then current legislation of the United States in this area. In all cases covered by these provisions, the offence covers only conduct "committed intentionally". Subparagraph (b) falls into two parts, the first dealing specifically with acts of conversion or transfer of property and the second dealing more broadly with steps taken to conceal or disguise the property and rights and interest in it.
- 3.42 The text is silent on an issue which in the period after 1988 gave some difficulty to legislators. The language, and particularly the reference to "transfer", can be applied to the person who commits the original (predicate) offence. Some take the view, however, that money-laundering is distinct from the predicate offence and that the money-laundering offence is essentially committed by another person in aid of the predicate offence. The Convention appears not to bind parties to one view of this matter.
- 3.43 In all cases the offender must have known that the relevant property was derived either from an offence established in accordance with paragraph 1, subparagraph (a) (or from more than one such offence) or from an act of participation in such an offence (or offences). The interpretation of the references to "an act of participation" in an offence or offences is not free from difficulty. The Convention, in paragraph 1, subparagraph (c), clause (iv), of this article, provides for the creation of offences of participation, but that provision

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>141</sup>18 USC 1956-57, subsequently repealed and replaced.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>142</sup>Art. 3, para. 1, introductory paragraph.

is subject to a safeguard clause so that there may be parties under whose law an act of participation is not itself an offence. The text of the present provision, however, refers to "an act" of participation and not to "an offence" of participation. It appears that a party must create the money-laundering offence in the terms of subparagraph (b), whatever limitations may exist within its own legal system on the creation of offences of participation.

- 3.44 The offender's knowledge must relate to an offence (the predicate offence) or an act of participation in an offence. The issue of the location of the predicate offence, or the act of participation, does not seem to have been considered in the course of the negotiations. The issue arises where a person makes a transfer of property in one State, knowing that the property was derived from an offence in another State. Examples of greater complexity can be devised, such as where the transfer of property was between two States or where the predicate offence was in one State but there was also an act of participation in another State. There is no territorial limitation expressed in the text of the provision, and it would accord with recent practice if implementing legislation were to reflect the possibility that the predicate offence was located in a State other than the enacting State.
- 3.45 The offender's knowledge must be that the property is derived from "any" of the specified offences. This suggests that he need not be shown to have been aware of the precise offence which had been committed. Knowledge that the property was derived from some ill-defined organized crime or racketeering activity would, however, not suffice. It is, of course, open to parties to define money-laundering as broadly as they choose, for example by extending it beyond the cases in which the predicate offence is one of drug trafficking.
- 3.46 Most modern legislation in this area uses the term "proceeds" to describe property derived, directly or indirectly, from criminal activity. The word "proceeds" is defined in the 1988 Convention in just this sense, as "any property derived from or obtained, directly or indirectly, through the commission of an offence established in accordance with article 3, paragraph 1". <sup>143</sup> The decision not to make use of the term "proceeds" in article 3, paragraph 1, subparagraph (b), may well have been in error, but it does raise the question whether the reference to property being "derived from" certain offences can be taken to cover property "obtained directly or indirectly" from those offences. On a broad understanding of "derivation" it would seem possible to include also certain cases of "indirect derivation".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>143</sup>Art.1, subpara. (p); see also comments in paragraphs 1.17-1.18 above.

- 3.47 Subparagraph (b), clause (i), deals with the "conversion or transfer" of property. In the case of a tangible asset, these terms may be used to cover the transfer of the asset to another person in an unchanged state and the conversion of the asset into another form (for example its sale or exchange, so that the property's value is represented by the money or other asset received). Frequently the property will take the form of money, which may be converted either into another currency or into some other form of property, for example by deposit in a bank or the purchase of shares or bonds. It may, in its new form, be transferred, perhaps electronically, to another jurisdiction.
- 3.48 The "transfer" of property is commonly thought of as the act of the transferor rather than the transferee, the recipient. In the case of the "conversion" of property (for example by exchange), both parties may be regarded as acting. It would seem, however, from the separate treatment of "acquisition" of property that the recipient is not covered by the present provision.
- 3.49 An act of conversion or transfer must not only be committed intentionally (see paragraphs 3.7 and 3.41 above) and with the prescribed knowledge (see paragraphs 3.44 and 3.45 above); the act must also be done for one of two purposes set out in the text. It is clear that those purposes overlap to a considerable extent. One is expressed in terms of the property: the purpose of concealing or disguising the illicit origin of the property. Any conversion or transfer of property may have the effect of concealing or disguising the origins of the property; what is required is that it be done for that purpose, with that motivation. The other purpose is expressed in terms of assisting "any person" (and as the text does not speak of "any other person" it is apt to include the offender himself) to evade the legal consequences of his involvement in the commission of the offence or offences. In many cases, both purposes will be evident: the illicit origins of the property will be disguised so that the chances of its confiscation and the offender's conviction are reduced.
- 3.50 Subparagraph (b), clause (ii), is more widely drafted, no element of "purpose" being expressly mentioned although it seems implicit in the language used. It covers any intentional acts, done with knowledge of the illicit derivation of the property, which amount to the concealment or disguise of "the true nature, source, location, disposition, movement, rights with respect to, or ownership of" the property. The "source" of property could include its physical origin (for example, the country from which it was imported) as well as its derivation. Some of the other terms plainly overlap in meaning; the movement of goods will commonly involve their location.

## Implementation considerations: paragraph 1, subparagraph (b)

- As has been seen, paragraph 1, subparagraph (a), clause (v), of article 3 gives expression to the concept that one of the principal requirements of an effective strategy to counter modern international drug trafficking is the need to provide the law enforcement community with the necessary tools to undermine the financial power of the criminal groups and networks involved. In the late 1980s, a broad consensus emerged within the international community that the criminalization of money-laundering was an essential component of such a strategy. Paragraph 1, subparagraph (b), when viewed in conjunction with paragraph 1, subparagraph (c), clause (i), was designed to satisfy this need, although the term "money-laundering" itself, owing to its relative novelty and problems of translation, was not used in the text. Given the fact that no previous multilateral instrument had dealt with this matter, the concept itself was expressed in some detail.<sup>144</sup> Notwithstanding this fact, parties to the 1988 Convention have considerable flexibility in determining the most appropriate manner through which to satisfy the obligations in question. In practice some have enacted legislation which uses language similar to that found in article 3, paragraph 1, subparagraph (b), while others have found it convenient to use alternative strategies such as the modification of the scope of pre-existing criminal offences. Either approach is acceptable so long as the full range of conduct is criminalized.
- 3.52 Since the 1988 Convention was formulated, significant advances have been recorded in furthering an understanding of the nature and extent of the money-laundering process and of the threat it poses. In addition, valuable experience has been gained from the practical operation of relevant domestic legislation and from the refinement and further development of countermeasures against money-laundering in a variety of forums. It may be of particular value, therefore, for those charged with the implementation of this significant provision to familiarize themselves with such developments in order to determine whether or not it would be appropriate to take advantage of the flexibility accorded by article 24 in order to adopt more ambitious measures than those strictly required by the Convention.

 $<sup>^{144}</sup>$ See above, comments on article 3, paragraph 1, subparagraph (b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>145</sup>See W. Gilmore, *Dirty Money: the Evolution of Money Laundering Counter-Measures* (Strasbourg, Council of Europe Press, 1995); and R. Parlour, ed., *Butterworths Guide to Money Laundering Law and Practice* (London, Butterworths, 1995).

- One such issue is the scope to be given to the offence of money-3.53 laundering in the implementing legislation. While the obligation contained in paragraph 1, subparagraph (b), is restricted to the criminalization of the laundering of property derived from serious drug trafficking offences, recent years have witnessed the emergence of a trend which favours the extension of the criminal offence beyond the narcotics predicate. Such an approach is, for example, embodied in article 6 of the 1990 Council of Europe Convention on Laundering, Search, Seizure and Confiscation of the Proceeds from Crime and encouraged by the fifth of the 40 recommendations adopted by the Financial Action Task Force on Money Laundering in 1990. These international precedents have been increasingly reflected in the content of the criminal law of individual States, some of which have extended the offence on an all-crimes basis while others have elected to do so only in respect of certain specified offences of a serious nature. 146 These domestic and international developments mirror the perception of a number of commentators and law enforcement and other officials that a drug specific approach brings with it a number of disadvantages. For instance, there may be difficulties in proving that particular proceeds are attributable to drug trafficking activities especially when the persons in question are involved in a broad range of criminal activities. 147
- 3.54 A further question to be considered is whether corporations, as distinct from their employees, should be subject to criminal liability for money-laundering. This is a matter on which both the 1988 Convention and the Council of Europe Convention of 1990 remain silent. There has, however, been some discussion of it at an international level. In 1990, the Financial Action Task

Task Force, 25 had legislated to criminalize drug money-laundering and 19 had enacted the offence beyond the drugs predicate (see Financial Action Task Force on Money Laundering, "Annual report, 1995-1996", Paris, 28 June 1996, p. 11). In the light of this trend and other factors, the Financial Action Task Force, as part of a review of its original 40 recommendations, reformulated its position. The new wording, now contained in recommendation 4, reads: "Each country should take such measures as may be necessary, including legislative ones, to enable it to criminalize money-laundering as set forth in the Vienna Convention. Each country should extend the offence of drug money-laundering to one based on serious offences. Each country would determine which serious crimes would be designated as money-laundering predicate offences" (Financial Action Task Force on Money Laundering, "Annual report, 1995-1996", Paris, 28 June 1996, annex I, p. 3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>147</sup>See, for example, "Money-laundering and associated issues: the need for international cooperation" (E/CN.15/1992/4/Add.5) and "Report and recommendations of the International Conference on Preventing and Controlling Money Laundering and the Use of the Proceeds of Crime: A Global Approach" (E/CONF.88/7).

Force, in the seventh of its recommendations, adopted the view that "where possible" such liability should be imposed. A further useful precedent is to be found in article 14 of the Model Regulations concerning Laundering Offences Connected to Illicit Trafficking and Related Offences, which were approved by the General Assembly of the Organization of American States (OAS) in 1992. The creation of a system of corporate criminal liability helps to resolve a number of difficulties that can arise when money-laundering is pursued through legal persons. For example, complex management structures can render the identification of the person or persons responsible for the commission of the offence difficult or impossible. In such cases the imposition of liability on the legal person may be the only option if the activity in question is not to go unpunished. Similarly a sanction imposed on an institution rather than an individual can act as a catalyst for the reorganization of management and supervisory structures to ensure that similar conduct is deterred.

3.55 Given the widely acknowledged fact that many sophisticated money-laundering operations contain conspicuous transnational features, it is generally regarded as being significant for a State to be in a position to prosecute an individual for involvement in such activities even when the underlying criminal activity that generated the proceeds in question took place elsewhere. While the 1988 Convention does not specifically address itself to this issue, it has since become commonplace in international practice to do so. For instance, the definition of money-laundering given in article 1 of the Directive on Prevention of the Use of the Financial System for the Purpose of Money Laundering, issued by the Council of Ministers of the European Communities on 10 June 1991, which draws heavily on the approach taken by the 1988 Convention, also provides that money-laundering "shall be regarded as such even when the activities which generated the property to be laundered were perpetrated in the territory of another Member State or in that of a third country". 149

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>148</sup>In Iceland, for example, financial institutions are subject to corporate criminal liability for money-laundering (see Financial Action Task Force on Money Laundering, "Annual report, 1994-1995", Paris, 8 June 1995, p. 9, footnote 3; and *Liability of Enterprises for Offences: Recommendation No. R(88) adopted by the Committee of Ministers of the Council of Europe on 20 October 1988 and Explanatory Memorandum* (Strasbourg, Council of Europe, 1990)).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>149</sup>See also article 3 of OAS Model Regulations concerning Laundering Offences Connected to Illicit Trafficking and Related Offences and article 6, paragraph 2, subparagraph (a), of the Council of Europe Convention on Laundering, Search, Seizure and Confiscation of the Proceeds from Crime (Strasbourg, 1990).

- 3.56 The money-laundering provisions of the 1988 Convention are confined to securing improvements in national criminal law systems with consequential benefits for the scope and effectiveness of international cooperation. They are not addressed to those elements of the strategy designed to counter moneylaundering, which embrace a preventive philosophy. This dimension of the wider international strategy is reflected in a number of international and regional precedents, including the Basle Statement of Principles on prevention of criminal use of the banking system for the purpose of money-laundering, issued in December 1988 by the Basle Committee on Banking Regulations and Supervisory Practices, the 1991 European Communities Directive and the 1992 OAS Model Regulations. The utility of enhancing the role of the financial system in an attempt to create an inhospitable and hostile environment for the money-launderers is also central to the programme elaborated by the Financial Action Task Force. While there are a number of important differences in the scope and ambition of these various initiatives, they reveal the emergence of important common principles. They also underline the extent to which a shared belief has evolved that effective efforts to counter money-laundering require the collective will and commitment of the public and private sectors working together. Given these developments, it would be prudent for those responsible for implementing paragraph 1, subparagraph (b), to consider the extent to which this dimension of modern international practice is acceptable in terms of national policy and appropriate to local circumstances.
- 3.57. At the heart of the preventive strategy there has been a general acknowledgement of the value of requiring institutions brought within its ambit to take appropriate steps to identify their customers<sup>150</sup> and to retain records of both identity and specific categories of transactions for set periods of time.<sup>151</sup> The requirement of customer identification, which is frequently associated with the identification of beneficial owners, gives expression to the belief that the credit, financial or other institution concerned is better placed than law enforcement or other authorities to judge whether a customer or a particular transaction is bona fide.<sup>152</sup> The retention of records is seen as an important complement to the "know your customer" principle in that it ensures that an audit trail exists to assist the authorities in identifying money-launderers and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>150</sup>See, for example, article 3 of the European Communities Directive and article 10 of the OAS Model Regulations.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>151</sup>See, for example, article 4 of the European Communities Directive.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>152</sup>See, for example, J. C. Westerweel and J. L. Hillen, *Measures to Combat Money Laundering in the Netherlands* (The Hague, Ministry of Finance, 1995), p. 4.

tracing the movement of illicit proceeds with a view to their eventual confiscation.<sup>153</sup>

- A second critical element of this approach is to ensure full cooperation 3.58 between the institutions concerned and the relevant supervisory bodies<sup>154</sup> and those charged with the responsibility of combating money-laundering operations. This philosophy of cooperation frequently extends to informing the latter, on their own initiative, of any fact which might be an indication of money-laundering. All States wishing to give expression to this approach will have to determine the functions and powers of the money-laundering control service that will be authorized to receive such reports. Many States have charged an appropriate law enforcement agency with this task while others have elected to create the national service elsewhere, for example in the ministry of finance. Where the latter practice is followed, those charged with the introduction of this strategy will have to pay particular attention to the establishment of effective links between the reporting service and the relevant national law enforcement authorities. It is common to buttress a system for reporting "suspicious transactions" with a requirement, designed to safeguard the integrity of any subsequent investigation, that the fact that such information has been transmitted to the competent authorities must not be brought to the attention of the customer concerned or to any third party.<sup>155</sup> Frequently, breach of such an obligation attracts criminal sanctions.
- 3.59 It is appreciated that, in reaching out to and involving credit, financial and other institutions in this way, it is necessary to ensure that they are, in fact, in a position to play this role in a full and effective manner. To this end they are frequently provided with an element of legal immunity from suit for breach of contract or other legal obligations such as those relating to customer confidentiality. 156
- 3.60 Some countries have taken the view that the law enforcement efforts to combat money-laundering would be enhanced if the appropriate national authority were in a position to be informed of all large cash transactions taking place within their national territory. To that end a minority of States that have

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>153</sup>See also below, comments on article 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>154</sup>See, for example, article 10 of the European Communities Directive.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>155</sup>See, for example, article 13, paragraph 3, of the OAS Model Regulations.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>156</sup>See, for example, article 8 of the European Communities Directive.

embraced the preventive approach have introduced a system of mandatory and routine reporting of certain transactions above a fixed threshold.<sup>157</sup> No consensus has yet emerged, however, as to the utility and practicality of this approach.<sup>158</sup> More commonly, States have elected to require financial institutions to report suspicious or unusual transactions.

- 3.61 By way of contrast it has been widely accepted that, if the preventive approach is to be effective, the institutions concerned should establish adequate internal control and communication systems. In addition, it has become a common practice to call upon the institutions concerned to initiate training programmes for their employees in order to make them aware of legal requirements and to help them to recognize transactions that may be related to money-laundering and to instruct them on how best to proceed in such cases.<sup>159</sup>
- 3.62 Given the highly intrusive nature of this dimension to the growing international effort to combat money-laundering, it would be prudent to ensure, as far as possible, that the strategy adopted is sensitive to the commercial realities of the sectors of the economy that are affected. Consequently, it is highly desirable to engage in dialogue and enter into close cooperation with the economic sectors concerned in order to reduce to a minimum any adverse impact on the conduct of legitimate commercial activities.
- 3.63 In introducing a comprehensive strategy to counter money-laundering, it is to be anticipated that one consequence will be to increase the attractiveness of less regulated jurisdictions. Criminal money managers may, for example, seek to undertake the initial or placement stage of a money-laundering operation in just such a jurisdiction. Resort to such a strategy of geographical displacement creates, in turn, an element of vulnerability, which can be exploited by law enforcement authorities. A growing number of countries have elected to put in place legal structures which permit action to be taken to interdict certain categories of cross-border cash shipments. Some have imposed mandatory reporting of the export or import (or both) of currency above a stipulated threshold. Failure to comply can result in the imposition of penalties and the forfeiture of the currency. In other jurisdictions the relevant law enforcement authorities have been given the right to seize large sums of cash which are being

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>157</sup>Australia and the United States have adopted this approach.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>158</sup>See, for example, "Financial Action Task Force on Money Laundering: report" Paris, 7 February 1990, recommendation No. 24.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>159</sup>See, for example, article 11 of the European Communities Directive.

imported or exported in circumstances that give reasonable grounds to believe that the cash represents the proceeds of drug trafficking. Yet others are able to invoke provisions of their exchange control or other similar legislation. In order to limit further the options available to money-launderers, consideration might be given to extending the scope of such measures to include cash-equivalent monetary instruments, precious metals, gems, and other highly liquid valuables.<sup>160</sup>

3.64 Irrespective of the outcome of domestic consideration of the nature and scope of the money-laundering offences to be introduced and related matters, many States will face a significant challenge in securing their effective implementation. The law enforcement community will have to consider the adequacy of traditional training methods in the light of what will be, in many countries, a new mandate. 161 The development and retention of skills in financial investigation, asset management and international cooperation and coordination of money-laundering investigations are among the many issues that will have to be tackled. In doing so some will wish to obtain training and technical assistance elsewhere. Within the United Nations system of organizations, the task of providing coordinated leadership in this area has been given to the United Nations International Drug Control Programme (see General Assembly resolution 45/179). Acting on its own or in conjunction with other organizations. as appropriate, it responds to requests for various forms of assistance, ranging from the organization of awareness training programmes to the dissemination of manuals and other useful working tools prepared for the use of law enforcement officials (see Economic and Social Council resolution 1991/41). 162

# Paragraph 1, subparagraph (c), introductory part

(c) Subject to its constitutional principles and the basic concepts of its legal system:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>160</sup>See, for example, Financial Action Task Force on Money Laundering, "Annual report, 1991-1992", p. 17; and the text of recommendation No. 22 of the Financial Action Task Force on Money Laundering and the interpretative note adopted in respect of the same (Financial Action Task Force on Money Laundering, "Annual report, 1995-1996", Paris, 28 June 1996, annex 1, p. 6, and annex 2, p. 4).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>161</sup>See below, comments on article 9, paragraph 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>162</sup>See also United Nations Drug Law Enforcement Training Manual: A Guide for Law Enforcement Officials (Vienna, 1991).

#### Commentary

- 3.65 The obligation of parties to create the offences listed in paragraph 1, subparagraphs (a) and (b), is unqualified, but subparagraph (c) opens with this "safeguard clause". This particular clause represents a narrowing of a similar clause used in article 36, paragraph 2, of the 1961 Convention, which refers to "the constitutional limitations of a Party, its legal system and domestic law". That phrase was not easy to interpret and the official commentary suggested that it referred to a State's basic legal principles and the widely applied concepts of its domestic law. Although some delegations at the Conference expressed dissatisfaction with the new language of the safeguard clause, the text commanded general acceptance.
- The aim of the Conference in including the safeguard clause was to 3.66 recognize the difficulties some States had with the potential scope of the offences specified in paragraph 1, subparagraph (c). In certain countries, some of these offences, if widely defined, might offend against constitutional guarantees of freedom of expression. It was necessary to go beyond a reference to "constitutional principles" to include a reference to "basic concepts" of the party's legal system. Those concepts, whether embodied in statute law, judicial decisions or ingrained practice, may be irreconcilable with the approach taken in subparagraph (c) in respect of specific offences. This is particularly the case in respect of conspiracy and related crimes, which are quite unknown in some systems; where they consist of mere agreement to act rather than action, they may be regarded in some States as offending against a fundamental freedom. In some countries, there is an established practice of prosecutorial discretion, which serves to protect those whose innocent conduct might be judged to fall within the scope of a generally worded offence; where such discretion is not allowed, the definitions of offences may need to be more tightly drawn.

# Paragraph 1, subparagraph (c), clause (i)

(i) The acquisition, possession or use of property, knowing, at the time of receipt, that such property was derived from an offence or offences established in accordance with subparagraph (a) of this paragraph

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>163</sup>Commentary on the 1961 Convention, paragraph 5 of the comments on article 36, introductory subparagraph to paragraph 2. It should be remembered that constitutional principles and basic concepts can change. The German Government made a declaration to that effect on ratifying the 1988 Convention.

# or from an act of participation in such offence or offences;

#### **Commentary**

- 3.67 Reference is made here to the earlier examination of the knowledge which the offender must be shown to possess (see paragraphs 3.43 3.45 above).
- 3.68. In the present context, the specified knowledge must exist "at the time of receipt". There is no offence in the case of a person who receives goods, whether as a gift or for value, and who continues to use those goods having later come to suspect or know that they were derived from drug offences.
- 3.69 Although the prohibited conduct is defined as including "acquisition", "possession" and "use", it is essential (because of the way in which the knowledge element is defined) that the offender should have received the goods; there must be a "receipt". If acquisition is to be understood, as it seems it must, as referring to taking possession (as opposed to acquiring ownership of or some other interest in the goods), the references to "possession" and "use" may be, strictly speaking, unnecessary. The offence may come to light because the offender is to be found in possession of, or to be using, the goods; but proof that he or she acquired the goods with the relevant knowledge will itself be sufficient to establish an offence.

# Paragraph 1, subparagraph (c), clause (ii)

(ii) The possession of equipment or materials or substances listed in Table I and Table II, knowing that they are being or are to be used in or for the illicit cultivation, production or manufacture of narcotic drugs or psychotropic substances;

# Commentary

3.70 As has already been noted (see para. 3.31 above), the criminalization of the manufacture, transport or distribution of the equipment, materials or substances specified in this provision is mandatory under article 3, paragraph 1, subparagraph (a), clause (iv). The mere possession of those things is dealt with in subparagraph (c), with its safeguard clause.

3.71 The acquisition or receipt of goods takes place on a single occasion; possession is a continuing relationship to the goods. It is important, therefore, that in this provision it is not essential that the prescribed knowledge should exist at the moment of first acquisition. Someone who receives equipment innocently, but who later acquires the knowledge that it is intended for use in the production of drugs and remains thereafter in possession of the goods, will commit the offence. In such circumstances, bona fide purchasers of goods may find themselves facing criminal charges; anxiety about such cases was part of the reasoning in support of the safeguard clause in subparagraph (c).

## Paragraph 1, subparagraph (c), clause (iii)

(iii) Publicly inciting or inducing others, by any means, to commit any of the offences established in accordance with this article or to use narcotic drugs or psychotropic substances illicitly;

#### **Commentary**

- 3.72 This widely drawn provision covers a number of different types of activity; it originated in concerns about magazines and films glorifying drug use and promoting a drug culture.  $^{164}$  Although the English text is not entirely free from ambiguity, it appears that the adverb "publicly" governs both "inciting" and "inducing". Similar conduct where the public factor is missing might well constitute "counselling" and in some contexts could be subject to criminalization under the terms of paragraph 1, subparagraph (c), clause (iv).
- 3.73 It is far from clear what the word "publicly" is intended to signify. There may be situations in which the incitement or inducement is addressed to identified persons (though they might be overheard by others); in other cases, as with a radio broadcast or a loudspeaker announcement, the category of hearers is not determined in advance. Another approach would be to ask whether the occasion was a "public" one, distinguishing between a private meeting or gathering and one open to the public. In practice, the word will have to be interpreted in the light both of the particular circumstances of the conduct in question and the analogies to be found in the relevant legal system.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>164</sup>Subsequent developments related to use of electronic media, in particular the Internet, to advertise drugs and promote their abuse were not envisaged at the time of the adoption of the Convention, but are covered by the words "by any means".

- 3.74 A much-cited South African definition of an inciter is "one who reaches and seeks to influence the mind of another to the commission of a crime. The machinations of criminal ingenuity being legion, the approach to the other's mind may take various forms, such as suggestion, proposal, request, exhortation, gesture, argument, persuasion, inducement, goading or the arousal of cupidity". <sup>165</sup> Inducement is that form of incitement which involves the offering of money or money's worth. The presence of the words "by any means" indicates that the terms are to be broadly interpreted. In some legal systems, it may be appropriate to specify the means of incitement in the relevant legislation.
- 3.75 The conduct incited or induced is either: (a) the commission of any of the offences established in accordance with article 3; or (b) the illicit use of narcotic drugs or psychotropic substances. Illicit use itself is not required to be criminalized under the Convention, but the conduct of the inciter is.

## Paragraph 1, subparagraph (c), clause (iv)

(iv) Participation in, association or conspiracy to commit, attempts to commit and aiding, abetting, facilitating and counselling the commission of any of the offences established in accordance with this article.

# Commentary

- 3.76 This provision deals with various forms of participation or involvement in criminal activity, specifically the commission of any offence established in accordance with article 3.
- 3.77 The various ways in which individuals may involve themselves in criminal activity are classified differently in different national legal systems. Apart from the principal offender, there may be secondary parties or accomplices. They may have a degree of actual participation in the criminal activity (for example, by being present); they may provide some degree of assistance ("aiding and abetting" or "facilitating"); they may join in the devising and planning of the crime (in "association" or "conspiracy"); they may encourage its commission or provide technical advice ("counselling" or "facilitating"); they may actually join in an attempt to carry out the prohibited conduct.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>165</sup>J. A. Holmes, *Nkosiyana*, 1966 (4) S.A. 655 at p. 658, A.D.

- 3.78 Not only are these forms of involvement the subject of different systems of classification, but there is also disagreement among national legal systems as to the appropriate boundary for criminal liability. One illustration of this is in the field of attempts. Many legal systems draw a distinction (necessarily imprecise) between "acts of mere preparation", which are not punishable, and "attempts" (where outside interference, independent of the will of the actor, prevents the completion of the offence), which do attract criminal liability. Making inquiries about the price of drugs on the illicit market with the intention of making a purchase if the price is acceptable would be an act of mere preparation rather than an attempt to purchase. Making an unsuccessful offer might be regarded as an attempt. The language of the present provision is fuller than that in the corresponding provision of the 1961 Convention, which includes a reference to "preparatory acts". The language of the present provision is fuller than that in the corresponding provision of the 1961 Convention, which includes a reference to "preparatory acts".
- 3.79 As has been noted, these variations in approach were felt to require the inclusion of the safeguard clause in the introduction to subparagraph (c), enabling parties to reconcile the aims of the present provision with the particular approach adopted by their own criminal law.

# Implementation considerations: paragraph 1, subparagraph (c)

3.80 Clauses (i) and (ii) of paragraph 1, subparagraph (c), both complement in important ways earlier obligations contained in article 3, paragraph 1. The former treats an economic aspect of crime that should be covered in any comprehensive scheme to combat money-laundering through the use of criminal justice measures. The latter is intended to complete the comprehensive treatment of efforts to prevent the use of equipment, materials and substances in the illicit production of narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances. In framing appropriate legislation or other measures in this sphere, parties have a wide measure of discretion. For instance, through the use of the authority

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>166</sup>Commentary on the 1961 Convention, paragraph 2 of the general comments on article 36 and paragraphs 2-4 of the comments on article 36, paragraph 2, subparagraph (a), clause (ii).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>167</sup>1961 Convention, art. 36, para. 2, subpara. (a), clause (ii).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>168</sup>See, for example, "Financial Action Task Force on Money Laundering: report", Paris, 7 February 1990, sect. II.B; see also Canadian Criminal Code, sect. 354, and French Penal Code, art. 321.1; see also above, comments on article 3, paragraph 1, subparagraph (*b*).

 $<sup>^{169}</sup>$ See above, comments on article 3, paragraph 1, subparagraph (a), clause (iv), and below, comments on article 12.

conferred in article 24, those who so wish can consider extending the coverage of subparagraph (c), clause (i), to include treatment of post-acquisition knowledge.

- 3.81 Clauses (iii) and (iv) of paragraph 1, subparagraph (c), while dealing with very different areas of concern, do have in common the fact that the qualified obligation on parties extends to any of the offences established in accordance with article 3 and not merely to the relatively more serious illicit trafficking offences enumerated in paragraph 1. It therefore includes offences aimed at personal use falling within the scope of paragraph 2. This is a fact of particular importance for those charged with drafting appropriate legislation to ensure compliance with the requirements of the 1988 Convention.
- 3.82 Paragraph 1, subparagraph (c), clause (iv), deals with various forms of participation or involvement in illicit trafficking, ranging from conspiracy to facilitation. While national legal systems were found to differ so significantly in relation to these matters as to warrant subjecting the obligation to criminalize them to a "safeguard clause", law enforcement practice has demonstrated the particular utility of such offences in penetrating complex drug trafficking networks. This assists the prosecution of drug kingpins who rarely come into contact with the actual narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances themselves. Subparagraph (c) thus complements subparagraphs (a), clause (v), and (b), which also focus on efforts to disrupt trafficking organizations.
- 3.83 There is a pressing practical need to ensure as comprehensive a coverage of these preparatory acts as possible, given the constitutional principles and basic concepts of the legal system in question. Those responsible for implementation in States which possess the necessary flexibility, in whole or in part, to address these offences, but where familiarity with concepts such as "attempts" or "conspiracy" is not well established, can profitably draw upon the experiences of others where drug-specific approaches to these matters have been adopted.
- 3.84 All States that are parties to the 1988 Convention must, in any event, treat this issue at least in part. This arises from the nature of the unqualified obligation, contained in paragraph 1, subparagraph (b), to criminalize drug-related money-laundering. The description of that offence uses the wording "or

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>170</sup>See, for example, Thailand, Act B.E. 2534, 1991, sect. 7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>171</sup>See, for example, Italy, Decree No. 309 of 9 October 1990, sect. 74.

from an act of participation in such offence or offences". Parties must create the offence of money-laundering in these terms irrespective of the limitations that may exist in their own legal systems on the creation of offences of participation. <sup>172</sup> It may be, of course, that the commission of a money-laundering offence will itself be deemed to be participation in the commission of the predicate offence.

## Paragraph 2

2. Subject to its constitutional principles and the basic concepts of its legal system, each Party shall adopt such measures as may be necessary to establish as a criminal offence under its domestic law, when committed intentionally, the possession, purchase or cultivation of narcotic drugs or psychotropic substances for personal consumption contrary to the provisions of the 1961 Convention, the 1961 Convention as amended or the 1971 Convention.

## Commentary

- 3.85 Paragraph 2 deals with the controversial matter of possession, purchase or cultivation for personal consumption. It is necessary to give at this point some account of the position under the earlier conventions to which the paragraph refers.
- 3.86 Under the 1961 Convention, a party must, "subject to its constitutional limitations", criminalize the cultivation, possession and purchase of drugs. <sup>173</sup> A number of States have taken the view that "possession" in that paragraph does not include possession for personal consumption; although the issue is usually discussed in the context of "possession", those States adopt a similar interpretation of the term "cultivation". Two other provisions of the 1961 Convention are relevant: article 4, paragraph 1, under which parties "shall take such legislative and administrative measures as may be necessary: ... (c) subject to the provisions of this Convention, to limit exclusively to medical and scientific purposes the ... use and possession of drugs"; and article 33, under which parties "shall not permit the possession of drugs except under legal authority" (an article which does not, however, require penal sanctions).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>172</sup>See above, comments on article 3, paragraph 1, subparagraph (b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>173</sup>1961 Convention, art. 36, para. 1.

- 3.87 The arguments advanced regarding the position under the 1961 Convention are summarized in the commentary on article 4 of that Convention. The relevant paragraphs, omitting footnotes, are as follows:
  - "17. The question arises how far and in what way these provisions govern the possession of controlled drugs; do they apply without regard to whether the drugs are held for illegal distribution or only for personal consumption, or do they apply solely to the possession of drugs intended for distribution?
  - Article 4, paragraph (c), undoubtedly refers to both kinds of "18. possession; but whether that provision must be implemented by imposing penal sanctions on possession for personal consumption is a question which may be answered differently in different countries. Some Governments seem to hold that they are not bound to punish addicts who illegally possess drugs for their personal use. This view appears to be based on the consideration that the provisions of article 36, which in its paragraph 1 requires Parties, subject to their constitutional limitations, to penalize the possession of drugs held contrary to the provisions of the Single Convention, are intended to fight the illicit traffic, and not to require the punishment of addicts not participating in that traffic. Article 45 of the Third Draft, which served as working document of the Plenipotentiary Conference, enumerated in its paragraph 1, subparagraph (a), 'possession' among the actions for which punishment would be required. This paragraph is identical with the first part of paragraph 1 of article 36 of the Single Convention, dealing with 'possession' as one of the punishable offences. Article 45 of the Third Draft is included in chapter IX, headed 'Measures against illicit traffickers'. This would appear to support the opinion of those who believe that only possession for distribution, and not that for personal consumption, is a punishable offence under article 36 of the Single Convention. The Draft's division into chapters was not taken over by the Single Convention, and this was the only reason why the chapter heading just mentioned was deleted, as were all the other chapter headings. Article 36 is still in that part of the Single Convention which deals with the illicit traffic. It is preceded by article 35, entitled 'Action against the illicit traffic', and followed by article 37, entitled 'Seizure and confiscation'.
  - "19. Parties which do not share this view, and which hold that possession of drugs for personal consumption must be punished under article 36, paragraph 1, may undoubtedly choose not to provide for imprisonment of persons found in such possession, but to impose only

minor penalties such as fines or even censure. Possession of a small quantity of drugs for personal consumption may be held not to be a 'serious' offence under article 36, paragraph 1, and only a 'serious' offence is liable to 'adequate punishment particularly by imprisonment or other penalties of deprivation of liberty'.

- "20. Penalization of the possession of drugs for personal consumption amounts in fact also to a penalization of personal consumption.
- "21. It has, on the other hand, been pointed out, particularly by enforcement officers, that the penalization of all unauthorized possession of drugs, including that for personal use, facilitates the prosecution and conviction of traffickers, since it is very difficult to prove the intention for which the drugs are held. If Governments choose not to punish possession for personal consumption or to impose only minor penalties on it, their legislation could very usefully provide for a legal presumption that any quantity exceeding a specified small amount is intended for distribution. It could also be stipulated that this presumption becomes irrebuttable if the amount in the possession of the offender is in excess of certain limits. It may also be remarked that constitutional limitations, which can free a Party from all obligation to punish an action mentioned in article 36, paragraph 1, will generally not prevent the penalization of the unauthorized possession of drugs." <sup>174</sup>
- 3.88 There is a similar uncertainty as to the effect of the relevant provisions of the 1971 Convention. Article 22, which deals with penal provisions, provides in paragraph 1, subparagraph (a), that "subject to its constitutional limitations, each Party shall treat as a punishable offence, when committed intentionally, any action contrary to a law or regulation adopted in pursuance of its obligations under this Convention".
- 3.89 It has been argued that the effect is not to render possession for personal consumption an offence. Apart from the general consideration, also advanced in respect of the 1961 Convention, that the object was to fight illicit traffic and not to require the punishment of abusers of the controlled substances, it has been

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>174</sup>Commentary on the 1961 Convention, paragraphs 17-21 of the comments on article 4, paragraph 1.

suggested that "possession" is not an "action" and is thus not affected by article 22, paragraph 1, subparagraph (a).

- 3.90 It was against this background that the negotiators of the 1988 Convention tackled the question, and the resulting text reflects compromises on a number of points.
- 3.91 First, it was agreed to include in article 3, paragraph 2, the safeguard clause referring to constitutional principles and the basic concepts of a party's legal system.
- 3.92 Secondly, it was agreed to include the final words requiring the conduct to be "contrary to the provisions of" the earlier conventions. This could be interpreted as enabling the parties to retain the stance that they had adopted regarding the interpretation of those earlier texts. This needs, however, to be balanced by the weight to be given to the express inclusion of the reference to "personal consumption" in the text of paragraph 2. A more consistent reading is that the words "contrary to the provisions" of the earlier conventions incorporate the schedules of controlled substances as well as the distinction under those conventions between licit and illicit consumption.
- 3.93 Thirdly, the provisions in paragraph 2 were kept separate from those in paragraph 1. The effect is that the references in later provisions of the Convention to the nature of the sanctions to be imposed in respect of offences<sup>177</sup> can readily distinguish offences established in accordance with paragraph 2 from the graver offences created in pursuance of paragraph 1; and the provisions regarding the establishment of extraterritorial jurisdiction, <sup>178</sup> confiscation, <sup>179</sup>

 $<sup>^{175}</sup>$ Commentary on the 1971 Convention, paragraphs 9-16 of the comments on article 22, paragraph 1, subparagraph (a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>176</sup>See the statement by the representative of Bolivia (Official Records, vol. II ..., Summary records of meetings of the Committees of the Whole, Committee I, 24th meeting, para. 65), who stated that if the 1988 Convention were to go beyond that of 1961 in respect of coca leaf cultivation "whole batches of the population would be in jeopardy and the prisons would be full to overflowing".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>177</sup>Art. 3, para. 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>178</sup>Art. 4, paras. 1 and 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>179</sup>Art. 5, para. 1.

extradition<sup>180</sup> and mutual legal assistance<sup>181</sup> are limited to offences created in pursuance of paragraph 1. These latter measures of cooperation, expensive and sometimes cumbersome, were judged inappropriate to the relatively minor but very numerous offences established in accordance with paragraph 2.

# Implementation considerations: paragraph 2

As noted above, the view that the Convention should not neglect the 3.94 issue of personal-use offences prevailed and is reflected in article 3, paragraph 2. 182 Although the definition of illicit traffic contained in article 1 extends to such offences in addition to those established in paragraph 1, there are significant differences in the treatment afforded to the former in the framework of the Convention as a whole. In particular, it was recognized that, in the context of international cooperation, considerations of both expense and administrative practicality required a distinction to be drawn between the two categories. In addition, the division of offences into these two categories facilitated a differentiation in the approach to the closely associated issue of sanctions. Thus, article 3, paragraph 4, subparagraph (d), affords parties a somewhat greater degree of latitude in approaching personal-use offences in this context. 183 Either in addition or, importantly, as an alternative to conviction or punishment for offences established in accordance with paragraph 2, it provides for the imposition of measures for the treatment, education, aftercare, rehabilitation or social reintegration of the offender.

3.95 It will be noted that, as with the 1961 and 1971 Conventions, paragraph 2 does not require drug consumption as such to be established as a punishable offence.<sup>184</sup> Rather, it approaches the issue of non-medical consumption indirectly by referring to the intentional possession, purchase or cultivation of controlled substances for personal consumption. In contrast to the position under the 1961 and 1971 Conventions, however, paragraph 2 clearly

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>180</sup>Art. 6, para. 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>181</sup>Art. 7, para. 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>182</sup>See also below, paragraph 14.32, regarding the closely associated issue of the elimination of demand for narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances.

 $<sup>^{183}</sup>$ A similar approach is adopted in article 3, paragraph 4, subparagraph (c), to the treatment of offences of a minor nature established in accordance with paragraph 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>184</sup>See articles 4 and 36 of the 1961 Convention and articles 5 and 22 of the 1971 Convention.

requires parties to criminalize such acts unless it would be contrary to the constitutional principles and basic concepts of their legal systems to do so.<sup>185</sup>

3.96 In determining an implementation strategy in respect of the range of offences relating to personal use enumerated in paragraph 2, it may be worth examining the practice followed by many States, in which such offences are distinguished from those of a more serious nature by reference to stipulated threshold requirements in terms, for example, of weight. This could be particularly useful in the context of possession for personal consumption.

# Paragraph 3

3. Knowledge, intent or purpose required as an element of an offence set forth in paragraph 1 of this article may be inferred from objective factual circumstances.

#### Commentary

- 3.97 Offences under article 3 require *mens rea*; that is, the Convention does not require the criminalization of acts of negligence. Proof of knowledge or of *mens rea* can present difficulties, whatever system of evidence is adopted in a particular national legal system; in practice a defendant will commonly deny the requisite degree of knowledge, and the tribunal must be satisfied as to the existence of that knowledge by admissible evidence. A rigorous analysis of "knowledge", for example, has to address circumstances of "wilful blindness", where the actor "closes his eyes to the obvious"; cases of *dolus eventualis*, where the offender takes an obvious risk; and circumstances in which any person in the actor's position would have had the requisite knowledge.
- 3.98 Paragraph 3 does not attempt an exhaustive examination of such issues. It does, however, make it clear that direct proof in the form, typically, of a confession is not essential. The relevant mental element may be inferred from the circumstances surrounding the alleged offender's conduct. Differences in national law and practice are not, however, eliminated.
- 3.99 The paragraph deals with the inferences that may be drawn by the court or other trier of factual issues. It does not address, and so requires no changes in, the evidential procedures adopted in national legal systems. It will be noted that paragraph 3 refers to offences established in accordance with article 3,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>185</sup>See above, comments on article 3, paragraph 2; see also *Report of the International Narcotics Control Board for 1992* (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.93.XI.1), chap. I.

paragraph 1, and omits reference to paragraph 2 of that article, but triers of fact will commonly draw such inferences in any case where that seems justifiable.

# Implementation considerations: paragraph 3

- 3.100 Paragraph 3 is permissive rather than mandatory. It is intended to clarify the point that the requisite elements of knowledge, intent or purpose contained in the description of the various offences established in accordance with paragraph 1 may be proved circumstantially; that is, they "may be inferred from objective factual circumstances". This wording, which has been reproduced verbatim in a number of subsequent international texts and treaty instruments, <sup>186</sup> must be read in conjunction with paragraph 11, which provides, *inter alia*, that nothing contained in article 3 "shall affect the principle that the description of the offences to which it refers and of the legal defences thereto is reserved to the domestic law of a Party".
- 3.101 In spite of the flexibility provided by paragraph 3, particular problems have been encountered in practice in satisfying the knowledge requirement in cases of money-laundering. This has, in turn, resulted in various discussions at the international level of alternative ways in which to approach the concept of *mens rea* in this context.<sup>187</sup> For example, the definition of laundering in article 2 of the OAS Model Regulations uses the formula "knows, should have known, or is intentionally ignorant" in its treatment of the substantive offences. Article 6, paragraph 3, subparagraph (*a*), of the 1990 Council of Europe Convention permits, but does not require, the criminalization of negligent laundering. Such concerns now find expression in the relevant domestic laws of a number of jurisdictions.<sup>188</sup> Consequently those charged with drafting enabling legislation with regard to paragraph 1 may wish to consider the desirability and acceptability of using these or other methods to secure the maximum possible effectiveness of national legislative initiatives.<sup>189</sup> In doing so, it is important to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>186</sup>See, for example, article 6, paragraph 2, subparagraph (c), of the 1990 Council of Europe Convention on Laundering, Search, Seizure and Confiscation of the Proceeds from Crime (Strasbourg, 18 November 1990).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>187</sup>See Financial Action Task Force on Money Laundering, "Report, 1996", annex, recommendation No. 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>188</sup>See, for example, General Civil Penal Code of Norway, sect. 317.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>189</sup>The Australian approach extends to a person who knows "or ought reasonably to know" that the money or property in question was tainted (see Proceeds of Crime Act, 1987, Act No. 87 (1987), 81(3)).

ensure, to the greatest extent possible, that the use of different standards of knowledge does not adversely affect a party's ability or willingness to seek or receive international cooperation and legal assistance. 190

## Paragraph 4, subparagraph (a)

4. (a) Each Party shall make the commission of the offences established in accordance with paragraph 1 of this article liable to sanctions which take into account the grave nature of these offences, such as imprisonment or other forms of deprivation of liberty, pecuniary sanctions and confiscation.

#### Commentary

- 3.102 In the 1961 and 1971 Conventions, the corresponding provisions specify that "serious offences shall be liable to adequate punishment particularly by imprisonment or other penalties of deprivation of liberty". <sup>191</sup> The negotiators of the 1988 Convention were determined to strengthen these provisions, going beyond the earlier texts. The structure of paragraph 4 gives priority to the heavier penalties, in subparagraph (a), and, by way of exception or qualification, allows in subparagraph (c) for lesser penalties in "cases of a minor nature".
- 3.103 In paragraph 4, subparagraph (a), sanctions are required which adequately reflect the "grave nature" of the offences specified in article 3, paragraph 1. The list of types of sanctions is intended to be neither exclusive nor necessarily cumulative. These sanctions, singly or in combination, are among those that should be deployed.
- 3.104 Under "other forms of deprivation of liberty" are included sentences such as "penal servitude" or confinement in a labour camp as provided for under some legal systems. The phrase may also include some non-custodial measures,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>190</sup>See Financial Action Task Force on Money Laundering, "Report, 1996", annex, recommendation No. 33, and the interpretative note on this subject contained in annex 2.

 $<sup>^{191}</sup>$ 1961 Convention, art. 36, para. 1; and 1971 Convention, art. 22, para. 1, subpara. (a).

such as house arrest or curfew, which may be combined with other forms of supervision such as electronic monitoring.<sup>192</sup>

3.105 In some national legal systems and in some circumstances, an offender is deprived of the benefit of the proceeds of crime by the imposition of a fine or other pecuniary penalty rather than by the confiscation of specific assets. The drafting is broad enough to cover these varying arrangements.

## Paragraph 4, subparagraphs (b), (c) and (d)

- (b) The Parties may provide, in addition to conviction or punishment, for an offence established in accordance with paragraph 1 of this article, that the offender shall undergo measures such as treatment, education, aftercare, rehabilitation or social reintegration.
- (c) Notwithstanding the preceding subparagraphs, in appropriate cases of a minor nature, the Parties may provide, as alternatives to conviction or punishment, measures such as education, rehabilitation or social reintegration, as well as, when the offender is a drug abuser, treatment and aftercare.
- (d) The Parties may provide, either as an alternative to conviction or punishment, or in addition to conviction or punishment of an offence established in accordance with paragraph 2 of this article, measures for the treatment, education, aftercare, rehabilitation or social reintegration of the offender.

# Commentary

3.106 The 1971 Convention and the 1961 Convention as amended by the 1972 Protocol<sup>193</sup> include a provision (in identical terms in the two texts) to the effect that when drug abusers have committed offences under the Convention, the parties may provide, either as an alternative to conviction or punishment or

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>192</sup>See also General Assembly resolution 45/110, containing the United Nations Standard Minimum Rules for Non-custodial Measures (The Tokyo Rules).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>193</sup>1971 Convention, art. 22, para. 1, subpara. (b); and 1961 Convention as amended, art. 36, para. 1, subpara. (b). Note that the provisions regarding alternative measures were introduced into the 1961 Convention by the 1972 Protocol.

in addition to conviction or punishment, that such abusers undergo measures of treatment, education, aftercare, rehabilitation or social reintegration. Paragraph 4, subparagraphs (b), (c) and (d), of the 1988 Convention, while drawing on that earlier provision, widen the scope of application to drug offenders in general, whether drug abusers or not. They also introduce distinctions based on the seriousness of the offence committed: for offences of a grave nature under article 3, paragraph 1, measures of treatment, education etc. may be prescribed only in addition to conviction or punishment; for offences of a minor nature under article 3, paragraph 1,  $^{194}$  and offences aimed at personal consumption under article 3, paragraph 2, such measures may be prescribed as an alternative to conviction or punishment.  $^{195}$ 

- 3.107 The fact that subparagraphs (b), (c) and (d) do not limit the application of additional or alternative treatment and care measures to drug abusers suggests that such measures may go beyond the context of medical and social problems of drug abusers and may be seen in the wider context of measures for the treatment of offenders in general, designed to reduce the likelihood of their offending again. Drug abusers will, however, in practice naturally constitute the main target group of those measures in the context of drug offences.
- 3.108 Subparagraphs (b), (c) and (d) refer to "conviction or punishment" as the stages at which additional or alternative measures may be provided for. It should, however, be noted that bridges between the criminal justice system and the treatment system might also be envisaged at other stages of the criminal process, including the prosecution stage (for example, conditional discontinuation of criminal proceedings under condition of attending a treatment programme; treatment order pronounced by a prosecuting magistrate in France) or at the stage of enforcement of a prison sentence (transfer from prison to a treatment institution or therapeutic community in certain circumstances).
- 3.109 "Treatment" will typically include individual counselling, group counselling or referral to a support group, which may involve out-patient day care, day support, in-patient care or therapeutic community support. A number of treatment facilities may prescribe pharmacological treatment such as methadone maintenance, but treatment referrals are most frequently to drug-free programmes. Further treatment services may include drug education, training in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>194</sup>Offences which are "particularly serious" having regard to the factors listed in paragraph 5 will, by definition, not fall within the "minor" category.

 $<sup>$^{195}\</sup>mathrm{See}$$  the United Nations standards and norms in crime prevention and criminal justice.

behaviour modification, acupuncture, family therapy, relapse prevention training and the development of coping and interpersonal skills. The ability to remain drug-free may also be fostered by rehabilitation and reintegration programmes, such as the provision of further education, job placement and skill training. Therefore measures of treatment, aftercare, rehabilitation, social reintegration and education will in practice often be linked and overlapping. As an alternative measure, treatment is sometimes made a condition for the avoidance of imprisonment. The aim is to take into account the medical condition of the offender while keeping him or her away from an environment where treatment would be minimal and the opportunity for further drug abuse great. Such measures are therefore not necessarily more lenient than imprisonment or much different in concept from punishment. It should be noted that the use of drug treatment as an alternative to punishment and a condition of avoiding a custodial sentence raises controversial issues: questions of whether compulsory treatment may achieve lasting results or whether some amount of willingness and cooperation from the abuser are essential; the relationship between medical practitioners in charge of treatment and judicial authorities; the combination of care and law enforcement roles; and civil rights issues raised by internment for indefinite periods.

- 3.110 The term "aftercare" is commonly used by penologists to describe the phase of supervision and counselling which follows discharge (especially conditional or early discharge) from a custodial sentence, as the ex-prisoner readjusts to the conditions of normal society. In the present context, this remains a possible interpretation, but it is equally proper to accept the submission made in the commentaries on the earlier texts that it is a stage "which consists mainly of such psychiatric, psychoanalytical or psychological measures as may be necessary after [the abuser] has been withdrawn from the substances that he abused or, in the case of a maintenance programme, 196 after he has been induced to restrict the intake of such substances as required by the programme". 197
- 3.111 It is suggested that the word "rehabilitation" covers such measures as may be required to make the former abuser physically, vocationally, mentally and otherwise fit for living a normal life as a useful member of society (cure of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>196</sup>That is, programmes under which the abuser's intake of the relevant substances is reduced to such minimum quantities as are medically justified in the light of his or her personal condition.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>197</sup>Commentary on the 1971 Convention, paragraph 4 of the comments on article 20, paragraph 1; and Commentary on the 1972 Protocol, paragraph 4 of the comments on article 38, paragraph 16.

diseases, physical rehabilitation in case of disability, vocational training, supervision accompanied by advice and encouragement, measures of gradual progress to a normal self-reliant life etc.).

- It is particularly difficult to draw a dividing line between 3.112 "rehabilitation" and "social reintegration". It is suggested that the term "rehabilitation" mainly refers to measures intended to improve the personal qualities of the abuser (health, mental stability, moral standards, vocational skills), while the term "social reintegration" includes measures intended to make it possible for the abuser to live in an environment that is more favourable to him or her. The term "social reintegration" may thus cover measures such as providing job placement or transitional housing and perhaps also enabling the former abuser to leave his or her former environment and to move to a social atmosphere less likely to foster drug abuse. A change of environment may also be advisable in order to reduce the harm that the social stigma attached to drug abuse may cause the former abuser. Community service, in the form of an obligation to perform a certain number of hours of unpaid work for the good of the community, may be considered as a valid measure of social reintegration, as well as an educational measure, which can be envisaged for minor offences instead of imprisonment.
- 3.113 "Education" may refer to general education or to specific teaching regarding the harmful consequences of the abuse of narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances. Such education may occur during a period of treatment or during imprisonment and may equally be part of a programme of aftercare, rehabilitation or social reintegration.
- 3.114 The list of additional measures in subparagraphs (b), (c) and (d) is not exclusive. A party is not precluded from ordering whatever measures are judged, in the context of its national legal system, appropriate to the particular circumstances of the offender.

# Paragraph 5, introductory part

5. The Parties shall ensure that their courts and other competent authorities having jurisdiction can take into account factual circumstances which make the commission of the offences established in accordance with paragraph 1 of this article particularly serious, such as:

#### Commentary

3.115 Although the earlier conventions had made use of the notion of "serious offences", 198 no attempt was made to identify the aggravating circumstances which pointed to the seriousness of an offence. Paragraph 5 provides such guidance by presenting a non-exhaustive list of relevant factual circumstances. The obligation on parties is to ensure that their courts or other competent authorities (for example, special tribunals used in some States to deal with cases involving drug-related offences) are able to take these circumstances into account in sentencing. Specific legislation will, of course, not be required if the practice of the courts already meets this condition. A party is not required to ensure that the courts or other authorities do in practice avail themselves of this power, nor is there any attempt to state the effect that those circumstances should have on the sanction imposed.

#### Paragraph 5, subparagraph (a)

(a) The involvement in the offence of an organized criminal group to which the offender belongs;

## Commentary

3.116 The important circumstance is that the offence is not committed by an individual acting alone. The text requires not only that the offender should belong to an organized criminal group, but also that the group was actively involved in the offence. As the circumstances listed in paragraph 5 are aggravating circumstances rather than elements in the definition of an offence, it was unnecessary to be more specific regarding the nature of the group's involvement.

# Paragraph 5, subparagraph (b)

(b) The involvement of the offender in other international organized criminal activities;

 $<sup>^{198}</sup>$ 1961 Convention, art. 36, para. 1; and 1971 Convention, art. 22, para. 1, subpara. (a).

#### Commentary

3.117 The focus here is not upon the relationship of an organized criminal group with the offence that has been committed, but rather upon the fact that the offender is involved in other international organized criminal activities. Those activities must have an international dimension. Although they must be "other" activities, this need not exclude other activities related in some way to illicit traffic in narcotic drugs or psychotropic substances. Two examples given in the course of the negotiations were arms smuggling and international terrorism.

## Paragraph 5, subparagraph (c)

(c) The involvement of the offender in other illegal activities facilitated by commission of the offence;

#### Commentary

3.118 There are many cases in which the profits derived from illicit traffic or other drug-related offences are used to fund other types of criminal or illegal activities. These may include activities involving gambling or prostitution, which in some legal systems may be regarded as illegal (for example, if not subject to official control or supervision) but not criminal; hence the use of the wider adjective "illegal".

# Paragraph 5, subparagraph (d)

(d) The use of violence or arms by the offender;

# Commentary

3.119 Although the text of subparagraph (d) does not spell this out, what is plainly meant is that the offender used violence or arms in the commission of the offence itself. It is submitted that "arms" should be understood in the broadest sense although there is reason to assume the authors originally intended that it refer to firearms. The broader interpretation is also supported by the use of the sole term "armes" in the French text (instead of the more specific "armes à feu").

## Paragraph 5, subparagraph (e)

(e) The fact that the offender holds a public office and that the offence is connected with the office in question;

## Commentary

3.120 No definition is given of "public office", the scope of which must be ascertained by reference to the concepts used in a State's national legal system. There must be a connection between the office held and the offence; it is not sufficient that the offender holds a public office (though a court is not precluded from treating that as a material consideration, independently of the guidelines laid down in the Convention). The link will commonly take the form of misuse of the powers or influence of the office, but the text does not specify any particular form of connection.

# Paragraph 5, subparagraph (f)

(f) The victimization or use of minors;

## Commentary

3.121 The intention of subparagraph (f) is clear, and it will be for parties, by reference to the concepts of their national legal system, to define the category of "minors". "Use" includes, but is not limited to, exploitation of minors. For example, the use of a minor in the role of a messenger might be sufficient for the subparagraph to apply.

# Paragraph 5, subparagraph (g)

(g) The fact that the offence is committed in a penal institution or in an educational institution or social service facility or in their immediate vicinity or in other places to which school children and students resort for educational, sports and social activities;

# Commentary

3.122 Subparagraph (g) reflects a number of concerns. One is the fact that drug abuse is a problem in many penal institutions, and this is seen as an obstacle to the rehabilitation of offenders who may leave prison with problems

they did not have at the start of their sentence. The other concern is a wish to give the maximum possible protection to children and other groups especially at risk. For that reason, the subparagraph will be properly invoked when the circumstances are such that children, students or persons attending a social service facility are likely to become involved. There is no reference in the text to the possibility that an offence may be committed close to one of the specified institutions but at a time when the institution is closed and no other persons are present; however, it is difficult to see that such geographical proximity alone would be given much weight. The concept of "immediate vicinity" is, in any case, not clearly defined.

## Paragraph 5, subparagraph (h)

(h) Prior conviction, particularly for similar offences, whether foreign or domestic, to the extent permitted under the domestic law of a Party.

#### Commentary

3.123 Many national legal systems expect those imposing penal sanctions to take into account recidivism and other aspects of a convicted person's record. A notable feature of subparagraph (h) is the express reference to convictions recorded in a foreign country. As there is considerable variation between national legal systems in the way these matters are handled, it was thought essential to include what amounts to an additional safeguard clause in the concluding words of the subparagraph.

# Paragraph 6

6. The Parties shall endeavour to ensure that any discretionary legal powers under their domestic law relating to the prosecution of persons for offences established in accordance with this article are exercised to maximize the effectiveness of law enforcement measures in respect of those offences and with due regard to the need to deter the commission of such offences.

# Commentary

3.124 The origins of what became paragraph 6 lay in a proposal that would require parties to ensure that their prosecution authorities strictly enforced the

law on matters covered by article 3. In some States the absence of discretion produces this effect: prosecution is mandatory. Where discretion does exist, the withdrawal of charges, "plea-bargaining" as to the level of the offence or the likely sanction, or other concessions could be secured by improper means, and prosecution authorities might in some States need a measure of protection from the powerful interests associated with organized crime.

- 3.125 There are, however, some countervailing considerations. Discretion is commonly given to prosecution authorities in order to facilitate a rational prosecution policy and in recognition of an entirely proper concern to identify priorities in the use of resources. There may well be situations in which the promise of reduced penalties may persuade an accused person to provide information implicating others; an accused person who agreed to be a prosecution witness could be of the greatest value in securing effective law enforcement. Concessions to those involved in the lower echelons of organized crime could enable investigative agencies to identify and prosecute those in the higher echelons.
- 3.126 The final text reflects a compromise between these two positions. Its inclusion in the Convention points to the dangers inherent in too generous a use of prosecutorial discretion and underlines the fact that due regard must be given to the need to deter the commission of offences. The touchstone, however, is the need to secure what the text refers to as "the effectiveness of law enforcement measures" and this enables the considerations summarized in paragraph 3.125 above to be given appropriate weight.

# Paragraph 7

7. The Parties shall ensure that their courts or other competent authorities bear in mind the serious nature of the offences enumerated in paragraph 1 of this article and the circumstances enumerated in paragraph 5 of this article when considering the eventuality of early release or parole of persons convicted of such offences.

# Commentary

3.127. Paragraphs 4 and 5 are concerned with the sanctions that should be imposed on conviction. In paragraph 7, it is recognized that the sanction initially imposed, where that takes the form of imprisonment or other deprivation of liberty, may be substantially affected by a later decision to permit the early

release or parole of the convicted person. Such decisions are common in many States and constitute an integral part of their sentencing practices and policies, though totally prohibited in others. The paragraph exhorts parties to ensure that, where such decisions are to be made within their national legal system, those responsible for making the decision bear in mind the gravity of the relevant offences, and the presence of any of the aggravating circumstances listed in paragraph 5.

## Paragraph 8

8. Each Party shall, where appropriate, establish under its domestic law a long statute of limitations period in which to commence proceedings for any offence established in accordance with paragraph 1 of this article, and a longer period where the alleged offender has evaded the administration of justice.

## Commentary

Many States have no statute of limitations in criminal cases; in many 3.128 others, a limitations period is prescribed and applied either universally or with strictly limited exceptions. Paragraph 8 has no relevance to parties without such a statute of limitations; hence the phrase "where appropriate". Parties that do have a statute of limitations are required to establish a "long" period in respect of offences established in accordance with paragraph 1; the word "long" is not further defined. In addition, they must provide for the period to be extended where the alleged offender has evaded the administration of justice. This latter point was introduced having in mind the case of a suspect who had fled the territory of a party, but in the final text this particular case is subsumed in more general language. The result is not easy to interpret: it appears that some positive act by the alleged offender to "evade" prosecution is required, for a statute of limitations becomes meaningless if the mere non-prosecution of the alleged offender (who thus escapes the administration of justice) becomes a ground for extending the limitation period. It needs to be borne in mind that international conventions establishing human rights norms require that, for criminal procedures to be fair, charges must be pressed without undue delay.

# Paragraph 9

9. Each Party shall take appropriate measures, consistent with its legal system, to ensure that a person charged

with or convicted of an offence established in accordance with paragraph 1 of this article, who is found within its territory, is present at the necessary criminal proceedings.

## Commentary

3.129 An earlier draft of paragraph 9 made particular reference to the grant of bail, drawing attention to the large sums of money commonly available to traffickers. This material was deleted, but the paragraph is, none the less, concerned with just these issues. It does not deal with extradition, the subject of article 6; nor does it preclude trials *in absentia* where the alleged offender is not "found within [a Party's] territory" and where such trials are permitted in relevant legal systems. Rather, it is designed, as with the preceding paragraphs, to encourage effective law enforcement. Given the sums of money involved and the international dimension of much drug-related crime, incautious use of pretrial release could seriously jeopardize effective law enforcement.

## Paragraph 10

10. For the purpose of co-operation among the Parties under this Convention, including, in particular, co-operation under articles 5, 6, 7 and 9, offences established in accordance with this article shall not be considered as fiscal offences or as political offences or regarded as politically motivated, without prejudice to the constitutional limitations and the fundamental domestic law of the Parties.

# Commentary

3.130 Paragraph 10 is concerned with the sensitive issue of the political and fiscal offences exception, most familiar in the field of extradition. It is a common feature of State practice that assistance is refused where the offence is characterized as political or fiscal in nature. The categories are not self-defining; for example an act carried out in a political context (such as an armed uprising) may not be regarded as political if done for a private or personal reason. In the present context, if parties were allowed to categorize offences established in accordance with article 3 as fiscal or political offences or as politically motivated, there would be an obstacle to the provision of the measures of international cooperation provided for in articles 5 (Confiscation), 6 (Extradition), 7 (Mutual legal assistance) and 9 (Other forms of co-operation and training). This listing of modes of cooperation is not exhaustive. The

safeguard clause in paragraph 10, which uses the term "constitutional limitations and the fundamental domestic law" rather than "basic concepts of [a] legal system" (a drafting difference which does not appear to affect the meaning), is designed to protect, in particular, constitutionally guaranteed rights requiring refusal of extradition requests. The present provision can be compared with article 6, paragraph 6, which expresses a related notion in the extradition context.

## Paragraph 11

11. Nothing contained in this article shall affect the principle that the description of the offences to which it refers and of legal defences thereto is reserved to the domestic law of a Party and that such offences shall be prosecuted and punished in conformity with that law.

### Commentary

3.131 Paragraph 11 is drawn from article 36, paragraph 4, of the 1961 Convention. It is not intended as an additional safeguard clause. It ensures that no provision in article 3 is considered self-executing. Although it requires parties to create offences, these offences and the sanctions attached to them will be creatures of the national legal system and will use the framework and terminology of that system. This is perhaps of even greater importance in the case of "legal defences", to which the paragraph also refers.

# Implementation considerations: paragraphs 4-11

3.132 Paragraphs 4-11 of article 3 are, for the most part, designed to ensure that illicit trafficking offences, especially those set out in paragraph 1, are treated with appropriate seriousness by the judiciary and prosecutorial authorities of each party. The drafting style used for that purpose leaves to the appropriate authorities of each State considerable scope for the exercise of judgement in determining how best to achieve the relevant goals in the light of different legal, moral and cultural traditions. This inherent flexibility is, in turn, extended by the terms of article 24, which permits the taking of stricter or more severe measures than those mandated by the Convention if deemed desirable or necessary for the prevention or suppression of illicit traffic. This may prove to be of value, for example, in considering the list of aggravating factors contained in paragraph 5. Some parties may wish to supplement it to make reference to such matters as the involvement in relevant offences of certain categories of professional persons

or employees  $^{199}$  or to the adulteration of the drugs in question with toxic substances. $^{200}$ 

- Article 3, paragraph 10, constitutes something of an exception in that it 3.133 introduces a qualified obligation in relation to matters of both legal substance and political delicacy. It provides that for the purposes of international cooperation under the 1988 Convention "offences established in accordance with this article shall not be considered as fiscal offences or as political offences or regarded as politically motivated ...". Insofar as political and politically motivated offences are concerned, it will suffice to point to the concern expressed in the Political Declaration adopted by the General Assembly at its seventeenth special session (General Assembly resolution S-17/2, annex) to the growing link between illicit trafficking and terrorist activities. This provision is intended to restrict the possibility of an individual invoking the protection of the so-called political offence exception in these and other like circumstances.<sup>201</sup> The reference to categorization as a fiscal offence has a somewhat similar purpose. As has been stated elsewhere: "Traditionally several States have not extradited offenders or provided mutual legal assistance for fiscal offences. Thus, by increasing the availability of cooperation in drug money-laundering investigations, this provision is extremely important."202
- 3.134 There is a further connection between the provision of international cooperation and the subject matter of these paragraphs of article 3 that should also be considered by those responsible for implementation. In some countries the decision has been taken to underline the severity of drug trafficking offences by applying to them the ultimate sanction, namely, the death penalty. Many

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>199</sup>Article 14, paragraph 1, of the OAS Model Regulations reads: "Financial institutions, or their employees, staff, directors, owners or other authorized representatives who, acting as such, participate in illicit traffic or related offences, shall be subject to more severe sanctions."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>200</sup>In Italy, Decree No. 309 of 9 October 1990, section 80, paragraph 1 (e), provides for penalties to be increased by between one third and one half "if the narcotic and psychotropic substances are adulterated or mixed with others in order to increase the potential hazard".

 $<sup>^{201}</sup>$ For example, article 3, subparagraph (a), of the 1990 Model Treaty on Extradition, adopted by the General Assembly in its resolution 45/116; see also, for example, article 3 of the 1957 European Convention on Extradition.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>202</sup>"Report of the United States Delegation to the United Nations Conference for the adoption of a Convention against Illicit Traffic in Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances", 101st Congress, 1st Session, Senate, Exec. Rept. 101-15, p. 32.

other States, however, have adopted the position that they will not provide certain forms of international cooperation in cases involving the death penalty. This practice is particularly well established in relation to extradition<sup>203</sup> and may also be applied in other spheres of cooperative activity such as mutual legal assistance. The difficulty, or impossibility, of obtaining the extradition of fugitives or otherwise using established procedures of international cooperation in the administration of justice in such cases should be weighed in the balance when articulating a sanctions policy in this sphere.<sup>204</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>203</sup>See, for example, article 4, paragraph (d), of the 1990 Model Treaty on Extradition (General Assembly resolution 45/116, annex); see also G. Gilbert, *Aspects of Extradition Law* (London, Martinus Nijhoff, 1991), pp. 99-100.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>204</sup>Also of relevance are resolutions of the General Assembly and Economic and Social Council concerning safeguards relating to capital punishment (General Assembly resolution 2857 (XXVI)) and Economic and Social Council resolution 1990/29).

#### **ARTICLE 4**

#### Jurisdiction

#### General comments

- 4.1 Following the general approach adopted in earlier multilateral conventions dealing with crimes of international concern, it was not judged sufficient merely to require States, in article 3, to criminalize drug trafficking activity. Given the uncertainty and controversy surrounding the issue of the limits imposed by rules of customary international law on the right of States to legislate with extraterritorial effect,<sup>205</sup> it was felt that it would be appropriate to regulate the issue of prescriptive jurisdiction in a specific treaty provision. This is the function of article 4.
- 4.2 Article 4, the reach of which is confined to the most serious international drug trafficking offences enumerated in article 3, paragraph 1, establishes two types of jurisdiction: obligatory and discretionary. It is concerned only with the establishment of jurisdiction and does not impose obligations as to its exercise. The latter issue, that of enforcement jurisdiction, is treated elsewhere in the Convention.<sup>206</sup>
- 4.3 A number of bases of jurisdiction have become well recognized in the doctrine of public international law. They include "territorial" jurisdiction, the principle that a State has jurisdiction over crimes committed on its territory; extended "quasi-territorial" jurisdiction over crimes committed on ships or aircraft registered in the State; and "personal" jurisdiction, typically over a State's nationals. In the earlier conventions dealing with narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances, there was also provision for the trial of serious offences by a party in whose territory the offender was found, in cases in which

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>205</sup>See, for example, M. N. Shaw, *International Law*, 3rd ed. (Cambridge, Grotius Publications, 1991), pp. 400-419.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>206</sup>See, for example, below, comments on article 6, paragraph 9. But see also above, comments on article 3, paragraph 11, in which it is affirmed that nothing contained in article 3 "shall affect the principle ... that such offences shall be prosecuted and punished in conformity" with domestic law.

extradition was not available.<sup>207</sup> It was against this background that the Conference addressed the issue.

4.4 The recognition of the validity of multiple grounds for the establishment of jurisdiction raises the possibility of the conduct in question being subject to the criminal law of two or more States. This is particularly likely in the area of drug trafficking, which is inherently transnational in nature. While concurrent claims to jurisdiction will inevitably arise within the context of the 1988 Convention, the text does not seek to solve the problem of what priority to give to such competing assertions. Similarly, there is no adequate solution to this matter in the corpus of existing norms of customary international law. Partial coverage is often provided in relation to the principle of *ne bis in idem* (or the prevention or prohibition of double jeopardy), albeit normally in the negative sense of constituting a ground for refusing to grant various forms of legal assistance.<sup>208</sup>

## Paragraph 1, subparagraph (a)

- 1. Each Party:
- (a) Shall take such measures as may be necessary to establish its jurisdiction over the offences it has established in accordance with article 3, paragraph 1, when:
  - (i) The offence is committed in its territory;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>207</sup>1961 Convention, art. 36, para. 2, subpara. (a), clause (iv), and 1971 Convention, art. 22, para. 2, subpara. (a), clause (iv).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>208</sup>See, for example, paragraph 10(4) of the Commonwealth Scheme for the Rendition of Fugitive Offenders (*Commonwealth Schemes of Mutual Assistance in the Administration of Justice* (London, Commonwealth Secretariat, 1991)); and article 3, subparagraph (*d*), of the 1990 Model Treaty on Extradition, adopted by the General Assembly in its resolution 45/116. Article 16 of the latter deals with the issue of concurrent requests for extradition (see also European Committee on Crime Problems, *Extraterritorial Criminal Jurisdiction* (Strasbourg, Council of Europe, 1990), pp. 33-35; and R. S. Clark, *The United Nations Crime Prevention and Criminal Justice Program: Formulation of Standards and Efforts at their Implementation* (Philadelphia, University of Philadelphia Press, 1994), p. 208, footnote 52). A treaty on the application of the principle of *ne bis in idem* has been produced by the Judicial Co-operation Group working under the auspices of the Ministers of Foreign Affairs of Member States of the European Communities.

102

(ii) The offence is committed on board a vessel flying its flag or an aircraft which is registered under its laws at the time the offence is committed;

- 4.5 Paragraph 1, subparagraph (a), which is mandatory on parties, deals with jurisdiction on a "territorial" or "quasi-territorial" basis. In the practice of States, such jurisdiction is virtually universally established, but it was judged appropriate to include it specifically so that article 4 could contain a comprehensive set of provisions.
- 4.6 In common with other international treaties and conventions, the text requires jurisdiction to be "established". It is not necessarily the case that it will always be "exercised", and the latter word was deliberately omitted from article 4. For example, there may be cases where it is more appropriate for an alleged offender, the major part of whose criminal activities have been carried out in another State, to be extradited to stand trial in that State.
- 4.7 The text does not attempt to deal with the well-known problem of deciding in which State an offence, elements of which are located in more than one State, should be deemed to have been committed. It will be for each national legal system to determine whether what occurred on its territory satisfies the definition of the relevant offence created by its own law.
- 4.8 It should be noted that the 1988 Convention does not contain a provision equivalent to that found in article 36, paragraph 2, subparagraph (a), clause (i), of the 1961 Convention, whereby each of the offences mandated by paragraph 1 thereof, if committed in different countries, "shall be considered as a distinct offence". This provision, which was heavily influenced by the terms of article 4 of the 1936 Convention, is intended "to give to the courts of a country the necessary territorial jurisdiction in cases where they might not otherwise possess it, and in particular to ensure that a country shall have territorial jurisdiction over accessory acts even though the principal acts were not committed in its territory and even though it in general assigns jurisdiction over accessory acts in the courts in whose districts the principal acts were committed". The provision of the 1961 Convention, as with article 22, paragraph 2, subparagraph (a), clause (i), of the 1971 Convention, which is to like effect, is made subject to a

 $<sup>^{209}</sup>$ Commentary on the 1961 Convention, paragraph 2 of the comments on article 36, paragraph 2, subparagraph (a) (see also paragraph 4.7, above).

safeguard clause; namely "subject to the constitutional limitations of a Party, its legal system and domestic law".

- 4.9 The word "vessel" was preferred in the English text of the 1988 Convention to the word "ship"; there seems to be no significant difference between these terms, even in the context of such vehicles as hovercraft. The expression "flying its flag" is the customary one and is, of course, not to be taken literally; the absence of the flag from its accustomed pole does not extinguish the jurisdiction of the State of registry. In a few national legal systems, however, a ship registered in a State may be permitted, for a limited period, to fly the flag of another State; in such a case, the text gives jurisdiction to the latter State.
- 4.10 Aircraft are registered in a similar way, but the language of the "flag" is not used. There is a growing number of aircraft owned by a group of airlines established in different countries, <sup>211</sup> but the practice is that each individual aircraft is on the register of only one of the States involved. The Council of the International Civil Aviation Organization, in a controversial resolution, <sup>212</sup> allowed for the establishment of joint or international registration, the effect of which would be to give the aircraft dual or multiple nationality, and for present purposes to give jurisdiction to several States.
- 4.11 The reference to the time of the offence can be critical in some aviation contexts. Interchange agreements between airlines sometimes provide for the temporary transfer of an aircraft from the register of one State to that of another for a part of an international flight. In such cases, care would need to be taken to identify the actual time of the offence so as to discover the State of registration at that time.

# Implementation considerations: paragraph 1, subparagraph (a)

4.12 Paragraph 1, subparagraph (a), deals with the mandatory establishment of prescriptive jurisdiction by parties.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>210</sup>See article 91 of the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea (*The Law of the Sea: United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea* (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.83.V.5)).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>211</sup>Examples are the Scandinavian Airlines System and Air Afrique.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>212</sup>International Civil Aviation Organization document 8743-C/978, p. 26.

4.13 The authority of a State to establish jurisdiction over acts which take place within its own territory is an uncontested norm of public international law of long standing. Indeed, all members of the international community afford the territorial principle of jurisdiction a central position in their legal systems. Thus, compliance with this obligation will be automatic.

- 4.14 Notwithstanding this fact, many jurisdictions do not always take full advantage of the flexibility of the rule of international law in the drafting of their criminal law statutes. That rule encompasses both the subjective and objective principles of territoriality: that is, where the act was commenced and where it was completed. This flexibility can be particularly valuable in relation to drug trafficking and other transnational offences where the constituent elements of the crime are frequently committed in more than one jurisdiction. In some commonlaw countries, for example, it has been traditional to assume jurisdiction only when the final element of the offence was committed within national territory. The resulting gap in coverage is not the result of any limitation imposed by international law and could thus be remedied by appropriate legislative action. An obvious focus for consideration is presented by the offences enumerated in article 3, paragraph 1, subparagraph (c), clause (iv), when they are committed in another State.
- 4.15 It should be recalled that, in addition to its land territory, each coastal State possesses sovereignty over its territorial sea and superjacent airspace by virtue of rules of international law, both customary and conventional.<sup>214</sup> In order to eliminate possible loopholes that could be used by traffickers, and given the practical importance of eliminating trafficking by sea,<sup>215</sup> parties should consider whether existing legislation adequately covers offences committed upon vessels

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>213</sup>See, for example, G. Williams, "Venue and the ambit of the criminal law" (Part 3), *Law Quarterly Review*, No. 81, 1965, p. 158.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>214</sup>See, for example, article 2 of the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea (Official Records of the Third United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea, vol. XVII (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.84.V.3), document A/CONF.62/1221, annex I).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>215</sup>See below, comment on article 17, which does not extend to trafficking activities within the territorial sea.

in their territorial sea.<sup>216</sup> Such legislation can, of course, only be enforced against foreign flag vessels in accordance with the international law of the sea.<sup>217</sup>

4.16 The imposition of the obligation contained in paragraph 1, subparagraph (a), clause (ii), to establish prescriptive jurisdiction over offences committed on board flag vessels and registered aircraft is also uncontroversial at the international level. While an examination of the adequacy of existing law in relation to this matter would be prudent, few countries will be likely to find a pressing need for new legislation in this area.<sup>218</sup> On the other hand, it should be recalled that issues relating to concurrent jurisdiction can arise in this as well as other areas covered by article 4. As the European Committee on Crime Problems of the Council of Europe has noted: "Competing claims to jurisdiction occur in cases where ships are sailing in the territorial waters of another State at the time of the commission of the offence or where aircraft are over or in such territory: there is no evidence of general rules of international law for allocating competence among States, one of whom claims flag jurisdiction". 219 As was noted above, the 1988 Convention does not seek to resolve the problems flowing from competing assertions of jurisdiction.<sup>220</sup> It is therefore left to be determined by domestic law and policy or to be dealt with in the context of other multilateral and bilateral mechanisms, agreements or arrangements.

# Paragraph 1, subparagraph (b), clause (i)

(b) May take such measures as may be necessary to establish its jurisdiction over the offences it has established in accordance with article 3, paragraph 1, when:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>216</sup>See, for example, article 113-2 of the French Penal Code. In the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, reliance is placed primarily on the relevant provisions of the Customs and Excise Management Act, 1979; see also article 6, paragraph 1, subparagraph (b), of the 1988 Convention for the Suppression of Unlawful Acts against the Safety of Maritime Navigation (*International Legal Materials*, No. 207, 1988, p. 676).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>217</sup>See, in particular, article 27 of the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>218</sup>In Australia, just such a review identified a gap in legislative coverage which was subsequently eliminated by section 11 of the Crimes (Traffic in Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances) Act, 1990 (Act No. 97 of 1990).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>219</sup>European Committee on Crime Problems, op. cit., p. 12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>220</sup>See above, general comments on article 4.

106

(i) The offence is committed by one of its nationals or by a person who has his habitual residence in its territory;

## Commentary

- 4.17 It seems clear that each part of paragraph 1, subparagraph (b), creates a separate basis for the optional establishment of jurisdiction.<sup>221</sup>
- 4.18 Subparagraph (b), clause (i), deals with jurisdiction on the "personal" basis, sometimes referred to as the active personality principle. Unlike subparagraph (a), it is optional rather than mandatory. This reflects the diversity of State practice, many States establishing extraterritorial jurisdiction on the basis of nationality, rather fewer also asserting such jurisdiction in the case of habitual residence, and some making no use of the "personal" basis of jurisdiction.
- 4.19 No attempt is made to define the concepts of nationality and habitual residence. In cases of dual or multiple nationality, each State of which the alleged offender is a national may establish jurisdiction on that basis. "Habitual residence" is commonly regarded as a purely factual notion. A resolution of the Committee of Ministers of the Council of Europe suggests that "in determining whether a residence is habitual, account is to be taken of the duration and the continuity of the residence as well as other facts of a personal or professional nature which point to durable ties between a person and his residence". 222

# Paragraph 1, subparagraph (b), clause (ii)

(ii) The offence is committed on board a vessel concerning which that Party has been authorized to take appropriate action pursuant to article 17, provided that such jurisdiction shall be exercised only on the basis of agreements or arrangements referred to in paragraphs 4 and 9 of that article;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>221</sup>The alternative view, that the requirements of clauses (i), (ii) and (iii) were cumulative so that all had to be met in a single case before a State could take jurisdiction (see *Official Records*, vol. II ..., Summary records of plenary meetings, 7th plenary meeting, para. 22), cannot be supported; it was not suggested in the discussions of the draft, where each item was examined separately.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>222</sup>Committee of Ministers resolution 72(1), annex.

107

## Commentary

4.20 The second permissive basis for establishment of jurisdiction, contained in paragraph 1, subparagraph (b), clause (ii), relates to the consensual interdiction of a foreign flag vessel while exercising freedom of navigation beyond the territorial sea. This provision is concerned with the situation in which one party seeks the authorization of the flag state of a vessel that is suspected to be involved in illicit traffic in order to take appropriate enforcement measures in regard to that vessel and the persons and cargo on board. It is examined below in the context of illicit traffic by sea, which is the subject of article 17.

## Paragraph 1, subparagraph (b), clause (iii)

(iii) The offence is one of those established in accordance with article 3, paragraph 1, subparagraph (c)(iv), and is committed outside its territory with a view to the commission, within its territory, of an offence established in accordance with article 3, paragraph 1.

- 4.21 Article 3, paragraph 1, subparagraph (c), clause (iv), deals with participation in, association or conspiracy to commit, attempts to commit and aiding, abetting, facilitating and counselling the commission of any of the offences established in accordance with that article.
- 4.22 The case of a conspiracy in a party's territory intended to lead to action in another State, whether or not a party to the Convention, falls within the mandatory jurisdiction referred to under paragraph 1, subparagraph (a), clause (i). The effect of the present provision is to allow States to establish jurisdiction where one of those preparatory offences was committed outside its territory but "with a view to" the commission, within its territory, of an offence established in accordance with article 3, paragraph 1. An example would be a conspiracy formed in one State to effect the distribution of narcotic drugs in another State. The latter State could establish jurisdiction over that conspiracy, whether or not it actually led to the distribution of drugs on its territory. If, however, the agreement between the conspirators had reached a stage at which criminal activity was envisaged in a region embracing several States but the selection of the location of the activity awaited further information, no State within that region could rely on the present provision as a basis for jurisdiction;

it could not be shown that what had already taken place was "with a view to" the commission of an offence there.

# Implementation considerations: paragraph 1, subparagraph (b)

- 4.23 Paragraph 1, subparagraph (b), enumerates three permissive grounds for establishing prescriptive jurisdiction. The first of these relates to offences committed extraterritorially by nationals and habitual residents. In this case, the legal acceptability of the assumption of jurisdiction on the basis of the nationality of the offender (sometimes known as the active personality principle) is universally acknowledged. Indeed, in some multilateral conventions dealing with crimes of international concern, such an assumption of jurisdiction has been made mandatory.  $^{223}$
- 4.24 Many States, particularly those with a civil-law tradition, use the nationality principle either as a matter of course or with considerable frequency. In France, for instance, a citizen can be prosecuted for any crime and many délits committed abroad.<sup>224</sup> Most common-law countries, by way of contrast, have only sparingly applied their criminal laws on the basis of the nationality of the offender. Some may wish, however, in the light of the serious nature of the offences concerned, to consider creating a further exception in relation to offences established in accordance with article 3, paragraph 1. Australia, for example, has taken this step. The Crimes (Traffic in Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances) Act, 1990<sup>225</sup> was drafted so as to apply "to Australian nationals who, outside Australia, engage in conduct that is dealing in drugs, which is an offence against the law of a foreign country and which would also be an offence against the law in force in a State or Territory if [it] were engaged in by the person in that State or Territory. If the person is subsequently present in Australia he or she is liable to be charged with an offence under this provision."226

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>223</sup>See, for example, article 6, paragraph 1, subparagraph (c), of the 1988 Convention for the Suppression of Unlawful Acts against the Safety of Maritime Navigation (*International Legal Materials*, No. 27, 1988, p. 676).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>224</sup>French Code of Criminal Procedure, art. 689.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>225</sup>Act No. 97 of 1990, s.12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>226</sup>Crimes (Traffic in Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances) Bill 1989: Explanatory Memorandum (Canberra, Parliament of the Commonwealth of Australia, House of Representatives, 1989), p. 6.

4.25 The assumption of jurisdiction on the basis of the habitual residence of an individual rather than on his or her nationality is less firmly established in international practice<sup>227</sup> and less frequently invoked in domestic legislation.<sup>228</sup> Thailand, for example, is among those States which have taken advantage of this option.<sup>229</sup>

- 4.26 In considering this and other permissive grounds for jurisdiction, attention should be paid to the effect that any such assertion of jurisdiction is likely to have in areas of international cooperation, such as extradition and mutual assistance in criminal matters. For example, in the law and practice of extradition it is not uncommon for cooperation to be excluded where the requested country does not provide for the prosecution of extraterritorial offences in like circumstances. Some jurisdictions, however, have concluded that it is in the interests of justice to be able to surrender fugitives in respect of a broader range of circumstances, such as where the requesting country bases its jurisdiction on the nationality of the offender.
- 4.27 While the second basis for the establishment of jurisdiction, contained in paragraph 1, subparagraph (b), clause (ii), is framed in permissive terms, there is no doubt that the assumption of prescriptive jurisdiction will in fact be necessary if effective use is to be made of the potential afforded by article 17. This conclusion flows from the fact that there will be little point in boarding and searching a foreign vessel in international waters, which may be crewed exclusively by foreign nationals, unless a prosecution can be entertained in

 $<sup>^{227}</sup>$ An alternative formulation restricts this basis for the establishment of prescriptive jurisdiction to stateless persons who are habitual residents (see, for example, article 6, paragraph 2, subparagraph (a), and article 5, paragraph 1, subparagraph (b), of the 1979 International Convention against the Taking of Hostages (General Assembly resolution 34/146, annex)).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>228</sup>But see Restatement of the Law Third: The Foreign Relations Law of the United States (St. Paul, Minnesota, American Law Institute Publishers, 1987), vol. 1, pp. 239-240.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>229</sup>See section 5(1) of the 1991 Act on Measures for the Suppression of Offenders in an Offence Relating to Narcotics.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>230</sup>See, for example, article 7, paragraph 2, of the European Convention on Extradition of 1957, reproduced in *Explanatory Report on the European Convention on Extradition* (Strasbourg, Council of Europe, 1985); and article 4, subparagraph (e), of the 1990 Model Treaty on Extradition (General Assembly resolution 45/116, annex).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>231</sup>See, for example, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, Extradition Act 1989, c.33, s.2.

instances where illicit drugs are found.<sup>232</sup> To date, however, relatively few States have enacted legislation of this kind. In some cases, as with Ireland<sup>233</sup> and the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland,<sup>234</sup> the relevant statutory provisions are available for use only in respect of other parties to the 1988 Convention. There may, however, be some merit in considering a formulation not specific to the 1988 Convention,<sup>235</sup> given the fact that international law permits any flag State to waive its exclusive jurisdiction and to consent to enforcement action by another member of the international community against its ships. This would permit the extension of this form of cooperation in respect of States that have yet to become parties to this important international instrument.

4.28 While article 4 treats both the issue of a party's jurisdiction in respect of offences taking place on board its own flag vessels and on those of other parties, it remains silent about the assumption of legislative powers over stateless vessels involved in the international traffic in narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances. The absence of specific treatment of this topic is somewhat curious, given the fact that article 17, paragraph 2, concerns requests for assistance in suppressing the use of such vessels when engaged in illicit trafficking. Subsequent international practice has identified this as a matter requiring attention, given the extent to which stateless vessels have, in fact, been used by trafficking networks.<sup>236</sup> Thus, article 3, paragraph 3, of the 1995 Council of Europe Agreement on Illicit Traffic by Sea, Implementing Article 17 of the United Nations Convention against Illicit Traffic in Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances, requires each participating State to "take such measures as may be necessary to establish its jurisdiction over the relevant

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>232</sup>It is of interest to note that, in article 3, paragraph 2, of the 1995 Council of Europe Agreement on Illicit Traffic by Sea, implementing article 17 of the 1988 Convention (European Treaty Series, No. 156), the establishment of such jurisdiction is made mandatory.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>233</sup>Ireland, Criminal Justice (International Co-operation) Act No. 15 of 1994, sects. 34-36.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>234</sup>United Kingdom, Criminal Justice (International Co-operation) Act 1990, c.5, sects. 19-21.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>235</sup>This is the position taken in the United States Maritime Law Enforcement Act (see 46 USC 1903).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>236</sup>See recommendation 13 of the Working Group on Maritime Cooperation, endorsed by the Commission on Narcotic Drugs in its resolution 8 (XXXVIII) (*Official Records of the Economic and Social Council, 1995, Supplement No. 9* (E/1995/25), chap. XII, sect. A).

offences committed on board a vessel which is without nationality, or which is assimilated to a vessel without nationality under international law".

- 4.29 It is also relevant to recall that article 17 contains a non-derogation provision in paragraph 11, in respect of the exercise of coastal State jurisdiction in accordance with the international law of the sea. It would be prudent, therefore, for those responsible for effective implementation of the 1988 Convention to examine the adequacy of existing law in relation to the exercise of jurisdiction over relevant offences within any contiguous or customs zone, as well as rules of domestic law relating to other independent law of the sea powers including the right of hot pursuit.<sup>237</sup>
- 4.30 The final discretionary ground for the establishment of extraterritorial prescriptive jurisdiction for which specific treatment is afforded in paragraph 1, subparagraph (b), is the so-called "effects" principle.<sup>238</sup> This principle, which has been the source of some controversy in other contexts, is strictly limited in its application to the offences enumerated in article 3, paragraph 1, subparagraph (c), clause (iv), when committed outside the territory of a party with a view to the commission within that territory of an offence established in accordance with article 3, paragraph 1. While there is therefore a clear nexus between the act complained of and the territory of the State, the effects principle, as expressed in this context, is wider than the territorial principle envisaged in paragraph 1, subparagraph (a), clause (i). This is because, in this instance, the offence is committed outside the State's territory, and there may indeed have been no overt act in the territory of the State. In other words the principle may extend to intended but as yet unrealized effects within State territory.
- 4.31 For many countries, taking full advantage of the possibilities created by this provision will require legislative action.<sup>239</sup> That being said, the judiciary in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>237</sup>The right of hot pursuit can also be used in relation to certain "mother ship" drug smuggling operations. Certain domestic courts have determined that this right also extends to so-called "extended constructive presence operations" (see, for example, *Re Pulos, International Law Reports*, vol. 77, No. 587 (Italy); and *R. v. Sunila and Solayman* (1986) 28 D.L.R. (4th) 450 (Canada)).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>238</sup>See article 4, paragraph 1, subparagraph (b), clause (iii).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>239</sup>See, for example, Thailand, Act on Measures for the Suppression of Offenders in an Offence Relating to Narcotics, section 5(2). It reads as follows: "Any person who commits an offence relating to narcotics, despite the fact that an offence is committed outside the Kingdom, shall be punished in the Kingdom, if it appears that: ... (2) the offender is an alien and intends its consequence to occur within the Kingdom or the Thai Government is the injured person".

certain common-law jurisdictions has, in recent years, adopted a supportive view of the reach of existing common-law rules in this context. In the 1990 case of Liangsiriprasert v. United States Government and Another<sup>240</sup> the Judicial Committee of the Privy Council held that "a conspiracy entered into in Thailand with the intention of committing the criminal offence of trafficking in drugs in Hong Kong is justiciable in Hong Kong even if no overt act pursuant to the conspiracy has yet occurred in Hong Kong". <sup>241</sup> In the subsequent case of Regina v. Sansom and Others, <sup>242</sup> which also concerned an extraterritorial narcotics conspiracy, the English Court of Appeal confirmed the above view of the common-law rule and extended it to the interpretation of statutory provisions. <sup>243</sup>

## Paragraph 2, subparagraph (a)

## 2. Each Party:

- (a) Shall also take such measures as may be necessary to establish its jurisdiction over the offences it has established in accordance with article 3, paragraph 1, when the alleged offender is present in its territory and it does not extradite him to another Party on the ground:
  - (i) That the offence has been committed in its territory or on board a vessel flying its flag or an aircraft which was registered under its law at the time the offence was committed; or
  - (ii) That the offence has been committed by one of its nationals;

# Commentary

4.32 Following the general scheme adopted in many other multilateral agreements dealing with crimes of international concern, article 4, paragraph 2, uses the concept of the vicarious administration of justice as expressed in the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>240</sup>[1990] 2 All E.R., p. 866.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>241</sup>Ibid., p. 878.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>242</sup>[1991] 2 All E.R., p. 145.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>243</sup>Ibid., p. 150.

principle *aut dedere aut judicare*. In essence, this concept requires that when an alleged offender is present in the territory of the party and that State does not extradite the individual concerned, it should have established jurisdiction allowing it to initiate a prosecution.

- 4.33 The text of paragraph 2 as a whole can be compared with that of article 36, paragraph 2, subparagraph (a), clause (iv), of the 1961 Convention. In the 1961 text, unlike the present provision, there is a safeguard clause referring to the constitutional limitations of a party, its legal system and domestic law. The Commentary on the 1961 Convention, which was published in 1973, contained the suggestion that "in view of the deterioration of the international drug situation since 1961 ..., the Governments concerned may at present find the prosecution of serious offences of illicit traffic committed abroad much less objectionable on grounds of principle than they did then". That prophetic suggestion is in some measure vindicated in the text of paragraph 2.
- 4.34 Where the extradition is refused on one of two grounds listed in subparagraph (a), clauses (i) and (ii), action by a party to establish its jurisdiction is mandatory. The grounds listed in subparagraph (a), clause (i), depend upon the territorial principle, with its extension to cover ships and aircraft; in all these cases each party will necessarily have established jurisdiction under paragraph 1, subparagraph (a).
- 4.35 The situation is not the same in cases covered by subparagraph (a), clause (ii), where the offence has been committed by one of the party's nationals. The text at this point needs to be compared with that of paragraph 1, subparagraph (b), clause (i), which enables but does not require a party to establish jurisdiction in certain cases, including the case in which the offence is committed by one of its nationals. The effect of the present provision is that jurisdiction over offences committed by nationals, which is in general optional, becomes mandatory where extradition is refused on that basis. It will be noted that there is no reference in the present provision to offences committed by a person habitually resident in the territory of a party; any refusal on the ground of the habitual residence of the alleged offender does not fall within the present provision.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>244</sup>See also 1961 Convention, article 36, paragraph 3, and Commentary on the 1961 Convention, comments on article 36, paragraph 2, subparagraph (*a*), clause (iii).

# Paragraph 2, subparagraph (b)

(b) May also take such measures as may be necessary to establish its jurisdiction over the offences it has established in accordance with article 3, paragraph 1, when the alleged offender is present in its territory and it does not extradite him to another Party.

## Commentary

4.36 If the grounds upon which extradition is, or would be, refused are other than those stated in subparagraph (a), there is no obligation upon the requested party to establish its own jurisdiction. So, for example, if the extradition of an alleged offender for an offence<sup>245</sup> committed in one State is sought from another State, where the alleged offender is present but of which he or she is not a national, and extradition is refused on the ground of possible racial prejudice,<sup>246</sup> the offender may well escape prosecution, as the requested State is under no duty to establish its own jurisdiction, and indeed the case does not fall within the provisions of paragraphs 1 and 2 dealing with optional grounds for the establishment of jurisdiction. When such optional jurisdiction has been established and an alleged offender is not extradited, article 6, paragraph 9, subparagraph (b), requires that the case be submitted to its "competent authorities for the purpose of prosecution unless otherwise requested by the requesting Party for the purpose of preserving its legitimate jurisdiction".<sup>247</sup>

# Implementation considerations: paragraph 2

4.37 Article 4, paragraph 2, subparagraph (a), which is framed in mandatory terms, requires a party to establish jurisdiction where extradition is refused either because the offence was committed on its territory or on board one of its vessels or aircraft or because it was committed by one of its nationals.<sup>248</sup> In the latter case, civil-law jurisdictions, unlike those in the common-law tradition, are

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>245</sup>Ignoring, for this purpose, the possible case of an offence established in accordance with article 3, paragraph 1, subparagraph (c), clause (iv) (see article 4, paragraph 1, subparagraph (b), clause (iii), and paragraphs 4.21-4.22 above).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>246</sup>See article 6, paragraph 6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>247</sup>See below, comments on article 6, paragraph 9, subparagraph (b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>248</sup>See below, comments on article 6, paragraph 9, subparagraph (a).

normally prevented for constitutional, legal or policy reasons from extraditing their own citizens.<sup>249</sup> As noted above, however, the same civil-law countries also tend to make very extensive use of the nationality principle and thus normally have a legal basis for bringing prosecutions against their nationals charged with offences committed abroad. Any State intending to become a party to the 1988 Convention that faces impediments to the extradition of its nationals must therefore ensure that it has invoked the option provided in paragraph 1, subparagraph (b), clause (i), to cover its obligations in such cases.

Use of the optional provision of article 4, paragraph 2, subparagraph (a), 4.38 provides a further opportunity to eliminate gaps in the cover afforded to offences established in accordance with article 3, paragraph 1, which might otherwise result in individuals who have committed drug-trafficking offences abroad Among those States that have taken advantage of this escaping justice. opportunity is Australia. In section 12 of the Crimes (Traffic in Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances) Act of 1990,250 extraterritorial jurisdiction is established over certain drug offences by a non-Australian who is subsequently present in Australia. Two situations are envisaged: first, where no request for extradition has been received from the country where the offence took place; and secondly, where extradition has been sought but has been refused. As the Explanatory Memorandum prepared under the authority of the Commonwealth Attorney-General noted: "Circumstances in which this might occur would be, for example, where the Attorney-General determines that the person should not be surrendered because the requesting country refused to give satisfactory undertakings as to the non-imposition or non-execution of the death penalty."251

# Paragraph 3

3. This Convention does not exclude the exercise of any criminal jurisdiction established by a Party in accordance with its domestic law.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>249</sup>See, for example, article 16, paragraph 2, of the German Basic Law; see also G. Gilbert, *Aspects of Extradition Law* (London, Martinus Nijhoff Publishers, 1991), pp. 95-99.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>250</sup>Act No. 97 of 1990.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>251</sup>Crimes (Traffic in Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances) Bill 1989: Explanatory Memorandum (Canberra, Parliament of the Commonwealth of Australia, House of Representatives, 1989), p. 7; see also Thailand, Act on Measures for the Suppression of Offenders in an Offence Relating to Narcotics, 1991, section 5(3).

### Commentary

4.39 The Convention requires or encourages parties to establish jurisdiction in certain types of case. Where a party has established jurisdiction on some basis not included among those referred to in article 4, nothing in the Convention prevents the continued exercise of such jurisdiction.

## Implementation considerations: paragraph 3

4.40 It is important that the final paragraph of article 4 should not be taken to mean that States are to regard themselves as being entirely free to establish any kind of extraterritorial jurisdiction that may have commended itself on policy or practical grounds. The issue of the proper limits of extraterritorial prescriptive jurisdiction is governed by the rules of customary international law and members of the international community have traditionally been sensitive to unreasonable or exorbitant claims to such jurisdiction. If consideration is being given to the use of bases for jurisdiction not specifically authorized elsewhere in article 4, it would be prudent for those responsible for implementation to seek appropriate specialist advice.

#### **ARTICLE 5**

#### Confiscation

#### General comments

- 5.1 The drafting of article 5 proved difficult, partly because of the different forms of confiscation used in national laws (see paragraph 5.7 below) and partly because of the varying concepts of confiscation to be found in national legal systems, some treating it as a preventive measure, others as a sanction. It can be noted that confiscation is expressly referred to as a sanction in article 3, paragraph 4, subparagraph (a), where the context is the need to make the commission of offences liable to sanctions which take into account the grave nature of the relevant offences.
- 5.2 In considering article 5 as a whole, it is important to recall the state of legal development in 1988. It was only during the 1980s that States began to develop comprehensive domestic legislation dealing with the confiscation of the proceeds of drug trafficking and other crimes, and with related matters such as money-laundering. In the latter part of that decade there was a new emphasis on the international coordination of enforcement efforts. The Commonwealth Scheme for Mutual Assistance in Criminal Matters was adopted in 1986 and provisions on the proceeds of crime were included only at the final drafting stage. This was, therefore, an area in which many States had little experience, and even legislation already enacted, such as that in the United States, was at something of an experimental stage.
- 5.3 As a result, there was some initial uncertainty about the amount of detail that would be appropriate in dealing with this matter. The preliminary draft of the Convention, published in June 1986, went into very considerable detail as to the precise content of each party's domestic law, the types of order its courts should be empowered to make, and their effects and duration.<sup>253</sup> Later drafts were produced in a more flexible style, so as to facilitate implementation in different national legal systems.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>252</sup>See, for example, "Report of a Committee of Enquiry of the European Parliament", working document of the European Parliament 1986-87, document A2-114.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>253</sup>Official Records, vol. I ..., document E/CN.7/1978/2, sect. II, art. 3.

# Paragraph 1, introductory part and subparagraph (a)

- 1. Each Party shall adopt such measures as may be necessary to enable confiscation of:
- (a) Proceeds derived from offences established in accordance with article 3, paragraph 1, or property the value of which corresponds to that of such proceeds;

- 5.4 The introductory wording of paragraph 1 makes it clear that action by parties is mandatory: each party must do whatever is required to provide within its national legal system for confiscation as dealt with in this paragraph. The paragraph as drafted, read in conjunction with paragraph 9 (see paragraph 5.58 below), gives each party some discretion as to the nature of the measures that are necessary. It will be noted that the obligation is to "enable" confiscation; a party is not obliged to make confiscation mandatory in all or even specific cases.
- 5.5 The word "confiscation" used in this paragraph is defined as follows in article 1, subparagraph (f): "Confiscation', which includes forfeiture where applicable, means the permanent deprivation of property by order of a court or other competent authority". There is no international consistency in the use of the terms "confiscation" and "forfeiture". One or the other term is used in different legal systems to refer to the same, or a virtually identical, concept; in some legal systems, both terms appear in different senses. The drafting is designed to prevent any arid dispute regarding terminology from obstructing the purposes of the provision. Priority was given to the term "confiscation" partly because it was used in the earlier conventions, where there are limited provisions, not entirely clear in their effect, that certain substances and equipment "shall be liable to seizure and confiscation".  $^{255}$
- Subparagraph (a) deals with the confiscation of "proceeds", defined in article 1, subparagraph (p), as the property<sup>256</sup> derived from or obtained, directly or indirectly, through the commission of an offence established in accordance with article 3, paragraph 1. Property obtained directly will include, for example,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>254</sup>See Australia, Proceeds of Crime Act 1987, part II, s.14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>255</sup>1961 Convention, art. 37; and 1971 Convention, art. 22, para. 3.

 $<sup>^{256}</sup>$ Itself defined in the widest possible terms (see article 1, subparagraph (q)).

money actually paid for a consignment of narcotic drugs; property indirectly derived from an offence may include, for example, a valuable painting or other asset bought with the money so received. In every case, there will be a chain of transactions connecting the property in question with the relevant offence.<sup>257</sup>

- Subparagraph (a) also allows the device of "substitution of assets" or 5.7 "value-confiscation". In some States, under confiscation legislation, property may be seized that represents the assessed value of gains made by the offender from the offences of which he is convicted, rather than the actual property received or derived from those offences. The effect is similar to the enforcement of a money-judgement by execution against a person's property. This approach may be found alongside and as an alternative to the direct forfeiture of identified property. There are circumstances in which direct forfeiture is impracticable or impossible or raises complex issues regarding the position of innocent third parties: an example used in the course of the discussion of the draft involved the purchase by an offender of a one-eighth share in a racehorse, the other shares being held by innocent third parties. The confiscation of the value of that share, represented for this purpose by other assets held by the offender, was cited as a satisfactory solution in such a case. "Value-confiscation" is indeed often found to be the more efficient method of enforcement.
- 5.8 It seems that the intention of this provision is that each party must take the measures necessary to provide either for the confiscation of proceeds, or for the confiscation of property of corresponding value. A State may, but is not required to, adopt both forms of confiscation; but each party must be able to cooperate with other States, whether or not they adopt the same approach to confiscation.
- 5.9 The text is not intended to cover every question that may arise in the context of legislation. Some further relevant material is found in paragraphs 6-8, considered below, but many other issues are left to the national legislator. One example is the method by which the value of property is assessed under a "value-confiscation approach", including such questions as whether proceeds are "gross" or "net", and the effect of inflation between the date of the offence and that of the eventual confiscation order by the court or other competent authority. Indeed the provision has been carefully drafted to avoid specifying whether a court order is needed and what legal processes must be carried out. In particular,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>257</sup>It follows that the fact that a particular property may be an "indirect" representation of the original gains from the offence does not mean that there is any less suspicion of the persons involved, or proof of their involvement.

no reference is made to the use of criminal as opposed to civil forms of confiscation proceeding; in some States, both will be available, predicated in each case on the main offence.

5.10 The question whether a conviction must have been recorded, or whether it is sufficient to prove (in some systems, perhaps on a standard of proof lower than that required in criminal cases) that the property was derived from conduct which falls within the definition of an offence, is left to the national legislator to answer; the text does not prevent forms of confiscation that require no conviction.

# Paragraph 1, subparagraph (b)

(b) Narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances, materials and equipment or other instrumentalities used in or intended for use in any manner in offences established in accordance with article 3, paragraph 1.

## Commentary

5.11 "Narcotic drugs" and "psychotropic substances" have the meaning given in article 1;<sup>258</sup> the other terms in this subparagraph are not defined in the 1988 Convention. It seems clear that the phrase "materials and equipment or other instrumentalities" should be given the broadest possible meaning. The 1961 Convention used the term "equipment", and it was not clear whether that would include vehicles such as ships and aircraft, especially if they had been used without the consent of their owner. The present text, however, contains the additional term "instrumentalities", <sup>259</sup> which is plainly broad enough to include any vehicle used or intended to be used in the commission of the offence. The inclusion of the words "in any manner" emphasizes the breadth of the concept of instrumentalities, a concept apt to meet the developing ingenuity of offenders.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>258</sup>See above, comments on article 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>259</sup>The term "instrumentalities" is not defined in the 1988 Convention and there are distinct differences in national approaches to this issue. In some countries real property can be so regarded, while in others this is not the case. By virtue of paragraph 4, subparagraph (c), and paragraph 9, the law of the requested State will apply. Article 1, subparagraph (c), of the Council of Europe Convention on Laundering, Search, Seizure and Confiscation of the Proceeds from Crime defines the term to mean "any property used or intended to be used, in any manner, wholly or in part, to commit a criminal offence or criminal offences".

5.12 The text refers to items "used in or intended for use in" the commission of an offence. The text does not specify whose intention need be proved; it will be for the national legislator to determine whether confiscation should be limited to items held by the person who himself intends to use them in his future commission of an offence or whether it would be sufficient to prove that he held them intending them to be used by someone else in the commission of an offence.

# Paragraph 2

2. Each Party shall also adopt such measures as may be necessary to enable its competent authorities to identify, trace, and freeze or seize proceeds, property, instrumentalities or any other things referred to in paragraph 1 of this article, for the purpose of eventual confiscation.

## Commentary

- 5.13 "Freezing" or "seizure" is defined in article 1, subparagraph (*l*), as "temporarily prohibiting the transfer, conversion, disposition or movement of property or temporarily assuming custody or control of property on the basis of an order issued by a court or a competent authority".<sup>260</sup>
- 5.14 Nothing is said in the text about the location of the assets in question. In many circumstances, State authorities will only be able to take practical steps to identify and trace assets situated within their own territory. A State may wish, however, to make a freezing order having extraterritorial effect, but will require the assistance of competent authorities in the State where the assets are located; no provision is made for such orders to be given effect under the Convention.<sup>261</sup>

# Paragraph 3

3. In order to carry out the measures referred to in this article, each Party shall empower its courts or other competent authorities to order that bank, financial or commercial records

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>260</sup>In some legal systems, both terms may be used, "freezing" being associated with the first part of the definition in article 1, subparagraph (*I*), and "seizure" implying physical restraint such as that covered by the latter part of that definition.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>261</sup>See article 5, paragraph 4, subparagraph (b).

be made available or be seized. A Party shall not decline to act under the provisions of this paragraph on the ground of bank secrecy.

- 5.15 As is made clear in the second sentence of paragraph 3, the main purpose of this provision is to deprive offenders of the advantages offered by bank secrecy. Its scope is, however, wider. It covers other "financial" records, a category that has increased enormously in size and importance with the growth of financial service industries; and "commercial" records such as those of shipping lines, freight forwarders and insurers. A party must ensure that these records can be made available (for examination, which in the case of records held as computer data will include the "interrogation" of that data), if necessary through production orders, or seized on the order of a court or other competent authorities as defined in national law (such as prosecutors, customs authorities or other special investigatory agencies).
- 5.16 The obligation on parties under this provision is imposed "in order to carry out the measures referred to in this article". These include the measures referred to in paragraph 4, dealing with international cooperation. There must be power to secure production or to order the seizure of bank and other records in response to requests from other parties, and not merely for the domestic purposes of the State in which the records are to be found.
- 5.17 The second sentence, with its reference to bank secrecy, prevents a party from asserting that, because of its laws, it cannot comply with the provisions of paragraph 3. That paragraph, in any event, contains no safeguard clause. Although the Convention does not require any party to abolish its bank secrecy laws, it does require appropriate exceptions to the principle of bank secrecy or confidentiality to enable action in cases involving illicit drug traffic. The application of those exceptions will be a matter for the courts or other competent authorities.<sup>262</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>262</sup>See also below, comments on paragraph 9.

## Paragraph 4

#### General comment

5.18 Paragraph 4 deals with assistance provided by one party to another in the context of confiscation. The subject matter is closely related to the more general issues of mutual legal assistance dealt with in article 7, and many of the provisions of the latter article are applied expressly to cases within the scope of paragraph 4.

# Paragraph 4, subparagraph (a)

- 4. (a) Following a request made pursuant to this article by another Party having jurisdiction over an offence established in accordance with article 3, paragraph 1, the Party in whose territory proceeds, property, instrumentalities or any other things referred to in paragraph 1 of this article are situated shall:
  - (i) Submit the request to its competent authorities for the purpose of obtaining an order of confiscation and, if such order is granted, give effect to it; or
  - (ii) Submit to its competent authorities, with a view to giving effect to it to the extent requested, an order of confiscation issued by the requesting Party in accordance with paragraph 1 of this article, in so far as it relates to proceeds, property, instrumentalities or any other things referred to in paragraph 1 situated in the territory of the requested Party.

# Commentary

5.19 Paragraph 4, subparagraph (a), deals with the situation in which the authorities of one State request the confiscation of proceeds, property, instrumentalities or other things falling within the scope of paragraph 1, and those assets are located in the territory of another State. It creates an obligation on the State party in which the assets are located to submit the substance of the request to its competent authorities. What the subparagraph does not do is oblige that party to grant the assistance requested, for there might be circumstances in

which that would not be possible under the internal law of that party.<sup>263</sup> An example might be a case in which the requesting State had created an offence in accordance with article 3, paragraph 1, subparagraph (c),<sup>264</sup> but the requested State had not done so.

- 5.20 If assistance is to be given, there are two different ways in which the matter might be approached. One is for the authorities of the party seeking assistance to obtain a domestic order in the courts of the requested State, supplying whatever documentary or other evidence is required under the law of that State and seeking the assistance of the authorities of that State in facilitating what is often an extremely urgent application. The other is for the competent authorities of the requesting State to obtain, generally from their courts, an order for the confiscation of specified property (or the property of a named person up to a certain value), which order purports to apply to the relevant property wherever it may be found. If the property is in fact in another State, the authorities of that State will be asked to enforce the order, a process that might involve *exequatur* procedures or the confirmation of the order by the courts of that latter State in accordance with the procedures of its national law.
- 5.21 Both approaches are envisaged in paragraph 4, subparagraph (a): the first is incorporated in clause (i); the second, in clause (ii). Each approach (and especially the first) may encounter significant legal difficulties, where for example the property is vested in a person who has not been convicted of any offence in the requested State (or elsewhere). Where the property is land, registered in the name of a citizen of the requested State, it may be impossible to enforce a foreign court order for its confiscation on the basis of the conviction of some other person in the foreign country.
- 5.22 Some of these difficulties have diminished in scale as the ideas reflected in the present paragraph have become more familiar; but they remain formidable. For that reason, subparagraph (c), considered below, contains what is in effect a substantial safeguard clause, subordinating the obligation to provide

 $<sup>^{263}</sup>$ See below, comments on article 5, paragraph 4, subparagraph (c); see also the point of principle that constitutional provisions might preclude the confiscation of property not integrally connected to the perpetration of a specific crime (and that might mean a crime under the law of the requested State) and *Official Records*, vol. II ..., Summary records of plenary meetings, 7th plenary meeting, para. 35.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>264</sup>It will be recalled that this part of article 3 is subject to a safeguard clause, and to that extent the establishment of offences is not mandatory; see paragraphs 3.65 and 3.66 above.

assistance to domestic legal requirements and bilateral or multilateral agreements on cooperation in this field.

## Paragraph 4, subparagraph (b)

(b) Following a request made pursuant to this article by another Party having jurisdiction over an offence established in accordance with article 3, paragraph 1, the requested Party shall take measures to identify, trace, and freeze or seize proceeds, property, instrumentalities or any other things referred to in paragraph 1 of this article for the purpose of eventual confiscation to be ordered either by the requesting Party or, pursuant to a request under subparagraph (a) of this paragraph, by the requested Party.

- 5.23 Subparagraph (a) dealt with international cooperation in effecting confiscation; subparagraph (b) deals with the earlier stage, in which steps need to be taken to identify, trace, freeze or seize $^{265}$  the various types of property which may ultimately become liable to confiscation. $^{266}$
- The subparagraph imposes an obligation on the requested party to take measures in response to a request from another party having jurisdiction over the relevant offence, being one established in accordance with article 3, paragraph 1. It may be that the courts or other authorities of the requesting party will have issued some sort of tracing or freezing order dealing with property and purporting to have extraterritorial effect. The Convention does not provide for any procedure by which such an order could be transmitted for enforcement in another State party, a procedure that would be akin to that applying in respect of confiscation orders under paragraph 4, subparagraph (a), clause (ii) (see paragraph 5.20 above). It provides for a request to be made and responded to, drawing no distinction between cases in which there is, and those in which there is not, a court or other order in the requesting party.

 $<sup>^{265}</sup>$ For the meaning of these terms, see paragraph 5.13, above, and article 1, subparagraph (l).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>266</sup>That is, the proceeds, drugs, substances, materials, equipment and instrumentalities listed in paragraph 1.

- 5.25 The measures to be taken in response to the request are "for the purpose of eventual confiscation". If proceeds are frozen as a result of a request, that does not necessarily preclude their confiscation by the requested party on some basis other than that which prompted the request; for example the proceeds of an offence over which the requesting party had jurisdiction may also be instrumentalities of a further offence in the territory of the requested party.
- 5.26 The obligations under subparagraph (b), like those under subparagraph (a), are subject to the safeguard clause in subparagraph (c).

# Paragraph 4, subparagraph (c)

(c) The decisions or actions provided for in subparagraphs (a) and (b) of this paragraph shall be taken by the requested Party, in accordance with and subject to the provisions of its domestic law and its procedural rules or any bilateral or multilateral treaty, agreement or arrangement to which it may be bound in relation to the requesting Party.

- 5.27 It was clear from the discussions in the various preparatory meetings<sup>267</sup> that some representatives were concerned, for various reasons, about the mandatory nature of the provisions proposed for inclusion in what was to become article 5. These included the unfamiliarity of the concepts and the absence of appropriate provisions in domestic legal systems, especially in respect of the enforcement of foreign orders, and some anxieties about the relationship between the draft article and the emerging body of bilateral and regional agreements. Paragraph 4, subparagraph (c), meets these concerns.
- 5.28 The decisions and actions required by the earlier provisions of paragraph 4 are to be taken by the requested party not only "in accordance with" but also "subject to"<sup>268</sup> a range of legal instruments. These include its domestic law and, included out of an abundance of caution, its procedural rules, and relevant bilateral or multilateral treaties, agreements and arrangements. Given

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>267</sup>See, especially, the reports of the third session of the open-ended intergovernmental expert group (*Official Records*, vol. I ..., document E/CN.7/1988/2 (Part IV), p. 33).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>268</sup>The final text is more emphatic than that submitted to the Drafting Committee (see *Official Records*, vol. I ..., document E/CONF.82/11, "Preamble" (E/CONF.82/C.1/L.18/Add.2), sect. IV, para. 70 (art. 3, para. 4, subpara. (c)).

the general understanding of "arrangements" as denoting relatively informal understandings, the subjection of the obligation under the Convention to such arrangements is striking.

## Paragraph 4, subparagraph (d)

- (d) The provisions of article 7, paragraphs 6 to 19 are applicable mutatis mutandis. In addition to the information specified in article 7, paragraph 10, requests made pursuant to this article shall contain the following:
  - (i) In the case of a request pertaining to subparagraph (a)(i) of this paragraph, a description of the property to be confiscated and a statement of the facts relied upon by the requesting Party sufficient to enable the requested Party to seek the order under its domestic law;
  - (ii) In the case of a request pertaining to subparagraph (a)(ii), a legally admissible copy of an order of confiscation issued by the requesting Party upon which the request is based, a statement of the facts and information as to the extent to which the execution of the order is requested;
  - (iii) In the case of a request pertaining to subparagraph (b), a statement of the facts relied upon by the requesting Party and a description of the actions requested.

# Commentary

5.29 The point has already been made (see paragraph 5.18 above) that the provisions in paragraph 4 dealing with international cooperation in confiscation cases could well have been dealt with in the Convention under the general heading of mutual legal assistance. The result of the separation of the material is seen in the comprehensive cross-reference in the opening words of subparagraph (d). The provisions made applicable under article 7 are considered in detail below; they deal with the following matters:

- (a) The preservation of obligations under an applicable mutual assistance treaty, the provisions of article 7, paragraphs 8-19, applying if the parties in question are not bound by such a treaty;<sup>269</sup>
  - (b) The designation of authorities to handle requests;<sup>270</sup>
  - (c) The language, form and contents of requests for assistance;<sup>271</sup>
- (d) The execution of the requests, and the use of information obtained; $^{272}$ 
  - (e) Grounds for refusal of assistance, or its postponement;<sup>273</sup>
  - (f) Immunity of persons giving evidence in the requesting party; <sup>274</sup>
  - (g) The costs of executing the request.<sup>275</sup>
- 5.30 Only a few points need to be made here. The first concerns the omission from the material made applicable under article 7, paragraph 5, which provides that mutual legal assistance may not be refused on the ground of bank secrecy. It was not necessary to apply that provision in the confiscation context, the same principle being expressly adopted in article 5, paragraph 3 (see paragraph 5.17 above).
- 5.31 The second point concerns the costs of executing requests. This matter is fully examined in the context of article 7, paragraph 19, but it is relevant to note that, in the context of confiscation, the confiscated property may be made

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>269</sup>Art. 7, paras. 6 and 7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>270</sup>Art. 7, para. 8.

 $<sup>^{271}</sup>$ Art. 7, paras. 9-11; paragraph 10 is supplemented by the provisions of article 5, subparagraph 4 (d).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>272</sup>Art. 7, paras. 12-14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>273</sup>Art. 7, paras. 15-17.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>274</sup>Art. 7, para. 18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>275</sup>Art. 7, para. 19.

available to meet those costs. This could be the subject of an agreement under paragraph 5, considered below.

## Paragraph 4, subparagraph (e)

(e) Each Party shall furnish to the Secretary-General the text of any of its laws and regulations which give effect to this paragraph and the text of any subsequent changes to such laws and regulations.

- 5.32 The drafting of subparagraph (e) caused some difficulty. It replaced an earlier draft under which a party would have been required to notify the Secretary-General of which of the two approaches to international cooperation available under paragraph 4, subparagraph (a),<sup>276</sup> it would adopt. That was judged to be unduly restrictive of States' freedom of action in a new field. There was, however, agreement that there was a need for some provision that would enable the Secretary-General to have full information so that a clearing-house facility for the texts of relevant laws and regulations could be provided.<sup>277</sup> After a prolonged discussion, it was agreed to make the provision mandatory upon parties and not merely facultative.<sup>278</sup>
- 5.33 The duty of parties is a continuing one, imposed with a view to providing the Secretary-General with a comprehensive collection of relevant legal texts. The reference to "regulations" indicates that all written law, whether in the form of acts or subordinate legislation (including, where appropriate the legislation of parts of federal or composite States), is included.
- 5.34 It is clearly desirable that this provision should be interpreted in the broadest possible sense. For example, information on administrative regulations governing procedures in respect of confiscation helps to secure the smooth operation of the measures for international cooperation set out in this article.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>276</sup>That is, the enforcement of a foreign order or the making of a domestic order on the basis of data provided by the requesting party (see paragraphs 5.20-5.22 above).

 $<sup>^{277}</sup>Official\ Records$ , vol. II ..., Summary records of meetings of the Committees of the Whole, Committee I, 7th meeting, paras. 37-42 (see also the more general obligations under article 20, paragraph 1, subparagraph (a)).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>278</sup>Ibid., 9th meeting, paras. 1-41.

# Paragraph 4, subparagraph (f)

(f) If a Party elects to make the taking of the measures referred to in subparagraphs (a) and (b) of this paragraph conditional on the existence of a relevant treaty, that Party shall consider this Convention as the necessary and sufficient treaty basis.

## Commentary

5.35 Paragraph 4, subparagraph (f), deals with a specific difficulty created by the insistence in some national legal systems on a treaty basis for the provision of assistance of the sort contemplated in subparagraphs (a) and (b). The Convention must be accepted as providing such a treaty basis. The present text provides that the relevant party "shall" consider the Convention as a treaty basis. This contrasts with the corresponding provision in article 6, on extradition, where the Convention "may" be considered a sufficient legal basis.<sup>279</sup> A party cannot refuse assistance under article 5, paragraph 4, on the ground of the absence of a treaty basis; its obligations, however, are always subject to the provisions of its domestic laws (see paragraph 5.28 above).

# Paragraph 4, subparagraph (g)

(g) The Parties shall seek to conclude bilateral and multilateral treaties, agreements or arrangements to enhance the effectiveness of international co-operation pursuant to this article.

# Commentary

5.36 This provision is purely exhortatory. It was timely in 1988, given the relative paucity of mutual cooperation in the field of confiscation of the proceeds of crime and the novelty of the required procedures for many States. It remains important as a means of enhancing the effectiveness of the Convention.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>279</sup>Art. 6, para. 3.

#### Paragraph 5

- 5. (a) Proceeds or property confiscated by a Party pursuant to paragraph 1 or paragraph 4 of this article shall be disposed of by that Party according to its domestic law and administrative procedures.
- (b) When acting on the request of another Party in accordance with this article, a Party may give special consideration to concluding agreements on:
  - (i) Contributing the value of such proceeds and property, or funds derived from the sale of such proceeds or property, or a substantial part thereof, to intergovernmental bodies specializing in the fight against illicit traffic in and abuse of narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances;
  - (ii) Sharing with other Parties, on a regular or case-bycase basis, such proceeds or property, or funds derived from the sale of such proceeds or property, in accordance with its domestic law, administrative procedures or bilateral or multilateral agreements entered into for this purpose.

- 5.37 Paragraph 5 deals with the destination of property that has been confiscated. In subparagraph (a), the principle is clearly established that property confiscated by a party shall be disposed of in accordance with the domestic law and procedures of that party. They will govern, for example, the sale of assets not in monetary form, the transfer of assets to the treasury or other government fund, and the availability of assets to fund national drug enforcement agencies or to reward individuals who have contributed to a successful prosecution.
- 5.38 "Property" should be given the widest possible meaning, to cover all types of property (including narcotic drugs, psychotropic substances, materials, equipment and instrumentalities) confiscated in accordance with article 5.

- 5.39 The principle also applies where the confiscation is in response to a request from another party. There is a possible ambiguity in relation to cases falling within the scope of paragraph 4, subparagraph (a), clause (ii), of article 5, where an order of confiscation is made in the territory of one party, the requesting party, and given effect to in another, the requested party. It could be argued that the property is "confiscated by" the requesting party, whose order is, in effect, enforced elsewhere. The tenor of the discussions, however, strongly supports the view that what is meant is that property is to be disposed of in accordance with the domestic law of the country in which it is found when effective confiscation occurs. The nature of the legal steps that led up to that effective confiscation should not affect the basic principle.
- 5.40 In a number of States, the general principles of the legal system will require that the disposal of the confiscated assets is to be effected in one particular manner. Other States have greater flexibility, and in subparagraph (b) parties are enabled, but not required, to conclude agreements (which could be with other parties or with a relevant intergovernmental body) adopting either or both of the procedures specified in the text. One involves contributing the value of the property, or a substantial part thereof, to intergovernmental bodies specializing in the fight against illicit traffic in and abuse of narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances. This would further the purpose of the Convention as set out in article 2: the promotion of cooperation among the parties to deal more effectively with the various aspects of illicit traffic. For this reason, although the provision is not mandatory on parties, they are encouraged to "give special consideration to" the conclusion of agreements.
- 5.41 The other possibility is that a party may adopt the practice of sharing with other parties the value of the property that has been confiscated. As the text makes clear, this could be adopted as a regular practice or be operated on a case-by-case basis, which could reflect the relative contributions made by the investigative and enforcement agencies of the requesting and requested parties and could also take account of the costs incurred in giving effect to the confiscation. In every case, any action would be in accordance with the party's domestic law and administrative procedures or with bilateral or multilateral agreements entered into for this purpose and binding upon the party concerned.<sup>280</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>280</sup>There is some tautology in the text. Parties are to give special consideration to concluding agreements to share proceeds in accordance, *inter alia*, with agreements entered into for the purpose; but the meaning is clear.

### Paragraph 6, subparagraph (a)

6. (a) If proceeds have been transformed or converted into other property, such property shall be liable to the measures referred to in this article instead of the proceeds.

#### Commentary

- 5.42 Despite the existence of comprehensive definitions of "proceeds" and "property" (see paragraph 5.6 above), it was felt necessary to deal with a number of specific issues that might otherwise raise doubts as to the identity of the assets liable to confiscation.
- 5.43 The first case is that of the transformation or conversion of property. "Conversion" is also used in article 3, paragraph 1, subparagraph (b), clause (i). It has already been submitted (see paragraph 3.47 above) that in that context it refers to the conversion of the asset into another form (for example its sale or exchange, so that the property's value is now represented by the money or other asset received). The word "transformation" clearly has a similar meaning. It was accepted in the course of the discussions at the Conference that this subparagraph applied whether the proceeds were still in the hands of the offender or had been passed on to another natural or juridical person.<sup>281</sup>
- 5.44 This provision is a useful clarification, but the cases it concerns are already within the concept of "proceeds", which includes property derived "directly or indirectly" from an offence.<sup>282</sup>

# Paragraph 6, subparagraph (b)

(b) If proceeds have been intermingled with property acquired from legitimate sources, such property shall, without prejudice to any powers relating to seizure or freezing, be liable to confiscation up to the assessed value of the intermingled proceeds.

 $<sup>^{281}</sup>Official\ Records$ , vol. II ..., Summary records of meetings of the Committees of the Whole, Committee I, 11th meeting, para. 6. The provision was at that stage subparagraph (b) of the draft.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>282</sup>Art. 1, subpara. (p).

- 5.45 The second issue is that of intermingled property, where, for example, a luxury yacht is bought partly with proceeds derived from illicit trafficking and partly with the profits of a legitimate business. Where a party frames its domestic law in terms of confiscating the value of illicit proceeds, this case presents no special difficulties. Where, however, the domestic law is based on the confiscation of identified assets, there is a risk of what might be described as "over-confiscation" through the forfeiture of valuable assets, only a fraction of the value of which is derived, even indirectly, from illicit traffic.
- 5.46 The approach adopted in subparagraph (b) is to allow the confiscation of the identified property (in the example given above, the yacht), but only up to the assessed value of the intermingled proceeds. In practice, assets may have to be sold in order that this approach can be put into effect.
- 5.47 In many cases, the intermingling of proceeds with other property, legitimately obtained, will involve third parties. To continue the example of the luxury yacht, the offender might have entered a consortium with a group of entirely honest friends in order to make the purchase. The provisions of the subparagraph protect their interests, for their shares in the yacht are not subject to confiscation. This is further underlined by the express protection of bona fide third parties in paragraph 8, considered below.
- 5.48 The subparagraph uses the wording "without prejudice to any powers relating to seizure or freezing". This ensures that the property, the yacht in the example used above, can be seized under paragraph 2 of this article for the purpose of eventual confiscation. The freezing or seizure of property is almost always undertaken as a matter of urgency, and it is impracticable to explore the full nature of the interests in the property before action is taken. The provision does not deal with some of the practical issues that arise, given that the asset may have to be held for some time pending eventual confiscation, and in such a way as not to prejudice the rights of bona fide third parties.
- 5.49 The text refers to the "assessed value" of the intermingled proceeds. This would seem to mean the value at the time the intermingling takes place (in the example the amount invested in the purchase of the yacht). There may be considerable difficulties in interpreting the provision where the intermingling cannot be dated so precisely, for example when illicit funds are used, with other funds, to finance a whole series of transactions over a long period of time.

### Paragraph 6, subparagraph (c)

- (c) Income or other benefits derived from:
- (i) Proceeds;
- (ii) Property into which proceeds have been transformed or converted; or
- (iii) Property with which proceeds have been intermingled

shall also be liable to the measures referred to in this article, in the same manner and to the same extent as proceeds.

- 5.50 The various types of property listed in subparagraph (c), all of which are liable to confiscation, can in many cases be deployed so as to produce income or other benefits. Examples are illicit profits placed on deposit, proceeds invested in shares on which dividends are paid, winnings on lottery tickets bought with the proceeds of drug crime, agricultural produce from land bought with illicit proceeds, or the offspring of a thoroughbred mare. It is possible to argue that these benefits are all derived from lawful transactions and are in no sense tainted by criminality, but this view is rejected in the subparagraph. What emerges instead is that gains derived from the tainted property are themselves tainted; the offender is not allowed to keep the benefit of his use of illicit proceeds.
- 5.51 Under the terms of this subparagraph, derivative proceeds are liable to confiscation to the same extent as all other proceeds. If there are such derivative benefits from intermingled proceeds (the case covered by subparagraph (b)), subparagraphs (b) and (c) would seemingly need to be read together, the effect being that, in such a case, the power to confiscate would apply to the derivative benefits in the proportion that the original proceeds bore to the property acquired from legitimate sources.
- 5.52 The above discussion omits one further complicating factor. Assets may appreciate significantly in value (see paragraph 5.49 above). It has been suggested that such an event would not serve to increase the amount which may be confiscated under subparagraph (b), which must reflect the assessed value of the intermingled proceeds. The enhancement in the value of the property, even

if unrealized, could be regarded as a "benefit" and so liable to confiscation under this subparagraph.

### Paragraph 7

7. Each Party may consider ensuring that the onus of proof be reversed regarding the lawful origin of alleged proceeds or other property liable to confiscation, to the extent that such action is consistent with the principles of its domestic law and with the nature of the judicial and other proceedings.

- 5.53 The provision in paragraph 7 imposes no obligation on parties: it merely allows them, if they so wish, to consider certain possibilities. In effect, it draws attention to an approach that has been adopted in some national legal systems, though in others it would be regarded as an unacceptable diminution of the protection properly given to accused persons. To reflect the position of parties in the latter group of States, the text emphasizes that any contemplated action must be consistent with the principles of the party's domestic law and with the nature of the judicial or other proceedings involved.
- What is suggested in the paragraph is a reversal of the onus of proof in respect of the lawful origin of the proceeds. The phrase is perhaps more appropriate to national legal systems in which criminal procedure is based on an adversarial model, but is capable of being applied under any procedural model. The court or other authority empowered to consider confiscation may be required or enabled to presume, in the absence of proof to the contrary, that assets alleged to be proceeds of illicit trafficking or other property liable to confiscation were indeed acquired illicitly. It will be for the person whose property is under threat of confiscation to establish the lawful origins of the assets. The national legislator will have to determine how, and to what standard of proof, this must be done. It is probable that legislation adopting this approach will be considered compatible with international human rights norms, provided that there is a sufficient opportunity for the accused person to rebut the presumption. <sup>283</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>283</sup>See the Salabiaku case before the European Court of Human Rights, Judgement of 7 October 1988 (Chamber) (Series A, No. 141.A).

5.55 The paragraph applies whether the assets are still held by the offender or have been transferred into other hands, so long as the assets are liable to confiscation.

#### Paragraph 8

8. The provisions of this article shall not be construed as prejudicing the rights of *bona fide* third parties.

#### Commentary

- 5.56 The detailed discussion of the various paragraphs of article 5 has demonstrated that a number of provisions, notably those in paragraphs 1 and 6, can place at risk the rights of bona fide third parties. Paragraph 8 establishes the important principle that those rights are to be protected and that the earlier paragraphs are not to be construed in such a way as to offend against that principle.
- 5.57 As was pointed out during the negotiation of the Convention,<sup>284</sup> it is common for proceeds of trafficking to be transferred to allegedly bona fide third parties in the form of gifts to relatives, payments to traffickers' own companies or transfers between entities owned or controlled by the same persons. There is often, therefore, an acute conflict as to the bona fides of the current holder of assets potentially liable to confiscation. The text does not address itself to the issue, leaving the resolution of this conflict to national legal systems.

### Paragraph 9

9. Nothing contained in this article shall affect the principle that the measures to which it refers shall be defined and implemented in accordance with and subject to the provisions of the domestic law of a Party.

## Commentary

5.58 Paragraph 9 closely parallels article 3, paragraph 11, considered above. It can be read as ensuring that nothing in article 5 shall be taken to be self-executing, or it can be relied on as a form of additional safeguard clause.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>284</sup>Official Records, vol. II ..., Summary records of meetings of the Committees of the Whole, Committee I, 11th meeting, para. 6.

#### Implementation considerations: article 5 as a whole

5.59 For the purposes of implementation, article 5 can be divided into those provisions which require or permit measures to be taken at the domestic level and those which focus primarily on international cooperation. There is, however, a close relationship between the two in that the goal of effective cooperation can only be met if domestic legislation is sufficiently sensitive to the practical requirements of the international dimension. There is also a degree of overlap between the two. Thus, the requirements set out in paragraph 6 have to be met satisfactorily both domestically and internationally. For ease of exposition, however, paragraphs 1, 2, 3, 6, 7 and 8 will be examined in the domestic context.

#### Measures to be taken at the domestic level

- 5.60 As noted above, the decision to include detailed treatment of the confiscation of the proceeds and instrumentalities of serious drug trafficking offences in the 1988 Convention was without precedent in a formal and binding international agreement of global reach. Indeed, while many legal systems had for long used concepts such as restitution and compensation to assist victims of crime, there was relatively little familiarity with the concept of confiscation as expressed in article 5. This accounts, in large measure, for the decision, reflected in the first three paragraphs, to leave each State party a wide measure of discretion as to how best to achieve the desired result. The importance of confiscation to the strategy of undermining the financial power of those involved in often highly lucrative illicit drug trafficking activities is, however, underlined by the fact that these broadly stated obligations are free from any limitations or safeguard clauses.
- 5.61 Those faced with the task of ensuring full and effective implementation of these obligations can derive substantial benefit from an examination of the experiences of a large number of countries that have already taken this step. Texts of the laws and regulations enacted by parties, along with any subsequent amendments, must be furnished by them to the Secretary-General pursuant to paragraph 4, subparagraph (e). In addition, various model laws on the confiscation of the proceeds of drug offences have been developed and may prove helpful.<sup>285</sup> While many of these models base confiscation on the securing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>285</sup>See model laws in this area developed by the United Nations International Drug Control Programme, for example: *Model Law on Money-Laundering and Confiscation in relation to Drugs (November 1995)* (for civil-law countries); and *Draft Model Drugs for Dependence Bill 1995*, part IV, *Confiscation* (for common-law systems).

of a criminal conviction, other approaches, sometimes used in combination, have also been resorted to. These include both *in rem* procedures and administrative measures.

- 5.62 In approaching this complex task, a number of basic decisions will have to be taken which will, in turn, help to define the overall nature and extent of the process. For example, in paragraph 1, subparagraph (a), each party is allowed the option of deciding between the two principal approaches that had evolved in domestic legislative practice at the time the Convention was adopted: namely, confiscation of property and value-confiscation. There is, however, nothing to prevent a State from using both. A form of value-confiscation must, under paragraph 6, subparagraph (b), be made available to deal with proceeds that have been intermingled with property acquired from legitimate sources. 286 In many instances legislation has been enacted which contains elements of both approaches. For example, a State which elects to rely primarily on property confiscation may wish to make the alternative approach available to cater for circumstances in which the property in question cannot be reached. This may be helpful where the property cannot be located, has been transferred to a third party, has been removed from the jurisdiction, has been rendered worthless or substantially diminished in value, and in other like circumstances. 287
- 5.63 In assessing the various options available in this context, the close connection between confiscation and the mandatory enactment of the criminal offence of drug-related money-laundering should be borne in mind.<sup>288</sup> The effect of the latter is to reduce the practical differences between the two approaches, particularly where one is seeking to reach property held by third parties. In some instances the third party may well be subject to prosecution for money-laundering and liable to confiscation proceedings.<sup>289</sup>
- 5.64 A second basic decision will be whether to introduce legislation to permit only the confiscation of the proceeds of drug trafficking, as required by

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>286</sup>See above, comments on article 5, paragraph 6, subparagraph (b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>287</sup>See, for example, Canadian Criminal Code, *Revised Statutes of Canada 1985*, C.C-46, s.462.37(3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>288</sup>See above, comments on article 3, paragraph 1, subparagraph (b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>289</sup>See J. D. McClean, *International Judicial Assistance* (Oxford, Clarendon Press, 1992), p. 216.

the Convention, or to extend the measure to embrace the proceeds derived from other or all profit-generating crimes. Since 1988, a trend has been developing in the latter direction. This is reflected in the domestic legislation of a growing number of countries and has been encouraged in several international instruments and declarations. This is, for example, the basic approach of the 1990 Council of Europe Convention on Laundering, Search, Seizure and Confiscation of the Proceeds from Crime. 290 As the official Explanatory Report states: "One of the purposes of the Convention is to facilitate international cooperation as regards investigative assistance, search, seizure and confiscation of the proceeds from all types of criminality, especially serious crimes, and in particular drug offences, arms dealing, terrorist offences, trafficking in children and young women ... and other offences which generate large profits."<sup>291</sup> It is interesting to note that an increasing number of bilateral and multilateral agreements also envisage the provision of confiscation assistance beyond the area of drug trafficking. Before 1988, for example, this approach had been taken in the Commonwealth Scheme.<sup>292</sup> It has since been followed in multilateral mutual assistance treaties formulated by OAS<sup>293</sup> and the Economic Community of West African States.<sup>294</sup> Assistance in relation to the confiscation of proceeds on an "all-crimes" basis was also included in the Optional Protocol to the 1990 Model Treaty on Mutual Assistance in Criminal Matters (General Assembly resolution 45/116, annex). While a decision on this important matter is entirely within the discretion of each party, it is increasingly accepted that an "allcrimes" approach has certain practical advantages, especially in the evidentiary sphere. Parties possess a similar level of flexibility in determining how best to give effect to the requirements of paragraph 2. The enumerated measures constitute the preliminary steps necessary to ensure the ultimate effectiveness of the confiscation regime. The ability to freeze or seize property, proceeds and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>290</sup>See, for example, article 2. For an overview of this instrument, see H. Nilsson, "The Council of Europe laundering convention: a recent example of a developing international criminal law", *Criminal Law Forum*, No. 2, 1991, pp. 419-441.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>291</sup>See Explanatory Report on the Convention on Laundering, Search, Seizure and Confiscation of the Proceeds from Crime (Strasbourg, Council of Europe, 1991), p. 6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>292</sup>Now represented by paragraphs 26-29 of the Scheme Relating to Mutual Assistance in Criminal Matters within the Commonwealth (as amended in 1990).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>293</sup>Inter-American Convention on Mutual Assistance in Criminal Matters, 1992, arts. 13-15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>294</sup>Convention on Mutual Assistance in Criminal Matters, 1992, arts.18-20.

instrumentalities is necessary in order to prevent their removal or dissipation in advance of eventual confiscation. Here speed and confidentiality are essential.

- 5.65 Experience has also demonstrated the pressing need to provide a coherent and adequately financed asset-management regime to deal with property subject to provisional measures and with confiscated property. It will be necessary for the appropriate authority to have the necessary power to take possession and control of, and to manage or otherwise deal with, the property in question. This might include the need, for example, to run restrained businesses, ranging from restaurants to ski resorts, to dispose of perishable or rapidly depreciating property, and to compensate innocent creditors.<sup>295</sup>
- 5.66 The taking of measures that will make it possible to identify and trace proceeds and property relates directly to the investigative demands that derive from the introduction of this innovative criminal justice measure. As with money-laundering, confiscation of the proceeds of crime requires the development and retention of skills which may be unfamiliar to the law enforcement community in many countries. For that reason, in article 9, paragraph 2, each party is required, to the extent necessary, to initiate, develop or improve specific training programmes dealing with, *inter alia*, the detection, monitoring of the movement of, and methods used for the transfer, concealment or disguise of proceeds, property and instrumentalities. Parties are to assist one another in the planning and implementation of such training programmes.
- 5.67 The task faced by the law enforcement community is greatly facilitated in many countries by the removal of bank secrecy as a barrier to action in this sphere. In paragraph 3 it is also mandated that appropriate powers be taken to secure access to bank, financial and commercial records, which are often invaluable in the identification and tracing of proceeds. In many countries, the thrust of paragraph 3 has been reinforced by criminal justice provisions which

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>295</sup>See, for example, Canada, Seized Property Management Act, 1993, and the associated Seized Property Disposition Regulations, 1994.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>296</sup>These might include, *inter alia*, skills in conducting reviews and audits of complex financial records, and preparing estimates of the net worth of individuals.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>297</sup>See below, comments on article 9, paragraph 2, subparagraphs (d) and (e).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>298</sup>See article 9, paragraph 3.

penalize those who prejudice an investigation by "tipping off" a suspect that his or her affairs are being subjected to official scrutiny.<sup>299</sup>

- 5.68 It is interesting to note that parties to the 1990 Council of Europe Convention are to consider the adoption of a number of special investigative techniques to facilitate the work of the law enforcement community in this area of concern. Monitoring orders, observation, interception of telecommunications, access to computer systems and orders to produce certain documents are all specifically mentioned in article 4, paragraph 2, of that convention. It is clear, however, that this list was not intended to be exhaustive. The permissive wording is sufficiently flexible to encompass other investigative tools that commend themselves because of their utility in this new and complex sphere of policing.
- 5.69 Paragraph 6 constitutes the exception to the general approach of leaving it to each party to determine the content of the appropriate domestic measures to enable confiscation within the bounds of paragraph 1 to take place. National flexibility is restricted to the extent that such measures must include adequate coverage of the matters contained in the three subparagraphs of paragraph 6. As noted above, subparagraphs (a) and (b) are concerned with issues that might otherwise raise doubts as to the identity of assets liable to confiscation. The practical need to focus on the treatment of transformed, converted and intermingled property flows from the sophistication and complexity of known money-laundering techniques. In subparagraph (c), it is acknowledged that tainted property and proceeds will frequently be deployed to produce income or other benefits, which must, in turn, be made liable to confiscation and related measures.
- 5.70 The Convention is silent on an associated issue that has emerged as a matter of concern in some countries. This issue arises when an individual involved in illicit trafficking activities has been able to conceal from the court or other appropriate authority the existence of proceeds or property and the fact comes to light only after a confiscation order has been made. Consideration might be given, in legal systems where this would be possible, to the inclusion of a power to take account of such subsequently discovered property or proceeds. One circumstance in which such a problem may arise is where assets are located in the territory of a State which is not a party to the Convention and thus is not subject to the obligations of international cooperation, to be discussed

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>299</sup>See, for example, article 8 of the European Communities Directive on Prevention of the Use of the Financial System for the Purpose of Money Laundering of 10 June 1991.

below, in the area of confiscation. Even in the absence of such an obligation of cooperation, the existence of such property or proceeds may be revealed in the course of the investigation. Here, a power to compel the individual, to the extent consistent with international law, to bring these within reach of the domestic confiscation power can be very useful. Consideration might also be given to ensuring that, in cases where the individual failed to comply with such an order, the assets in question would remain perpetually vulnerable to confiscation. The number of States that are parties either to the 1988 Convention or to other international instruments which make provision for confiscation assistance is constantly increasing and such developments may eventually bring the assets within reach. Another approach, adopted by the Netherlands, 300 consists in a separation of the conviction and the confiscation stages of the procedure, allowing for independent time stages in these procedures.

5.71 In many cases relating to confiscation, it will be difficult to prove that the assets in question are tainted. As has been stated elsewhere: "It is almost inevitable that funds illegally obtained will be mixed, perhaps inextricably mixed, with funds obtained by more orthodox means; it is most unlikely that clear and accurate accounts will be maintained, so that proof of the source of property will often be difficult and may need to be supported by statutory presumptions or reversal of the normal burden of proof". 301 One such measure, the reversal of the onus of proof regarding the lawful origins of assets, is permitted but not required under paragraph 7. A number of countries have taken up this option in their domestic legislative arrangements. As was to be expected in a provision of this kind, the associated issue of the standard or level of proof which should be required was not treated. That is a matter to be determined by each party in the light of the basic concepts of its legal system and other factors that it considers relevant. In some common-law countries that apply the system of post-conviction confiscation, support has emerged for the view that it would be appropriate to reduce the normal burden on the prosecution when seeking to prove that the convicted trafficker had derived benefit from his other illicit activities.302 Most such countries have not, however, elected to follow this approach. In some legal traditions, where it is for the courts to ensure the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>300</sup>Act of 10 December 1992, amending the Enforcement of Criminal Judgements (Transfer) Act in the interests of international cooperation in confiscating the proceeds of crime.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>301</sup>J. D. McClean, op. cit., p. 215.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>302</sup>See, for example, The Home Office Working Group on Confiscation: Report on the Drug Trafficking Offences Act 1986 (London, Home Office, May 1991), pp. 3-6.

sufficiency and accuracy of the facts, the burden of proof for the prosecutor is not an issue.

- 5.72 It is clear from the various provisions of article 5, and particularly from the terms of paragraph 6, that confiscation will frequently involve or affect the rights of third parties. Thus, in paragraph 8 it is stated that the provisions of this important article shall not affect the rights of bona fide third parties. The nature and extent of the rights in question are, however, to be defined by domestic law. It is also important to include treatment of property and proceeds held, gifted or otherwise transferred to others who do not fall within the category of innocent third parties.<sup>303</sup>
- 5.73 The system of confiscation constitutes a serious interference with the rights of individuals and with their economic interests. It is deliberately Draconian in character. For this reason, particular care must be taken to ensure compliance with relevant constitutional protections and applicable international human rights norms. A broad range of issues, from the protection of property rights to the payment of legal fees by persons subsequently convicted of relevant offences for which confiscation is either permitted or required, may arise for consideration. Similarly, in the introduction of legislative and other measures to provide for confiscation it is necessary to consider whether norms in such areas as the prohibition of retroactive criminal legislation have not been inadvertently infringed.

### Measures to be taken to further international cooperation

5.74 As has been shown, the drafters of the Convention were determined to make the innovative criminal justice measure represented by confiscation available on an international basis, and the terms of article 5, paragraph 4, are designed to achieve that goal. The task is made easier by the mandatory wording used and, importantly, by the terms of subparagraph (f), where it is stipulated that, when a treaty nexus with the requesting State is required, "that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>303</sup>See Malaysia, Drugs (Forfeiture of Property) Act, 1988, for a detailed statutory treatment of this issue.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>304</sup>For a discussion of matters that have arisen in a European context, see, for example, W. Gilmore, *Dirty Money: The Evolution of Money Laundering Counter Measures* (Strasbourg, Council of Europe Press, 1995), pp.149-160.

 $<sup>^{305}</sup>$  See, for example, Welch v. The United Kingdom, European Court of Human Rights, 1995.

Party shall consider this Convention as the necessary and sufficient treaty basis". This contrasts with the permissive approach adopted to the same issue in article 6, paragraph 3, in the extradition context. Parties are also encouraged to conclude bilateral and multilateral agreements and arrangements to enhance the effectiveness of international cooperation in confiscation matters<sup>306</sup> and a significant number of such instruments have been concluded in the years since 1988. As noted above, assistance is to be provided in accordance with and subject to the provisions of the domestic legal system of the requested party and the requirements of applicable international agreements and arrangements.<sup>307</sup>

- Subparagraphs (a) and (b) of paragraph 4 are central to the approach 5.75 adopted. The former requires that each State be in a position to provide, upon request, assistance to all other parties effecting confiscation. In this regard it has two options: (a) to submit the request to its competent authorities for the purpose of obtaining a local confiscation order; or (b) to seek to give effect to a confiscation order issued by the requesting party. The Convention is not concerned with instances in which a party receives a plurality of requests in respect of the same assets. 308 Subparagraph (b) obligates each party to take the provisional measures referred to in the subparagraph for the purpose of eventual confiscation. Unlike the Commonwealth Scheme, the 1988 Convention makes no specific mention of seeking or providing assistance in assessing the value of assets.<sup>309</sup> No positive decision appears to have been taken to exclude assistance of this kind in the drafting of either this provision or paragraph 2, subparagraph (g), of article 7, on mutual legal assistance, which is closely related to it.310 Consequently parties may wish to consider providing this valuable form of international cooperation to others.
- 5.76 Articles 5 and 7 of the 1988 Convention follow the preponderant international practice of tying the provision of assistance to a specific request. The procedures and rules set out in article 7, paragraphs 6-19, are applicable,

 $<sup>^{306}</sup>$ See article 5, paragraph 4, subparagraph (g).

 $<sup>^{307}</sup>$ See above, comments on article 5, paragraph 4, subparagraph (c).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>308</sup>But see article 29 of the 1990 Council of Europe Convention for one approach to this matter.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>309</sup>Scheme Relating to Mutual Assistance in Criminal Matters within the Commonwealth (as amended in 1990), para. 26(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>310</sup>See below, comments on article 7, paragraph 2.

mutatis mutandis, to requests for assistance in matters relating to confiscation.<sup>311</sup> As has been shown, however, article 5, paragraph 4, subparagraph (d), requires that certain additional information be provided for requests made in this context.<sup>312</sup> The spontaneous provision of information is not, however, contemplated. By way of contrast, article 10 of the 1990 Council of Europe Convention does deal with this issue. It reads: "Without prejudice to its own investigations or proceedings, a Party may without prior request forward to another Party information on instrumentalities and proceeds, when it considers that the disclosure of such information might assist the receiving Party in initiating or carrying out investigations or proceedings or might lead to a request by that Party under this chapter." Those with responsibility for implementing confiscation measures may wish to consider whether or not to provide for the spontaneous provision of information and, if so, subject to what restrictions or limitations.<sup>313</sup>

- 5.77 Given the unparalleled ambition and intrusiveness of this new form of international cooperation, it was to be expected that it would give rise in practice to difficulties and inefficiency. A number of these difficulties relate to problems concerning the interface between countries that have adopted differing approaches to confiscation.
- 5.78 The first such difficulty arises out of the decision, reflected in paragraph 1, subparagraph (a), and paragraph 4, subparagraph (a), not to impose a single mandatory approach to confiscation. As has been seen, parties may select between property and value-confiscation systems. Alternatively there may be no bar to using both. Problems may arise when a request from a country with one system is directed at a State using the other unless the domestic law of the requested party has been framed in a sufficiently flexible manner. In this regard, it is interesting to note that article 7, paragraph 2, subparagraph (a), of the 1990 Council of Europe Convention requires that each party or participating State<sup>314</sup> be in a position to respond to both types of request. In this and other provisions

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>311</sup>Art. 5, para. 4, subpara. (d); see also below, comments on article 7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>312</sup>See above, comments on article 5, paragraph 4, subparagraph (d).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>313</sup>See, for example, article 33 of the 1990 Council of Europe Convention.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>314</sup>The Convention is open, under certain circumstances, to participation by non-member States (see article 36, paragraph 1, and article 37).

the drafters sought to place both systems on a fully equal footing.<sup>315</sup> A growing number of countries have included in their domestic legislation provisions designed to accommodate this complexity.<sup>316</sup>

It will be recalled that, in paragraph 4, subparagraph (a), in giving effect 5.79 to international confiscation assistance, two basic options are recognized: (a) to seek a domestic order; or (b) to give effect to an order made by the competent authorities of the requesting State. The former reflects the position of States that are disinclined to enforce foreign criminal judgements. There is, however, growing recognition of the fact that such enforcement, where constitutionally possible, produces major gains in speed and efficiency, and it is being used with ever greater frequency in domestic confiscation law. In such international cases, it is necessary to clarify the status that will be accorded to a final judicial order issued in the requesting State which provides for confiscation - a matter left untreated in article 5. Here article 18, paragraph 3, of the OAS Model Regulations provides that such a foreign order "may be recognized as evidence that the property ... may be subject to forfeiture in accordance with the law". Article 14, paragraph 2, of the 1990 Council of Europe Convention is somewhat different in thrust. It provides that, in procedures for the granting of exequatur to foreign confiscation orders: "The requested Party shall be bound by the findings as to the facts in so far as they are stated in a conviction or judicial decision ... or in so far as such conviction or judicial decision is implicitly based on them." Here, the requested State's courts cannot make any independent assessment of the evidence. This does not apply to the legal consequences that flow from such facts or to the hearing of new evidence if such was not available for some valid reason in the original hearings.<sup>317</sup>

5.80 A further source of difficulty may arise in practice when a State that has put in place a conviction-based confiscation system receives a request from a State that has adopted a civil or administrative confiscation procedure. In most jurisdictions, there is no possibility of giving full faith and credit to foreign confiscation orders which do not follow upon a conviction for a relevant offence. In certain other countries, which themselves use conviction-based systems, the decision has been taken to frame the domestic law so as to cater for the provision

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>315</sup>See Explanatory Report on the Convention on Laundering, Search, Seizure and Confiscation of the Proceeds from Crime (Strasbourg, Council of Europe, 1991), p. 11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>316</sup>See, for example, Australia, Mutual Assistance in Criminal Matters Act, 1987.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>317</sup>See Explanatory Report on the Convention on Laundering, Search, Seizure and Confiscation of the Proceeds from Crime (Strasbourg, Council of Europe, 1991), pp. 31-32.

of assistance in relation to foreign civil confiscation proceedings. In the 1990 Council of Europe Convention it was decided to formulate a text that would be sensitive to the reality of civil but not of administrative confiscation. Under article 18, paragraph 4, subparagraph (d), of that instrument, however, the fact that the request does not relate to a prior conviction constitutes an optional ground for refusal of confiscation assistance. The articulation of a policy to govern this matter is an important component of an overall implementation exercise.

- 5.81 Paragraph 5 is concerned with the important issue of the disposition of the property and proceeds that are eventually confiscated as a result of domestic proceedings or arising out of the provision of international confiscation assistance. The basic rule adopted, which reflects the preponderant approach in international practice,<sup>319</sup> is that the matter is to be resolved according to the domestic law and administrative procedures of the party in which the confiscation actually takes place.
- 5.82 The 1988 Convention does not establish any constraints on the discretion of States as to the manner in which they elect to deal with this matter and no consensus has emerged within the international community in the years since 1988. Given, however, the very substantial sums that may be involved, it is essential for a policy to be developed and any necessary changes to domestic law and practice to be put in place in order to give effect to it. These considerations should be extended to the disposition of the illicit substances, materials, equipment and instrumentalities subject to confiscation under paragraph 1, subparagraph (a), of this article. These can include such valuable and highly useful items as automobiles, boats and aircraft.<sup>320</sup>
- 5.83 The requisite authority will be required in some countries to destroy narcotic drugs, psychotropic substances or other property that may be harmful to the public. Indeed, parties may, pursuant to paragraph 5 of article 14, wish to take appropriate measures for the early destruction or lawful disposal of narcotic drugs, psychotropic substances and substances listed in Table I and Table II of the 1988 Convention and to provide for the admissibility as evidence

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>318</sup>Ibid., pp. 26-27.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>319</sup>To the same effect see, for example, paragraph 28 of the Commonwealth Scheme and article 15 of the 1990 Council of Europe Convention.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>320</sup>See, for example, Italy, Decree No. 309 of 9 October 1990, sect. 100.

of duly certified samples of such substances.<sup>321</sup> At a practical level, problems have arisen in certain countries concerning the final disposition of substances frequently used in the illicit manufacture of narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances.<sup>322</sup> At the Caribbean Drug Money Laundering Conference, held in Aruba from 4 to 10 June 1990, participating countries called for international cooperation with a view to seeking appropriate solutions in this area.<sup>323</sup>

In many countries, the funds realized as a consequence of the con-5.84 fiscation process are used to supplement general government revenues. In a growing number of cases, however, the decision has been taken either to retain the property and devote it to some specified form of official use or to sell the property (by public tender, public auction or otherwise) and transfer the proceeds from such sale to support identified priorities. For example, the Caribbean Financial Action Task Force has recommended that confiscation measures may provide that all or part of any property confiscated be transferred directly for use by competent authorities, or be sold and the proceeds of such sales deposited into a fund dedicated to the use by competent authorities in antinarcotics and anti-money-laundering efforts.<sup>324</sup> One device worth considering in this context is the establishment of a special fund administered by a board of trustees or a specially nominated committee. Among the countries that have adopted variants of this approach are Colombia, 325 Egypt 326 and Thailand, 327 Others have sought to achieve similar purposes in other ways. 328

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>321</sup>See below, comments on article 14, paragraph 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>322</sup>See also below, comments on article 12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>323</sup>See, for example, W. Gilmore, ed., *International Efforts to Combat Money Laundering* (Cambridge, Grotius Publications, 1992), p. 27.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>324</sup>Reproduced in A. Smellie, "The work of the Caribbean Regional Division of the Financial Action Task Force", *Action against Transnational Criminality: Papers from the 1993 Oxford Conference on International and White Collar Crime* (London, Commonwealth Secretariat, 1994), p. 32.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>325</sup>Law No. 30 of 1986, art. 97; and Decree No. 3788 of 31 December 1986, art. 43.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>326</sup>Law No. 122 of 1989, art. 37 bis (d).

 $<sup>^{327}</sup>$ 1991 Act on Measures for the Suppression of Offenders in an Offence Relating to Narcotics, chap. III.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>328</sup>See, for example, Italy, Decree No. 309 of 9 October 1990, sect. 101.

- 5.85 In some countries, the fruits of confiscation are reinvested, in whole or in part, in law enforcement activities, domestic and international. There is no doubt that such funding can both reinforce the effectiveness of existing programmes and permit initiatives to take place that might not otherwise have been possible. In 1994, for instance, the Financial Action Task Force on Money Laundering established an Asia Secretariat, funded by advances out of the Australian confiscated assets fund. There are, however, obvious dangers that can arise from any lax management of this new law enforcement tool. In particular, steps may need to be taken to ensure that the anticipation of benefits to be derived from sharing procedures does not have the effect of altering law enforcement priorities in unacceptable ways.
- In formulating and implementing policy in this area it is not uncommon 5.86 to distinguish between confiscation in a purely domestic setting and that resulting from international cooperation and this is the approach embodied in paragraph 5, subparagraph (b). This permits "special consideration" to be given to the conclusion of agreements on contributing confiscated proceeds to intergovernmental bodies specializing in efforts to counter trafficking and drug abuse and on sharing confiscated proceeds and property with other parties. Since 1988, practice has tended to focus on the latter. The flavour of that practice is captured by article 7, subparagraph (d), of the OAS Model Regulations Concerning Laundering Offenses Connected to Illicit Drug Trafficking and Related Offenses, which contemplates the transfer of the "object of the forfeiture or the proceeds from its sale to any other country which participated directly or indirectly in the freezing, seizure, or forfeiture of the property, if such a transfer is authorized by an international agreement". Much of the resulting treaty practice has been bilateral in nature and has been designed to facilitate asset-sharing on a case-by-case basis. The 1993 United Kingdom Model Agreement to Supplement and Facilitate the Operation of the Convention of the Council of Europe on Laundering, Search, Seizure and Confiscation of the Proceeds from Crime is a good illustration of this approach. Article 6 reads: "Agreements to depart from the rule that confiscated property shall be disposed of by the requested Party in accordance with its domestic law, shall be made on a case by case basis and exclusively between the Central Authorities of the Parties under article 2 of this Agreement."329
- 5.87 Countries wishing to participate in international asset-sharing need to ensure that domestic law provides the necessary authority and establishes any

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>329</sup>Reproduced in W. Gilmore, ed., *Mutual Assistance in Criminal and Business Regulatory Matters* (Cambridge, Cambridge University Press, 1995), p. 264.

relevant conditions. For instance, in the United States there are three statutory provisions authorizing the Attorney General and/or the Secretary of the Treasury to transfer confiscated property to a foreign country.<sup>330</sup> In Canada, the Seized Property Management Act creates a statutory regime for international assetsharing based on prior reciprocal agreements.<sup>331</sup> The terms of the subsequent Forfeited Property Sharing Regulations of 1995 provide the necessary detail to make the scheme operational. This includes coverage of such matters as the determination of the amount available for sharing, the time at which any sharing will take place, and the rules by which, and the grounds upon which, the respective contributions of the jurisdictions in question will be assessed.

In some cases, Governments have adopted different policies on the 5.88 disposition of confiscated funds based on whether or not the case which generated them possessed an international dimension. For example, in the United Kingdom, funds derived from purely domestic cases are added to general State revenues. Those confiscated as a result of the operation of international agreements, plus gifts received from overseas Governments in recognition of British cooperation in international investigations, are paid into a Seized Assets Fund. This Fund is used for specific one-time projects to help in the fight against drug abuse in the United Kingdom and elsewhere. A policy of this kind has the merit of being sensitive to the fact that certain countries may be unable or unwilling to share assets unless some direct benefit will accrue to those involved in anti-drug activities. For policy or other reasons, not all countries are prepared to adopt this level of flexibility. In Canada, for example, the Forfeited Property Sharing Regulations specifically require that asset-sharing agreements with foreign countries shall "provide that there will be no conditions in respect of the use of any monies received under the agreement". 332

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>330</sup>See 18 USC, s.981(i)(1), 19 USC, s.1616a(c)(2), and 21 USC, s.881(e)(1)(E).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>331</sup>See section 11, S.C. 1993, c.37.

 $<sup>^{332}</sup>$ See section 4(1)(c) of the Regulations.

#### **ARTICLE 6**

#### Extradition

#### General comments

- Extradition, the oldest and most firmly established mechanism for the provision of inter-State cooperation in criminal matters, is a process with which all members of the international community are familiar. Indeed, because extradition for drug-related offences was already the object of special provisions in the 1961 Convention and that Convention as amended and the 1971 Convention, 333 many States have gained considerable experience with its operation in a drug-specific context. Unlike some of the other cooperative arrangements provided for in the 1988 Convention, such as confiscation, which deal with areas that were new to many countries at the time the Convention was adopted, implementation of the obligations relating to extradition will, for the great majority, take place primarily within an already well-developed legislative framework and administrative structure.
- 6.2 This is not to say, however, that compliance with the letter and spirit of article 6 can be assumed to be automatic. As will be seen in the paragraphs that follow, the 1988 Convention both differs from and improves upon the multilateral precedents in the sphere of drug control. Under article 6, also, extradition may be used in combination with other, less well-entrenched, cooperative methods, such as the transfer of the enforcement of sentences<sup>334</sup> and the transfer of sentenced persons<sup>335</sup> in order to address particular difficulties that had been encountered in previous international practice.
- 6.3 Unlike the Convention's approach to confiscation (article 5) and mutual legal assistance (article 7), the provisions of article 6 are not intended to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>333</sup>See 1961 Convention as amended, article 36, paragraph 2, subparagraph (b), and 1971 Convention, article 22, paragraph 2, subparagraph (b). The relevant subparagraph of the 1961 Convention was amended and considerably broadened and strengthened by article 14 of the 1972 Protocol (see also *Extradition for Drug-Related Offences* (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.85.XI.6)).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>334</sup>See below, comments on article 6, paragraph 10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>335</sup>See below, comments on article 6, paragraph 12.

produce a detailed mini-treaty in relation to extradition. As is the case with the 1961 Convention as amended and the 1971 Convention, they rely heavily on past and future international agreements and arrangements between the parties and on the domestic laws of each party.<sup>336</sup>

#### Paragraph 1

1. This article shall apply to the offences established by the Parties in accordance with article 3, paragraph 1.

#### Commentary

As with certain of the other key provisions of the 1988 Convention, paragraph 1 limits the scope of the conduct covered to the relatively more serious trafficking offences enumerated in article 3, paragraph 1. These include both intentional acts of money-laundering<sup>337</sup> and the manufacture, transport or distribution of equipment, materials and substances listed in Table I and Table II of the Convention in the knowledge that they are to be used for illicit purposes.<sup>338</sup> Neither of these forms of conduct were prohibited by the previous multilateral drug conventions and they were new criminal offences for many States when the Convention was adopted. Given the pivotal role played in extradition law and practice by the concept of dual criminality (that is, the requirement that the act forming the basis of the request must constitute a criminal offence under the laws of both requesting and requested States), these offences had been largely beyond the reach of international cooperation through extradition. The modernization of the law which this represents has been regarded as one of the most notable achievements of the 1988 Convention.<sup>339</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>336</sup>See, for example, J. Schutte, "Extradition for drug offences: new developments under the 1988 U.N. Convention against Illicit Traffic in Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances", *Revue internationale de droit pénal*, No. 62, 1991, p. 137.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>337</sup>See above, comments on article 3, paragraph 1, subparagraph (b).

 $<sup>^{338}</sup>$ See above, comments on article 3, paragraph 1, subparagraph (a), clause (iv).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>339</sup>See, for example, "Report of the United States Delegation to the United Nations Conference for the adoption of a Convention against Illicit Traffic in Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances", 101st Congress, 1st Session, Senate, Exec. Rept. 101-15, p. 49.

### Paragraph 2

2. Each of the offences to which this article applies shall be deemed to be included as an extraditable offence in any extradition treaty existing between Parties. The Parties undertake to include such offences as extraditable offences in every extradition treaty to be concluded between them.

- 6.5 The text of paragraph 2 is virtually identical to that of article 36, paragraph 2, subparagraph (b), clause (i), of the 1961 Convention as amended by the 1972 Protocol. The text of this part of the 1961 Convention was much weaker: it made no amendment to existing extradition treaties and merely indicated that it was "desirable" that the relevant offences be included in future treaties between the parties. In keeping with the preponderant modern multilateral treaty practice concerning crimes of international concern, the 1972 Protocol amended article 36, paragraph 2, of the 1961 Convention, and the present text closely follows that adopted in 1972. In the 1972 text, however, the whole of paragraph 2 is subject to a safeguard clause referring to "the constitutional limitations of a Party, its legal system and domestic law"; no such safeguard clause applies in the 1988 text.
- 6.6 Article 3, paragraph 2, of the 1988 Convention amends, as a matter of public international law, prior extradition treaties to which the parties are subject so as to include within their scope offences established in accordance with article 3, paragraph 1. This applies to multilateral as well as bilateral treaties insofar as they bind the parties to the present Convention.<sup>342</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>340</sup>See Commentary on the 1961 Convention, comments on article 36, paragraph 2, subparagraph (*b*); and Commentary on the 1971 Convention, comments on article 22, paragraph 2, subparagraph (*b*), which is couched in similar terms.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>341</sup>See, for example, article 10, paragraph 1, of the 1979 International Convention against the Taking of Hostages (United Nations, *Treaty Series*, vol. 1316, p. 205).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>342</sup>See Commentary on the 1972 Protocol, paragraph 3, footnote 2, of the comments on article 14, paragraph 2, introductory paragraph, subparagraph (a), and subparagraph (b), clause (i), drawing attention to the requirements of the 1969 Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties (United Nations, *Treaty Series*, vol. 1155, p. 331) regarding the amendment to article 36 of the 1961 Convention.

6.7 Parties are also obligated to include offences established in accordance with article 3, paragraph 1, as extraditable offences in future extradition agreements to be concluded between them.

### Paragraph 3

3. If a Party which makes extradition conditional on the existence of a treaty receives a request for extradition from another Party with which it has no extradition treaty, it may consider this Convention as the legal basis for extradition in respect of any offence to which this article applies. The Parties which require detailed legislation in order to use this Convention as a legal basis for extradition shall consider enacting such legislation as may be necessary.

- 6.8 In paragraphs 3 and 4 the existence of two distinct traditions in the field of extradition law and practice is recognized. In international law it is accepted that a State has no duty to extradite in the absence of a treaty obligation to that effect. It is equally clear, however, that there is no rule of customary international law to preclude extradition where no treaty exists between the requesting and requested States. Many States have made provision in their domestic law to permit extradition even in the absence of an applicable treaty obligation. Others, including some common-law countries, have made extradition conditional on the existence of a treaty relationship between the requesting and requested States. The former group is treated in paragraph 4 while the position of the latter is covered in paragraph 3.
- 6.9 The text of the first sentence of paragraph 3 is based on that of the corresponding sentence in paragraph 2, subparagraph (b), clause (ii), of the 1961 Convention as amended by the 1972 Protocol. It imposes no obligation on the parties and merely makes available an option (which would exist even if there were no such provision in the text).<sup>344</sup> At the Conference, and in the preparatory

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>343</sup>Others have adopted a mixed approach. For example, even prior to its 1989 legislation making provision for ad hoc extradition, the United Kingdom did not require, for various historical legal and policy reasons, subsisting treaties with Commonwealth countries or Ireland.

 $<sup>^{344}</sup>$ The text of the 1961 Convention as amended by the 1972 Protocol underlines this by using the wording "may at its option".

meetings, there was a great deal of discussion regarding the possibility of making this provision mandatory,<sup>345</sup> thus bringing it into line with the mandatory nature of paragraph 4 of the article. This was opposed on the grounds that some States had a fixed policy whereby extradition was to be negotiated bilaterally, and were the paragraph to be mandatory it would in effect operate as a multilateral extradition treaty. It was for this reason that corresponding provisions in other multilateral treaties were non-mandatory.<sup>346</sup> The eventual decision was to keep the word "may", and thus the non-mandatory nature of the first sentence of the paragraph, but to add a second sentence in which the word "shall" was used.

6.10 In fact, however, the second sentence of paragraph 3 is exhortatory. It encourages, but does not require, parties which might be able to use the 1988 Convention as a legal basis for extradition (but whose domestic legal tradition is such that detailed provisions are customary) to ensure that their domestic legislation is adjusted appropriately. It is mandatory for such parties to consider taking action, but there is no requirement that such consideration should lead to action.

### Paragraph 4

4. The Parties which do not make extradition conditional on the existence of a treaty shall recognize offences to which this article applies as extraditable offences between themselves.

## Commentary

6.11 In respect of parties which may extradite in the absence of a treaty, paragraph 4 (based on the text of article 36, paragraph 2, subparagraph (b), clause (iii), of the 1961 Convention as amended by the 1972 Protocol) requires that offences established in accordance with article 3, paragraph 1, be regarded as extraditable in relation to other parties to the Convention. The provision is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>345</sup>Official Records, vol. I ..., document E/CN.7/1987/2 (Part IV), chap. II ("Article 3"), p. 36, paras. 59-61; Official Records, vol. II ..., Summary records of meetings of the Committees of the Whole, Committee I, 13th meeting, paras.100-105; ibid., 15th meeting, paras.1; ibid., 17th meeting, paras. 1, 2 and 21; and ibid., 27th meeting, paras.13-32.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>346</sup>For example, 1970 Convention for the Suppression of Unlawful Seizure of Aircraft, art. 8, para. 2; 1971 Convention for the Suppression of Unlawful Acts against the Safety of Civil Aviation, art. 8, para. 2; and 1988 Convention for the Suppression of Unlawful Acts against the Safety of Maritime Navigation, art. 11, para. 2.

mandatory. As one representative at the 1988 Conference has since noted, however, this "only requires such States to create for themselves the legal possibility to extradite, but does not affect their discretion in granting or even dealing with extradition requests from other Parties".<sup>347</sup>

#### Paragraph 5

5. Extradition shall be subject to the conditions provided for by the law of the requested Party or by applicable extradition treaties, including the grounds upon which the requested Party may refuse extradition.

- 6.12 Article 6, paragraph 5, establishes the general rule that extradition in respect of relevant offences under the 1988 Convention remains subject to the domestic law of the requested party and applicable obligations in bilateral or multilateral extradition agreements. This concept is specifically applied, out of caution, to the critical sphere of the grounds upon which requests for extradition may be refused. The decision was, however, taken to insert in paragraph 6 reference to one specific group of optional grounds for refusal.
- 6.13 The Conference discussed at length the issue of the refusal of extradition on the ground of nationality. Many States have a constitutional principle against, or strongly held objection to, the extradition of their nationals, but the Conference had before it a draft paragraph with many optional formulations, which would exclude, limit or at least discourage the refusal of extradition on the ground of nationality (or of habitual residence).<sup>348</sup> In the end the whole draft paragraph was rejected. The case of nationals whose extradition is not possible is further dealt with in article 4, paragraph 2, subparagraph (a), which requires parties to establish jurisdiction over offences committed by a national when extradition is refused on the basis of nationality, and in article 6, paragraphs 9 and 10, which reflect the *aut dedere aut judicare* principle and are designed to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>347</sup>J. Schutte, loc. cit., p. 138.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>348</sup>For the text, see *Official Records*, vol. I ..., document E/CONF.82/11, article 4 (E/CONF.82/C.1/L.18/Add.3), sect. I. For the discussion, see *Official Records*, vol. II ..., Summary records of meetings of the Committees of the Whole, Committee I, 15th meeting, paras. 7-102; ibid., 16th meeting, paras. 41-78; ibid., 17th meeting, paras. 1-32; and ibid., 25th meeting, paras. 67-72.

ensure that in general such persons will be brought to trial or will serve the sentence imposed upon them.

### Paragraph 6

6. In considering requests received pursuant to this article, the requested State may refuse to comply with such requests where there are substantial grounds leading its judicial or other competent authorities to believe that compliance would facilitate the prosecution or punishment of any person on account of his race, religion, nationality or political opinions, or would cause prejudice for any of those reasons to any person affected by the request.

#### Commentary

The form of protection referred to in paragraph 6 with respect to the 6.14 individual whose extradition is sought is variously known as a "nondiscrimination", "fair trial" or "asylum" clause. Its purpose is to enable a requested State to refuse extradition where it is determined that the request is discriminatory in its purpose or that the individual concerned might be prejudiced upon his or her return on one or more of the specified grounds. Provisions intended to achieve a similar protective result have been included in numerous international agreements and arrangements, such as the Commonwealth Scheme for the Rendition of Fugitive Offenders<sup>349</sup> and the European Convention on Extradition.<sup>350</sup> The inclusion of the paragraph in article 6 was expressly inspired by the Commonwealth Scheme. 351 It was the subject of a strong objection by the United States,<sup>352</sup> directed to the phrase "judicial or other competent authorities". In many States, extradition decisions are made by, or at least involve, the judiciary, but the United States position was that its legal system vested the power of decision in the executive branch of government. The United States view was that paragraph 6 did not oblige it to make any change in this practice, the phrase "judicial or other competent

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>349</sup>Commonwealth Scheme for the Rendition of Fugitive Offenders, para. 10(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>350</sup>European Convention on Extradition, art. 3, para. 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>351</sup>Official Records, vol. II ..., Summary records of meetings of the Committees of the Whole, Committee I, 27th meeting, para. 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>352</sup>Ibid., Summary records of plenary meetings, 7th plenary meeting, paras. 39-44.

authorities" being one which each party could interpret in the light of the practice in its own legal system.

#### Implementation considerations: paragraphs 1-6

- 6.15 The formula used in paragraph 1 excludes offences defined in article 3, paragraph 2, from the scope of article 6.353 Parties are, however, free to depart from this restriction in their own law and practice should they so wish.354 This can be achieved either directly, as with the domestic law and relevant treaty definitions of extraditable offences, or indirectly, through the treatment of the subject of "accessory extradition".355
- As has been noted, the principle of dual criminality plays a pivotal role in extradition. While the impact of the dual criminality rule has been reduced in relation to offences established in accordance with article 3, paragraph 1, it has not necessarily been eliminated. Care should be taken to ensure that technical differences in the approaches adopted by different countries in giving expression to their obligations to criminalize the enumerated types of prohibited conduct do not unintentionally come to constitute obstacles to extradition. Modern international practice provides support for the view that, for the purposes of satisfying this requirement, differences in terminology should be disregarded and the operation of the dual criminality rule should be based on a consideration of all of the acts or omissions rather than a mere comparison of offences. 356 The adoption of such an approach, however, would still not dispose of all possible difficulties in this sphere. For example, the obligation to criminalize the activities enumerated in article 3, paragraph 1, subparagraph (c), is subject to a safeguard provision. Consequently, there are likely to be considerable differences among parties in the extent to which, and the manner in which, these matters are dealt with in domestic law.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>353</sup>See above, comments on article 3, paragraph 2. This approach is in contrast to that adopted in article 36, paragraph 2, subparagraph (b), of the 1961 Convention. The latter, however, contains the specific discretion "to refuse to effect the arrest or grant the extradition in cases where the competent authorities consider that the offence is not sufficiently serious", a point unaffected by the amendments made in the 1972 Protocol.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>354</sup>See below, comments on article 24.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>355</sup>See, for example, 1990 Model Treaty on Extradition (General Assembly resolution 45/116, annex), article 2, paragraph 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>356</sup>See, for example, 1990 Model Treaty on Extradition, article 2, paragraph 2.

6.17 Consideration should be given to the question whether the *ex post facto* amendment of existing treaty obligations effected as a matter of public international law by paragraph 2 would be regarded as effective in domestic law.<sup>357</sup> If not, it would be necessary for corrective action to be taken by amending domestic law to reflect the requirements of the Convention.

- 6.18 Much modern international treaty practice in the field of extradition is not drug-specific but deals with this form of cooperation in relation to crime in general. Such practice, to a growing extent, defines extraditable offences in terms of severity of punishment. This is the procedure used in, among many other instruments, the Commonwealth Scheme on the Rendition of Fugitive Offenders<sup>358</sup> and the European Convention on Extradition of 1957.<sup>359</sup> It is also the approach recommended in the Model Treaty on Extradition<sup>360</sup> approved by the Eighth United Nations Congress on the Prevention of Crime and the Treatment of Offenders, held at Havana in 1990, and subsequently adopted by the General Assembly in its resolution 45/116 of 14 December 1990.<sup>361</sup> Given the nature of the offences established in article 3, paragraph 1, and the injunctions contained in paragraph 4, subparagraph (a), and paragraph 5 of that article, designed to ensure that they attract appropriately severe sanctions, compliance with the requirements of article 6, paragraph 2, is likely to be automatic, provided that the approach of defining extradition offences in terms of severity of punishment is adopted.
- 6.19 By way of contrast, some international instruments, reflecting domestic law requirements, use the approach of specifically listing offences that are considered to be extraditable. Those charged with the negotiation of any instrument

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>357</sup>See, for example, *Arnbjorndottir-Mendler* v. *United States*, 721 F.2d 679 (9th Cir. 1983) (extradition to Iceland based on the old treaty between Denmark and the United States and on the 1961 Convention).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>358</sup>Commonwealth Scheme for the Rendition of Fugitive Offenders (as amended in 1990), para. 2 (Returnable offences).

 $<sup>^{359}</sup>$ Explanatory Report on the European Convention on Extradition (Strasbourg, Council of Europe, 1985), pp. 13-14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>360</sup>See article 2, paragraph 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>361</sup>See also R. Clark, "Crime: the UN agenda on international cooperation in the criminal process", *Nova Law Review*, No. 15, 1991, pp. 485-489; and R. Clark, *The United Nations Crime Prevention and Criminal Justice Program: Formulation of Standards and Efforts at Their Implementation* (Philadelphia, University of Pennsylvania Press, 1994), pp. 210-216.

of this kind in the future must ensure that all of the activities prohibited under article 3, paragraph 1, are so covered. In some instances, to be regarded as an extraditable offence within this tradition the conduct must be listed both in the relevant extradition treaty and within the body of domestic extradition law. In such cases consequential alterations to the domestic law list will also be required.<sup>362</sup>

- 6.20 A number of parties have since taken advantage of the permissive provision in the second sentence of paragraph 3. For example, the United Kingdom elected to legislate so as to add the 1988 Convention to the list of international instruments, contained in section 22 of the Extradition Act, 1989, which may be used as a matter of domestic law for this purpose. Others, for various reasons, have been unable to do so. For example, the United States faces legal constraints in using multilateral conventions as the basis for extradition. Consequently it subjected its ratification of the 1988 Convention to the specific understanding that the United States "shall not consider this convention as a legal basis for extradition of citizens to any country with which the United States has no bilateral extradition treaty in force". Where the reason for the inability to use the Convention as the legal basis for extradition flows from the absence of detailed domestic legislation, consideration is to be given to the enactment of such measures.
- 6.21 The subject of "non-discrimination" is often dealt with as a mandatory ground for refusal and this is the approach which has been adopted in article 3, subparagraph (b), of the 1990 Model Treaty on Extradition (General Assembly resolution 45/116, annex). This issue has also been dealt with in the domestic extradition laws of numerous States. Consequently, giving effect to its terms should not be the source of any particular difficulty.
- 6.22 The non-discrimination clause in paragraph 6 overlaps but does not fully coincide with the traditional extradition practice of precluding the return of individuals if extradition is sought in respect of an offence which is regarded by the requested State as an offence of a political character.<sup>364</sup> In instances in which

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>362</sup>See, for example, United Kingdom, Extradition Act, 1989, sect. 38, and Criminal Justice (International Cooperation) Act, 1990, sect. 22.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>363</sup>See United Kingdom, Criminal Justice (International Cooperation) Act, 1990, sect. 22, paras. 2 and 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>364</sup>See J. Young, "The political offence exception in the extradition law of the United Kingdom: a redundant concept?", *Legal Studies*, No. 4, 1984, pp. 211 ff.

the ambit of the political offence exception is either limited or eliminated, the rule relating to discrimination<sup>365</sup> has to be relied upon more heavily than usual. In this regard it will be recalled that in article 3, paragraph 10, participating States are required to ensure that for the purposes of international cooperation, including extradition, offences established in accordance with the 1988 Convention are not considered as political or politically motivated.<sup>366</sup> This obligation, which also extends to the categorization of the same acts as "fiscal offences", another traditional ground for the refusal of extradition, is "without prejudice to the constitutional limitations and the fundamental domestic law of the Parties". Consideration must therefore be given to whether or not this qualified obligation applies and, if so, how best to implement it in domestic law and practice.

### Paragraph 7

7. The Parties shall endeavour to expedite extradition procedures and to simplify evidentiary requirements relating thereto in respect of any offence to which this article applies.

#### Commentary

6.23 Paragraph 7, in the form in which it emerged from the Conference,<sup>367</sup> is merely an encouragement to parties to achieve more expeditious procedures and to overcome the difficulties which the requirements regarding evidence sometimes present (notably the so-called *prima facie* case requirement) (see also paragraphs 6.25 and 6.26 below).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>365</sup>See, for example, Explanatory Report on the European Convention on the Suppression of Terrorism (Strasbourg, Council of Europe, 1979), pp. 14-15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>366</sup>See above, comments on article 3, paragraph 10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>367</sup>There is an error in the *Official Records* concerning paragraph 7 and the paragraphs that follow it. The "basic proposal" set out in the report of Committee I (*Official Records*, vol. I ..., document E/CONF.82/11, "Article 4" (E/CONF.82/C.1/L.18/Add.3), para.1) is not in fact the text that was before the Conference, but a much later version. For the text that the participants were discussing, see *Official Records*, vol. I ..., document E/CONF.82/3, annex II, p. 79 ("Article 4").

### Implementation considerations: paragraph 7

6.24 While paragraph 7 is merely "a general hortatory provision encouraging Parties to simplify and expedite extradition procedures", 368 its inclusion can be taken to reflect a widespread dissatisfaction within the international community with traditional approaches to dealing with the threat posed by modern forms of international drug trafficking. The desirability of introducing changes designed to improve the effectiveness of this form of extradition in relation to relevant offences, including money-laundering, has continued to be articulated in various forums since the 1988 Convention was concluded. 369

- 6.25 One source of concern when the Convention was being drafted was the difficulties encountered in many countries, especially those with civil-law jurisdictions, in satisfying requirements to provide the courts of the requested country with adequate evidence of the guilt of the accused before extradition could take place. This rule, commonly known as the *prima facie* case requirement, which plays an important part in the extradition laws of many common-law countries, is frequently regarded as a major barrier to effective cooperation in this sphere. In the light of such views, for example, the United Kingdom has enacted legislation that provides for the progressive abolition of the *prima facie* case rule on a State-by-State basis by Order in Council.<sup>370</sup>
- 6.26 Although dissatisfaction with the operation of this requirement is most evident when the requesting State is from the civil-law tradition, there is concern about its effect even when the extradition is between common-law jurisdictions. This is clearly illustrated by the fact that Commonwealth law ministers, meeting in New Zealand in 1990, agreed to make a change to the 1966 Scheme. In essence, the compromise formula that was accepted enables those Commonwealth countries wishing to retain the traditional approach to do so while also providing for bilateral arrangements between pairs of countries wishing to handle this matter in a different fashion. As has been stated elsewhere, the new optional provision "enables countries to negotiate whatever

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>368</sup>"Report of the United States Delegation to the United Nations Conference for the adoption of a Convention against Illicit Traffic in Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances", 101st Congress, 1st Session, Senate, Exec. Rept. 101-15, p. 52.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>369</sup>See, for example, Financial Action Task Force on Money Laundering, "Annual report, 1996", annex, recommendation No. 40.

 $<sup>^{370}</sup>$ Extradition Act 1989, sect. 9(8)(a) (see also, for example, the European Convention on Extradition Order, 1990, No. 1507).

164

modifications are appropriate in their circumstances, but presents one particular model which many countries might choose to adopt". The 1988 Convention provides an element of additional momentum to the consideration of changes of this general type.

- 6.27 Any review of the adequacy of existing extradition procedures and requirements could derive substantial benefit from an examination of developments in other countries and regions. For example, in Europe it has come to be increasingly accepted that reliance on the diplomatic channel for the communication of extradition requests has given rise to unnecessary delays while direct contact between ministries of justice<sup>372</sup> or through designated central authorities<sup>373</sup> offered more satisfactory alternatives. A concern with administrative efficiency is also evident in precedents which authorize the use of modern means of communication, such as facsimile transmission,<sup>374</sup> in an extradition context.<sup>375</sup>
- 6.28 A further development that has commanded attention in recent years is the provision for a summary or simplified procedure to expedite the process when the individual concerned does not intend to contest extradition. This facility has been provided in a number of regional arrangements including the Benelux treaty of 1962, the 1990 Schengen Convention and the 1995 Convention on Simplified Extradition Procedure between the Member States of the European Union, and is covered as well in article 6 of the 1990 Model Treaty on Extradition.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>371</sup>Commonwealth Secretariat, document LMM(90)32.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>372</sup>See, for example, the 1978 Second Additional Protocol to the European Convention on Extradition, chap. V.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>373</sup>See, for example, article 1 of the Agreement between the Member States of the European Communities for the simplification and the modernization of the ways of transmitting extradition requests, concluded at San Sebastián on 26 May 1989.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>374</sup>Agreement between the Members States of the European Communities for the simplification and the modernization of the ways of transmitting extradition requests, arts. 2 and 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>375</sup>The 1990 Schengen Convention has made several changes in this sphere (see, for example, articles 64 and 65). Agreements of accession to this Convention have in the meantime been concluded with Greece, Italy, Portugal (in force) and Spain. A further agreement of accession is being concluded with Austria. Negotiations are under discussion with Denmark, Finland and Sweden for accession instruments and with Iceland and Norway for parallel application instruments.

6.29 A review of extradition law and practice can of course be much more ambitious and comprehensive in nature. In recent years, for instance, the member States of the European Union have initiated a process in which many of the major features of this cooperative mechanism have been subject to examination. This has included, *inter alia*, giving consideration to relaxing and standardizing the threshold for extraditable offences, to lessening the severity of the rule prohibiting extradition where, under the law of the requested State, the individual is immune from prosecution or punishment by reason of lapse of time, to refining the scope of operation of the speciality rule (that is, the rule excluding prosecution for offences beyond the scope of the original grant of extradition, save with the consent of the requested State) and to easing restrictions relating to the non-extradition of nationals.

6.30 While changes in many of these areas could only be brought about by legislation and appropriate treaty revision, other significant improvements can be facilitated more simply. In the course of its presidency of the European Communities in 1992, the United Kingdom initiated discussions with other member States which resulted in agreement on several practical steps that could be taken to remove avoidable delays. A number of improvements resulted, including the publication of a guide to the extradition procedures of the States concerned, containing flow charts, a listing of contact points and other valuable information of a practical nature.<sup>376</sup> In 1994, the secretariat of the Council of Europe was given the task of extending this text to include all parties to the 1957 European Convention on Extradition. Such initiatives do not necessarily require a regional or subregional framework. For example, the preparation of a practical guide to domestic extradition law and practice could be undertaken unilaterally and subsequently distributed by the central authority to States with which there are existing extradition agreements or to all parties to the 1988 Convention. Furthermore, the availability of such a practical explanatory note would be of value in the preliminary stages of extradition treaty negotiations with States that may have no prior experience of local requirements. The conclusion of such agreements is encouraged in article 6, paragraph 11.

## Paragraph 8

8. Subject to the provisions of its domestic law and its extradition treaties, the requested Party may, upon being

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>376</sup>See Extradition: a Guide to Procedures of EC Member States (Incorporating Contact Points) (London, Home Office, International Criminal Policy Division, July 1993).

satisfied that the circumstances so warrant and are urgent, and at the request of the requesting Party, take a person whose extradition is sought and who is present in its territory into custody or take other appropriate measures to ensure his presence at extradition proceedings.

- 6.31 Paragraph 8 was inserted in the course of the negotiations at the Conference. It is based on wording found in a number of treaties<sup>377</sup> and is designed to promote the effectiveness of extradition arrangements by making provision for the offender to be taken into custody and for other appropriate measures designed to ensure his presence at the extradition proceedings. The safeguard clause was regarded as essential because of the differing requirements of national legal systems regarding provisional arrest and bail procedures and the potential conflict with particular provisions in existing extradition treaties.
- 6.32 This paragraph deals with the possibility of requests being made in cases of urgency for the provisional arrest of the person sought pending the initiation of formal extradition procedures. It is the norm in bilateral and multilateral treaty practice to provide coverage of this important issue and this is often done in some detail.<sup>378</sup> Where such a treaty exists between the requested and requesting State, paragraph 8 will have no relevance. It is mainly intended to assist those parties which make extradition conditional upon the existence of a treaty relationship and are willing, under paragraph 3, to consider the 1988 Convention as providing the required legal basis. Such countries "may also need a Treaty basis to be able to order the provisional arrest of a person with a view to his or her eventual extradition, even prior to the presentation of a formal extradition request".<sup>379</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>377</sup>For example, the 1970 Convention for the Suppression of Unlawful Seizure of Aircraft (art. 6, para. 1); the 1971 Convention for the Suppression of Unlawful Acts against the Safety of Civil Aviation (art. 6, para. 1); and the 1988 Convention for the Suppression of Unlawful Acts against the Safety of Maritime Navigation (art. 7).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>378</sup>See, for example, the 1990 Model Treaty on Extradition (General Assembly resolution 46/116, annex), article 9, and the 1957 European Convention on Extradition, article 16.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>379</sup>J. Schutte, loc. cit., p. 142.

167

## Implementation considerations: paragraph 8

- 6.33 Those parties which make extradition conditional upon the existence of a treaty relationship and are willing, under paragraph 3, to consider the 1988 Convention as providing the required legal basis may have to enact enabling legislation to govern the proper exercise of this power and to put in place appropriate administrative and other procedures. In doing so it is essential to bear in mind that requests for provisional arrest are, by definition, of an urgent nature and will often require the taking of speedy and efficient action by the requested State. Requirements relating to such matters as the content of provisional arrest requests and the permissible means of communicating the same should be formulated with the need for speed and efficiency clearly in mind.<sup>380</sup>
- 6.34 Any examination of the issue of provisional arrest could profitably be expanded to include a review of policy and procedure in respect of the making of requests to other States. It is of importance to ensure that requests are only submitted in cases of sufficient urgency. In the context of the European Convention on Extradition of 1957, for instance, the frequency with which parties have used this procedure has given rise to concern<sup>381</sup> and there have been a number of calls for restraint.<sup>382</sup>

# Paragraph 9

- 9. Without prejudice to the exercise of any criminal jurisdiction established in accordance with its domestic law, a Party in whose territory an alleged offender is found shall:
- (a) If it does not extradite him in respect of an offence established in accordance with article 3, paragraph 1, on the grounds set forth in article 4, paragraph 2, subparagraph (a),

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>380</sup>See, for example, paragraph 4(1) of the Commonwealth Scheme for the Rendition of Fugitive Offenders, which provides, *inter alia*, that for the purposes of issuing a provisional warrant for arrest, the competent judicial authority in the territory where the individual is located or is believed to be on his or her way may take cognizance of relevant information contained in the international notices issued by the International Criminal Police Organization (Interpol).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>381</sup>See, for example, H. J. Bartsch, "The Western European approach", Revue internationale de droit pénal, No. 62, 1991, pp. 508-509.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>382</sup>See, for example, recommendation R(80)7 of the Committee of Ministers of the Council of Europe.

submit the case to its competent authorities for the purpose of prosecution, unless otherwise agreed with the requesting Party;

(b) If it does not extradite him in respect of such an offence and has established its jurisdiction in relation to that offence in accordance with article 4, paragraph 2, subparagraph (b), submit the case to its competent authorities for the purpose of prosecution, unless otherwise requested by the requesting Party for the purposes of preserving its legitimate jurisdiction.

- 6.35 The discussion of paragraph 9 at the Conference was made difficult by the fact that the text of what was to become article 4, paragraph 2, was not wholly settled when consideration of article 6 began.
- 6.36 It will be recalled that article 4, paragraph 2, deals with two different types of case. Paragraph 2, subparagraph (a), is mandatory, providing that each party must establish its jurisdiction over the offences it has established in accordance with article 3, paragraph 1, when the alleged offender is present in its territory and it does not extradite him to another party on the ground that the offence has been committed in its territory or on board a vessel flying its flag or an aircraft which was registered under its law at the time the offence was committed; or that the offence has been committed by one of its nationals. Subparagraph (b) is non-mandatory. Each party may establish its jurisdiction over the relevant offences when the alleged offender is present in its territory and it does not extradite him or her to another State party; if the grounds upon which extradition is refused are other than those stated in subparagraph (a), there is no obligation upon the requested party to establish its own jurisdiction.
- 6.37 Article 6, paragraph 9, approaches the same type of issue but in the context of extradition. It creates certain obligations under public international law which are expressed as being without prejudice to the exercise of any criminal jurisdiction established in accordance with the domestic law of the party from whose territory extradition is sought ("the requested Party"). The obligation, subject to the other conditions set out in the text, is to submit the case to the competent authorities for the purpose of prosecution. This means that the normal procedures of the requested party for making the decision whether or not to prosecute will be set in motion. There is no obligation actually to prosecute,

for that would compromise the autonomy enjoyed by prosecuting authorities in many national legal systems. The Conference decided against including some such phrase as "without undue delay", but it is clearly intended that delays will be kept to the minimum, and should be not dissimilar to those in a purely domestic case of equal complexity.

- 6.38 In the cases that fall within the scope of subparagraph (a) of this paragraph (and the corresponding subparagraph in article 4, paragraph 2), where the establishment of jurisdiction by the requested party is mandatory, paragraph 9 makes it a matter of treaty obligation that the case be submitted to the prosecution authorities "unless otherwise agreed with the requesting Party". This latter phrase makes it clear that the requested party is bound to act unless it secures the requesting party's consent to refrain from submitting the case.
- 6.39 In the cases that fall within the scope of subparagraph (b) of this paragraph (and the corresponding subparagraph in article 4, paragraph 2), where the establishment of jurisdiction by the requested party is non-mandatory, the same treaty obligation exists "unless otherwise requested by the requesting Party for the purposes of preserving its legitimate jurisdiction". This language, arrived at as a compromise after much discussion, means that where the requesting party expresses opposition to the submission of the case to the prosecution authorities of the requested party the treaty obligation is removed. The requested party does, however, remain free, if it so chooses, to exercise criminal jurisdiction in accordance with its domestic law; the requesting party has no absolute right of veto.<sup>383</sup>

## Implementation considerations: paragraph 9

6.40 As was noted above, paragraph 9 gives expression to the concept of the vicarious administration of justice, which is also commonly referred to as the *aut dedere aut judicare* principle. It has to be read in close conjunction with article 4, subparagraph 2.<sup>384</sup> In practice it is likely to have the greatest practical significance in cases where extradition is refused on the ground that the individual whose return is sought is a national of the requested country. While

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>383</sup>See the statements by the representative of the Netherlands (*Official Records*, vol. II ..., Summary records of meetings of the Committees of the Whole, Committee I, 25th meeting, paras. 38-41 and 49) and by the representatives of Austria and France (*Official Records*, vol. II ..., Summary records of plenary meetings, 7th plenary meeting, paras. 47 and 51).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>384</sup>See above, comments on article 4, paragraph 2.

the problems and issues regarding effective implementation of these requirements were examined in the context of article 4, it should be stressed that the obligation to submit the case to the competent authorities for the purposes of prosecution is triggered on each separate occasion when extradition is declined in the circumstances envisaged in paragraph 9. It is therefore necessary to ensure compliance even when such circumstances arise infrequently. For example, while there is no constitutional prohibition on the extradition of nationals by the United States, there have been rare instances in which, for technical legal reasons, it was unable to do so.<sup>385</sup> For this reason legislation was enacted in order to remove this obstacle to full compliance with the requirements of the 1988 Convention.<sup>386</sup>

## Paragraph 10

10. If extradition, sought for purposes of enforcing a sentence, is refused because the person sought is a national of the requested Party, the requested Party shall, if its law so permits and in conformity with the requirements of such law, upon application of the requesting Party, consider the enforcement of the sentence which has been imposed under the law of the requesting Party, or the remainder thereof.

## Commentary

6.41 The purpose of paragraph 10 is to complement the provisions of paragraph 9, which deals with alleged offenders but not with convicted offenders who escape before sentence, or before serving the whole of a sentence. In such cases the offender may be extradited for sentencing, or to serve a sentence, or to complete a sentence already partially served, but extradition may be refused on a number of grounds. Where refusal is on the ground that the offender is a national of the requested State, a situation similar to that set out in paragraph 9 arises. In the cases falling within the scope of paragraph 10, however, it was not appropriate to provide for the submission of the case to the prosecution authorities of the requested State for a new trial, as that could give rise to a plea

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>385</sup>See, for example, "Report of the United States Delegation to the United Nations Conference for the adoption of a Convention against Illicit Traffic in Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances", 101st Congress, 1st Session, Senate, Exec. Rept. 101-15, pp. 52-53.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>386</sup>See Manual for Compliance with the United Nations Convention against Illicit Traffic in Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances (Washington, D.C., United States Department of Justice, 1992), p. 10.

of double jeopardy.<sup>387</sup> In some States a different view might be taken on the double jeopardy point<sup>388</sup> or it may be expressly overridden where a prisoner has not served all or any of a sentence imposed by another State,<sup>389</sup> but an acceptable international text could not ignore the double jeopardy point. Instead, the possibility is raised of the offender being required to serve the sentence (or the remainder of the sentence) in the territory of the requested State.

6.42 The requested State is required to "consider" such enforcement of the sentence passed in the requesting State but imposes no obligation as to enforcement. Such enforcement of the sentences of foreign courts is not possible in some national legal systems, and a safeguard clause recognizes this fact: the obligation is to consider enforcement if the law of the requested State so permits and in conformity with the requirements of such law.<sup>390</sup>

## Implementation considerations: paragraph 10

6.43 Although the concept of the enforcement of the criminal judgements of third States is not as firmly established in international practice as other forms of cooperation in the criminal sphere, there are a number of precedents to which interested States can turn for guidance.<sup>391</sup> One recent example is provided in chapter 5 of the 1990 Schengen Convention. This adopts the relatively simple approach of supplementing and extending by analogy the 1983 Council of Europe Convention on the Transfer of Sentenced Persons<sup>392</sup> to embrace the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>387</sup>See the view expressed by the representative of the Netherlands that double jeopardy was in issue (*Official Records*, vol. II ..., Summary records of meetings of the Committees of the Whole, Committee I, 26th meeting, para. 69).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>388</sup>See the view expressed by the representative of the Philippines (*Official Records*, vol. II ..., Summary records of meetings of the Committees of the Whole, Committee I, 26th meeting, para. 71).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>389</sup>See, for example, article 113 of the French Penal Code.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>390</sup>The final text remained a subject of disquiet because of its innovative nature: see the statement by the representative of the Philippines (*Official Records*, vol. II ..., Summary records of plenary meetings, 7th plenary meeting, para. 50).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>391</sup>See, for example, the 1991 Convention between the Member States of the European Communities on the Enforcement of Foreign Criminal Sentences and the Draft Model Treaty on the Transfer of Enforcement of Penal Sanctions (E/CN.15/1992/4/Add.3 and Corr.1, annex I).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>392</sup>See below, comment on article 6, paragraph 12.

transfer of execution of criminal judgements with respect to escaped prisoners. In this connection, it is important to note that, pursuant to article 69 of the Schengen Convention, the transfer of execution of sentence will "not be subject to the consent of the sentenced person". States wishing to take advantage of this option will have to ensure that domestic law so permits. If the national legal tradition normally requires a pre-existing treaty as a prerequisite for the enforcement of criminal judgements of other States, consideration might be given to regarding the 1988 Convention as providing the necessary basis in this context.

### Paragraph 11

11. The Parties shall seek to conclude bilateral and multilateral agreements to carry out or to enhance the effectiveness of extradition.

#### Commentary

6.44 In paragraph 11, which is closely related in its intent to the subject matter of paragraph 7, States are encouraged to conclude various forms of extradition treaties in order to carry out or enhance the effectiveness of this cooperative procedural regime.

# Implementation considerations: paragraph 11

6.45 It will be recalled that the 1990 Model Treaty on Extradition was elaborated in order to assist States wishing to negotiate modern extradition agreements.<sup>393</sup>

# Paragraph 12

12. The Parties may consider entering into bilateral or multilateral agreements, whether *ad hoc* or general, on the transfer to their country of persons sentenced to imprisonment and other forms of deprivation of liberty for offences to which this article applies, in order that they may complete their sentences there.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>393</sup> Manual on the Model Treaty on Extradition and Manual on the Model Treaty on Mutual Assistance in Criminal Matters: an implementation guide", *International Review of Criminal Policy*, Nos. 45 and 46 (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.96.IV.2), part one.

### Commentary

6.46 Paragraph 12 is concerned with the possible transfer of a convicted offender serving a custodial sentence to another State, with a view to the remainder of the sentence being served there. Reference to the concept of prisoner transfer in this context constitutes a recognition of the fact that the transnational nature of modern international drug trafficking has resulted in substantial numbers of nationals of many States being incarcerated abroad. As penal policy in many States has come to place increasing emphasis upon the rehabilitation of offenders, a goal also embraced in article 3, paragraph 4, of the 1988 Convention, it has been recognized that in some instances this can best be facilitated in the offender's home country. In addition, "this policy is also rooted in humanitarian considerations: difficulties in communication by reason of language barriers, alienation from local culture and customs, and the absence of contacts with relatives may have detrimental effects on the foreign prisoner". 394

- of his or her nationality or of origin in some sense, but the drafting of paragraph 12 was deliberately given an open texture at this point. It has not proved easy in international instruments to define the degree of connection which the transferred person should be shown to have with the State to which he or she is to be transferred; the Commonwealth Scheme for the Transfer of Convicted Offenders, for example, speaks of "close ties... of a kind that may be recognized by [the State to which transfer may take place] for the purposes of this Scheme". Similarly, although the Conference was aware that a number of States, and international instruments, expressly require that the prisoner should consent to the transfer, this was not included in the text of the paragraph but was left to the parties concerned.
- 6.48 Paragraph 12 imposes no treaty obligation. It merely invites parties to consider entering into agreements on the transfer of prisoners, and those agreements may be bilateral or multilateral, general or ad hoc.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>394</sup>Explanatory Report on the Convention on the Transfer of Sentenced Persons (Strasbourg, Council of Europe, 1983), p. 7.

 $<sup>^{395}</sup>$ Commonwealth Scheme for the Transfer of Convicted Offenders, para. 4(1)(a)(ii).

 $<sup>^{396}</sup>$ For example, Commonwealth Scheme for the Transfer of Convicted Offenders, para. 4(1)(d).

# Implementation considerations: paragraph 12

6.49 States wishing to explore the possibility of using this mechanism of international cooperation have a growing body of both multilateral and bilateral practice upon which to draw. In relation to the former, mention might be made of, among others, the Scheme for the Transfer of Convicted Offenders within the Commonwealth (as amended in 1990) and the 1983 Council of Europe Convention on the Transfer of Sentenced Persons, which, by virtue of article 19, is also open to States non-members of the Council under certain circumstances. Insofar as bilateral arrangements are concerned, the 1985 Model Agreement on the Transfer of Foreign Prisoners<sup>397</sup> was elaborated in order to facilitate negotiations in this sphere.<sup>398</sup>

- 6.50 While existing international instruments deal with matters of underlying philosophy and detail with regard to extradition in somewhat different ways, a broad consensus has emerged in respect of a number of central elements of the process. Importantly, transfer is normally regarded as discretionary and subject to the consent of the individual in question. As has been explained in the context of the 1985 Model Agreement, "the requirement that prisoners must consent to the transfer ensures that transfers are not used as a method of expelling prisoners, or as a means of disguised extradition. Moreover, since prison conditions vary considerably from country to country, and the prisoner may have very personal reasons for not wishing to be transferred, it seems preferable to base the proposed model agreement on the consent requirement." 399
- 6.51 Making appropriate provision for recourse to the transfer of prisoners can have a positive effect on international cooperation more generally. This flows from the possibility of using differing mechanisms in order to remove traditional impediments to such cooperation. One illustration is provided by the approach of the Netherlands to the extradition of its nationals. Here the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>397</sup>See Seventh United Nations Congress on the Prevention of Crime and the Treatment of Offenders, Milan, 26 August-6 September 1985: report prepared by the Secretariat (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.91.IV.2), chap. I, sect. D, resolution 1, annex I.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>398</sup>See also, R. Clark, "Crime: the UN agenda on international cooperation in the criminal process", Nova Law Review, No. 15, 1991, pp. 481-485; and R. Clark, The United Nations Crime Prevention and Criminal Justice Program: Formulation of Standards and Efforts at Their Implementation (Philadelphia, University of Pennsylvania Press, 1994), pp. 205-210.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>399</sup> "Formulation and application of United Nations standards and norms in criminal justice: model agreement on the transfer of foreign prisoners and recommendations for the treatment of foreign prisoners" (A/CONF.121/10), para. 14.

traditional severity with which the bar to extradition has been treated has been relaxed as a consequence of a 1983 revision to the Constitution of the Netherlands, taken in combination with a 1988 alteration to its domestic extradition law. <sup>400</sup> By virtue of the latter, under article 4, paragraph 2, of the Netherlands Extradition Act, a national may now be extradited to a third State if "in the opinion of the Dutch Minister of Justice there is sufficient guarantee that if the national should be sentenced to an unconditional custodial sentence in the requesting State for the offences for which his extradition is granted, the national would be able to serve such sentence in the Netherlands". <sup>401</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>400</sup>D. Paridaens, "The extradition of nationals according to Dutch law", Revue internationale de droit pénal, No. 62, 1991, pp. 515-521.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>401</sup>Paridaens, loc. cit., pp. 515 and 516.

#### **ARTICLE 7**

## Mutual legal assistance

#### General comments

- 7.1 The fundamental importance of effective cooperation in investigations and prosecutions through mutual legal assistance<sup>402</sup> was recognized at an early stage in the drafting of the Convention.<sup>403</sup> For that reason the principle of including an article on this topic was uncontroversial. There was room, however, for disagreement on the nature of its contents. Some States already had in place detailed domestic legislation and were parties to a growing network of bilateral, and in some cases multilateral, treaties and arrangements; their representatives were anxious lest the Convention contain material that would conflict with their existing legislation and international obligations.<sup>404</sup> To other States, the concept and practice of mutual legal assistance was unfamiliar, and detailed provisions in the Convention would be important if major delays were to be avoided at the stage of implementation in national legal systems.
- 7.2 In the course of discussions at the Conference, the text of article 7 became fuller and more detailed as negotiations proceeded. What emerged was a miniature mutual legal assistance treaty, cast in a form sufficiently flexible to accommodate the variety of procedures available, or to become available, in national legal systems.
- 7.3 There is a close relationship between article 7 and two other articles of the Convention. The first is article 5, paragraphs 4-6 of which provide for mutual assistance in the matter of confiscation, and which declares applicable in that context, *mutatis mutandis*, many provisions of article 7.<sup>405</sup> The second is article 9, paragraph 1 of which deals with various forms of mutual assistance which overlap to some extent with those provided for in article 7; insofar as they

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>402</sup>The French text uses the term "entraide judiciaire" and the Spanish text "asistencia judicial reciproca", both of which reflect the greater judicial control of investigations in many civil-law countries when compared with the practice in the common-law tradition.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>403</sup>Official Records, vol. I ..., document E/CN.7/1988/2 (Part IV), chap. II, para. 97.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>404</sup>See article 7, paragraph 6, which meets these concerns.

 $<sup>^{405}</sup>$ See article 5, paragraph 4, subparagraph (d).

can be separated, article 7 deals with measures of assistance that are more formal than the inter-agency cooperation dealt with in article 9.

## Paragraph 1

1. The Parties shall afford one another, pursuant to this article, the widest measure of mutual legal assistance in investigations, prosecutions and judicial proceedings in relation to criminal offences established in accordance with article 3, paragraph 1.

- 7.4 The language of paragraph 1 was modelled upon article 1 of the European Convention on Mutual Assistance in Criminal Matters, agreed in 1959 under the aegis of the Council of Europe. The European Convention was the first regional convention in this field, and the authors were anxious to limit its scope to cases that had reached the stage of judicial proceedings. There is no such limitation in paragraph 1, article 7, of the 1988 Convention, which applies to investigations and prosecutions as well as to judicial proceedings.
- 7.5 Mutual legal assistance is available under the terms of the article only in respect of offences established in accordance with article 3, paragraph 1; it is not therefore available in respect of offences of possession, purchase or cultivation for personal consumption established in accordance with article 3, paragraph 2.
- 7.6 The assistance sought must be in respect of an offence. There seems to be nothing in the text of the Convention that requires the offence to have been committed before a request for assistance may be made. It would appear possible, for example, to seek assistance in obtaining financial records, 407 which might support other information suggesting that an offence was planned. In practice, unless some formal application must be made to a court to obtain the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>406</sup>Article 1 of the European Convention speaks of "mutual assistance in proceedings in respect of offences the punishment of which, at the time of the request for assistance, falls within the jurisdiction of the judicial authorities of the requesting country". As the expression "judicial authorities" extends to include investigating magistrates, the limitation is not as restrictive as it may at first appear.

 $<sup>^{407}</sup>$ See paragraph 2, subparagraph (f).

necessary information, such help will more readily fall within the scope of article 9 (see paragraph 7.3 above).

7.7 The text indicates that parties are to give "the widest measure" of assistance, a phrase intended to encourage them to give a broad and untechnical interpretation to the scope of assistance, including forms of assistance not expressly mentioned in the subsequent paragraphs. Assistance is, however, to be given "pursuant to this article", which sets out not only prescribed procedures, but also grounds upon which a request for assistance may be refused.

# Paragraph 2: introductory part

2. Mutual legal assistance to be afforded in accordance with this article may be requested for any of the following purposes:

#### Commentary

7.8 As the introductory wording indicates, paragraph 2 lists the purposes for which mutual legal assistance may be requested under article 7. The list, however, is not exhaustive and other forms of assistance may be made available.

# Paragraph 2, subparagraph (a)

(a) Taking evidence or statements from persons;

# Commentary

7.9 Paragraph 2, subparagraph (a), is concerned with testimony from individuals. There was some discussion at the Conference on the meaning of the word "statement", which, it was suggested, covered testimony given under oath, as is normal in the common-law tradition. In fact, such testimony would often

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>408</sup>See Explanatory Report on the European Convention on Mutual Assistance in Criminal Matters (Strasbourg, Council of Europe, 1971), commenting on the phrase as it appears in article 1 of that Convention; and article 7, paragraph 3, of the 1988 Convention.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>409</sup>Such as those concerning the language of the request (paragraph 9).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>410</sup>Paragraph 15 and, in respect of a postponement of assistance, paragraph 17.

be referred to as "sworn evidence" as opposed to "unsworn statements", which are allowed in some forms of common-law criminal procedure. Indeed "statement" might suggest a declaration made to a police or other investigating officer, whereas in the context of the article it is intended to signify evidence. The eventual text is to be interpreted as including all forms of testimony by individuals, whatever procedure is used to receive that testimony.

#### Paragraph 2, subparagraph (b)

# (b) Effecting service of judicial documents;

### Commentary

Paragraph 2, subparagraph (b), on the service of judicial documents, <sup>411</sup> is brief, especially when compared with article 7 of the European Convention, which contains detailed provisions as to the mode of service and the means by which evidence of service is to be provided. In the context of the 1988 Convention, these issues will be governed, as will many other practical details, by paragraph 10, subparagraph (d), of this article, which allows a requesting party to specify any particular procedure required to satisfy its domestic law, and by paragraph 12, under which a request is to be executed under the domestic law of the requested party and, to the extent not contrary to the domestic law of the requested party and where possible, in accordance with the procedures specified in the request. So, for example, a party may regularly deliver documents, especially those received from foreign sources, by informal modes of transmission (for example, a request to the addressee to call at a local office to collect a document, or simply delivery to his or her address). This practice will be followed, but a more formal mode of notification, for example through an authorized process-server, huissier de justice or similarly qualified person, who could produce acceptable evidence that a service had been effected and when, could be used if such action was requested and was not contrary to the law of the requested party.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>411</sup>"Judicial documents" include witness summonses or subpoenas.

### Paragraph 2, subparagraph (c)

### (c) Executing searches and seizures;

### Commentary

7.11 Observations similar to those set out in paragraph 7.10 above apply to paragraph 2, subparagraph (c). There will commonly be requirements in the domestic law of the requested party, for example requiring the issue of a judicial warrant to enter private premises, that will govern, and in some cases limit the scope of, the assistance that may be given.

### Paragraph 2, subparagraph (d)

### (d) Examining objects and sites;

#### Commentary

7.12 Although paragraph 2, subparagraph (d), refers simply to the examination of objects and sites, the assistance that will be required will include some form of report. Paragraph 18(2) of the Scheme for Mutual Assistance within the Commonwealth (Commonwealth Scheme) refers to property being inspected, preserved or photographed and to samples being taken and examined. In the drug trafficking context, chemical analysis may well be required, with a detailed report on the results of the analysis and the methods used to conduct it.

# Paragraph 2, subparagraph (e)

## (e) Providing information and evidentiary items;

## Commentary

7.13 Although the language of paragraph 2, subparagraph (e), especially the word "information", can be very broadly understood, the subparagraph is intended to cover material available to the authorities of the requested party without their taking action that would fall within the scope of one of the other subparagraphs. For example, it would cover the provision for use in proceedings in the requesting party of material already held and perhaps already used as an exhibit in a trial in the requested party in a related matter. It would not cover objects in the hands of private persons, which might of course be the subject of "search and seizure" under paragraph 2, subparagraph (c).

## Paragraph 2, subparagraph (f)

(f) Providing originals or certified copies of relevant documents and records, including bank, financial, corporate or business records;

#### Commentary

7.14 Paragraph 2, subparagraph (f), appears to include both documents and records already held by the competent authorities of the requested party and material which will have to be obtained, following a specific request, from banks, financial institutions, or businesses operating in the territory of the requested party. A number of States indicated through their representatives at the Conference that, as their law then stood, they would be unable to obtain this type of material (and that referred to in subparagraph (g)) unless criminal proceedings had actually commenced.

### Paragraph 2, subparagraph (g)

(g) Identifying or tracing proceeds, property, instrumentalities or other things for evidentiary purposes.

### Commentary

7.15 The provision in article 7, paragraph 2, subparagraph (g), complements the provision in article 5, paragraph 4, subparagraph (b), which obliges parties to take, in response to a request by another party, measures to identify, trace, and freeze or seize proceeds, property, instrumentalities or any other things referred to in paragraph 1 of that article, for the purpose of eventual confiscation (see paragraphs 5.23-5.26 above). The former provision deals with property required not for the purposes of eventual confiscation but for evidentiary purposes. It is, of course, not inconceivable that property might be required for both types of purpose, in which case the request should refer to both article 5 and the present article. It should be noted that article 5 and article 7 exclude bank secrecy from being a valid ground for declining to render mutual legal assistance.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>412</sup>See below, comments on paragraph 5; assistance may not be refused on grounds of bank secrecy.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>413</sup>Austria, Israel, Jamaica, Mauritius and Saudi Arabia (*Official Records*, vol. II ..., Summary records of meetings of the Committees of the Whole, Committee I, 29th meeting, paras. 25 and 26).

## Paragraph 3

3. The Parties may afford one another any other forms of mutual legal assistance allowed by the domestic law of the requested Party.

#### Commentary

7.16 Paragraph 3 merely provides for the optional provision of forms of assistance other than those specified in paragraph 2, where the domestic law of the requested party so allows, for instance requests for the interception of telecommunications, or for a confrontation between the accused and the witnesses. It can be read in conjunction with article 9, in which parties are required to take steps to make arrangements for other forms of cooperation.

## Paragraph 4

4. Upon request, the Parties shall facilitate or encourage, to the extent consistent with their domestic law and practice, the presence or availability of persons, including persons in custody, who consent to assist in investigations or participate in proceedings.

## Commentary

7.17 Paragraph 4 covers a number of possible situations in which persons in the territory of the requested party are relevant to investigations or proceedings in the territory of the requesting party. The simplest case would be one in which an investigating authority in one State wishes to interview a person now in another State who may have useful information; the requested party is asked to arrange and provide facilities for such an interview to take place. At the other end of the spectrum would be a case in which a person serving a sentence of imprisonment is required as a witness, and must attend for oral examination, at a trial about to take place in another State; here the authorities of the State in which the person is serving his or her sentence are asked to agree to that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>414</sup>The focus of the paragraph appears to be upon the person who is able to give direct assistance; it is possible that legal advisers of such persons could be treated as being within its terms.

 $<sup>^{415}</sup>$ See paragraph 7.9 above for a discussion of the word "statement" in paragraph 2, subparagraph (a).

person's travel to the requesting State for that purpose. In the latter case, there would be a considerable number of detailed matters to settle, notably the arrangements for the witness's transport, which would have to be in conditions that ensured his or her continued custody, the conditions in which the witness would be held in the requesting State, and the effect of the transfer on the running of time.<sup>416</sup>

7.18 Under paragraph 4, parties are obliged to respond to a request, but there are two safeguards. The first, for the requested parties, is that the obligation has to be consistent with their domestic law and practice. The inclusion of the reference to domestic practice is significant, as many of the matters likely to be raised by a request will, in some States, be within the discretion of the administrative or correctional authorities and not regulated by express legal provisions. The second safeguard, for the person concerned, is that nothing may be done under this paragraph without the consent of that person; this applies to those in custody as well as those at liberty. Thus, a person resident in one State may be obliged to attend a hearing in that State to give formal evidence for use in another State, by virtue of a subpoena or witness summons issued in response to a request for the taking of evidence under paragraph 2, subparagraph (a), but is free to decline to attend a hearing in the requesting State.

### Paragraph 5

5. A Party shall not decline to render mutual legal assistance under this article on the ground of bank secrecy.

## Commentary

7.19 Article 7, paragraph 5, originally formed part of a much longer draft text, which would have repeated the obligation in respect of the seizure and making available of bank, financial and commercial records laid down in article 5, paragraph 3, and also in article 7, paragraph 2, subparagraph (f). This repetitious material was eliminated, but it was judged important to state the principle that bank secrecy could not be relied upon as a ground for the refusal of assistance both in the general context of mutual legal assistance in the present article and in the specific context of confiscation in article 5.417

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>416</sup>Compare paragraph 24 of the Commonwealth Scheme, which contains detailed provisions governing the transfer of persons in custody.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>417</sup>See article 5, paragraph 3, last sentence.

## Paragraph 6

6. The provisions of this article shall not affect the obligations under any other treaty, bilateral or multilateral, which governs or will govern, in whole or in part, mutual legal assistance in criminal matters.

#### Commentary

- 7.20 Paragraph 6 embodies an important provision dealing with potential conflict with existing or future mutual legal assistance treaties. It does not give those treaties a general priority over the provisions of the 1988 Convention. Its effect, instead, is to preserve the obligations incurred under general mutual legal assistance treaties from any diminution as a result of the specific provisions of the Convention. This means that where the Convention requires the provision of a higher level of assistance in the context of illicit trafficking than is provided for under the terms of an applicable bilateral or multilateral mutual legal assistance treaty, the provisions of the Convention will prevail. In the converse case, where the treaty provides for a higher level of assistance, this paragraph comes into play and the treaty provisions will prevail with respect to the extent of the requested party's obligations.
- 7.21 In considering paragraph 6, attention should also be given to paragraph 7, considered below, and to paragraph 20, where parties are called upon to consider, *inter alia*, the possibility of enhancing the provisions of article 7 through negotiation of mutual legal assistance treaties.

# Paragraph 7

7. Paragraphs 8 to 19 of this article shall apply to requests made pursuant to this article if the Parties in question are not bound by a treaty of mutual legal assistance. If these Parties are bound by such a treaty, the corresponding provisions of that treaty shall apply unless the Parties agree to apply paragraphs 8 to 19 of this article in lieu thereof.

# Commentary

7.22 Paragraph 7 deals with other aspects of the "conflict of conventions" issue. There were in 1988 a number of bilateral or multilateral mutual legal assistance treaties; their number has since greatly increased. Many of these

treaties contain detailed procedural provisions on such matters as the channels of communication to be used and the language and detailed content of the documentation, as well as more fundamental terms for the grounds upon which a request may be refused. Particularly in the case of bilateral treaties, the provisions will have been negotiated with considerable regard to the principles of the national legal systems of the parties concerned. There are still, however, many States that are not parties to general mutual legal assistance treaties and many circumstances in which no bilateral treaty governs the relationship between the pair of States concerned in a particular matter.

- 7.23 Paragraph 7 covers these varying situations. Where there is no applicable mutual legal assistance treaty, the Convention supplies the necessary provisions in paragraphs 8-19. Where there is an applicable treaty, its provisions will be followed in place of those set out in paragraphs 8-19; this enables pairs of States to follow the procedures with which they have become familiar in the general context of mutual legal assistance, notwithstanding the illicit trafficking context. Parties to a general mutual legal assistance treaty concerned in a particular matter may, however, choose to agree that the provisions of the Convention should apply in that context.
- 7.24 There are a number of parties whose general mutual legal assistance practice is governed by some instrument, such as the Commonwealth Scheme, which lacks the formality of a full treaty. The text of paragraph 7 uses the term "a treaty of mutual legal assistance", and that has become a term of art. It does not appear to include the less formal agreements or arrangements, where the provisions of paragraphs 8-19 will apply for all cases falling within the scope of the Convention, 418 unless the parties agree otherwise.

## Paragraph 8

8. Parties shall designate an authority, or when necessary authorities, which shall have the responsibility and power to execute requests for mutual legal assistance or to transmit them to the competent authorities for execution. The authority or the authorities designated for this purpose shall be notified to the Secretary-General. Transmission of requests for mutual legal assistance and any communication related thereto

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>418</sup>The text does not allow the parties any other option. It may be, however, that they could take advantage of the provisions of paragraph 20 to apply their general mutual assistance arrangements.

shall be effected between the authorities designated by the Parties; this requirement shall be without prejudice to the right of a Party to require that such requests and communications be addressed to it through the diplomatic channel and, in urgent circumstances, where the Parties agree, through channels of the International Criminal Police Organization, if possible.

- 7.25 The designation of a central authority to handle the execution, and in some cases the transmission, of requests for mutual legal assistance is a feature of many mutual legal assistance treaties and arrangements. There are great practical advantages in such a system, which enables officers not only to acquire familiarity with the terms of the Convention and of the necessary procedures but also to develop working relationships with their counterparts in other States and to study ways in which the particular requirements of a national legal system can be met by a carefully framed request. This will facilitate the smooth and efficient provision of assistance.
- 7.26 Although every State may have a number of "competent authorities", for example in its police and customs services, the authority designated for the purposes of this article will as far as possible be a single authority, which may be within one of those services or another government department or be free-standing. In some national legal systems the power to execute requests implies judicial functions. In this paragraph, parties are allowed, "where necessary", to designate more than one authority; this provision is designed primarily for use in some federal or composite States or in States responsible for the external relations of dependent territories; it is not intended to encourage an expansion in the number of authorities with different functions or handling different types of case.
- 7.27 Paragraph 8 specifies that requests and communications relating to requests<sup>420</sup> are to be effected between the designated authorities. A party may, however, insist on the use of the diplomatic channel, which in practice often involves not only the embassy staff but also officers of the ministries of justice

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>419</sup>See, for example, Commonwealth Scheme, paragraph 4. Regional arrangements may permit or encourage direct contact between the relevant judicial authorities (see article 53(1) of the Schengen Convention).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>420</sup>For example, a request for additional information under article 7, paragraph 11.

and of foreign affairs of the parties concerned and so inevitably leads to delays. Provision is also made for the use in urgent cases, and with the prior agreement of the parties concerned, of the communication channels maintained by Interpol, which are more commonly used for the informal cooperation dealt with in article 9.

### Paragraph 9

9. Requests shall be made in writing in a language acceptable to the requested Party. The language or languages acceptable to each Party shall be notified to the Secretary-General. In urgent circumstances, and where agreed by the Parties, requests may be made orally, but shall be confirmed in writing forthwith.

- Language is often a sensitive issue. In the Convention, a very practical 7.28 approach is taken: it is clearly essential that the authorities of the requested party in which action is sought, often urgently, be addressed in a language with which they are familiar. This fact is recognized by the reference in the paragraph to a language "acceptable" to the requested party. The national language of that party will always be acceptable, but practical considerations dictate that in many cases requesting parties should be given a wider choice. The national language may be little known in other countries; it may have a script which cannot readily be handled by word-processing and communication systems commonly used in other States. Accordingly, States are to indicate to the Secretary-General the language or languages acceptable to them, in the hope that the notified languages will include at least some of the languages most commonly used in international communication and indeed in the work of the United Nations. A party may be able to include other languages used in other States within its own geographical region.
- 7.29 Paragraph 9 also deals with oral requests for assistance. It allows such requests to be made in urgent circumstances and with the agreement of the parties concerned; there is no obligation to accept or act upon an oral request. In practice, the officers responsible for handling requests develop a good understanding with their counterparts in other States, especially neighbouring States or those with which requests are commonly exchanged, as to cases in which oral requests are appropriate. Using a phrase also found in the

Commonwealth Scheme, a request initially made orally "shall be confirmed in writing forthwith".

### Paragraph 10

- 10. A request for mutual legal assistance shall contain:
- (a) The identity of the authority making the request;
- (b) The subject matter and nature of the investigation, prosecution or proceeding to which the request relates, and the name and the functions of the authority conducting such investigation, prosecution or proceeding;
- (c) A summary of the relevant facts, except in respect of requests for the purpose of service of judicial documents;
- (d) A description of the assistance sought and details of any particular procedure the requesting Party wishes to be followed:
- (e) Where possible, the identity, location and nationality of any person concerned;
- (f) The purpose for which the evidence, information or action is sought.

- 7.30 Paragraph 10 sets out a list of the minimum contents of a request for mutual legal assistance. In many cases the authority making the request will be well advised to include additional information, sometimes for its own administrative convenience (for example, any reference number by which the matter is known), but more often, and much more importantly, for the use of the requested authority to enable it to respond fully and without delay.
- 7.31 The text of paragraph 10 itself indicates, by the reference in subparagraph (c) to the case of the service of judicial documents, that there are some circumstances in which the request for action to be taken is self-explanatory and the requested authority needs little knowledge of the background to the case. In other contexts, particularly where evidence or statements are to be taken or a site

examined, the requested authority will need considerable help in understanding the context in which it is to act and the precise direction its work is to take. In such cases, the statement of the relevant facts called for in subparagraph (c), together with the material relating to the purpose for which the evidence, information or action is sought (subparagraph (f)), will need to be set out carefully and, if necessary, at some length.

- 7.32 The reason for requesting mutual legal assistance is to advance the investigation, prosecution or proceeding in the territory of the requesting party. It follows that the procedure followed in the requested State must be such as to make the evidence or other information admissible or usable in the requesting State. It is for this reason that subparagraph (*d*) enables the requesting authority to give details of any particular procedure it wishes to be followed. Examples would be the administration of the oath to witnesses, the taking of a verbatim record of questions and answers and not just the minutes of the interview, the manner in which a photograph or analysis should be taken and authenticated, the establishment of the "chain of custody" in cases in which objects have been seized and are transferred to the requesting State, and (especially in urgent cases) the means by which information is to be sent.
- 7.33 In other respects, the list of items is largely self-explanatory. It was noted at the Conference that the reference to "any person concerned" in subparagraph (e) is to be read literally; it is not confined to the suspected offender.

# Paragraph 11

11. The requested Party may request additional information when it appears necessary for the execution of the request in accordance with its domestic law or when it can facilitate such execution.

## Commentary

7.34 A well-drafted request for assistance should contain all the information thought to be necessary for the execution of the request. In practice, the situation may not be so straightforward. For example, the execution of a search may, under the domestic law of the requested party, require application to a judge for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>421</sup>See article 7, paragraph 12: the procedures specified in the request will be followed "to the extent not contrary to the domestic law of the requested Party and where possible".

a search warrant, and the legal rules governing that type of application may require a specific piece of information not contained in the request as originally sent. Or circumstances may change: a request for help in identifying or tracing property may prove difficult to execute because of recent developments, such as the departure of persons believed to control the property or transactions affecting the property, and the requested authority may need additional information or more detailed guidance on how it can most helpfully proceed. All these possibilities are covered by the broad language of the paragraph, which points to the importance of close cooperation between the relevant authorities.

## Paragraph 12

12. A request shall be executed in accordance with the domestic law of the requested Party and, to the extent not contrary to the domestic law of the requested Party and where possible, in accordance with the procedures specified in the request.

- 7.35 It has been observed (see paragraph 7.32 above) that the reason for requesting mutual legal assistance is to advance the investigation, prosecution or proceedings in the territory of the requesting party and that that has implications for the procedures to be followed. It is, however, equally true that the assistance sought involves acts to be carried out in the territory of the requested party. Its sovereignty and legal system are necessarily involved. The basic principle must therefore be that set out in the opening words of the paragraph, namely that the request is to be executed in accordance with the domestic law of the requested party.
- 7.36 The remainder of the paragraph qualifies this by pointing to the desirability of complying with the procedures specified in the request (designed, for example, to make evidence obtained for use in criminal proceedings in the requesting party admissible under the rules of criminal evidence in force in the courts of that party). In order to meet this need, parties may be able to adopt procedures that they would not follow in purely domestic cases. As the text makes clear, they are not required to do anything that would be contrary to (as opposed to merely unfamiliar in) their domestic law. There is a further safeguard; they need only comply with the specified procedures "where possible"; for example, the use of a particular language or the involvement of a person possessing a particular qualification might be impossible in another State.

- 7.37 Although the Convention is silent on the matter, it is highly desirable that whenever there appear to be difficulties in meeting a request for a particular procedure to be adopted, there should be some contact between the requesting and requested authorities to see whether a satisfactory way forward can be found.
- 7.38 The issue of the rights of private persons, and especially accused persons, in respect of mutual legal assistance was discussed at the Conference. This issue raises a number of questions.
- The first is whether a private person may have access to the facilities 7.39 afforded by the system of mutual legal assistance: whether, for example, considerations of due process should entitle an accused person to use the Convention to obtain evidence important to his or her defence in the same way as the prosecution had obtained some of its evidence. The tenor of the discussion on that point<sup>422</sup> was that in general the Convention was for use by the authorities of the parties and was not designed to confer rights on private persons. That was, however, a matter that each party could take up in the light of its understanding of applicable principles of international law and its own constitutional law. It might be that a court or judicial authority in one party would make a request or direct that a request be made, acting in the interests of an accused person or indeed a third party involved in a confiscation issue. That request would be properly made under the Convention, would be transmitted by the relevant authority as required by article 7, paragraph 8, and its execution would fall under the terms of paragraph 12. A similar approach could be adopted to deal with requests for the presence of counsel during the execution of a request.
- 7.40 A second question concerns the rights of private persons in either the requesting or requested party to suppress or exclude evidence or to impede the execution of a request for mutual legal assistance. The Conference declined to incorporate a provision which would have declared that the Convention created no new rights of this type, but that does indeed appear to be the position. If, under the law of the requested party, some person or body has a right to intervene, that right is unaffected; the same is true of the processes that may be invoked in the requesting party once the request has been fully executed. No additional rights are, however, to be vested in private persons by virtue of the Convention.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>422</sup>Official Records, vol. II ..., Summary records of meetings of the Committees of the Whole, Committee I, 32nd meeting, paras. 32 and 33.

### Paragraph 13

13. The requesting Party shall not transmit nor use information or evidence furnished by the requested Party for investigations, prosecutions or proceedings other than those stated in the request without the prior consent of the requested Party.

- Paragraph 13 represents a careful balancing of potentially conflicting 7.41 interests. A party initiating a request for assistance is required to include in the request information on the subject matter and nature of the investigation, prosecution or proceeding to which the request relates. 423 For example, a request for assistance in obtaining business records might be stated to relate to an investigation of suspected illicit trafficking in specified narcotic drugs which it was thought had been passed under falsified invoices through the books of a company operating in the territory of the requested party; or the taking of specific evidence might be requested and stated to relate to the pending prosecution of a named accused person in the criminal courts of the requesting party. In either example, the authorities of the requesting party may not, at the time the request is made, foresee accurately how matters may develop. The business records may point to much wider illicit trafficking than had originally been suspected. The pending trial may come to involve additional defendants and further charges. In such a context, any rule which might unduly restrict the use to which material obtained in response to the request could be put would greatly limit the effectiveness of the system of mutual legal assistance.
- 7.42 On the other hand, the requested party also has legitimate interests that need to be protected. A party might, for example, have a strict rule of bank secrecy, which it had set aside in a case of illicit trafficking, as required by the Convention.<sup>424</sup> Its surrender of bank records for use in evidence at a trial for drug-trafficking offences should not imply that it was waiving its general rule, thereby permitting those same records to be used, for example, in subsequent proceedings in connection with fraud.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>423</sup>Art. 7, para. 10, subpara. (b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>424</sup>Art. 7, para. 5.

7.43 The text of the paragraph seeks to meet both sets of concerns. As a matter of principle, the requesting party cannot use information or evidence furnished by the requested party for investigations, prosecutions or proceedings other than those stated in the request; the same principle applies to restriction of the onward transmission of that information or evidence to third parties (even in response to a formal request by another party to the Convention). Such use or transmission is, however, possible with the prior consent of the requested party, which has complete discretion as to whether to grant or withhold its consent. In practice, consent should only be withheld in circumstances in which a request reflecting the changed needs of the requesting party would not have been executed.

## Paragraph 14

14. The requesting Party may require that the requested Party keep confidential the fact and substance of the request, except to the extent necessary to execute the request. If the requested Party cannot comply with the requirement of confidentiality, it shall promptly inform the requesting Party.

- 7.44 Confidentiality is commonly of the utmost importance, especially at the investigatory stages of a case. The Commonwealth Scheme recognizes the sensitivity of this issue by requiring the competent authorities of both requesting and requested countries to keep the request and its contents confidential. Paragraph 14 is concerned with the same issue, but assumes that the authorities of the requesting party will observe due confidentiality; it is only concerned with the duty of confidentiality as it affects the requested party.
- 7.45 It is recognized in paragraph 14 that the very act of executing the request may draw attention to what is being done. If, however, there are public procedures in the requested party (such as the publication of lists of relevant types of applications) which constitute a breach of confidentiality greater than that necessary minimum, the requested party must promptly inform the requesting party of that fact, with a view to seeking a decision on whether the request should continue to be executed, in the same or an amended form.

#### Paragraph 15, introductory part

## 15. Mutual legal assistance may be refused:

### Commentary

7.46 Paragraph 15 sets out the grounds upon which a party may refuse the requested assistance. It needs to be read in conjunction with article 3, paragraph 10, where it is provided that, for the purpose of cooperation among the parties, including, in particular, cooperation under articles 5, 6, 7 and 9, offences established in accordance with article 3 are not to be considered as fiscal offences or as political offences or regarded as politically motivated, without prejudice to the constitutional limitations and the fundamental domestic law of the parties. This has the effect of excluding possible grounds for refusal that are found in some mutual legal assistance treaties and schemes.<sup>425</sup>

### Paragraph 15, subparagraph (a)

(a) If the request is not made in conformity with the provisions of this article;

## Commentary

7.47 No party is obliged to act on a request that is not presented in accordance with the terms of article 7, whether the defect concerns the channel of transmission or the contents of the request. The requested party is, however, free to waive the issue of the lack of conformity if it so wishes.

# Paragraph 15, subparagraph (b)

(b) If the requested Party considers that execution of the request is likely to prejudice its sovereignty, security, ordre public or other essential interests;

# Commentary

7.48 Language of this sort is often found in mutual legal assistance treaties, and the present language is taken directly from article 2 (b) of the European

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>425</sup>See, for example, Commonwealth Scheme, paragraph 7(1)(b) (political offences); but see also paragraph 7(4), which gives a narrow definition of such offences.

Convention on Mutual Assistance in Criminal Matters. The *Explanatory Report* on that Convention confines itself to the remarks that the expression "essential interests" refers to the interests of the State, not of individuals, and that economic interests might be covered by the concept.

- 7.49 In the present context, references to sovereignty and security are most likely to concern the defence, external relations and internal and external security services of the requested State.
- 7.50 The scope of the notion of ordre public may vary from State to State, but the French phrase is used since the actual concept of "public policy" as understood in the common-law tradition may differ. Some guidance as to its potential scope may be gleaned from the discussions of what was to become paragraph 15, and in particular of amendments proposed by the Jamaican delegation but ultimately rejected. These would have prohibited "fishing expeditions" (that is, requests for assistance where it seemed far from clear that any offence had been committed), would have inserted a ground of refusal based on "double jeopardy", and would have incorporated a provision found in paragraph 7(2)(b) of the Commonwealth Scheme, covering cases where there were substantial grounds for belief that the relevant assistance would facilitate the prosecution of a person on account of his or her race, religion, nationality or political opinions. It was clearly the view of representatives of countries with a civil-law tradition that these concerns could be met by the use of the concept of ordre public.426

# Paragraph 15, subparagraph (c)

(c) If the authorities of the requested Party would be prohibited by its domestic law from carrying out the action requested with regard to any similar offence, had it been subject to investigation, prosecution or proceedings under their own jurisdiction;

# Commentary

7.51 The principle on which mutual legal assistance treaties rest is that the competent authorities of the requested State should as far as possible make available to their counterparts in other parties the powers of investigation and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>426</sup>Official Records, vol. II ..., Summary records of meetings of the Committees of the Whole, Committee I, 32nd meeting, paras. 5-20.

evidence-gathering that they themselves can deploy in purely domestic cases. If the action requested could not be taken in a domestic case, this will be a ground for refusing a request.

#### Paragraph 15, subparagraph (d)

(d) If it would be contrary to the legal system of the requested Party relating to mutual legal assistance for the request to be granted.

### Commentary

7.52 This provision takes account of the fact that States may have established within their national legal systems rules that prohibit the provision of international cooperation in certain circumstances, for example where the offender may be subject to cruel, inhuman or degrading penalties or to capital punishment, or to trial by special ad hoc tribunals. It recognizes the fact that, in some circumstances, such legal provisions will make it impossible to provide certain types of assistance.

### Paragraph 16

16. Reasons shall be given for any refusal of mutual legal assistance.

# Commentary

7.53 This is plainly desirable in the interests of good relationships and the smooth operation of mutual assistance arrangements.

# Paragraph 17

17. Mutual legal assistance may be postponed by the requested Party on the ground that it interferes with an ongoing investigation, prosecution or proceeding. In such a case, the requested Party shall consult with the requesting Party to determine if the assistance can still be given subject to such terms and conditions as the requested Party deems necessary.

#### Commentary

7.54 In many cases, the exchange of information between parties, encouraged by the provisions of article 9, will ensure that the competent authorities of the respective parties are able to act in a wholly complementary fashion and that the actions of no one authority will interfere with the ongoing work of another. Communication between States, or between different agencies in the same State, is not always perfect, however. Article 7, paragraph 17, deals with the difficulties that arise when a formal request for mutual legal assistance arrives at a time when its execution might prejudice a delicately poised investigation or prejudice a pending trial (by disclosing evidence or in other ways). The text requires consultation between the parties to seek a practical solution, reserving the right of the requested party to postpone the provision of assistance until the difficulties are removed or become inapplicable through the passage of time.

#### Paragraph 18

18. A witness, expert or other person who consents to give evidence in a proceeding or to assist in an investigation, prosecution or judicial proceeding in the territory of the requesting Party, shall not be prosecuted, detained, punished or subjected to any other restriction of his personal liberty in that territory in respect of acts, omissions or convictions prior to his departure from the territory of the requested Party. Such safe conduct shall cease when the witness, expert or other person having had, for a period of fifteen consecutive days, or for any period agreed upon by the Parties, from the date on which he has been officially informed that his presence is no longer required by the judicial authorities, an opportunity of leaving, has nevertheless remained voluntarily in the territory or, having left it, has returned of his own free will.

# Commentary

7.55 Paragraph 18, which follows closely the drafting of paragraph 25 of the Commonwealth Scheme, provides persons travelling to the territory of the requesting party in response to a request with a safe conduct or immunity in respect of acts, omissions and convictions prior to the date of departure from the requested party. The safe conduct does not extend to acts or omissions after that

date, so the person concerned is not protected if he or she commits an offence<sup>427</sup> while in the territory of the requesting party.

7.56 The text spells out details regarding the expiry of the safe conduct, the 15-day period being judged adequate to enable the person concerned to make the necessary arrangements for return or onward travel. The parties are free to agree to a different period, which may be longer or shorter than the standard 15 days. Although the text does not make this point, it would be essential to communicate the terms of any such agreement to the person concerned before his or her departure from the territory of the requested party.

## Paragraph 19

19. The ordinary costs of executing a request shall be borne by the requested Party, unless otherwise agreed by the Parties concerned. If expenses of a substantial or extraordinary nature are or will be required to fulfil the request, the Parties shall consult to determine the terms and conditions under which the request will be executed as well as the manner in which the costs shall be borne.

- 7.57 Paragraph 19 embodies the general principle that the "ordinary" costs of mutual legal assistance shall be borne by the requested party. This rule makes for simplicity, avoiding the keeping of complex accounts, and rests on the notion that over a period of time there will be a rough balance between States that are sometimes the requesting and sometimes the requested party. In practice, however, that balance is not always maintained, as the flow of requests between particular pairs of parties may prove to be largely in one direction. For this reason, the concluding words of the first sentence enable the parties to agree to a departure from the general rule even in respect of ordinary costs.
- 7.58 In many cases, for example when assistance is sought to identify and produce relevant business records, a process that may involve a detailed examination of voluminous corporate records by skilled investigators, the costs will be substantial or of an extraordinary nature. In such a case, the paragraph lays down no rule; it requires the parties to consult one another on the detailed execution of the request and the apportionment of the costs. The dividing line

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>427</sup>Which could include perjury committed during the judicial proceedings.

between "ordinary" and "extraordinary" is necessarily imprecise, and the sums of money involved may well be seen very differently by States in different stages of economic development; in practice, the consultations envisaged in the second sentence of the paragraph should take place if either party so requests.

## Paragraph 20

20. The Parties shall consider, as may be necessary, the possibility of concluding bilateral or multilateral agreements or arrangements that would serve the purposes of, give practical effect to, or enhance the provisions of this article.

### Commentary

7.59 As has already been observed (see paragraph 7.1 above), in 1988 mutual legal assistance was for some States an unfamiliar novelty. It was to be expected that growing experience would lead to a refinement of the emerging system of mutual legal assistance, and the identification of unforeseen problems. Paragraph 20 creates no obligations, but encourages parties to consider the use of bilateral or multilateral agreements or arrangements in the further development of that system.

## Implementation considerations: article 7 as a whole

## Scope of assistance

- 7.60 The provision of mutual legal assistance in the investigation and prosecution of the serious offences enumerated in article 3, paragraph 1, and in associated judicial proceedings is central to the realization of the goal, set out in the preamble of the Convention, of "strengthening and enhancing effective legal means for international cooperation in criminal matters for suppressing the international criminal activities of illicit traffic". To this end, article 7, paragraph 1, mandates that parties shall afford to one another "the widest measure" of such mutual legal assistance. In furtherance of this requirement, parties will need to put in place not only the requisite domestic laws and regulations, but also the associated administrative and policy infrastructure.
- 7.61 Of particular importance in this regard is an analysis of existing domestic law to ascertain the extent to which the forms of assistance specified in paragraph 2 can be made available upon request to other members of the international community. Any such review could properly and profitably be

expanded to include the satisfaction of the requirements for the provision of international cooperation, pursuant to article 5, in respect of the confiscation of proceeds, property, instrumentalities and like matters. Those States approaching the provision of mutual legal assistance on a systematic basis for the first time might also wish to consider whether any resulting legislative and related measures should be restricted to the area of serious drug trafficking offences or be extended to cover other or all forms of criminal activity. It is relevant to note that the great majority of existing multilateral agreements and arrangements in this sphere of international cooperation envisage its application across a broad range of criminal matters. A similar philosophy is also evident in the 1990 Model Treaty on Mutual Assistance in Criminal Matters, adopted by the General Assembly in its resolution 45/117.

7.62 In conducting any examination of the adequacy of existing legislative provisions and discretionary powers it should be borne in mind that the purpose of article 7 will be frustrated unless the cooperation in question can be provided in a manner that is sensitive to the evidentiary and other needs of the requesting party. Similarly, sight should not be lost of the fact that the optimum position is one which also paves the way for the effective use of assistance received from other parties in connection with domestic investigations, prosecutions and judicial proceedings. The complex nature and extent of this process can be seen, for example, in the taking of evidence or statements from persons, a form of assistance provided for in paragraph 2, subparagraph (a). Here it is necessary, in the first instance, to deal with the matter both in cases where the person (or persons) concerned cooperates voluntarily and in a situation in which compulsion is necessary. Domestic law should provide for the conditions under which statements or evidence may be obtained, including any right or obligation to decline to assist. 431 Sufficient flexibility may be needed to accommodate the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>428</sup>See above, comments on article 5, paragraph 4, subparagraph (d).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>429</sup>This is the case, for example, with such multilateral agreements and arrangements as the 1959 European convention on mutual assistance in criminal matters, the 1986 Commonwealth Scheme, the 1992 Inter-American Convention and the 1992 Convention concluded by the Economic Community of West African States. A minority of such instruments are, however, drug-specific (see, for example, article 11 of the 1990 South Asian Association for Regional Cooperation Convention on Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>430</sup>For a manual on this instrument, see *International Review of Criminal Policy*, Nos. 45 and 46 (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.96.IV.2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>431</sup>See, for example, the 1990 Model Treaty on Mutual Assistance in Criminal Matters (General Assembly resolution 45/117, annex).

special requirements of the requesting State. Such matters might include the provision of assistance under oath or affirmation, the involvement and participation of foreign officials and defence lawyers, and the use of non-traditional processes such as questioning by judges or cross-examination. The availability of relevant penalties in respect of such matters as perjury and the provision of appropriate safeguards for persons compelled to provide statements and evidence are also relevant considerations. Domestic law should also make adequate provision for the submission of requests to foreign States for such assistance and for the admissibility in proceedings of evidence thus obtained.

- Similar challenges in elaborating and implementing a sufficiently 7.63 comprehensive policy arise in other areas specified in paragraph 2, which represents the "core" elements of mutual legal assistance as it has evolved in international practice. For instance, while all legal systems contain the power to execute searches and seizures, subject to certain conditions, some may have had no experience in making these powers available for use on behalf of other States in the absence of any indication of a violation of domestic law. Guidance on the range of matters that may require legislative or other forms of implementation can be gleaned from an examination of the practice of a growing number of States as well as from a growing body of multilateral and bilateral treaties many of which treat this and other issues in greater detail than was possible in article 7. For example, article 7 of the 1990 Model Treaty on Mutual Assistance in Criminal Matters treats the issue of the ultimate disposition of materials provided to a requesting State, while article 17 thereof underlines the necessity of providing for both the delivery to the requesting party of materials acquired pursuant to a search and seizure operation and the appropriate protection of the rights of bona fide third parties in this context.
- 7.64 It is clear from the drafting history that paragraph 2 was not intended to be an exhaustive enumeration of the forms of mutual legal assistance which can be provided. That it is best considered as an illustrative or basic minimum list is emphasized by paragraph 3, which confirms that parties "may afford one another any other forms of mutual legal assistance allowed by the domestic law of the requested Party". It would be appropriate, therefore, for those charged with the implementation of article 7 to consider what additional mechanisms available in purely domestic investigations, prosecutions and judicial proceedings, if any, might appropriately be made available to other parties to the Convention to facilitate the fight against illicit traffic. For instance, it was noted in the context of article 5 that special investigative powers and techniques had been developed to assist the complex process of identifying and tracing proceeds

and gathering evidence.<sup>432</sup> Such techniques include, among others, the use of monitoring orders, production orders, interception of telecommunications and access to computer systems.<sup>433</sup> Other forms of assistance that could be provided include the transmission of information on sentences imposed on the nationals of other parties.<sup>434</sup>

- 7.65 The non-exhaustive nature of paragraph 2 is further emphasized by the terms of paragraph 4, in which States parties to the 1988 Convention are required to facilitate or encourage the presence or availability of consenting individuals in investigations and proceedings. As has been seen, this encompasses such matters as the appearance of witnesses, including persons in custody, in judicial proceedings in the requesting country (see paragraphs 7.17 and 7.18 above). This obligation is, however, subject to a number of safeguards for the requested State including, as an important requirement, consistency with its domestic law and practice (see paragraph 7.18 above).
- 7.66 Parties wishing to position themselves to provide and obtain the widest measure of cooperation in this respect will face a number of issues, particularly in relation to custody cases. 436 These include the legal authority of the requested party to transfer the individual to a foreign State on a temporary basis (including his or her release into the custody of foreign law enforcement officers), readmittance to the State of that individual and his or her return to the relevant institution. Any implementing legislation should ensure that the prisoner receives appropriate credit for the time spent in custody abroad. Similarly, a requesting State must have the requisite authority to receive and hold such a person in custody. Furthermore, immigration legislation may need to be amended in some countries which prohibit the entry of convicted persons. At a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>432</sup>See above, comments on the implementation of article 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>433</sup>See also, 1990 Council of Europe Convention on Laundering, Search, Seizure and Confiscation of the Proceeds from Crime, article 4, paragraph 2, and Letters Rogatory for the Interception of Telecommunications, Recommendation No. R (85) 10, adopted by the Committee of Ministers of the Council of Europe on 28 June 1985.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>434</sup>See, for example, the Model Treaty on Mutual Assistance in Criminal Matters (General Assembly resolution 45/117, annex), footnote to the title of article 1.

 $<sup>^{435}</sup>$ See, for example, the Commonwealth Scheme, paragraphs 1(3)(f) and (g), and the Model Treaty, article 1, paragraph 2, subparagraph (b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>436</sup>The associated issues of safe conduct and costs are treated in article 7, paragraphs 18 and 19, respectively.

more practical level, appropriate procedures will need to be put in place to coordinate such transfers, including the determination of the most appropriate route for them to take place. In instances in which transit through the territory of a third State arises, arrangements will have to be made to obtain the advance consent of the State concerned.

#### Procedural and related issues

7.67 As has been pointed out elsewhere: "Mutual assistance will never achieve the full results of which it is capable, unless its operation is both quick and easy. Speed is imperative if crime is to be fought successfully." This underlying practical requirement should be kept constantly in mind in designing the administrative infrastructure necessary for the receipt and execution of requests from other parties for assistance and in formulating and transmitting requests to other members of the international community pursuant to the 1988 Convention. Here the establishment of a central authority or authorities pursuant to paragraph 8 is of great importance.

7.68 It is for each country to decide on the location of its central authority and the powers and functions to be entrusted to it. Many States have elected to designate the ministry of justice or home affairs or the office of the attorney-general for this purpose. Some States may wish to consider whether or not the same body should be responsible for receiving and responding to requests under, paragraphs 3 and 4 of article 17, relating to illicit traffic by sea. Practice on this matter has not been uniform, however. It is of great practical importance to note that details of the authorities designated for the purposes of article 7 must be notified to the Secretary-General. Such information, including the address, telephone and facsimile numbers and the office hours, is published on a periodic

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>437</sup>R. Dussaix, "Some problems arising from the practical application, from the judicial point of view, of the European Convention on Mutual Assistance in Criminal Matters", *Problems Arising from the Practical Application of the European Convention on Mutual Assistance in Criminal Matters* (Strasbourg, Council of Europe, 1971), pp. 51-52.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>438</sup>See below, comments on article 17, paragraph 7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>439</sup>While a number of countries, such as Australia, Brunei Darussalam, Canada and Nigeria, have elected to combine these functions, many others have decided to designate different authorities for these purposes. Those adopting the latter approach include, among others, Austria, Burkina Faso and Oman.

basis by the United Nations.<sup>440</sup> The published information also indicates whether or not a country permits urgent requests or communications to be made through Interpol channels of communication.

As noted earlier, the possibility of using the channels of communication available through Interpol, where the parties agree and in cases of urgency, is an exception to the normal expectation that requests and communications relating to them are to be effected between the designated authorities (see paragraph 7.27 above). Although a party is entitled under article 7, paragraph 8, to insist upon the use of the diplomatic channel, experience in the mutual assistance sphere indicates that this is often slow and cumbersome. Because of the need for speed and efficiency, it is becoming increasingly common practice for the central authorities to enter into the kind of direct contact envisaged as the norm in this provision.<sup>441</sup>

An appropriate infrastructure for the central authority will need to be 7.70 established. While the resource requirements will differ significantly from one party to another and will be dependent upon a wide variety of factors, including the frequency with which it is expected that relevant requests will be made or received, a number of common requirements can be identified. First and foremost is the availability of appropriate technical communication equipment such as telephone and facsimile machines. Whereas, under paragraph 9, requests are to be made in writing, it is also envisaged that in urgent cases, and where agreed, oral requests may be entertained subject to their being subsequently confirmed in written form. Furthermore, practice has demonstrated the usefulness of informal consultations between the staff of the relevant central authorities, where legally permissible, in advance of the formal submission of requests, in order to reduce to a minimum any potential difficulties arising in its eventual execution. This is but one aspect of the widely acknowledged benefits to be derived from the development of regular contacts between central authorities and the accomplishment thereby of good working relationships. 442 The availability of appropriate communications technology is essential in this context.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>440</sup>See Competent National Authorities under the International Drug Control Treaties, issued by the United Nations International Drug Control Programme in the ST/NAR symbol series.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>441</sup>See, for example, the 1959 Council of Europe Convention, article 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>442</sup>"Report of the Expert Working Group on Mutual Legal Assistance and Related International Confiscation, Vienna, 15-19 February 1993" (E/CN.7/1993/CRP.13).

- Decisions on the staffing of the designated authority and related training 7.71 needs will depend upon, among other factors, the decisions taken concerning its nature and function. A key issue here is whether the authority is to be responsible for executing or issuing requests for mutual legal assistance and if so, to what extent. This will have a bearing on the question of the extent to which the staff of the central authority should have relevant legal experience and training. While practice differs in this regard, there are obvious benefits if the central authority is in a position to provide its foreign counterparts with sound practical advice. 443 In this context it should be noted that an Expert Working Group on Mutual Legal Assistance and Related International Confiscation, convened at Vienna by the United Nations International Drug Control Programme from 15 to 19 February 1993, stressed the importance of the designated national authority advising its foreign counterparts on its requirements regarding the execution of requests and on the information needed to secure effective action in that regard. To that end, central authorities were encouraged to "prepare guides, preferably multilingual, for distribution to their international counterparts".444
- 7.72 In addition to the receipt and either the execution or the forwarding of requests to the appropriate executing body, the central authority will be responsible for appropriate follow-up activities and for transmitting the results to the requesting State. Pursuant to article 7, paragraph 17, it will also be involved in relevant consultations with the requesting State in instances where assistance is to be postponed. It is imperative not to lose sight of the important role of this body in transmitting requests to other parties and seeking to ensure that they are properly executed. To that end, steps should be taken to ensure that it is capable of undertaking domestic coordination, including the establishment of appropriate lines of communication. The system of using a designated contact person in each law enforcement agency or prosecutorial or similar body that may generate requests has been widely resorted to in practice. The benefit of having the central authority training the various domestic agencies that will make use of its

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>443</sup>See, for example, Report of the Oxford Conference on Mutual Legal Assistance, 5-9 September 1994 (London, Commonwealth Secretariat, 1994), p. 4.

<sup>444 &</sup>quot;Report of the Expert Working Group on Mutual Legal Assistance and Related International Confiscation, Vienna, 15-19 February 1993", para. 7 (a). For one example of such a guide, see United Kingdom Central Authority, *International Mutual Assistance in Criminal Matters: United Kingdom Guidelines* (London, Home Office, 1991). In 1995 the Commonwealth Secretariat in London initiated a loose-leaf series entitled "Mutual assistance in criminal matters: guide to national practice and procedure", designed to provide relevant information in respect of its member States.

services is widely acknowledged.<sup>445</sup> Another quality control measure worthy of consideration is to provide the central authority with the competence "to review and consider requests to be submitted to a foreign state to ensure that the materials are properly prepared in an acceptable and useful form for the requested state".<sup>446</sup>

7.73 A further matter of major practical importance to the functioning of a mutual legal assistance system is the availability of adequate language translation facilities. It is essential that arrangements for translation should be in place from the outset. Pursuant to article 7, paragraph 9, each party should designate the language or languages acceptable to it as a requested State and that information should be notified to the Secretary-General. As has been seen, practical considerations suggest that requesting parties should be given as wide a range of choice as possible (see paragraph 7.28 above). This factor, along with the desirability of facilitating personal contacts with other central authorities, may affect staff recruitment. For instance, it may be considered particularly useful to recruit people who are able to function adequately in several languages. It follows, however, that the burden of formal translation falls in principle upon the requesting State. It must be in a position to formulate a request in one of the designated languages of the requested State, and this may cause some delay. Special arrangements could be made, however, whereby the requested State would declare itself willing to undertake any necessary translations at the expense of the requesting State. Furthermore, it is the requesting State that will be required to translate the documents, statements or other written material that it receives in response to a request in order to facilitate the use of that material in domestic investigations, prosecutions and judicial proceedings.

7.74 It is evident from what has been said above that the establishment of a structure for the discharge of obligations under article 7 will involve both start-up and recurrent costs. In assessing the probable financial impact of the system, it is also necessary to bear in mind that under the terms of paragraph 19 the ordinary costs of executing a request shall be borne by the requested party unless some other arrangement is agreed to by those concerned. Special provision has been made for consultation and agreement regarding the meeting of expenses of a substantial or extraordinary nature. While this provision follows the mainstream of international practice in this area, many specialized mutual legal

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>445</sup>Report of the Oxford Conference on Mutual Legal Assistance, 5-9 September 1994 (London, Commonwealth Secretariat, 1994), p. 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>446</sup>Ibid., p. 8.

assistance treaties specify further exceptions to this general rule. For instance, article 29 of the 1992 Inter-American Convention identifies the payment of fees for expert witnesses and the travel and other costs relating to the transportation of persons from the territory of one State to another as expenses to be met by the requesting State. Similarly, in paragraph 12(1) of the Commonwealth Scheme it is stated that "the requesting country shall be responsible for the travel and incidental expenses of witnesses travelling to the requesting country, including those of accompanying officials, for fees of experts, and for the costs of any translation required by the requesting country". No similar specific exceptions are to be found in relevant provisions of article 7.

7.75 For these and other reasons, parties may wish to consider concluding bilateral and/or multilateral agreements or arrangements in the context of which alternative or more detailed provisions could be elaborated in this and other areas of concern or difficulty. This option is encouraged by the terms of paragraph 20. As the Expert Working Group on Mutual Legal Assistance noted in its 1993 report: "Such bilateral and multilateral discussions are also useful to exchange information on legal systems, to adapt the general provisions of the 1988 Convention to suit the particular needs of the individual parties, and to provide a framework for agreement on particular issues such as costs or evidentiary requirements." The 1990 Model Treaty on Mutual Assistance in Criminal Matters (General Assembly resolution 45/117, annex) was intended to facilitate such a process and a growing number of national model treaties on mutual legal assistance can also be drawn upon for guidance.

7.76 Several further provisions of article 7 deal with important procedural and related matters. These include, in particular, the specification, in paragraph 10, of the minimum contents of any request for assistance. When the request relates to the provision of cooperation under article 5 of the 1988 Convention, these requirements are supplemented in the manner set out in paragraph 4, subparagraph (d), of that article. In practice, however, many requests will either require, or benefit from, the provision of additional information. The authority of the requested party to request additional information is provided in paragraph 11. From the perspective of the requesting State, examples might include such things as an indication of the time-limit within

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>447</sup>"Report of the Expert Working Group on Mutual Legal Assistance and Related International Confiscation, Vienna 15-19 February 1993", para. 71.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>448</sup> Several such national models are reproduced in W. Gilmore, ed., *Mutual Assistance* in Criminal and Business Regulatory Matters (Cambridge, Cambridge University Press, 1995).

which compliance with the request is desired.<sup>449</sup> Any requirements relating to confidentiality within the context of paragraph 14 should, of course, also be intimated at the time of the request.

- 7.77 Clarity and precision in the formulation of requests are essential. Given the fact that they will often be directed to officials working within an entirely different legal system and tradition, it is also important to avoid the use of overly specialized legal terminology and concentrate on a detached description of the object or goal that is sought rather than the "methodology" for achieving it. In the formulation of requests, guides prepared by national authorities outlining essential procedures, practices and requirements can be invaluable to a requesting authority in this regard. It could be useful for central authorities to consider including model requests in their national guides, as this would make the task of providing a positive, prompt and effective response that much easier.
- 7.78 The terms of paragraph 12 are also important. They allow the requested party to follow procedures specified in the request which, although not required by the domestic law of the requested party, are not contrary to that law. This provision is of practical significance owing to the wide differences among States concerning procedures that should or must be followed in order to guarantee that the evidence or other assistance obtained pursuant to the request is admissible at trial. As stressed above, such considerations of flexibility should be taken into account in formulating the implementing legislation of each State party.

## Provision, postponement and refusal of assistance

7.79 As is common in other spheres of international cooperation in the administration of justice, the obligation to provide assistance under article 7 is not unlimited. Paragraph 15 is of particular importance in that it is designed to safeguard the interests of the requested State by articulating various grounds upon which mutual legal assistance may be refused. Given the fact that, unlike the situation in extradition cases, the liberty of the individual is not directly at issue, these grounds are all formulated in discretionary rather than mandatory terms. For similar reasons, certain principles and practices familiar in an extradition context have in general been abandoned in State practice in this sphere and are not reflected in the wording of paragraph 15. For instance, mutual legal assistance is generally granted even in cases of investigations and prosecutions involving nationals of the requested State.

 $<sup>^{449}</sup>$ See, for example, the Model Treaty on Mutual Assistance in Criminal Matters (General Assembly resolution 45/117, annex), article 5, paragraph 1, subparagraph (f).

- 7.80 This distinction between the nature of extradition and mutual legal assistance should be borne in mind when the relevant domestic legislation in the latter sphere is being formulated. Furthermore, if the decision is taken to legislate for the provision of mutual assistance on an "all-crimes" basis rather than restricting it to the offences enumerated in article 3, paragraph 1, of the 1988 Convention, it will be necessary to ensure that this is done in a manner which permits full compliance with provisions of the Convention. The treatment of political and fiscal offences referred to in article 3, paragraph 10, is especially relevant in this context.<sup>450</sup>
- 7.81 While the grounds for refusal in article 7, paragraph 15, are formulated in discretionary terms, this does not prevent States parties from establishing mandatory provisions in their domestic laws if such a position is thought necessary to provide appropriate protection for their essential interests. Irrespective of the policy decision in this regard, provision should be made for the identification of the authority or authorities that have a right to accept or refuse a request for assistance. There is an obvious value in designating an official or officials within the central authority for this purpose. Similar considerations apply to the exercise of discretionary powers. In some instances, constitutional, policy or other considerations may require some element of ministerial involvement. The identification of the relevant minister for these purposes may, in turn, have a direct bearing on the issue of where within the governmental system the central authority, to be designated pursuant to paragraph 8, should be situated.
- 7.82 Grounds for refusal of assistance can be modified in any subsequent bilateral or multilateral treaty negotiations conducted under the mandate provided both by article 7, paragraph 20, and by article 5, paragraph 4, subparagraph (g). In the latter context, it would be particularly valuable to contemplate the reformulation of the grounds for refusal, bearing in mind the special features of international confiscation assistance. The terms of article 18 of the 1990 Council of Europe Convention on Laundering, Search, Seizure and Confiscation of the Proceeds from Crime provide an interesting illustration of such an approach.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>450</sup>See above, comments on article 3, paragraph 10. By virtue of article 7, paragraph 5, however, a party may not refuse to provide assistance on the ground of bank secrecy. In some countries it may be necessary to legislate to override relevant bank secrecy or client confidentiality laws to give effect to this obligation.

- 7.83 In cases in which a request for assistance is to be refused, article 7, paragraph 16, contains the requirement that reasons be given to the requesting State. In order to minimize any negative effect on the spirit of cooperation aimed at in article 7, it is recommended that the notification to the requesting State should, as far as possible, clearly indicate the basis for refusal and the facts upon which the decision was based. In its 1993 report, the Expert Working Group on Mutual Legal Assistance recommended that "in general, no request should be refused without prior consultation between central authorities. Consultation should always occur where impediments to execution arise from differences between their legal systems, resource difficulties, or lack of information". <sup>451</sup>
- 7.84 The desirability of consultation in cases of difficulty is specifically embraced in paragraph 17, where the possibility is envisaged of postponing assistance if it interferes with an ongoing investigation, prosecution or proceeding. While application of the concept of the partial or conditional granting of a request is confined to the circumstances described in paragraph 17, it would be within the spirit of article 7 as a whole to give it a more wide-ranging application in practice. Such a posture would be consistent with developing international best practice in this sphere of inter-State activity. This is clearly illustrated by article 4, paragraph 4, of the 1990 Model Treaty on Mutual Assistance in Criminal Matters, which reads: "Before refusing a request or postponing its execution, the requested State shall consider whether assistance may be granted subject to certain conditions. If the requesting State accepts assistance subject to these conditions, it shall comply with them" (see General Assembly resolution 45/117, annex). 452
- 7.85 In instances in which a request for assistance meets with a positive response, the Convention includes a number of specific safeguards which act to limit the freedom of action of the requesting State. Paragraph 13 is central to this aspect of the process. In that paragraph, the widely acknowledged principle of extradition law known as "speciality" is used to impose significant limitations on the use and transmission of the information or evidence that has been furnished. Domestic legislation or other implementing measures, as appropriate, must be formulated so as to permit compliance with such restrictions. Steps should also be taken to ensure that investigators, prosecutors and others who operate in this context are made familiar with this restriction and respect it.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>451</sup>"Report of the Expert Working Group on Mutual Legal Assistance and Related International Confiscation, Vienna, 15-19 February 1993", para. 70 (c).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>452</sup>See, also, article 20 of the 1990 European Convention.

7.86 Finally, it will be necessary to ensure that domestic law satisfies the safe-conduct obligations in respect of witnesses, experts and other persons, as provided for under paragraph 18. Although the provision of immunity of this kind is a common feature of mutual legal assistance arrangements, it may give rise to sensitive problems. A jurisdiction faced with particular constitutional, legal, policy or other problems in this regard may, of course, consider the possibility of formulating a reservation to its acceptance of its obligations under the Convention in order to protect its position. Such a step should not, however, be taken before full consideration is given to the negative effect that it would have on the party's ability to secure, as a requesting State, what could be crucial assistance in its own future investigations, prosecutions and proceedings where the voluntary presence of relevant individuals in its territory is required.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>453</sup>The United Kingdom has adopted this course of action.

#### **ARTICLE 8**

## Transfer of proceedings

#### General comments

- 8.1 In the context of civil proceedings, many States know the plea of *forum non conveniens*, a means whereby a court which undoubtedly has jurisdiction to hear a case may be asked to decline the exercise of that jurisdiction in favour of a more appropriate forum. The decision will take into account the interests of the private parties, as well as public interest in the sound administration of justice. In the context of criminal proceedings, the accused person has no right to move for the transfer of his or her case to another State's courts. In many cases the essentially territorial nature of the crime and of criminal law in general militates against any such possibility. The international nature of many offences within the scope of the 1988 Convention, however, and the plurality of jurisdictions available under article 4 do raise the possibility of the transfer of the criminal proceedings, by the State authorities, to another State which could prove a more appropriate forum.
- 8.2 Though less well-entrenched than other procedural regimes of cooperation, such as extradition and mutual legal assistance, the transfer of criminal proceedings between members of the international community has become relatively widespread, particularly among countries with a civil-law tradition. It encompasses the situation where the prosecuting or other relevant authority in one State has reached the conclusion that it would be desirable for the criminal proceedings in question to take place in another country. As has been pointed out elsewhere, the requesting State "may ask another State, in which adequate criminal proceedings are possible, to take over the proceedings. If the requested State agrees to this request, a 'transfer of criminal proceedings' is taking place". 456

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>454</sup>See A. V. Dicey and J. H. C. Morris, *The Conflict of Laws*, 12th ed. (London, Sweet and Maxwell, 1993), pp. 395-419.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>455</sup>There may be a right to apply for a change of venue within the same State, for example where local public opinion is so inflamed against the accused that a fair trial cannot be guaranteed.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>456</sup>Explanatory Report on the European Convention on the Transfer of Proceedings in Criminal Matters (Strasbourg, Council of Europe, 1985), p. 20.

## Single paragraph

The Parties shall give consideration to the possibility of transferring to one another proceedings for criminal prosecution of offences established in accordance with article 3, paragraph 1, in cases where such transfer is considered to be in the interests of a proper administration of justice.

## Commentary

- 8.3 Article 8 imposes no obligation upon parties to transfer proceedings in any particular case. It does, however, require the parties to give consideration to the possibility of using the cooperative mechanism of transfer of proceedings in instances in which it would be in the interests of the proper administration of justice to do so. As is common in relation to the scope of operation of international cooperation in the administration of justice under the 1988 Convention, the obligation is restricted to offences established in accordance with article 3, paragraph 1.
- 8.4 There are various reasons why a transfer of proceedings might commend itself in any given case. In particular, it offers a solution to the problem of concurrent jurisdiction and the resulting plurality of proceedings inherent in an activity with such conspicuous transnational features as illicit traffic in drugs. As has already been noted, no specific solution is articulated in the Convention to the question of the priority to be afforded to parties in instances involving concurrent jurisdiction. 459
- 8.5 Transfer of proceedings also permits the consolidation of various criminal proceedings, relating to distinct drug trafficking offences, involving the same individual or individuals, which may have been committed in one or more States and in circumstances where a transfer would be in the interests of effective prosecution. This procedure can even be used in circumstances where

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>457</sup>See, for example, article 8 of the 1972 European Convention on the Transfer of Proceedings in Criminal Matters.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>458</sup>See, for example, the 1990 Model Treaty on the Transfer of Proceedings on Criminal Matters (General Assembly resolution 45/118, annex), article 13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>459</sup>See above, comments on article 4.

the individual concerned has been definitively sentenced in the State wishing to transfer proceedings. 460

## Implementation considerations: article 8

- 8.6 Parties wishing to place themselves in a position to take advantage of this form of international cooperation have to ensure that their domestic law adequately provides for both the transfer of proceedings to foreign States and the acceptance of transfers from those States.<sup>461</sup> Of central importance in the latter context is the ability to discharge the obligation to prosecute once the transfer of proceedings has been accepted, as is the need to ensure that the necessary legislative measures are in place to allow the party concerned to exercise the necessary jurisdiction in respect of the offences in question.<sup>462</sup> Among the many other matters to be considered during the phase of domestic law implementation is whether or not to extend the concept of transfer of proceedings to encompass the confiscation of the proceeds of crime.<sup>463</sup>
- 8.7 A further issue that must be resolved at the implementation stage is whether or not to require the existence of a bilateral or multilateral treaty on the transfer of proceedings as a condition for cooperation. Even if the transfer of proceedings is not made conditional on the existence of an international treaty, some may consider it desirable to negotiate such instruments on other grounds. It was, for instance, the view of the Committee of Governmental Experts which drew up the 1972 European Convention on the Transfer of Proceedings in Criminal Matters<sup>464</sup> that, "although the existence of an international convention is not an indispensable condition for the transfer of criminal proceedings, it is

 $<sup>^{460}</sup>$ See, for example, article 8, paragraph 2, of the 1972 European Convention on the Transfer of Proceedings in Criminal Matters.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>461</sup>See, for example, Netherlands Code of Criminal Procedure, book IV, title X, part 3 (as amended).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>462</sup>See, for example, article 1, paragraph 2, of the 1990 Model Treaty and article 2 of the 1972 European Convention on the Transfer of Proceedings in Criminal Matters.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>463</sup>See, for example, the Netherlands Act to amend the Act on the transfer of the enforcement of criminal sentences in the interests of international cooperation to confiscate the proceeds of crime (10 December 1992, Stb.1993, 12); see also above, comments on article 5, paragraph 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>464</sup>See, for example, J. D. McClean, *International Judicial Assistance* (Oxford, Clarendon Press, 1992), pp. 146-149.

nevertheless highly desirable. It is only after appropriate procedure has been established for the communication of information etc., that mutual assistance can be developed and intensified".<sup>465</sup>

8.8 For those wishing to enter into the negotiation of international agreements in this sphere there are a number of precedents upon which to draw. 466 These include 467 the 1990 Model Treaty on the Transfer of Proceedings in Criminal Matters (General Assembly resolution 45/118, annex). 468 The Model Treaty treats a comprehensive range of relevant matters, including scope of application, channels of communication, required documents, certification and authentication, decisions on the request, dual criminality, grounds for refusal, the position of the suspected person, the rights of the victim, *ne bis in idem*, the effects of the transfer on the requested State, provisional measures, the plurality of criminal proceedings, and costs. In using the Model Treaty, care would be required in order to ensure full compatibility with relevant obligations contained in other provisions of the 1988 Convention. 469

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>465</sup>Explanatory Report on the European Convention on the Transfer of Proceedings in Criminal Matters (Strasbourg, Council of Europe, 1985), pp. 20-21. By virtue of article 39, participation in this Convention is open, under certain conditions, to non-member States of the Council of Europe.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>466</sup>See, for example, the 1990 Convention between the Member States of the European Communities on the Transfer of Criminal Proceedings.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>467</sup>See, for example, R. Clark, "Crime: the U.N. agenda on international cooperation in the criminal process", *Nova Law Review*, No. 15, 1991, pp. 493-495.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>468</sup>See also chapter IV of the Convention on Mutual Assistance in Criminal Matters, concluded in 1992 by the Economic Community of West African States.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>469</sup>For example, the discretionary grounds for refusal in article 7 of the 1990 Model Treaty must be considered in the light of the obligations set out in article 3, paragraph 10, of the 1988 Convention.

#### **ARTICLE 9**

## Other forms of co-operation and training

#### General comments

- 9.1 There are several articles of the 1988 Convention that deal in general terms with international cooperation. Article 7 governs mutual legal assistance; article 9 provides for forms of cooperation between the parties; and further aspects of cooperation are dealt with in article 10, especially as regards transit States. There are a number of distinctions between the forms of cooperation dealt with in article 7 and the subject matter of article 9. Article 7 involves specially designated authorities<sup>470</sup> in the transmission and reception of requests to carry out acts which are related to specific criminal offences and which, in at least some States parties, will involve judicial personnel. Cooperation under article 9 is more in the nature of general operational assistance between the relevant agencies in each State; it may involve assistance in inquiries or more general cooperation, for example in data collection, which assists in the suppression of offences. In some systems, a distinction between "judicial cooperation" and "police cooperation" is readily understood. In some States, however, the relevant agencies will commonly operate under judicial control, and this language may be unhelpful.
- 9.2 States differ in the way in which functions are divided up between agencies. This is perhaps most obviously the case in respect of customs authorities. In some States customs authorities have full law enforcement functions and may operate throughout the territory, whereas in other States they may function wholly or mainly at the border and may have to involve the police in law enforcement functions. These points influenced the drafting of article 9, the terms of which are sufficiently general to accommodate the various approaches to be found in the legal and administrative systems of the parties.

# Paragraph 1, introductory part

1. The Parties shall co-operate closely with one another, consistent with their respective domestic legal and administrative systems, with a view to enhancing the effectiveness of law enforcement action to suppress the commission of offences established in accordance with article 3, paragraph 1. They

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>470</sup>See article 7, paragraph 8.

# shall, in particular, on the basis of bilateral or multilateral agreements or arrangements:

## Commentary

- 9.3 The first sentence of article 9, paragraph 1, can be compared with the corresponding language in article 7, paragraph 1, in which the parties are required to afford one another, pursuant to that article, the widest measure of mutual legal assistance in investigations, prosecutions and judicial proceedings in relation to criminal offences established in accordance with article 3, paragraph 1. In article 9, the scope of cooperation, though still limited to the offences established in accordance with article 3, paragraph 1, is broadened to cover anything that enhances the effectiveness of law enforcement action. In recognition of the differences in legal and administrative systems already referred to (see paragraph 9.2 above), the obligation of parties is to cooperate in ways that are consistent with their respective systems.
- The introductory paragraph of article 9 sets out a general obligation to 9.4 cooperate. The specific obligations which follow in subparagraphs (a)-(e) are, however, all governed by the words "on the basis of bilateral or multilateral agreements or arrangements". That phrase was inserted because of fears that the detailed provisions of those subparagraphs could raise complex problems of national law.<sup>471</sup> It does not nullify the obligatory nature of the following subparagraphs but enables parties to honour their obligations in ways that suit the particular requirements of the pairs of States, or regional or subregional groups of States, concerned. The text refers to "agreements or arrangements"; these words may not be terms of art, but an "agreement" is likely to have been reached expressly and for a particular purpose, while an "arrangement" may reflect practice as it has developed between the relevant parties and their specialist agencies and may include more formal multilateral instruments such as the Scheme for Mutual Assistance in Criminal Matters within the Commonwealth, which lacks full treaty status.

# Paragraph 1, subparagraph (a)

(a) Establish and maintain channels of communication between their competent agencies and services to facilitate the secure and rapid exchange of information concerning all

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>471</sup>Official Records, vol. II ..., Summary records of meetings of the Committees of the Whole, Committee II, 21st meeting, para. 72.

aspects of offences established in accordance with article 3, paragraph 1, including, if the Parties concerned deem it appropriate, links with other criminal activities;

#### Commentary

- 9.5 Subparagraph (a) of paragraph 1 is concerned with channels of communication between the relevant "agencies and services" in each State. In English usage, the words "agency" and "service" may be used interchangeably and seem to have no connotation of the degree of autonomy enjoyed by the particular body. What is important is that there should be direct communication between the agencies, for only in that way can the rapid exchange of information referred to in the text be ensured. The need for security in the exchange of information is also stressed in the text, for the leakage of information not only may prejudice the outcome of a particular case but may also destroy the trust between agencies that is so essential for effective cooperation.
- 9.6 Reference is made in subparagraph (a) to information concerning all aspects of offences. This phraseology is obviously intended to be broadly descriptive; it does not call for a detailed analysis of the component part of the definition of an offence or of degrees of criminality in a particular legal system.
- 9.7 The primary focus of the Convention is illicit trafficking. Such trafficking is often associated with other types of criminal activity, such as fraud and racketeering. Thus, while they are under no obligation to do so, parties are encouraged in subparagraph (a) to exchange information on activities associated with offences established in accordance with article 3, paragraph 1.

# Paragraph 1, subparagraph (b)

- (b) Co-operate with one another in conducting enquiries, with respect to offences established in accordance with article 3, paragraph 1, having an international character, concerning:
  - (i) The identity, whereabouts and activities of persons suspected of being involved in offences established in accordance with article 3, paragraph 1;
  - (ii) The movement of proceeds or property derived from the commission of such offences;

(iii) The movement of narcotic drugs, psychotropic substances, substances in Table I and Table II of this Convention and instrumentalities used or intended for use in the commission of such offences;

## Commentary

- 9.8 One of the principal uses of the channels of communication established in accordance with article 9, paragraph 1, subparagraph (a), is the conduct of inquiries of the types enumerated in subparagraph (b) of that paragraph. The reference to the international dimension was inserted to make it clear that the offences in question were not wholly domestic. The offences are the ones established in accordance with article 3, paragraph 1; the text does not insist that the domestic law of the party whose cooperation is sought should have created the relevant offence (and the safeguard clauses in article 3 mean that this will not always be the case).<sup>472</sup>
- 9.9 Broadly speaking, subparagraph (b), which identifies the international character of many of the offences established in accordance with article 3, paragraph 1, is concerned with inquiries with respect to those offences, the movements of suspected persons, the proceeds and instrumentalities of criminal activity, and narcotic drugs, psychotropic substances and substances listed in Table I and Table II of the Convention. The present wording, arrived at after discussions at the Conference that led to considerable amplification of the text initially proposed, still presents some difficulty and requires close examination.
- 9.10 Insofar as the introductory part of subparagraph (b) is concerned, the word "enquiries" in the English text corresponds to the word "enquêtes" in the French text. In article 7, paragraph 1, the word "investigations" is also rendered as "enquêtes" in French. This again points out the difficulty some States have with the distinction between formal and informal procedures, a problem which led to the provision of careful safeguards in the introductory part of the paragraph (see paragraph 9.2 above).
- 9.11 Clauses (i), (ii) and (iii) of paragraph 1, subparagraph (b), list the subjects on which various types of inquiry may be carried out. The list is not exhaustive. It is quite conceivable, for example, that useful and proper inquiries

 $<sup>^{472}</sup>$ This is most clearly the case in the context of subparagraph (b), clause (iii), where the inquiry may concern instrumentalities intended for future use (including use in the State seeking cooperation).

may be held on the presence (at the site of one phase of a crime) of features known to be characteristic of the *modus operandi* of a suspected offender which do not correspond exactly to any of the items listed in clauses (i), (ii) and (iii). The view was expressed, however, that the intention had been to include all inquiries concerning the offences prescribed.

- 9.12 To that effect the representative of the United States said that the word "concerning" in the introductory part of subparagraph (b) could be misinterpreted. The text adopted by Committee II<sup>473</sup> had provided for the conduct of inquiries involving offences covered by article 3, paragraph 1, as well as for the separate conduct of inquiries with respect to the items now set out as subparagraph (b), clauses (i), (ii) and (iii). The position of the word "concerning" in the final text could be read as making the conduct of inquiries with respect to clauses (i), (ii) and (iii) conditional on the existence of a distinct offence covered by article 3, paragraph 1, which, in the view of the representative, had not been the intention of Committee II. The ideal solution might have been to number as (i) the words in the introductory part, starting with "offences established in accordance with ..." and to renumber the other clauses accordingly. In the view of the representative, the word "concerning" should be interpreted in that way. 474
- 9.13 Subparagraph (b), clause (i), refers to the identity, whereabouts and activities of persons "suspected of being involved in" the offences to which the subparagraph applies. There was some discussion at the Conference about the phrase used to described the persons who were the subject of inquiries. The original wording was "traffickers"; the phrase "suspected persons" was then considered; and finally the Conference adopted the wording used in the present text. This phrase lacks legal precision and is to be interpreted in a broad sense. The French text, however, is much more strictly formulated.<sup>475</sup>
- 9.14 Subparagraph (b), clause (ii), refers to the movement of proceeds or property derived from the commission of relevant offences. Given the definition of "proceeds" as "any property derived from or obtained, directly or indirectly,

 $<sup>^{473}</sup>Official\ Records,$  vol. I ..., document E/CONF.82/12, "Article 6 (E/CONF.82/C.2/L.13/Add.8), sect. IV, para. 32.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>474</sup>Official Records, vol. II ..., Summary records of plenary meetings, 7th plenary meeting, para. 59.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>475</sup>In the French text, the words ".. personnes soupçonnées des infractions" are used.

 $<sup>^{476}</sup>$ See article 1, subparagraph (p).

through the commission" of such an offence, the drafting of the subparagraph is tautological.

- 9.15 The subject of proceeds is dealt with in a number of places in the text of the Convention. Measures to identify, trace, freeze and seize proceeds may be taken as a result of a request under article 5 if the purpose of such measures is eventual confiscation. Mutual legal assistance under article 7 may include identifying or tracing proceeds, property, instrumentalities or other things for evidentiary purposes. The present provision will apply where information is needed on the movement of proceeds but as part of a general investigation and without any immediate intention of using the information in evidence or of initiating proceedings. The provision deals only with information on the "movement" of proceeds, that term can be interpreted to include not merely the geographical location of proceeds from time to time but any change in their nature (for example, their conversion into some other form of property).
- 9.16 Subparagraph (b), clause (iii), is again limited to "the movement" of various types of things, including the substances listed in Table I and Table II<sup>480</sup> and instrumentalities used or intended for future use in the commission of offences as well as narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances themselves. In terms of instrumentalities, the word "movement" brings to mind motor vehicles, ships and aircraft, but materials and equipment referred to in article 13, for example tableting machines and laboratory equipment, may also be moved across national boundaries.

# Paragraph 1, subparagraph (c)

(c) In appropriate cases and if not contrary to domestic law, establish joint teams, taking into account the need to protect the security of persons and of operations, to carry out the provisions of this paragraph. Officials of any Party taking part in such teams shall act as authorized by the appropriate authorities of the Party in whose territory the operation is to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>477</sup>See article 5, paragraph 4, subparagraph (b).

 $<sup>^{478}</sup>$ See article 7, paragraph 2, subparagraph (g).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>479</sup>The term does not appear in the earliest draft (see *Official Records*, vol. I ..., document E/CN.7/1987/2, sect. II, "Article 6").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>480</sup>See below, comments on article 12.

take place; in all such cases, the Parties involved shall ensure that the sovereignty of the Party on whose territory the operation is to take place is fully respected;

## Commentary

- 9.17 The origins of subparagraph (c) can be traced to the work of the intergovernmental expert group that met in 1987 (see Introduction, paragraphs 18-21 above). It was felt desirable to include a provision in the article on cooperation, stressing that operations by the law enforcement personnel of one party should not be conducted on the territory of another party without the explicit consent of the latter party and should always be conducted in ways that did not offend the domestic law of that party.<sup>481</sup> The reference to the joint teams being established "to carry out the provisions of this paragraph" gives very broad scope, for the introductory part of paragraph 1 covers all measures that would enhance the effectiveness of law enforcement action in this field (see paragraph 9.3 above).
- 9.18 The English text requires the joint teams to act "as authorized by" the party in whose territory they act, which suggests quite specific authorization. The French text, however, is more flexible; the teams are directed to work in conformity with the "indications des autorités compétentes", which suggests operational guidelines rather than detailed instructions, a much more practical approach. In practice, joint teams may carry out part of their operations in the territory of a third State. In such cases, the second sentence remains applicable, mutatis mutandis

# Paragraph 1, subparagraph (d)

(d) Provide, when appropriate, necessary quantities of substances for analytical or investigative purposes;

## Commentary

9.19 It should be noted that the word "substances" is not qualified in any way; it is not limited to narcotic drugs, psychotropic substances or the substances listed in Table I and Table II. It will include, for example, colourants,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>481</sup>See *Official Records*, vol. I ..., document E/CN.7/1988/2 (Part II), paras. 150-154; see also comments on article 2 above.

bulking agents and indeed any substance relevant to an investigation. The text as submitted to the Drafting Committee referred to "controlled substances".

## Paragraph 1, subparagraph (e)

(e) Facilitate effective co-ordination between their competent agencies and services and promote the exchange of personnel and other experts, including the posting of liaison officers.

## Commentary

9.20 Subparagraph (e), which at one stage formed a distinct paragraph on its own, is of considerable practical importance, especially in respect of liaison officers. Care has been taken in the drafting to avoid any suggestion that the posting of such officers needs to be on a reciprocal basis; such reciprocity is not found in practice, liaison officers being posted to meet operational needs and not on the basis of some diplomatic analogy. The drafting of the subparagraph emphasizes that the posting of liaison officers is a feature of the cooperation between the competent agencies and services; liaison officers should be drawn from those agencies and services and not from some other source, such as the diplomatic service of a State.

## Paragraph 2

- 2. Each Party shall, to the extent necessary, initiate, develop or improve specific training programmes for its law enforcement and other personnel, including customs, charged with the suppression of offences established in accordance with article 3, paragraph 1. Such programmes shall deal, in particular, with the following:
- (a) Methods used in the detection and suppression of offences established in accordance with article 3, paragraph 1;
- (b) Routes and techniques used by persons suspected of being involved in offences established in accordance with article 3, paragraph 1, particularly in transit States, and appropriate countermeasures;

- (c) Monitoring of the import and export of narcotic drugs, psychotropic substances and substances in Table I and Table II;
- (d) Detection and monitoring of the movement of proceeds and property derived from, and narcotic drugs, psychotropic substances and substances in Table I and Table II, and instrumentalities used or intended for use in, the commission of offences established in accordance with article 3, paragraph 1;
- (e) Methods used for the transfer, concealment or disguise of such proceeds, property and instrumentalities;
  - (f) Collection of evidence;
  - (g) Control techniques in free trade zones and free ports;
  - (h) Modern law enforcement techniques.

## Commentary

9.21 Paragraph 2 deals with the establishment and (unusually for an international convention) the curriculum of training courses for law enforcement (including customs) personnel engaged in the suppression of illicit traffic. The focus here, in contrast with paragraph 3, is on activities within each party.

# Paragraph 3

3. The Parties shall assist one another to plan and implement research and training programmes designed to share expertise in the areas referred to in paragraph 2 of this article and, to this end, shall also, when appropriate, use regional and international conferences and seminars to promote co-operation and stimulate discussion on problems of mutual concern, including the special problems and needs of transit States.

## Commentary

9.22 Paragraph 3 deals with the problem of training from the international perspective. Research and training in the areas described in paragraph 2 are sometimes best undertaken at the regional or international level, and parties are required to assist one another in planning and implementing such programmes.

# Implementation considerations: article 9 as a whole

- As noted above, article 9, paragraph 1, is designed to foster an ethos of 9.23 law enforcement cooperation and to enhance its effectiveness among parties to the Convention. It is anticipated that they will conclude bilateral or multilateral agreements or arrangements to that end. In this sense, paragraph 1 constitutes an acknowledgment of the recent trend towards the formalization of international law enforcement cooperation, a development which, in turn, reflects the fact that the domestic laws of a number of countries place significant limits on the disclosure of sensitive information and on the operation of foreign law enforcement officials within their territory in the absence of such an agreement or arrangement. The wording used, however, affords to each party a considerable degree of flexibility in assessing its requirements and formulating its policy in this sphere. In many instances, of course, States will be able to use existing bilateral relationships. Where new initiatives are required, an examination of existing State practice will often be of value. In some instances, model instruments have been developed to facilitate the process of negotiation. For example, the 1967 session of the Customs Co-operation Council approved a Model Bilateral Convention on Mutual Administrative Assistance for the Prevention, Investigation and Repression of Customs Offences, 482 which has been used by many members of the international community.
- 9.24 Furthermore, in a growing number of cases, States have identified the need to create new regional or subregional structures of various kinds in order to deal more effectively with the law enforcement issues they have in common. One recent example of recourse to progressively more complex and ambitious structures at the subregional level is to be found within the context of the European Union<sup>483</sup> and, in particular, in the phased creation of a central criminal intelligence office known as Europol. The first stage, regulated by a 1993

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>482</sup>Customs Co-operation Council document 15.625 (69).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>483</sup>See, M. Anderson and others, *Policing the European Union* (Oxford, Oxford University Press, 1996).

ministerial agreement, took the form of a Europol Drugs Unit in the Netherlands. It was designed "to act as a non-operational team for the exchange and analysis of intelligence in relation to illicit drug trafficking, the criminal organizations involved and associated money laundering activities affecting two or more Member States". 484 The second stage is reflected in a subsequent agreement to extend the substantive terms of reference of the Unit to certain additional categories of criminal activity of common concern. 485 The final element in the process will be reached with the entry into force of the 1995 Europol Convention. 486 This is a highly complex text, which provides, in considerable detail, for all matters deemed to be of relevance to the functioning of this institution, including the communication of data to third States and third bodies. While it is unlikely that this precedent will, as such, be capable of use elsewhere, it and other manifestations of State practice constitute a potentially valuable source of inspiration for those involved in the elaboration of suitable structures in other areas of the world.

- 9.25 While the focus of this provision is on cooperation between parties, this is not the only way in which the effectiveness of international law enforcement cooperation can be enhanced. In particular, it is important to note the contribution that can be, and consistently is, made by or in conjunction with appropriate international and regional bodies towards the achievement of this goal. That such cooperative activities are fully consistent with the spirit and the object and purpose of article 9, paragraph 1, is evident from, *inter alia*, resolution 1, on the exchange of information, adopted by the 1988 Conference.<sup>487</sup> In that resolution, the Conference recommended that the widest possible use should be made by police authorities of the records and communications system of Interpol in achieving the goals of the Convention.
- 9.26 The many examples of the practical utility of such cooperation include the Regional Intelligence and Liaison Office project of the Customs Cooperation Council (also called the World Customs Organization). This has seen

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>484</sup>Reproduced in Action against Transnational Criminality: Papers from the 1993 Oxford Conference on International and White Collar Crime (London, Commonwealth Secretariat, 1994), p. 156.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>485</sup>See Joint action of 10 March 1995, *Official Journal of the European Communities*, No. L 62.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>486</sup>See Council Act of 26 July 1995, *Official Journal of the European Communities*, No. C 316.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>487</sup>Official Records, vol. I ..., E/CONF.82/14, annex.

the creation, in close collaboration with the United Nations International Drug Control Programme, of regional offices throughout the world, including Asia, Africa, Europe and South America. Such Regional Intelligence and Liaison Office projects, in turn, form the core of an administrative structure intended to improve the gathering, analysis and dissemination of drug and other customs-related enforcement intelligence.

- The articulation of the general obligation to cooperate is followed by an 9.27 enumeration of certain specific areas in which the former must be manifested. The first of these, set out in paragraph 1, subparagraph (a), relates to the establishment and maintenance of channels of communication between the parties' agencies. While it is for each participating country to determine the most appropriate framework in which to meet this obligation, it is evident that the coordination of activities between domestic agencies is as important to the success of international cooperation as is the method adopted to manage the interface with their foreign counterparts. While practice among States has varied, in 1987, in the Comprehensive Multidisciplinary Outline of Future Activities in Drug Abuse Control, States which had not yet done so were urged "to designate the coordinating agency envisaged in article 35 (a) of the 1961 Convention and article 21 (a) of the 1971 Convention" and to provide it with the necessary authority. 488 Given the intimate connection between article 9, paragraph 1, and the provision of mutual legal assistance, it is particularly important that close collaboration between the law enforcement community and the designated authority to be created pursuant to article 7, paragraph 8, should be established from the outset. 489
- 9.28 What will constitute appropriate channels of communication will very much depend on the context. For example, the individual requirements of cooperation between the national agencies of two or more parties may differ significantly from those needed from a practical perspective to suppress smuggling in a frontier region. In the latter case, operational requirements may necessitate the establishment of a framework for particularly intensive and intimate forms of cooperation. For instance, title III, chapter 1, of the 1990 Schengen Convention makes detailed and ambitious provision for police cooperation. This includes an obligation to establish, especially in such frontier

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>488</sup>Report of the International Conference on Drug Abuse and Illicit Trafficking, Vienna, 17-26 June 1987 (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.87.I.18), chap. I, sect. A, para. 233.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>489</sup>See above, comments on article 7, paragraph 8.

zones, "telephone, radio and telex links and other direct connections ...".<sup>490</sup> The parties have also agreed to consider a range of further possibilities including: "(a) exchange of equipment or assignment of liaison officers with suitable radio equipment; (b) extending wavebands used in frontier zones; (c) setting up a joint link between the police and customs services operating in the same zones; (d) co-ordination of their procurement programmes for communication equipment in order ultimately to have standardized, compatible communication systems".<sup>491</sup> Other special cases, such as participation in information exchange networks, may require separate consideration (see paragraph 17.48 below).

- 9.29 A similar flexibility is afforded to parties in determining the most appropriate manner and form for giving effect to the remaining obligations contained in the subparagraphs of article 9, paragraph 1. In formulating national policy in relation to these areas of cooperation, however, and in ensuring that an adequate legislative and administrative framework is in place to accommodate it, it is important to remember that in practice the need for cooperation will often emerge at relatively short notice and in a fluid and constantly evolving operational environment. Hence, a high degree of flexibility is essential if the overall goal of enhancing the effectiveness of law enforcement action to suppress the commission of offences established in accordance with article 3, paragraph 1, is to be achieved.
- 9.30 The nature of this challenge is illustrated in article 9, paragraph 1, subparagraph (c), which treats the issue of the establishment of joint teams, a term that is not further defined in the Convention. The kind of cooperative activity potentially within its scope is very broad. It would range from standing arrangements, such as the so-called "ship rider" agreements, whereby the law enforcement officials of one party work alongside those of another in an operational setting on a regular or continuous basis, to occasional or ad hoc arrangements for the coordination of a particular investigation or the provision or receipt of specialized law enforcement skills in relation to an issue of pressing concern. In the latter context, for example, one party may have a need for forensic auditors, specialists in asset identification, or persons with advanced financial investigative experience, in order to handle effectively the needs of a complex money-laundering case. In many such instances, the establishment of a joint team will result in the physical presence of the law enforcement officials of one State within the territory of another, thus potentially giving rise, as

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>490</sup>1990 Schengen Convention, art. 44, para. 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>491</sup>Art. 44, para. 2.

reflected in the wording of subparagraph (c), to a number of particularly sensitive issues. It is important that a framework be created within which such operations can proceed in a manner fully consistent with the perceived needs of the country where the activity is taking place.

- 9.31 It is also important to formulate national policy in such a manner as to foster a climate conducive to law enforcement cooperation. This can be particularly useful in areas such as the transfer of samples of narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances for analytical and investigative purposes, as envisaged in paragraph 1, subparagraph (d). A number of States, whether as part of formal national programmes or through initiatives on the part of individual forensic laboratories, scientifically profile samples of seized narcotic drugs and/or psychotropic substances. In most cases, such initiatives are aimed at providing wholly strategic intelligence, indicating production or cultivation sources, shifts in trafficking routes, patterns in processing methods and variations in purity levels. The greatest potential for profiling, however, lies in respect of the various forms of amphetamine, where scientific analysis may enable linkages to be established between separate consignments of seized materials. This may help to indicate the true overall scale of illicit production, the levels of involvement on the part of individual criminals and the relationships between criminal organizations and trafficking groups. Ultimately, it may influence the sentences imposed on convicted offenders and extend the scope for confiscation of their assets. Some States also maintain collections of designs, motifs and brand markings from either seized substances or the materials (for example sacking) in which they were contained. From a study of these markings, valuable strategic intelligence is gained and literature may be circulated to enforcement bodies, enabling staff to view for themselves the designs currently associated with particular illicit substances. It is thus highly desirable that the potential gains to be derived from collaboration in this area, as in others, should not be inadvertently frustrated by unintended rigidities in domestic legislation or administrative practice.
- 9.32 Paragraphs 2 and 3 raise fewer and less complex implementation considerations. As has already been noted, paragraph 2 is concerned with the need to develop or improve training programmes in a non-exhaustive listing of subject areas of relevance to the suppression of modern and sophisticated drug trafficking operations (see paragraph 9.21 above). Pursuant to paragraph 3, parties shall also assist one another in the planning and implementation of both training and research in the same areas. Here there is a pressing need to ensure through coordination, both international and domestic, the effective delivery of these activities. A number of international institutions and bodies are carrying

out this task in relation to the provision of technical and other forms of assistance within their mandates. At the global level, however, a central position in this regard has been accorded the United Nations International Drug Control Programme, which has often encouraged and facilitated the conclusion of regional or subregional memoranda of understanding that include undertakings by the participating Governments to enhance cross-border cooperation in the field of drug law enforcement.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>492</sup>See, in particular, Commission on Narcotic Drugs resolution 4 (XXXIV), Economic and Social Council resolution 1991/41 and General Assembly resolutions 45/179, 48/12 and 48/112.

#### **ARTICLE 10**

## International co-operation and assistance for transit States

#### General comments

- 10.1 Under the earlier conventions, no provision concerning the distinct category of transit States was included. At the tenth special session of the Commission on Narcotic Drugs, held at Vienna from 8 to 19 February 1988, the text of the draft Convention was prepared for submission to the Conference. It was argued that the provisions of the draft as it had been developed at that stage were inadequate to meet the needs of transit States. That reflected the evolution of international consensus on the term "transit State". The Commission accordingly prepared a draft article on the matter. The text, with some amendments and the addition of a third paragraph, formed article 10 of the final text.
- 10.2 Running through the discussions was a strong feeling on the part of transit States that, as the representative of the Bahamas put it, countries were used as transit States because of geography or to suit the convenience of traffickers. In his view, the demand markets should bear a proportionate share of the burden of drug interdiction. <sup>494</sup> That was only fair because, as stated by the representative of Costa Rica, a transit State was clearly affected by the illicit movement of drugs through its territory: parts of shipments might be consumed locally and, in view of the enormous sums of money involved, the corruption of domestic officials could become a problem. Such illicit shipments, he said, were a threat to the health, economy, national security and moral integrity of the transit State. <sup>495</sup>
- 10.3 This raises, however, the question of what the term "transit State" means. Article 1, subparagraph (u), defines a transit State as "a State through the territory of which illicit narcotic drugs, psychotropic substances and substances in Table I and Table II are being moved, which is neither the place of origin nor the place of ultimate destination thereof".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>493</sup>See Official Records of the Economic and Social Council, 1988, Supplement No. 3 (E/1988/13), para. 99.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>494</sup>Official Records, vol. II ..., Summary records of plenary meetings, 7th plenary meeting, paras. 61 and 76.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>495</sup>Ibid., para. 76.

- 10.4 This definition and article 10 itself were drafted on the assumption that there was a group of States that could be identified as lying on the normal route between areas of production and areas of consumption. Many of those States were small or had limited resources; a number were island States with territorial seas sometimes of considerable size. It was felt that assistance to such States was an essential part of the fight against illicit trafficking. To some extent, subsequent events have shown the initial assumption to be false. The ingenuity of traffickers in seeking to outwit drug enforcement agencies has led to a situation in which there are fewer "normal" routes and almost any State can be a transit State in respect of certain substances. The notion of "transit traffic", aired in the discussions at the Conference but not adopted in the text of the Convention, could be thought to be more apt to reflect the actual realities of changing patterns of illicit traffic. The need for some States to give practical assistance to others continues to exist, however, and the concept of the transit State remains valuable.
- 10.5 The needs of transit States had already been recognized in article 9, paragraph 3, of the Convention, which provides that the parties must assist one another in planning and implementing research and training programmes for sharing expertise in the areas referred to in paragraph 2 of that article and, to the same end, must also, when appropriate, use regional and international conferences and seminars to promote cooperation and stimulate discussion on problems of mutual concern, including the special problems and needs of transit States. Article 10 goes further, moving from training and discussions at conferences and seminars to the provision of practical and financial assistance.

## Paragraph 1

1. The Parties shall co-operate, directly or through competent international or regional organizations, to assist and support transit States and, in particular, developing countries in need of such assistance and support, to the extent possible, through programmes of technical co-operation on interdiction and other related activities.

## Commentary

10.6 Paragraph 1 identifies the intended beneficiaries as "transit States and, in particular, developing countries in need of such assistance and support"; the reference to developing countries is important in view of the fact, already noted, that patterns of illicit trafficking have rendered the notion of a transit State less

clear. Parties are required to cooperate, either through bilateral arrangements or through international organizations such as the United Nations itself, or regional organizations such as the Pacific Forum, the Association of South-East Asian Nations, the European Union, the Organization of African Unity or OAS. The forms of cooperation are also specified; the programmes of technical cooperation on interdiction and other related activities are to be supported "to the extent possible", a phrase which recognizes that different parties will have a greater or lesser capacity to provide financial assistance or technical expertise. In other respects, paragraph 1 is broadly drafted: the final phrase "and other related activities" was included to avoid any suggestion that there should be a narrow limit to the scope of technical cooperation.

## Paragraph 2

2. The Parties may undertake, directly or through competent international or regional organizations, to provide financial assistance to such transit States for the purpose of augmenting and strengthening the infrastructure needed for effective control and prevention of illicit traffic.

## **Commentary**

10.7 Paragraph 2 enables parties, without imposing any obligation on them, to provide financial assistance to transit States to augment and strengthen the infrastructure needed for effective control and prevention of illicit traffic. Examples are the provision of equipment, such as X-ray machines for use in detecting drug consignments, and the provision of vehicles and communications equipment, which might have a more general use but are intended for use by the appropriate police, customs or drug law enforcement agencies.

## Paragraph 3

3. The Parties may conclude bilateral or multilateral agreements or arrangements to enhance the effectiveness of international co-operation pursuant to this article and may take into consideration financial arrangements in this regard.

# Commentary

10.8 Paragraph 3 is one of the exhortatory paragraphs in the Convention. It imposes no obligation on the parties but indicates that progress in developing

international cooperation was not meant to be frozen at the position reached in 1988. There continues to be scope for enhancing the effectiveness of international cooperation of the sort covered by article 10, and it may take the form of bilateral or multilateral agreements or arrangements. The reference to financial arrangements reinforces the reference in paragraph 2 of article 10, an article intended to focus on the need for parties to receive practical assistance.

#### **ARTICLE 11**

## Controlled delivery

#### General comments

- 11.1 Article 11 of the Convention specifically endorses the investigative technique of controlled delivery at the international level. 496 In article 1, subparagraph (g), controlled delivery is defined as "the technique of allowing illicit or suspect consignments of narcotic drugs, psychotropic substances, substances in Table I and Table II annexed to this Convention, or substances substituted for them, to pass out of, through or into the territory of one or more countries, with the knowledge and under the supervision of their competent authorities, with a view to identifying persons involved in the commission of offences established in accordance with article 3, paragraph 1 of the Convention". 497
- 11.2 Article 11 was the first international text to endorse the practice of controlled delivery. The earlier tradition, reflected, for example, in the 1961 Convention, 498 was to emphasize the seizure of drugs, if not positively to require their seizure; 499 the 1988 Convention in that sense departed radically from earlier practice.
- 11.3 The most obvious attraction of this law enforcement strategy is that it facilitates the identification, arrest and prosecution of the principals, organizers

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>496</sup>Since 1988, similar provisions have been included in a number of regional and subregional multilateral instruments (see, for example, article 13, paragraph 2, of the Convention on Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances, adopted by the South Asian Association for Regional Cooperation Convention in 1990; and article 73 of the 1990 Schengen Convention).

 $<sup>^{497}</sup>$ See above, comments on article 1, subparagraph (g).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>498</sup>For example, article 37.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>499</sup>See the discussion on whether article 37 of the 1961 Convention requires parties to have legislation enabling their competent authorities to seize drugs or whether it imposes an obligation to seize (Commentary on the 1961 Convention, paragraph 1 of the comments on article 37). It was the view of the Secretariat that article 37 did not impose an obligation to seize and that controlled delivery was, therefore, compatible with it and with the other relevant articles (see the background paper prepared by the Division of Narcotic Drugs entitled "Controlled delivery in the fight against the illicit drug traffic" (DND.422/2(3-1) of 18 May 1982).

and financiers in the criminal venture in question rather than merely those involved at a lower level. In the words of the 1987 Comprehensive Multidisciplinary Outline of Future Activities in Drug Abuse Control, the central purpose of this technique is to bring to justice "the individuals, corporations or other organizations involved in the shipment, transportation, delivery, concealment or receipt of an illicit consignment of controlled substances that might not be detected if the intermediaries or couriers were arrested immediately on identification". <sup>500</sup> Such action contributes to the general goal of disrupting and dismantling trafficking organizations.

- 11.4 Increasing use is being made of this valuable procedure in the international context, where it can be used in a variety of circumstances. It is, for example, particularly useful when a shipment of illicit drugs is detected in unaccompanied freight consignments, in unaccompanied baggage, or in the post. Similarly, controlled delivery can be resorted to when the illicit drugs are accompanied by a courier, either when that individual is unaware that the law enforcement authorities have a prior knowledge and interest or when the operation involves the active cooperation of that individual. In the latter case, for example, a courier who has been apprehended may be persuaded, perhaps in exchange for reduced charges or the promise of a lighter sentence, to continue with the delivery of the consignment so that co-conspirators may be identified or further arrests may be made.
- 11.5 Individual countries may have to consider requests from other parties for different forms of active participation in these operations. These might include a request to permit a detected shipment or consignment to be exported from or imported into their jurisdiction or to transit through it. The definition of "controlled delivery" in article 1, subparagraph (g), refers to material passing out of, through or into "the territory" of one or more countries, which includes the land territory, the territorial sea and superjacent airspace. It can cover intended transport over land boundaries, by air or by sea. Moreover, in the context of surveillance on the high seas, it was noted in 1995 in the report of the Working Group on Maritime Cooperation that "the technique of controlled delivery usually produces better law enforcement results than does intervention at sea" and it was consequently recommended that, in appropriate circumstances, the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>500</sup>Report of the International Conference on Drug Abuse and Illicit Trafficking, Vienna, 17-26 June 1987 (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.90.XVII.3), chap. I, sect. A, para. 250.

technique should be given preference over interdictions conducted pursuant to article 17.<sup>501</sup>

11.6 While the natural focus is on the control of illicit consignments of narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances, the definition contained in article 1, subparagraph (g), also extends to shipments of substances listed in Table I and Table II annexed to the 1988 Convention. The value of the technique in this context has also been demonstrated by international practice. The reason, the Economic and Social Council, in its resolution 1995/20, requested Governments to cooperate in controlled deliveries of suspicious shipments in special circumstances if the security of the shipment can be sufficiently ensured, if the quantity and nature of the chemical involved is such that it can be managed feasibly and safely by the competent authorities, and if all States whose cooperation is necessary, including transit States, agree to the controlled delivery.

## Paragraph 1

1. If permitted by the basic principles of their respective domestic legal systems, the Parties shall take the necessary measures, within their possibilities, to allow for the appropriate use of controlled delivery at the international level, on the basis of agreements or arrangements mutually consented to, with a view to identifying persons involved in offences established in accordance with article 3, paragraph 1, and to taking legal action against them.

# Commentary

11.7 While some countries grant wide discretion to prosecution authorities, in others it is regarded as fundamentally important that a prosecution be

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>501</sup>Report of the meeting of the Working Group on Maritime Cooperation, held at Vienna from 19 to 23 September 1994 and from 20 to 24 February 1995 (E/CN.7/1995/13), para. 22. It is essential that the national authority designated pursuant to article 17, paragraph 7, has appropriate lines of communication with its counterparts under article 11 in order to ensure that controlled delivery operations involving its flag vessels are not frustrated by the inadvertent granting of consent for a maritime interdiction to a third party.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>502</sup>See below, comments on article 12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>503</sup>See, for example, *Chemical Action Task Force: Final Report* (Washington, D.C., June 1991), p. 25.

launched whenever there are sufficient grounds for the belief that an offence has been committed within the territory of the State. In those States, the discretion not to prosecute is judged to be one so open to abuse as not to be acceptable. It will be appreciated that States in which a system of mandatory prosecution exists may find it impossible to operate controlled delivery, and the introductory words of paragraph 1 point to this issue.

- 11.8 In the discussions on article 11, the representative of Mexico emphasized that there was no opposition to the use of controlled delivery where national legislation provided for its use and where the technical means to use it were available; but where the necessary sophisticated police organizations and systems were unavailable, the use of the technique could be counterproductive. Her Government would have preferred the text to make no reference to controlled delivery, and the agreed text was the result of a compromise that did not fully satisfy all participants in the Conference. 505
- 11.9 Representatives of other States, having considerable experience regarding the use and advantages of controlled delivery, emphasized the success of the technique in tracing the ringleaders or organizers who directed the work of individual couriers. In the view of those representatives, it was essential that controlled delivery should have a prominent place in the text of the Convention, even if safeguards had to be in place for those parties for whom there were legal or practical difficulties. 506
- 11.10 As a result of the discussions, a redrafted version of the earlier text was produced. It was decided to include two phrases designed to meet the legal and practical difficulties that had been identified. The first was the opening phrase "If permitted by the basic principles of their respective domestic legal systems ...". It was recorded as the opinion of Committee II that that phrase could not be interpreted to mean that controlled delivery operations would require an express provision under national law permitting such operations.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>504</sup>Official Records, vol. II ..., Summary records of meetings of the Committees of the Whole, Committee II, 6th meeting, paras. 18, 19 and 70.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>505</sup>See, for example, the statements by the representatives of Canada and the United Kingdom (*Official Records*, vol. II ..., Summary records of meetings of the Committees of the Whole, Committee II, 6th meeting, paras. 22-23 and 36).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>506</sup>Official Records, vol. I ..., document E/CONF.82/12, "Article 7" (E/CONF.82/C.2/L.13/Add.6), sect. III, para.13; and Official Records, vol. II ..., Summary records of meetings of the Committees of the Whole, Committee II, 8th meeting, paras. 1-20.

- 11.11 The second addition was the phrase "within their possibilities". It was introduced to avoid any party being under an obligation to engage in controlled delivery operations which the party considered itself to be unable to undertake in view of, for example, the technical and organizational circumstances of its police, customs and other services.
- 11.12 The result is a qualified obligation on parties to take the necessary measures to allow for the appropriate use of controlled delivery at the international level. What is "necessary", and when the use of the technique is "appropriate", is a matter of judgement. The text, accordingly, indicates that the operations are to be on the basis of agreements or arrangements mutually consented to.
- 11.13 This implies an obligation to inform, and obtain the consent of, any other party through the territory of which the consignment is to pass, even if the route taken by the consignment changes unexpectedly. The cooperation of the authorities of every such party may be essential, for practical reasons or to provide secure evidence that the consignment was under continuous control. The newest methods of electronic tagging, however, are a forcible reminder of a difficulty that has always been inherent in the notion of controlled delivery, namely, whether it can be distinguished from mere surveillance and whether a surveillance operation can be carried out without the consent required under article 11.
- 11.14 It is difficult to give a clear answer to such questions, given the very fact-specific nature of controlled delivery. It is possible to envisage circumstances in which surveillance of a person suspected of being a courier, for example, might (at least initially) not seem to fall within the definition of controlled delivery. Comity and practical considerations both point to the need for maximum disclosure of information to other relevant parties in all such cases. Parties are under an obligation, subject to the various safeguards set out in article 9, paragraph 1, to cooperate with one another in conducting inquiries on the movement of narcotic drugs, psychotropic substances and substances in Table I and Table II,<sup>507</sup> and this will cover cases on the fringes of the concept of controlled delivery.
- 11.15 The Conference considered a proposal that functions in respect of controlled delivery should be entrusted by each party to a designated national authority, which could enter into the necessary discussions with its counterpart

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>507</sup>See article 9, paragraph 1, subparagraph (b), clause (iii).

in the other party or parties concerned in a possible operation. This proposal reflected the thinking incorporated in the 1987 Comprehensive Multidisciplinary Outline of Future Activities in Drug Abuse Control, in which it was suggested that "in order to ensure that controlled delivery is being effectively co-ordinated at both the national and international levels, States could, if they consider it appropriate, designate an agency or agencies as responsible for such co-ordination". <sup>508</sup> The creation of a treaty obligation to this effect would, however, have led to difficulties in States whose police or customs services were not organized on a centralized basis, and the proposal was not pressed. <sup>509</sup>

11.16 According to paragraph 1, controlled delivery operations are to be undertaken "with a view to identifying persons involved in offences established in accordance with article 3, paragraph 1, and to taking legal action against them". Except for the final clause, the text corresponds to the definition in article 1, subparagraph (g). That clause covers the apprehension of persons involved in illicit traffic; Committee II formally agreed to that interpretation. <sup>510</sup>

#### Paragraph 2

2. Decisions to use controlled delivery shall be made on a case-by-case basis and may, when necessary, take into consideration financial arrangements and understandings with respect to the exercise of jurisdiction by the Parties concerned.

# Commentary

11.17 Paragraph 2 draws upon the experience gained by States in setting up controlled delivery operations. It stresses that each case needs to be given individual consideration. Although the first draft of what was to become article 11 referred to the need to use controlled delivery on a case-by-case basis, it also set out in some detail the obligations of the parties and the consequences

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>508</sup>Report of the International Conference on Drug Abuse and Illicit Trafficking, Vienna, 17-26 June 1987 (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.90.XVII.3), chap. I, sect. A, para. 251.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>509</sup>Official Records, vol. II ..., Summary records of meetings of the Committees of the Whole, Committee II, 6th meeting, passim, and 8th meeting, paras. 48-51.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>510</sup>Ibid., 8th meeting, paras. 17 and 18.

in terms of exercise of jurisdiction.<sup>511</sup> Those provisions were judged too detailed by the intergovernmental expert group at its second session in October 1987 and were omitted.<sup>512</sup>

The text does, however, identify two matters in particular (in addition 11.18 to the obvious operational details) which may need attention. The first of these concerns the financial arrangements, a phrase which may cover a variety of issues. They will include the cost of the operation, bearing in mind not only the resources that need to be deployed but also the needs of each party (for example, for evidence in a particular form). Although there is a link in some cases between controlled delivery and mutual legal assistance, the costs of controlled delivery will not be "ordinary costs" for the purposes of article 7, paragraph 19. "Financial arrangements" will also cover the consequences of any eventual confiscation of the illicit substances (such as measures for their disposal or destruction), which may be postponed and therefore take place in a different State as a result of the decision to resort to controlled delivery. In some States there are established "reward" systems under which enforcement personnel receive special incentive payments, sometimes directly related to the size of a seized consignment; where controlled delivery would effectively prevent the seizure of a consignment, the financial consequences for the personnel concerned may also need to be taken into account. The complexity of these issues makes it desirable that parties have standing arrangements in place wherever possible, as there may be no time for detailed negotiations in an individual case.

11.19 The second matter concerns the exercise of jurisdiction, where again the effect of the controlled delivery operation may create additional bases on which jurisdiction may be founded. For example, the completion of the planned controlled delivery may lead to the commission of offences in a State where no offence would have been committed had the illicit traffic been interrupted at an earlier stage. That State may claim jurisdiction under article 4, paragraph 1, subparagraph (a). It will plainly make for clarity if this possibility is taken into account (if time permits) before any conflicting claims to jurisdiction arise.

<sup>511</sup> Official Records, vol. I ..., document E/CN.7/1987/2, sect. II, art. 7, para. 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>512</sup>Ibid., document E/CN.7/1988/2 (Part II), sect. II, para. 162.

# Paragraph 3

3. Illicit consignments whose controlled delivery is agreed to may, with the consent of the Parties concerned, be intercepted and allowed to continue with the narcotic drugs or psychotropic substances intact or removed or replaced in whole or in part.

#### Commentary

- 11.20 Paragraph 3 was added at the Conference. It reflects the technique that had been promoted by the Customs Co-operation Council (now called the World Customs Organization): controlled delivery effected with the whole or part of the narcotic drugs or psychotropic substances removed, so that, were the operation to fail, there would still be little or no illicit material available to the traffickers <sup>513</sup>
- 11.21 There may, of course, be circumstances which make the proposed substitution impracticable. In addition, on this topic, as on many others, national legislation may impose restrictions on what can be done. There may, for example, need to be some narcotic drugs or psychotropic substances left in the consignment, so as to provide evidence of the illicit nature of the consignment when it reaches its intended destination. The removal of some of the consignment may make prosecution difficult, especially in States whose criminal law has no developed concept of criminal conspiracy. For all these reasons, the text allows a variety of techniques to be used and makes none obligatory. Where other material is substituted, replacing the narcotic drug or psychotropic substance, the text imposes no requirements as to what material should be used.<sup>514</sup>
- 11.22 The text uses the phrase "with the consent of the Parties concerned", which reflects the case-by-case approach emphasized in paragraph 2. The representative of Belgium noted that he understood that phrase as being without

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>513</sup>Official Records, vol. II ..., Summary records of meetings of the Committees of the Whole, Committee II, 6th meeting, para. 23.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>514</sup>In an earlier draft, the words "innocuous substances" were used, but this was judged unsatisfactory, as different legal systems might take different views of what was "innocuous".

prejudice to independent measures to punish offences on national territory and to maintain public order.<sup>515</sup>

11.23 Although paragraph 3 refers only to the substitution of narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances, arrangements for the substitution of other material for precursors could also be made under that paragraph if the circumstances so required (see paragraphs 11.35-11.36 below). The definition of controlled delivery under article 1, subparagraph (g), in fact refers to "illicit or suspect consignments of narcotic drugs, psychotropic substances, substances in Table I and Table II ..., or substances substituted for them".

#### Implementation considerations: article 11 as a whole

- 11.24 Paragraph 1 of article 11 imposes a qualified obligation on States parties to the 1988 Convention to allow for the appropriate use of international controlled delivery (see paragraph 11.12 above). A more robust approach was not deemed to be appropriate, given the significant constitutional and other legal difficulties faced by a number of jurisdictions in authorizing the use of this type of procedure. In recognition of this fact, parties are obliged to facilitate the use of the technique only if such action is "permitted by the basic principles of their respective domestic legal systems". 516
- 11.25 The basic precondition for effective action in this area is to ensure that controlled delivery operations are appropriately sanctioned by the domestic legal system. This will be a particularly pressing matter in States that normally use the legality principle in relation to the exercise of the prosecutorial function. As one commentator has noted, in some such States use of controlled delivery "may actually contravene the obligation of authorities not to condone or tolerate known illegal behaviour". Resort to legislation expressly enabling competent authorities to resort to controlled delivery among States sharing this legal

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>515</sup>Official Records, vol. II ..., Summary records of plenary meetings, 7th plenary meeting, para. 63.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>516</sup>Art. 11, para. 1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>517</sup>See, for example, E. Nadelmann, *Cops across Borders: The Internationalization of U.S. Criminal Law Enforcement* (Pennsylvania State University Press, University Park, Pennsylvania, 1993), pp. 237-238.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>518</sup>D. Stewart, "Internationalizing the war on drugs: the U.N. Convention against Illicit Traffic in Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances", *Denver Journal of International Law and Policy*, No. 18, 1990, p. 400.

tradition has been relatively frequent. By way of contrast, States which traditionally afford a substantial measure of discretion to their prosecutorial authorities will be less likely to require the adoption of specific legislation on controlled delivery. In the latter category, New Zealand provides a rare example of a State that has elected from the outset to place the technique on a statutory basis. <sup>519</sup>

11.26 Recent experience demonstrates, however, that any conclusion that enabling legislation is not required should not be reached lightly. For example, in countries where existing law places an unqualified prohibition on the importation of narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances, law enforcement officials, domestic and foreign, cooperating defendants and others involved in giving effect to a controlled delivery operation may find that certain of their actions could be characterized as unlawful. Such a situation places the individuals concerned in an invidious position and may also have an adverse effect in some jurisdictions on the possibility of securing the conviction of the persons who were the target of the operation. In circumstances where the position of domestic law is uncertain, prudence would suggest the desirability of having recourse to legislation to place the matter beyond doubt.

11.27 National legislative practice in this regard varies considerably in terms of its nature, scope and complexity. In some instances, as in New Zealand, the requisite authority is bestowed directly on members of the relevant law enforcement agency. Perhaps more commonly, law enforcement officials must seek authority from a specified third party. In Malta, for example, the consent of a magistrate or of the Attorney General is required.<sup>521</sup> In some instances, it has also been thought appropriate to subject the granting of authorization to specific conditions; in Cape Verde, for example the law stipulates that the Public Prosecutor's office may issue a relevant order to the police at the behest of the foreign country of destination only if: "(a) there is detailed knowledge of the probable itinerary of the carriers and adequate identification of them; (b) the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>519</sup>See Misuse of Drugs Amendment Act, 1978, sect. 12(1).

<sup>520</sup> See, for example, the 19 April 1995 judgement of the High Court of Australia in the case of *Ridgeway* v. *The Queen*. At the time of writing, new legislation to overcome the difficulties indicated in this instance was under active consideration (see *Crimes Amendment (Controlled Operations) Bill 1995*: *Explanatory Memorandum* (Canberra, Parliament of the Commonwealth of Australia, House of Representatives, 1995); see also *Regina* v. *Latif* (1996) 1 All E.R. 353 for a somewhat more typical common-law approach to such matters).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>521</sup>See Dangerous Drugs Ordinance (Amendment) Act 1994, Act. No. VI of 1994, sect. 38(1).

competent authorities in the countries of destination and the transit countries can guarantee that the substances are secure against theft or diversion; (c) the competent judicial authorities in the countries of destination or transit undertake to provide, as a matter of urgency, full details of the outcome of the operation and the activities of the perpetrators of the crimes, particularly those carried out in Cape Verde". In addition to the imposition of conditions, the nature of which will depend upon local circumstances, traditions and other factors, consideration may be given to the coverage of additional matters such as the provision of an appropriate exemption from criminal liability to law enforcement officials when acts are committed for the purposes of authorized controlled delivery operations. 523

A further issue of great significance is the scope to be afforded to such legislation. Article 1, subparagraph (g), which provides the definition of controlled delivery for the purposes of the Convention, has as its focus operations involving illicit consignments of drugs and substances listed in Table I and Table II. Since the Convention was concluded, however, it has become evident that controlled delivery can also be used in circumstances which were not contemplated by those involved in the negotiation of the 1988 text, for example, in the investigation of money-laundering offences established in accordance with article 3, paragraph 1, subparagraph (b).524 In the view of one specialized intergovernmental body, "the controlled delivery of funds known or suspected to be the proceeds of crime is a valid and effective law enforcement technique for obtaining information and evidence, in particular on international moneylaundering operations". 525 Its use may, for example, assist in the identification of all parties involved in the transaction; assets being purchased and sold; companies and institutions which are facilitating the use of tainted funds; and other related transactions. This and other possible relevant applications of the controlled delivery technique, including the delivery of equipment such as tableting machines and laboratory glassware intended for use in the illicit manufacture of controlled substances, are proper subjects for consideration by those charged with ensuring the implementation of article 11 at the domestic level and are certainly within the spirit of the Convention as a whole.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>522</sup>Law 78/IV/93 of 12 July 1993, art. 33, para. 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>523</sup>See French Law 91.1264.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>524</sup>See above, comments on article 3, paragraph 1, subparagraph (b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>525</sup>Financial Action Task Force on Money Laundering, "Annual report, 1995-1996", Paris, 28 June 1996, annex II, p. 5.

It is also important that domestic legal rules relevant to other provisions of the Convention should be framed in a manner that is sensitive to the needs of controlled delivery operations. For example, in formulating, pursuant to article 12, paragraph 9, domestic legislation and administrative arrangements to give effect to the obligations for international cooperation in respect of substances frequently used in the illicit manufacture of narcotic drugs or psychotropic substances, provision to permit the use of controlled delivery in cases of suspect exports should be included in addition to powers such as seizure or suspension of the transaction. In the area of money-laundering, similar sensitivity is reflected in article 7 of the 1991 Council of Europe Directive on Prevention of Use of the Financial System for the Purpose of Money Laundering, which requires relevant institutions to refrain from carrying out suspicious transactions until they have brought the matter to the attention of the appropriate authorities.<sup>526</sup> It is up to such authorities to give instructions on whether or not to execute the transaction. Where, however, "such a transaction is suspected of giving rise to money laundering and where to refrain in such a manner is impossible or is likely to frustrate efforts to pursue the beneficiaries of a suspected money-laundering operation, the institutions concerned shall apprise the authorities immediately afterwards". It is clear from the drafting history of this article that the decision to give it such a flexible character was a direct response to the perceived needs of the law enforcement community, including the facilitation of controlled money-laundering operations. 527

11.30 It should be stressed that the obligation set out in article 11, paragraph 1, is to make provision for cooperation in international controlled delivery operations in appropriate cases and "on the basis of agreements or arrangements mutually consented to". The centrality of the concept of consent is further emphasized in the remaining provisions of article 11. Similarly, in article 1, subparagraph (g), a defining feature of controlled delivery is that it is undertaken "with the knowledge and under the supervision" of the competent authority of the relevant parties. Failure to obtain such consent would take the operation outside the purview of article 11. If carried out in the territory of a nonconsenting State it would carry the serious risk of being characterized as a violation of article 2, paragraph 3, of the Convention. 528

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>526</sup>Council Directive 91/308/EEC.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>527</sup>See W. Gilmore, *Dirty Money: The Evolution of Money Laundering Counter-Measures* (Council of Europe Press, Strasbourg, 1995), p. 167.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>528</sup>See above, comments on article 2, paragraph 3.

- In paragraph 1, it is anticipated that such consent will be sought and 11.31 obtained pursuant to agreements and arrangements mutually consented to. This wording is intended to reflect the need for some flexibility in this area. As has been pointed out elsewhere: "'Arrangements' denotes the most informal type of interaction, and can include standard practices mutually applied by the competent authorities of each party in such situations, including cooperation among police officials in controlled deliveries without the need for formal written agreements."529 While it is for each party to formulate its own policy on such matters, it should be kept in mind that the opportunity to conduct a controlled delivery operation may arise unexpectedly in an operational environment leaving little time for the conduct of formalities let alone negotiations. For instance, when drugs are detected in the transit baggage of an airline passenger, the decision whether to seize the drugs and arrest the courier or to arrange for a controlled delivery operation will have to be taken on an urgent basis and with very little time in which to act.530 Indeed, the consent of several States may be necessary. A number of possibilities present themselves for consideration, including the use of administrative arrangements such as memoranda of understanding, the conclusion of bilateral or multilateral agreements, reliance on ad hoc determinations made pursuant to domestic legislative authority, or some combination of the above.<sup>531</sup> While the conclusion of individual agreements or arrangements with all other parties to the 1988 Convention is not a realistic possibility, there may be merit in doing so with States with which it is likely that the technique will be used with sufficient frequency. 532
- 11.32 Whether or not requests are considered within the framework of a preexisting agreement or arrangement or are dealt with on an ad hoc basis, it will be necessary to put in place a policy structure that will permit decisions on a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>529</sup>"Report of the United States Delegation to the United Nations Conference for the adoption of a Convention against Illicit Traffic in Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances", 101st Congress, 1st session, Senate, Exec. Rept. 101-15, p. 75.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>530</sup>See, for example, P. D. Cutting, "The technique of controlled delivery as a weapon in dealing with illicit traffic in narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances", *Bulletin on Narcotics*, vol. XXXV, No. 4 (1983), pp. 20-21.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>531</sup>For a statutory provision sanctioning the conclusion of such agreements and arrangements, see Saint Lucia, 1993 Drugs (Prevention of Misuse) Act, Act No. 8 of 1993, sect. 9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>532</sup>The Islamic Republic of Iran, Pakistan and Turkey, acting within the context of their Economic Cooperation Organization, have established a Committee on Illicit Traffic and Drug Abuse, the remit of which includes utilizing the technique of controlled delivery.

case-by-case basis, as contemplated in paragraph 2, to be taken quickly. This might include the need to be satisfied that the request emanates from a competent authority, that it is in the form required, that the proposed controls are adequate, that the operational objective justifies the proposed action, and similar matters. Such decisions may also "take into consideration financial arrangements and understandings with respect to the exercise of jurisdiction by the Parties concerned". <sup>533</sup> This framework must, in turn, be buttressed by appropriate administrative procedures, including designated lines of authority.

- 11.33 Detailed advanced planning of how to ensure the smooth and effective administration and control of duly approved operations is also necessary. Here, procedures for domestic interagency cooperation are vital. For example, difficulties and acute embarrassment can result if a controlled delivery operation undertaken by one authority is inadvertently frustrated by action taken by another authority which was unaware that the operation was in progress. Practice has demonstrated the utility for many countries of designating a centralized agency to facilitate coordination and to prevent confusion, confrontation and risk. In jurisdictions in which such a solution would not be appropriate, the creation of an internal, and possibly institutionalized, coordination mechanism may be worthy of serious consideration. Countries whose law enforcement bodies have had little or no prior experience with the use of this investigative tool should institute training programmes, as required by article 9, paragraph 2, subparagraph (h). Sa4
- 11.34 Resort to this investigative technique is not without risk. For instance, the possibility that the operation might run into difficulties and the shipment might be lost is an important factor to consider in determining whether or not to initiate such an operation or to cooperate in it. Even when an operation is in progress, developments of a practical nature may necessitate its termination at an earlier stage than was originally anticipated. Some States, including Portugal, have taken this possibility into account in their enabling legislation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>533</sup>It is both possible and desirable that the issue of costs be considered in conjunction with that of asset-sharing pursuant to article 5, paragraph 5, subparagraph (b), clause (ii). For a legislative example concerning the exercise of jurisdiction, see Portugal, Decree-Law No. 15/93, article 61, paragraph 2, subparagraph (c); see also "Financial Action Task Force on Money Laundering: report", Paris, 7 February 1990, recommendation No. 39.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>534</sup>See above, comments on article 9, paragraph 2, subparagraph (h). Technical assistance may be required, as contemplated in paragraph 3 of the article. Assistance may also be available through the United Nations system and other international bodies. See also, for example, *United Nations Drug Law Enforcement Training Manual*, chap. V.

Article 61(3) of Decree-Law No. 15/93 of Portugal reads as follows: "Even after the authorization mentioned above has been granted, the criminal police shall intervene if there is an appreciable reduction in security margins or if there is an unexpected change of itinerary or any other circumstances that may jeopardize the future seizure of the substances and the arrest of the perpetrators". 535

11.35 These risks are significantly lessened in a variant of this technique commonly known as "clean controlled delivery". Under this procedure the drugs are removed, in whole or in part, and substances of an innocuous nature are substituted. This option, which is incorporated in paragraph 3, is to be resorted to with the consent of the States concerned. Other factors may also indicate the use of this method in particular circumstances. It may, for example, be necessary for evidentiary or other reasons for a seizure to be effected in the country of origin. Such substitution may in turn, however, affect the viability of intended prosecutions in the country of final destination of the consignment. Resort to it thus requires careful prior consideration. The use of partial as opposed to complete substitution may, however, pose fewer legal difficulties. Consequently this variant appears to be more favoured in practice. In any event, those responsible for implementation of article 11 should examine existing domestic law in order to ascertain whether recourse to legislation would be appropriate in respect of this matter.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>535</sup>Article 73, paragraph 3, of the 1990 Schengen Convention also reserves to the territorial State a right to intervene.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>536</sup>See, for example, Criminal Justice (International Co-operation) Bill: Explanatory Memorandum on the Proposals to Implement the Vienna Convention against Illicit Traffic in Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances (London, Home Office, 1990), p. 30. While article 11, paragraph 3, explicitly contemplates the use of this procedure only in connection with illicit drugs, it has obvious applications in other operational contexts, including, inter alia, those involving substances listed in Table I and Table II and bulk cash shipments.

 $<sup>^{537}</sup>$ In some instances, it may be possible for the State of intended destination to bring alternative charges based on concepts such as conspiracy. See above, comments on article 3, paragraph 1, subparagraph (c), clause (iv).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>538</sup>See, for example, P. D. Cutting, loc. cit., p. 18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>539</sup>For the position taken in Portugal, see article 61, paragraph 4, of Decree-Law No. 15/93. It could be useful to combine consideration of this issue with an examination of changes in evidentiary rules and procedures that would be required to make full and effective use of assistance provided pursuant to requests for mutual legal assistance under the terms of article 7.

11.36 In order to improve the opportunities for substitution, in whole or in part, it is important that substitute materials should be available to law enforcement personnel in those locations where the actual process of substitution is most feasible. Sophisticated materials of similar colour, texture, smell and bulk to narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances have been developed. These are most readily available in the developed States which are often the ultimate destination for the drugs. By way of contrast, the relevant authorities in States where the drugs originated and transited, and where substitution could more easily be effected, may be less likely to have immediate access to such substitute substances. Cooperation pursuant to article 9 would be of obvious value in such cases.

#### **ARTICLE 12**

# Substances frequently used in the illicit manufacture of narcotic drugs or psychotropic substances

#### General comments

- 12.1 The premise underlying article 12, on substances frequently used in the illicit manufacture of narcotic drugs or psychotropic substances, is that the denial of these substances to producers and manufacturers of illicit drugs will result in a reduction in illicit drug manufacture. The substances in question are not defined in the Convention but are listed in Table I and Table II of the Convention (see "Part Five" below). Table I and Table II contain several different types of substances: chemical compounds that are precursors<sup>540</sup> of narcotic drugs or psychotropic substances; other chemicals used mainly as reagents;<sup>541</sup> and solvents.<sup>542</sup> In practice the term "precursor" has been used, not entirely accurately, as a shorthand expression for all those substances<sup>543</sup> listed in Table I and Table II. Substances not listed in Table I or Table II that can be used in illicit drug manufacture may be covered by the generic term "materials" used in article 13 (see paragraphs 13.1 and 13.4 below).
- 12.2 For an understanding of article 12, it is necessary to give some account of the scope of the earlier conventions in respect of two types of substances:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>540</sup>A precursor, *stricto sensu*, is a chemical substance that in the manufacturing process becomes incorporated in full or in part into the molecule of a narcotic drug or psychotropic substance. In any given manufacturing process, a precursor is specific and critical to the preparation of the end product, but other precursors may be used to obtain the same end product by other methods. The term "immediate precursor" is usually applied to a precursor which is only one reaction step away from the end product.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>541</sup>A reagent is a chemical substance that reacts with, or takes part in a reaction with, another substance (usually a precursor) during the processing or manufacturing of a narcotic drug or psychotropic substance. It does not become part of, or contributes to only a small portion of, the molecular structure of the end product.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>542</sup>A solvent is a liquid chemical substance that is used to dissolve or disperse one or more substances. It does not itself react with other substances, nor is it incorporated into the molecular structure of the end product. A solvent may also be used to purify the end product.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>543</sup>It should be noted that names of substances listed in Table I and Table II of the 1988 Convention are simple chemical names. The Tables do not specify which of the isomers, where they exist, should be controlled. It could be argued that the Convention covers all isomeric forms of the substances listed in Table I and Table II, where such isomeric forms exist.

those capable of transformation or conversion into narcotic drugs or psychotropic substances and those other substances commonly used in the illicit manufacture of narcotic drugs or psychotropic substances.

- 12.3 With respect to the first category of substances, from the 1931 Convention onwards there has been a provision for the international control of certain types of "convertible substances". Under article 11 of that Convention, control was limited to products obtained from any of the phenanthrene alkaloids of opium or from the ecgonine alkaloids of the coca leaf.<sup>544</sup> Great advances in chemical synthesis required a fuller treatment in the 1961 Convention.
- Schedule I of the 1961 Convention lists a number of "convertible 12.4 substances", for example "ecgonine, its esters and derivatives which are convertible to ecgonine and cocaine".545 Article 3, paragraph 3, subparagraph (iii), of that Convention enables the scope of the system of control under the Convention to be extended to any substance "convertible into a drug". The range of substances capable of conversion into narcotic drugs is in fact quite large, and the intention of the authors of the 1961 Convention was to deal with substances which illicit traffickers could transform into controlled drugs with relative ease. In this, they were adopting the position taken by the World Health Assembly, which in 1954, in language similar to that of the 1931 Convention, resolved in its resolution WHA 7.7 that "a substance will be considered by the World Health Organization as 'convertible' where the ease of conversion and the yield obtained constitute a risk to public health and that in cases where there is uncertainty whether a substance will fall under this definition, the substance will be considered as 'convertible' rather than as 'not convertible' ".546
- 12.5 No comparable provision was included, however, in the 1971 Convention. Article 2, paragraph 4, of that Convention makes it possible to extend the control of substances by including substances capable of producing a state of dependence and "central nervous system stimulation or depression,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>544</sup>See 1931 Convention, art. 11, paras. 3, 4 and 6; and 1948 Protocol, art. 1, para. 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>545</sup>Other examples are methadone intermediates, pethidine intermediates and thebaine, readily convertible into dependence-producing drugs. On the whole matter, see the explanation by the Chairman of Committee II (*Official Records*, vol. II ..., Summary records of meetings of the Committees of the Whole, Committee II, 11th meeting, paras. 8-14).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>546</sup>See Commentary on the 1961 Convention, paragraphs 3-18 of the comments on article 3, subparagraph (iii).

resulting in hallucinations or disturbances in motor function or thinking or behaviour or perception or mood" or "similar abuse and similar ill-effects" as a substance already included in Schedules I to IV of the Convention. This does not, however, include any substances which themselves have no pharmacological effects but are convertible into psychotropic substances, such as lysergic acid, easily convertible into (+)-lysergide. One of the issues that had to be faced in the preparation of the 1988 Convention was whether and how to fill the gap thus created.

- 12.6 With respect to the second category of substances referred to in paragraph 12.2 above, the 1961 and 1971 Conventions do contain generally worded provisions on substances which may be used in illicit manufacture. In the 1961 text, it is provided that the parties "shall use their best endeavours to apply to substances which do not fall under this Convention, but which may be used in the illicit manufacture of drugs, such measures of supervision as may be practicable". The 1971 Convention contains a similar provision on substances which may be used in the illicit manufacture of psychotropic substances. These provisions are vague, both in their scope (for it was pointed out during the negotiation of the 1961 Convention that water was a substance that could be used in the illicit manufacture of drugs) and in their reference to "such measures of supervision as may be practicable".
- 12.7 An example of a substance that was widely discussed in this context was that of acetic anhydride, used in the conversion of morphine into heroin but also widely used in the chemical industry for entirely licit purposes. It was submitted that what measures of control were practicable would depend, among other things, on whether a party did or did not have chemical and pharmaceutical industries. If there were no such industries, it might be practicable to subject the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>547</sup>See Commentary on the 1971 Convention, paragraphs 7-9 of the general comments on article 2, paragraphs 16-19 of the comments on article 2, paragraph 1, and paragraphs 1-5 of the comments on article 2, paragraph 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>548</sup>1961 Convention, art. 2, para. 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>549</sup>1971 Convention, art. 2, para. 9.

 $<sup>^{550}\</sup>mbox{Commentary}$  on the 1961 Convention, paragraph 2 of the comments on article 2, paragraph 8.

importation or possession of acetic anhydride to control measures that parties would find impracticable where such industries existed.<sup>551</sup>

- 12.8 There was a further factor complicating the issues dealt with in article 12. Once a precursor has been identified, it is a relevant factor in deciding how best to approach the problem of control that alternative substances can easily be substituted for that precursor. Thus, for example, ephedrine and pseudoephedrine can easily be substituted for 1-phenyl-2-propanone, which is used in the illicit manufacture of methamphetamine. Phenylacetic acid, which is readily available for licit use in the chemical industry, is itself a precursor of 1-phenyl-2-propanone, so the illicit drug manufacturer is not obliged to procure 1-phenyl-2-propanone but can synthesize that compound during the manufacturing process. All this illustrates the difficulty of determining how many and which precursors of the immediate precursors should be controlled.
- 12.9 The structure of article 12 is quite complex. Paragraphs 1 and 8 impose obligations on parties, principally in the context of their own territory and legal systems. Paragraphs 9, 10 and 11 focus on international cooperation. Paragraph 14 deals with certain possible exemptions from control. The remaining provisions are procedural, paragraphs 2-7 being concerned with the scheduling or rescheduling of substances in Table I and Table II and paragraphs 12 and 13 with reporting mechanisms.

# Paragraph 1

1. The Parties shall take the measures they deem appropriate to prevent diversion of substances in Table I and Table II used for the purpose of illicit manufacture of narcotic drugs or psychotropic substances, and shall co-operate with one another to this end.

 $<sup>^{551}\</sup>mathrm{Commentary}$  on the 1961 Convention, paragraph 3 of the comments on article 2, paragraph 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>552</sup>Since the adoption of the Convention, national responsibilities and requirements have been further defined in the following resolutions: Commission on Narcotic Drugs resolution 5 (XXXIV) (Official Records of the Economic and Social Council, 1991, Supplement No. 4 (E/1991/24), chap. XIV, sect. A) and Economic and Social Council resolutions 1992/29, 1993/40, 1995/20, 1996/29 and 1997/41. The annually published report of the International Narcotics Control Board on the implementation of article 12 provides an updated list of all relevant United Nations resolutions.

#### Commentary

- 12.10 The provision of paragraph 1 is mandatory; parties must take measures and cooperate with one another with the goal of suppressing the diversion of substances in Table I and Table II (the term "diversion" is not defined in the Convention, but it clearly refers to the transfer of substances from licit to illicit channels). A large measure of discretion is given to individual parties to decide what measures they "deem appropriate" in the light of the particular circumstances they encounter. In exercising their discretion, the parties will need to reflect upon the practices used by illicit traffickers and the various legal, administrative and procedural means available to combat diversion.
- 12.11 All substances in Table I and Table II are manufactured by legitimate companies in many countries for licit industrial and commercial uses. Before controls were imposed on these substances, traffickers could purchase them in large quantities from these legitimate chemical sources with minimum scrutiny by law enforcement officials. As controls become established, traffickers must resort to greater subterfuge to divert the substances from legitimate national distribution channels or from international trade; some of their methods are fraudulent, others merely deceptive. They are frequently combined in elaborate schemes. Diversion methods commonly used include the following:
- (a) The fact that traffickers are the actual customers in a transaction to purchase chemicals is often concealed through the use of middlemen or brokers, or by resorting to non-existent companies or creating "front" companies, whose business appears to justify the ordering of chemicals;
- (b) Traffickers have used existing legitimate companies, which they induce to order chemicals on their behalf or intimidate or coerce into doing so. The company may then order more controlled chemicals than it really needs to make a specific product and sell the surplus to the trafficker; or it may order an amount of controlled chemical necessary for a legitimate product and, in parallel, order a non-controlled chemical from another source which can be used in substitution for the controlled chemical. While all records would thus appear to indicate that the controlled chemical was used in legitimate manufacture, it was in fact sold to the trafficker and the substitute chemical was used for the legitimate product;
- (c) A range of documents is involved in the purchase and shipment of precursors: order contracts, bank transfers and other proof of payment, bills of lading, authorizations to import or export etc. Traffickers have been known to

use documents that have been forged or altered, counterfeited, stolen, unlawfully purchased, or issued to another person. Import permits have sometimes been used over and over again to import more than the authorized quantities of chemicals;

- (d) Techniques commonly used for smuggling other items have been adapted for the smuggling of chemicals, for example by mislabelling containers, using concealed compartments in containers, and bypassing customs checkpoints. Traffickers will attempt to use general descriptive names, such as "solvent" or "thinner", on shipping documents and labels rather than the chemical name that will alert officials to the fact that it is a controlled substance. By shipping chemicals through circuitous routes or processing them through free ports or free trade zones, traffickers have opportunities to repackage chemicals, change documents, and re-route shipments to disguise their identity and obscure the final destination. Bribery of officials at many levels, under a variety of circumstances, is often a related problem.
- 12.12 Traffickers are quick to take advantage of loopholes in chemical control laws. They can avoid official scrutiny if they can purchase chemicals from sources, or route them through intermediaries, in countries that have not yet placed the chemicals under control. Also, where chemical control regimes have threshold amounts specified for each controlled substance, traffickers can avoid the control measures by purchasing amounts below the threshold level from several sources. There are also many substitute chemicals that can be used in illicit drug laboratories. In many cases, the substitute chemicals are not yet controlled and traffickers can purchase them without too much trouble. When traffickers have sources from which they can divert chemicals, they may obtain considerably more chemicals than required for their immediate needs. By stockpiling the extra chemicals, traffickers can continue to produce illicit drugs at times when diverting chemicals is more difficult or costly.
- 12.13 In the light of all this, parties must take whatever measures they judge to be necessary to prevent the diversion of the substances under control. This requirement is not automatically satisfied by merely establishing a legal basis for control of these substances. It also requires the establishment of an appropriate administrative framework, working mechanisms and standard operating procedures. The discretion given to each party recognizes that parties are in the best position to assess their particular role and circumstances regarding substances diverted for illicit drug manufacture. Some countries manufacture and export these substances and yet have no illicit drug manufacture within their borders. Others have illicit drug laboratories but manufacture none of the

diverted substances. Yet others are involved only as transit countries in the international trade and movement of the substances. Regardless of their respective roles, however, all countries share the responsibility for preventing diversion. Within geographical regions, in particular, control measures should be harmonized so that weak controls in one country do not jeopardize the efforts of neighbouring countries where controls may be more effective. In its report on the implementation of article 12, the International Narcotics Control Board includes recommendations for action to be taken by Governments in preventing diversion (see paragraph 12.48 below).

12.14 Paragraph 1 refers expressly to international cooperation. Just as the illicit trafficking of narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances is seen as a matter of grave international concern, so the diversion of substances used to produce or manufacture these drugs is of equivalent international concern. Therefore, in determining what diversion-control measures to take, parties must look beyond their national interests and take into account the effects that such diversions have on other countries' efforts and the worldwide diversion situation. In addition, it should be noted that paragraph 8 of article 12, which applies where substances in Table I and Table II are manufactured or distributed within the territory of a party, amplifies the duty to prevent diversion.

# Paragraph 2

2. If a Party or the Board has information which in its opinion may require the inclusion of a substance in Table I or Table II, it shall notify the Secretary-General and furnish him with the information in support of that notification. The procedure described in paragraphs 2 to 7 of this article shall also apply when a Party or the Board has information justifying the deletion of a substance from Table I or Table II, or the transfer of a substance from one Table to the other.

# Commentary

12.15 The first sentence of paragraph 2 corresponds to article 3, paragraph 1, of the 1961 Convention, a reference to "the Board" replacing the reference to the World Health Organization (WHO). By virtue of this article, the Board has been given new functions relating to possible modification in the scope of control of substances in Table I and Table II.

12.16 The process leading to the modification of Table I and Table II (which in practice is still referred to as the "scheduling" process, the term "schedule" being derived from the text of the 1961 Convention) may be initiated by either a party or the Board when it has information which, in its opinion, may require that a substance be included in Table I or Table II. The same procedure also applies for the deletion of a substance from Table I or Table II, 553 or for the transfer of a substance from one Table to the other. To initiate the process, a party, or the Board, notifies the Secretary-General and furnishes him with information in support of that notification.

#### Paragraph 3

3. The Secretary-General shall transmit such notification, and any information which he considers relevant, to the Parties, to the Commission, and, where notification is made by a Party, to the Board. The Parties shall communicate their comments concerning the notification to the Secretary-General, together with all supplementary information which may assist the Board in establishing an assessment and the Commission in reaching a decision.

# Commentary

12.17 In paragraph 3, the procedure to be followed once notification has been received by the Secretary-General is prescribed. In practice, the Secretary-General transmits the notification not only to parties to the 1988 Convention but to all countries. <sup>554</sup> As the text makes clear, the fullest information should be provided in response to the notification; for the assessment to be undertaken, the Board relies on complete data from as large a geographical area as possible. The process leads, in accordance with the following paragraphs of the article, to an

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>553</sup>Lack of evidence of diversion is not in itself a sufficient basis for the initiation of the process of deletion from Table I or Table II; lack of evidence of diversion may be the result of effective controls.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>554</sup>See "Scheduling of substances under article 12 of the 1988 United Nations Convention against Illicit Traffic in Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances: the role of INCB, and terms of reference, guidelines and rules for the INCB Advisory Expert Group" (INCB/WP.1/Rev.1), para. 3.

assessment by the Board and a decision by the Commission on Narcotic Drugs. 555

## Paragraph 4

- 4. If the Board, taking into account the extent, importance and diversity of the licit use of the substance, and the possibility and ease of using alternate substances both for licit purposes and for the illicit manufacture of narcotic drugs or psychotropic substances, finds:
- (a) That the substance is frequently used in the illicit manufacture of a narcotic drug or psychotropic substance;
- (b) That the volume and extent of the illicit manufacture of a narcotic drug or psychotropic substance creates serious public or social problems, so as to warrant international action,

it shall communicate to the Commission an assessment of the substance, including the likely effect of adding the substance to either Table I or Table II on both licit use and illicit manufacture, together with recommendations of monitoring measures, if any, that would be appropriate in the light of its assessment.

# Commentary

- 12.18 In paragraph 4, the Board is required to prepare and send to the Commission an assessment of the substance that is the subject of the notification; the assessment is to include information on the likely effect of adding the substance to either Table I or Table II on both licit use and illicit manufacture. The Board is also required to make recommendations on the monitoring measures, if any, that would be appropriate in the light of its assessment.
- 12.19 To assist it in making its assessment, the Board has established an Advisory Expert Group to study the substances under review. In its decision 48/26, by which it established the Advisory Expert Group, the Board

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>555</sup>See article 12, paragraph 7, on reviewing a decision of the Commission.

referred to "the need for special outside expertise similar to that established by WHO for its scheduling functions under the 1961 and 1971 Conventions".

The Board's guidelines<sup>556</sup> for the review of substances under article 12, paragraph 4, identify the factors to be considered. When the Advisory Expert Group (and later the Board) makes an assessment to determine whether the volume and extent of illicit manufacture of narcotic drugs or psychotropic substances associated with the substance under review create serious public health or social problems, such as to warrant international control, it must consider the following: the status of international control of the narcotic drug or psychotropic substance; public health and social problems caused by the illicitly manufactured narcotic drug or psychotropic substance, with reference to the scheduling decisions of the Commission on Narcotic Drugs, any evaluation by WHO, and any other more recent information supplementing the reports of the Commission and WHO;557 trends in the illicit manufacture and trafficking of the narcotic drug or psychotropic substance since it was placed under control, particularly with reference to the volume, extent, frequency and source of seizures of the narcotic drug or psychotropic substance; and the current status of abuse of the narcotic drug or psychotropic substance. 558

12.21 On the basis of the findings of the Advisory Expert Group, the Board first establishes, as far as possible on the basis of the information available, the public health or social problems related to the illicitly manufactured narcotic drug or psychotropic substance associated with the substance under review. It must consider whether the volume and extent (including the number of States involved) of illicit manufacture of that narcotic drug or psychotropic substance create a sufficiently serious public health or social problem so as to warrant international action. It must next examine the significance, importance and frequency of use of the substance under review in illicit drug manufacture, also

<sup>556</sup>INCB/WP.1/Rev.1.

<sup>557</sup>The Board is not required to make an entirely new assessment of the public health and social problems but may rely on WHO reviews and the scheduling actions of the Commission, supplemented by current information, if any.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>558</sup>See paragraph 6 of the guidelines (INCB/WP.1/Rev.1).

taking into account the possibility and ease of using alternate substances.<sup>559</sup> The Board must consider the effect of scheduling on legitimate commercial and industrial use of the substance, as well as on illicit drug manufacture, by examining the extent, importance and diversity of the licit use of the substance under review, and the possibility and ease of using alternate substances for both licit and illicit purposes.

#### Paragraph 5

5. The Commission, taking into account the comments submitted by the Parties and the comments and recommendations of the Board, whose assessment shall be determinative as to scientific matters, and also taking into due consideration any other relevant factors, may decide by a two-thirds majority of its members to place a substance in Table I or Table II.

#### Commentary

12.22 After its review, the Board communicates the findings of its assessment to the Commission on Narcotic Drugs. The Commission, taking into account comments submitted by parties and any other relevant factors, then considers the comments and recommendations of the Board. As far as scientific matters are concerned, the Board's assessment is determinative, even as the assessment of WHO is determinative as to medical and scientific matters in respect of scheduling psychotropic substances.<sup>560</sup> The qualified majority of two thirds for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>559</sup>Factors to be taken into account during the process include, but are not limited to:

<sup>(</sup>a) The chemical function and suitability as well as the actual use of the substance in the illicit drug manufacturing process;

<sup>(</sup>b) The number and types of narcotic drugs or psychotropic substances that are illicitly manufactured using the substance and the number of different methods or chemical processes actually used for illicit drug manufacture;

<sup>(</sup>c) The volume and frequency of seizures, the geographical origin of seizures and seized materials and the diversity of trafficking routes and practices involving the substance under review;

<sup>(</sup>d) The number and chemical suitability of alternative substances which are available to substitute for the substance under review and which have actually been used to manufacture narcotic drugs or psychotropic substances, the frequency of reports of such usage, and the ease of conversion and actual conversion of alternative substances or chemically related substances to the substance under review.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>560</sup>1971 Convention, art. 2, para. 5.

the Commission to decide to schedule a substance in Table I or Table II is the same as that required for scheduling psychotropic substances.<sup>561</sup> In both cases, the two-thirds majority refers to the total membership of the Commission regardless of how many members participate in the vote.<sup>562</sup> By way of contrast, in the absence of any special provision in the 1961 Convention, scheduling decisions relating to narcotic drugs are taken by a simple majority of Commission members present and voting, in keeping with rule 58 of the rules of procedure of the functional commissions of the Economic and Social Council.<sup>563</sup>

#### Paragraphs 6 and 7

- 6. Any decision of the Commission taken pursuant to this article shall be communicated by the Secretary-General to all States and other entities which are, or which are entitled to become, Parties to this Convention, and to the Board. Such decision shall become fully effective with respect to each Party one hundred and eighty days after the date of such communication.
- 7. (a) The decisions of the Commission taken under this article shall be subject to review by the Council upon the request of any Party filed within one hundred and eighty days after the date of notification of the decision. The request for review shall be sent to the Secretary-General, together with all relevant information upon which the request for review is based.
- (b) The Secretary-General shall transmit copies of the request for review and the relevant information to the Commission, to the Board and to all the Parties, inviting them to submit their comments within ninety days. All comments received shall be submitted to the Council for consideration.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>561</sup>1971 Convention, art. 17, para. 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>562</sup>See Commentary on the 1971 Convention, paragraphs 1-2 of the comments on article 17, paragraph 2.

 $<sup>^{563}</sup>E/5975/Rev.1$ ; see Commentary on the 1971 Convention, paragraph 3 of the comments on article 17, paragraph 2.

(c) The Council may confirm or reverse the decision of the Commission. Notification of the Council's decision shall be transmitted to all States and other entities which are, or which are entitled to become, Parties to this Convention, to the Commission and to the Board.

#### Commentary

Paragraphs 6 and 7 set out the procedure governing communication of the Commission's decisions and the right of a party to request the review of a decision. Article 3 of the 1961 Convention and article 2 of the 1971 Convention<sup>564</sup> included similar provisions on the communication of scheduling decisions and requests for review. Under both previous conventions, the Secretary-General was required to communicate the decisions of the Commission to "all States Members of the United Nations, to non-member States Parties to this Convention, to the World Health Organization and to the Board". Paragraph 6 of the present article refers instead to "all States and other entities which are, or which are entitled to become, Parties to this Convention". The expression "other entities" covers the regional economic integration organizations entitled to sign the Convention and become a party to it, through an act of formal confirmation.<sup>565</sup> Paragraph 7 of article 12 is closely patterned after article 2, paragraph 8, of the 1971 Convention. The commentary on that provision of the 1971 Convention will therefore, mutatis mutandis, be relevant. It should be noted that a decision for which review has been requested remains in force until the determination of the review

# Paragraph 8

8. (a) Without prejudice to the generality of the provisions contained in paragraph 1 of this article and the provisions of the 1961 Convention, the 1961 Convention as amended and the 1971 Convention, the Parties shall take the measures they deem appropriate to monitor the manufacture and distribution of substances in Table I and Table II which are carried out within their territory.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>564</sup>See Commentary on the 1961 Convention, comment on article 3, paragraphs 7 and 8; and Commentary on the 1971 Convention, comment on article 2, paragraphs 7 and 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>565</sup>See article 27.

- (b) To this end, the Parties may:
- (i) Control all persons and enterprises engaged in the manufacture and distribution of such substances;
- (ii) Control under licence the establishment and premises in which such manufacture or distribution may take place;
- (iii) Require that licensees obtain a permit for conducting the aforesaid operations;
- (iv) Prevent the accumulation of such substances in the possession of manufacturers and distributors, in excess of the quantities required for the normal conduct of business and the prevailing market conditions.

#### Commentary

- 12.24 It will be recalled that, under paragraph 1 of this article, the parties must take the measures they deem appropriate to prevent diversion of substances in Table I and Table II used for the purpose of illicit manufacture of narcotic drugs or psychotropic substances and are required to cooperate with one another to that end. Paragraph 8 expands on this general responsibility and lists some specific measures that parties may take.
- 12.25 In paragraph 8, parties are required to take the measures they deem appropriate to monitor the manufacture and distribution<sup>566</sup> of substances in Table I and Table II which are carried out within their territory.<sup>567</sup> The purpose of this requirement is to suppress diversion of substances from manufacture and domestic distribution that might be used for the illicit manufacture of drugs within the party's territory or smuggled to other countries for use in illicit laboratories. This will commonly involve the application of regulatory controls on legitimate industry and trade, together with measures to detect existing or potential diversion and provide for appropriate corrective action.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>566</sup>This includes domestic distribution of substances that have been imported.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>567</sup>In paragraph 9, parallel requirements are established to monitor and control international trade in substances in Table I and Table II.

- 12.26 Paragraph 8 provides a number of options for the control of manufacture and domestic distribution. In the case of some parties, it might be judged unnecessary to have a comprehensive system for licensing manufacture as opposed to distribution; and the requirements for licences for controlling premises and permits for controlling operations may be inappropriate to a given party's administrative system. As in the case of paragraph 1 of the article, however, there is a degree of obligation on the parties, who must take whatever action appears appropriate (see paragraph 12.10 above). Parties should therefore continuously evaluate their actions relating to the diversion of substances in Table I and Table II and modify their controls as appropriate. In accordance with article 3, criminal sanctions should be adopted for intentional commission of offences related to diversion of the substances.
- 12.27 Regulatory controls should include requirements that chemical operators (including manufacturers, importers, exporters, wholesalers and retailers) identify purchasers, maintain records and make them available to authorities, notify authorities of suspicious orders and of loss or disappearance of substances, and request authorities to issue permits for specific types of transactions. Competent authorities should be authorized to inspect the records and facilities of such chemical operators, to deny or revoke licences and permits on reasonable grounds, to suspend or seize shipments of substances on the basis of evidence of possible diversion, to conduct controlled deliveries of substances, and to employ other investigative measures as appropriate.
- 12.28 As paragraphs 8 and 9 are in practice closely related, additional detailed comments on possible control measures are also found in the section below.

# Paragraph 9

- 9. Each Party shall, with respect to substances in Table I and Table II, take the following measures:
- (a) Establish and maintain a system to monitor international trade in substances in Table I and Table II in order to facilitate the identification of suspicious transactions. Such monitoring systems shall be applied in close co-operation with manufacturers, importers, exporters, wholesalers and retailers, who shall inform the competent authorities of suspicious orders and transactions.

- (b) Provide for the seizure of any substance in Table I or Table II if there is sufficient evidence that it is for use in the illicit manufacture of a narcotic drug or psychotropic substance.
- (c) Notify, as soon as possible, the competent authorities and services of the Parties concerned if there is reason to believe that the import, export or transit of a substance in Table I or Table II is destined for the illicit manufacture of narcotic drugs or psychotropic substances, including in particular information about the means of payment and any other essential elements which led to that belief.
- (d) Require that imports and exports be properly labelled and documented. Commercial documents such as invoices, cargo manifests, customs, transport and other shipping documents shall include the names, as stated in Table I or Table II, of the substances being imported or exported, the quantity being imported or exported, and the name and address of the exporter, the importer and, when available, the consignee.
- (e) Ensure that documents referred to in subparagraph (d) of this paragraph are maintained for a period of not less than two years and may be made available for inspection by the competent authorities.

# Commentary

- 12.29 Unlike the measures listed in paragraph 8, subparagraph (b), the measures listed in paragraph 9 are mandatory on all parties. The paragraph is largely concerned with international trade. It will be noted, however, that subparagraph (b) of paragraph 9, relating to seizures, is couched in altogether general terms and does not contain any requirement that the substance in question should have been the subject of international trade.
- 12.30 Apart from the provision on seizure in subparagraph (b), paragraph 9 deals with three other matters. The first, dealt with in subparagraph (a), is the establishment of a monitoring system in respect of international trade in any substance in Table I or Table II of the 1988 Convention. The text is formulated in terms of an obligation on manufacturers, importers, exporters, wholesalers and retailers to inform the competent authorities of suspicious orders and

transactions. Since the Convention itself can, of course, only impose obligations upon the parties, what is clearly intended is that the national legislation implementing the Convention should impose such a duty. The text also reflects the fact that an effective monitoring system does indeed require the close cooperation of manufacturers, importers, exporters, wholesalers and retailers. This entails having competent authorities establish and maintain liaison with appropriate elements of the chemical industry through a two-way flow of information, enabling the authorities to familiarize themselves with the nature of the industry and its practices and to provide the industry with information on regulatory requirements and compliance expectations. In this connection, it may be useful to note that the United Nations maintains a list of national manufacturers of narcotic drugs, psychotropic substances, and substances in Table I and Table II of the Convention, which is published annually in the ST/NAR.4 symbol series.

- 12.31 The competent authorities therefore need to have strategic intelligence on the chemical industry and on the nature and extent of diversion. They need, through surveys, registration requirements or other means, to identify companies involved in the manufacture, distribution, and import and export of the substances, as well as to establish access to data from law enforcement agencies on the amounts and types of diverted substances seized at clandestine laboratories and on other activities, methods of diversion, and illicit drug manufacturing processes. These requirements are also relevant for the systems of control of manufacture and domestic distribution set out in paragraph 8.
- 12.32 The authorities of an exporting country have an obligation, derived from paragraph 1 of article 12, to take those measures they deem appropriate to ensure that exports are not diverted into the illicit traffic. This responsibility may go beyond merely notifying the authorities of an importing country of a substance being exported, in accordance with paragraph 9, subparagraph (c). For example, the authorities of the exporting country may wish to make an independent determination that a consignment is legitimate. Other parties may be able to assist by providing information to the authorities of the exporting country on the legitimacy of the consignment. In addition, effective pre-shipment verification and exchange of information at the international level to prevent diversion of chemical substances to the illicit manufacture of narcotic drugs and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>568</sup>See the International Narcotics Control Board "Guidelines for use by national authorities in preventing the diversion of precursors and essential chemicals" and the Board's annual report on the implementation of article 12.

psychotropic substances may be usefully coordinated through recourse to the services of the International Narcotics Control Board.

- 12.33 The second matter dealt with, in subparagraph (c) of paragraph 9, is a crucial aspect of the international cooperation required under paragraph 1, namely the notification of suspicious transactions to the competent authorities of other parties. That obligation is to notify, as soon as possible, 569 the competent authorities and services of the parties concerned (including the party into which the substance is imported, or from which it is exported, and transit States along the route it takes) if there is reason to believe that a substance in Table I or Table II being imported, exported or transited is destined for the illicit manufacture of narcotic drugs or psychotropic substances. The obligation is to give notification of that fact, but the subparagraph goes on to specify the provision of certain particular information. In effect the notifying State must state the grounds for its belief that the transaction is for illicit purposes. Importing country authorities should use the information they receive to investigate carefully the importers and consignees who are involved in the importation of the relevant substances and should provide the authorities of the exporting country with any feedback; that is implicit in the general notion of international cooperation.
- 12.34 The text of subparagraph (c) of paragraph 9 should be read in conjunction with that of paragraph 10, which goes further, but only in respect of substances in Table I; where a particular importing party has so requested, it must be informed of every import to its territory in respect of any such substance, whether or not suspicious circumstances exist. As concerns the informal extension of this requirement to substances in Table II, see paragraph 12.38 below.
- 12.35 The third matter, dealt with in subparagraphs (d) and (e) of paragraph 9, concerns documentation. Every party must require that imports and exports of substances in Table I or Table II be properly labelled and documented. Insofar as commercial documents such as invoices, cargo manifests, customs, transport and other shipping documents are concerned, subparagraph (d) specifies as essential contents the names, as stated in Table I or Table II, of the substances being imported or exported, the quantity being imported or exported, and the name and address of the exporter, the importer and, when available, the consignee. National legislation may usefully require other information, for

 $<sup>^{569}</sup>$ Compare paragraph 10, subparagraph (a), where the information is required to be given prior to the export of the substance.

example the names of any brokers, and the routing of each shipment, including locations and expected dates of export, trans-shipment and import; and Governments may also wish to use the specific codes in the Harmonized System of Customs Nomenclature of the World Customs Organization, introduced to facilitate reference to the substances listed in Table I and Table II. In subparagraph (e), parties are required to ensure that the commercial documents are "maintained" for a period of not less than two years and "may be made available" for inspection by the competent authorities. In the English text, it would have been better to replace the word "maintained" by "retained" or "kept" (in the French text, the word "conservés" is used), and the phrase "and may be made available" by "and kept available", to avoid the suggestion of optionality implicit in the word "may". 570

#### Paragraph 10

- 10. (a) In addition to the provisions of paragraph 9, and upon request to the Secretary-General by the interested Party, each Party from whose territory a substance in Table I is to be exported shall ensure that, prior to such export, the following information is supplied by its competent authorities to the competent authorities of the importing country:
  - (i) Name and address of the exporter and importer and, when available, the consignee;
  - (ii) Name of the substance in Table I;
  - (iii) Quantity of the substance to be exported;
  - (iv) Expected point of entry and expected date of dispatch;
  - (v) Any other information which is mutually agreed upon by the Parties.
- (b) A Party may adopt more strict or severe measures of control than those provided by this paragraph if, in its opinion, such measures are desirable or necessary.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>570</sup>Compare the French text: "tenus à la disposition des autorités compétentes pour examen".

#### Commentary

12.36 The introductory words of subparagraph (a) originally proposed at the Conference were as follows:

"In addition to the provisions of paragraph 9, each Party from whose territory a substance in [Table I]<sup>571</sup> is to be exported shall ensure that, prior to such export, the following information is supplied by its competent authorities to the competent authorities of the importing country:"

This proposal met with considerable opposition, notably from the member States of the European Economic Community. The main criticism was levelled at the requirement that information be supplied every time a substance was to be exported, even if there was no reason to suspect that it was to be used for illicit purposes. There was considerable international trade in many of the substances for entirely proper purposes, such as the use of ephedrine in the manufacture of medical drugs. It was suggested that there should be a system of selective information, applying perhaps to substances listed in both Table I and Table II, but only in cases where there was suspicion of intended illicit use. This would, however, have added little if anything to the obligation created under paragraph 9, subparagraph (c).

- 12.37 After much discussion, the present text was adopted. It will be seen that it is limited to substances listed in Table I and obliges the exporting party to provide information in respect of every export transaction only when requested to do so by the importing country in a communication to the Secretary-General. That ensures that parties that experience difficulties in monitoring imports of substances in Table I and require comprehensive information are able to obtain it. Subparagraph (a), clause (v), reinforces this by enabling the parties concerned to add to the information specified in the subparagraph.
- 12.38 Subparagraph (b) provides that a party may adopt more strict or severe measures of control than those provided under paragraph 10 if, in its opinion, such measures are desirable or necessary to prevent diversion of substances in Table I. Economic and Social Council resolution 1995/20, on measures to strengthen international cooperation to prevent diversion of substances listed in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>571</sup>At that stage referred to as "List A".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>572</sup>Official Records, vol. II ..., Summary records of meetings of the Committees of the Whole, Committee II, 10th meeting, paras. 8-47, and 11th meeting, paras. 1-25.

Table I, provides for further specific measures related to the exchange of information under paragraph 10. It should also be noted that a party may, pursuant to article 24, adopt more strict measures of control than those provided in article 12. Thus, a party may request that a pre-export notification be sent for some or all substances listed in Table II. A number of States have made such a request and, in such cases, the Secretary-General informs all Governments that, at the request of the notifying Government, a pre-export notification for substances listed in Table II is also required. The annually published report of the Board on the implementation of article 12 lists all States which have made such requests with respect to substances in Table II.

#### Paragraph 11

11. Where a Party furnishes information to another Party in accordance with paragraphs 9 and 10 of this article, the Party furnishing such information may require that the Party receiving it keep confidential any trade, business, commercial or professional secret or trade process.

#### Commentary

12.39 Although the Conference rejected a proposal that would have enabled a party to refuse to supply information which would disclose any trade, business, commercial or professional secret or trade process, <sup>573</sup> it agreed to allow the parties supplying such information to require the party receiving it to maintain confidentiality. That confidentiality should be maintained in such a way as to facilitate cooperation and not hinder the exchange of information.

# Paragraph 12

- 12. Each Party shall furnish annually to the Board, in the form and manner provided for by it and on forms made available by it, information on:
- (a) The amounts seized of substances in Table I and Table II and, when known, their origin;
- (b) Any substance not included in Table I or Table II which is identified as having been used in illicit manufacture

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>573</sup>Ibid., 15th meeting, paras. 1-14.

of narcotic drugs or psychotropic substances, and which is deemed by the Party to be sufficiently significant to be brought to the attention of the Board;

(c) Methods of diversion and illicit manufacture.

#### Commentary

12.40 Paragraph 12 provides that parties submit annual reports to the International Narcotics Control Board and identifies the specific information that must be provided. Parties provide such information by completing a form, entitled "Annual information on substances frequently used in the illicit manufacture of narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances", currently referred to as "form D". They should provide appropriate additional information, for example on stopped and suspended shipments, voluntarily cancelled shipments, clandestine laboratory seizures and other types of information indicative of diversion. Parties are also requested to provide, on a voluntary basis, data on licit trade in, and use of, substances listed in Table I and Table II. More details on the value of such information can be found in paragraph 12.54 and on practical feedback from the annex to "form D" ("red list") in paragraph 12.55 below.

# Paragraph 13

13. The Board shall report annually to the Commission on the implementation of this article and the Commission shall periodically review the adequacy and propriety of Table I and Table II.

# Commentary

12.41 Under the 1961 and 1971 Conventions,<sup>574</sup> the International Narcotics Control Board submits an annual report on its work to the Economic and Social Council through the Commission on Narcotic Drugs. The first such report was submitted in 1968 and, through the years, it has become customary for the Board's annual report also to reflect the general trends of the international situation with respect to drug abuse and illicit trafficking, based on the information at the Board's disposal. The report called for under paragraph 13 of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>574</sup>1961 Convention, art. 15, and 1971 Convention, art. 18.

article 12 of the 1988 Convention is issued as a supplement to that annual report of the Board.<sup>575</sup>

12.42 The duty of the Commission on Narcotic Drugs to review the adequacy and propriety of Table I and Table II arises independently of the procedure followed by the Commission under paragraphs 3-6 of this article with respect to the scheduling process. If in the course of such a review the Commission was of the opinion that adjustments were required to either Table, it could bring that fact to the attention of the Board. The Board could then decide whether to initiate the process to schedule, reschedule or delete substances as provided for under paragraph 2 of article 12.

## Paragraph 14

14. The provisions of this article shall not apply to pharmaceutical preparations, nor to other preparations containing substances in Table I or Table II that are compounded in such a way that such substances cannot be easily used or recovered by readily applicable means.

#### Commentary

12.43 Earlier conventions contained provisions exempting from at least some measures of control certain preparations containing a controlled substance where

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>575</sup>There are currently three supplements to the annual report of the Board concerning, respectively, narcotic drugs, psychotropic substances and precursors. For example, the *Report of the International Narcotics Control Board for 1997* (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.98.XI.1) was supplemented by the following technical reports:

<sup>(</sup>a) Narcotic Drugs: Estimated World Requirements for 1998; Statistics for 1996 (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.98.XI.2);

<sup>(</sup>b) Psychotropic Substances: Statistics for 1996; Assessments of Medical and Scientific Requirements for Substances in Schedules II, III and IV (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.98.XI.3);

<sup>(</sup>c) Precursors and Chemicals Frequently Used in the Illicit Manufacture of Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances: Report of the International Narcotics Control Board for 1997 on the Implementation of Article 12 of the United Nations Convention against Illicit Traffic in Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances of 1988 (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.98.XI.4).

 $<sup>^{576}</sup>$ Subparagraph (c) of article 21, entitled "Functions of the Commission", stipulates that the Commission "may call the attention of the Board to any matters which may be relevant to the functions of the Board".

the substance could not readily be recovered from the preparation.<sup>577</sup> The early drafts of the 1988 Convention did not contain any similar provision.<sup>578</sup> As a result of consultations at the open-ended intergovernmental expert group meeting held in June and July 1987, a new paragraph was added to exclude from the control measures of what was to become article 12 "preparations intended for therapeutic use" containing substances in Table I or Table II. 579 At the second meeting of the expert group, in October 1987, the view was expressed that the exemption should not be limited to preparations intended for therapeutic use "as there were other preparations which also had legitimate industrial uses". 580 In broadening the basis for exemption it was agreed to add as a qualification that the non-pharmaceutical preparations should be "compounded in such a way that such substances cannot be easily used or recovered by readily applicable means in sufficient quantity to permit significant illicit processing or manufacture of a narcotic drug or a psychotropic substance". 581 That text, with the subsequent deletion at the Conference of the last phrase beginning with the words "in sufficient quantity", was the one finally adopted. 582

12.44 Contrary to the case with the 1961 and 1971 Conventions, the term "preparation", perhaps intentionally, is not defined in the 1988 Convention. If the notion of a pharmaceutical preparation seems clear enough, the use of the same term "preparation" to refer to what might otherwise be known as industrial or commercial products has led to some questioning of the drafters' intentions. Indeed, the other, non-pharmaceutical preparations cover a spectrum of goods ranging from nail polish removers and paint thinners to commercial blends, solutions and mixtures used for purposes as diverse as water purification systems and industrial cleaning. It has been argued that the qualifying phrase

<sup>5771961</sup> Convention, art. 3, para. 4, and Schedule III, and 1971 Convention, art. 3, para. 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>578</sup>See, for example, the draft of article 8 (later article 12) prepared by the Secretariat for the open-ended intergovernmental expert group (DND/DCIT/WP.1, pp. 93-94).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>579</sup>Interim report of the open-ended intergovernmental expert group meeting on the preparation of a draft convention against illicit traffic in narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances, (DND/DCIT/WP.12), p. 28.

<sup>580</sup> Official Records, vol. I ..., document E/CN.7/1988/2 (Part II), para. 196.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>581</sup>Ibid., document E/CONF.82/3, p. 83.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>582</sup>Ibid., document E/CONF.82/12, para. 20; and *Official Records*, vol. II ..., Summary records of meetings of the Committees of the Whole, Committee II, 16th meeting, paras. 28-37.

beginning with the words "compounded in such a way" applies only to these other preparations and not to preparations for therapeutic use. While the drafting history (see paragraph 12.43 above) confirms that the phrase was not present in the original text, which was limited to pharmaceutical preparations, logic would seem to dictate that pharmaceutical preparations for therapeutic use should also be compounded in such a way that the substances in Table I and Table II that they contain cannot be easily or economically recovered. As mentioned in paragraph 12.43 above, similar wording is used in a similar context in both the 1961 and 1971 Conventions; and, if at the time of the negotiation of the Convention purchase of such preparations for large-scale diversion was not yet attested to, it has since occurred. It would therefore seem to be more appropriate not to exempt any pharmaceutical preparation containing a substance in Table I or Table II which can be easily used in illicit drug manufacture.

12.45 As already noted, the term "preparation" is not defined in the Convention, but the structure of the text reflects the assumption that a non-pharmaceutical preparation is something "compounded". Natural products that may contain substances in Table I or Table II<sup>584</sup> would seem not to be "preparations" in that sense and so would seem not to be within the exclusion created by paragraph 14.

## Implementation considerations: article 12 as a whole

#### General comments

12.46 Article 12 is one of the fundamental building blocks of the effort to combat the illicit traffic in narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances. Its effective implementation by parties is of critical importance and some complexity. As has been pointed out elsewhere: "The procurement of chemicals necessary to manufacture drugs is one of the few points where ... drug trafficking intersects with legitimate commerce. Regulation of legitimate commerce to deny traffickers the chemicals they need is one of our most valuable

<sup>583</sup>This is also the interpretation of the Board. For a proposal for action that extends the qualifying clause to pharmaceutical preparations, see *Precursors and Chemicals Frequently Used in the Illicit Manufacture of Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances: Report of the International Narcotics Control Board for 1995 on the Implementation of Article 12 of the United Nations Convention against Illicit Traffic in Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances of 1988* (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.96.XI.4), para. 62.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>584</sup>An example is sassafras oil, which contains safrole, a substance listed in Table I.

tools in the battle against drug criminals." Even before becoming parties to the 1988 Convention, States should make a positive contribution to global efforts against drug trafficking by applying its terms on a provisional basis, as far as they are able to do so. In that connection, Governments should establish practical working mechanisms and operating procedures to monitor the licit movement of precursors, whether or not they have already in place any comprehensive legislation for the control of substances listed in Table I and Table II. Such working mechanisms and procedures should incorporate the activities of all the relevant regulatory and enforcement authorities involved in precursor control. They should also encompass the work of industry to elicit relevant data from chemical producers, distributors and trade organizations, having due regard for lawful commercial interests.

12.47 In considering the establishment of appropriate and effective legislation, working mechanisms, operating procedures and cooperative measures, it will be important to bear in mind the close relationship between this article and other provisions of the Convention. The obligation to criminalize the relevant activities listed in article 3, paragraph 1, subparagraph (a), clause (iv), and subparagraph (c), clause (ii), is particularly important in this regard. In addition, under article 5, each party is required to adopt such measures as may be necessary to confiscate, inter alia, "materials and equipment or other instrumentalities" and to provide international cooperation to that end. Similarly, certain obligations contained in article 9 are directly applicable to this area of concern. These include cooperation between law enforcement agencies and services in conducting inquiries relating to offences with an international dimension relating to the movement of substances listed in Table I and Table II. See Other articles containing explicit treatment of matters arising within

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>585</sup>Chemical Action Task Force: Status Report for the 1992 Economic Summit (Washington, D.C., June 1992), p. 11.

 $<sup>^{586}</sup>$ See above, comments on article 3, paragraph 1, subparagraphs (a), clause (iv), and (c), clause (ii).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>587</sup>See above, comments on article 5, paragraph 1, subparagraph (b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>588</sup>See above, comments on article 5, paragraph 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>589</sup>See above, comments on article 9, paragraph 1, subparagraph (b), clause (iii). See also article 9, paragraph 2, subparagraph (c), establishing a qualified obligation to establish law enforcement training programmes regarding monitoring of the import and export of, *inter alia*, substances in Table I and Table II.

this sphere and directed to parties<sup>590</sup> are: article 14 (Measures to eradicate illicit cultivation of narcotic plants and to eliminate illicit demand for narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances);<sup>591</sup> article 18 (Free trade zones and free ports);<sup>592</sup> and article 19 (The use of the mails).<sup>593</sup> Those charged with implementation should also be alert and sensitive to the fact that other mechanisms set out in the Convention can also be of critical value and directly relevant to the taking of appropriate measures to combat the diversion of substances listed in Table I and Table II to illicit use. This is perhaps especially so in the context of controlled delivery, an important law enforcement tool dealt with in article 11.<sup>594</sup> In its resolution 1995/20, the Economic and Social Council requested Governments "to cooperate in controlled deliveries of suspicious shipments in special circumstances if the security of the shipment can be sufficiently ensured, if the quantity and nature of the chemical involved [are] such that it can be managed feasibly and safely by the competent authorities, and if all States whose cooperation is necessary, including transit States, agree to the controlled delivery". Above all, the closeness of the relationship with article 13 relating to measures to prevent the diversion of materials and equipment should be kept in focus from the outset.

12.48 Steps should be taken to ensure that the legislative and regulatory regime that is instituted, in addition to achieving comprehensive coverage, is sufficiently flexible to accommodate a constantly evolving reality. As seen above, the diversion methods known to be used by trafficking networks are many and varied. The sophistication of a number of the criminal actors concerned and the resources at their disposal are such that new and ingenious methods or variants of existing techniques will emerge from time to time as they seek to evade established controls. Similarly, trafficking networks are adept at identifying weaknesses and loopholes in chemical control laws. As effective implementation of countermeasures in one State creates an inhospitable environment for their activities, they will seek out and exploit States that have no such measures in place or where the measures are insufficient. Consequently,

 $<sup>^{590}</sup>$ Certain provisions of the Convention impose obligations on the Commission and the Board (see articles 21 and 22 and the comments thereon).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>591</sup>See below, comments on article 14, paragraph 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>592</sup>See below, comments on article 18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>593</sup>See below, comments on article 19, paragraph 2, subparagraph (b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>594</sup>See above, comments on article 11.

all members of the international community are vulnerable, and States that may not yet have been targeted invite unwelcome attention unless they take prompt action. In this respect, the Board's annually published reports on the implementation of article 12, which identify the latest trends in illicit traffic in substances in Table I and Table II and examine Government action taken to implement the provisions of that article, also contain recommendations and proposals for practical steps that should be taken to prevent diversion. Governments may accordingly wish to consult those reports for further guidance on how they may strengthen controls.

12.49 A clear illustration of the dynamic nature of the process is provided by the changes made since 1988 to the list of substances contained in Table I and Table II. Following intensive discussions in 1991 involving a number of interested countries, 595 a strong sentiment emerged that the number of controlled substances should be increased from the original 12 to 22. Acting upon a notification submitted by one party to the Secretary-General, the International Narcotics Control Board conducted its first assessment of substances for possible change in the scope of control. In 1992, following the assessment and recommendations of the Board, the Commission on Narcotic Drugs decided to include the additional substances in the Tables. The decision came into effect in November 1992.596 That development underlines the usefulness of having a facility for taking action at the level of domestic law when substances are added or deleted without the need to resort to primary legislation or other complex processes in order to achieve compliance. Such a facility would also be advantageous in controlling non-scheduled substances should such chemicals be identified as problematic in domestic illicit manufacture or should the Government elect to act on the basis of the special surveillance list established by the Board (see paragraph 13.4 below).

12.50 Those responsible for the domestic implementation of article 12 will also have to decide whether to restrict national measures to the obligations and requirements reflected therein or to expand the scope of their activities to take cognizance of relevant developments since 1988. It will be recalled that article 12 is, in essence, a broad framework, resulting from a compromise struck in the light of various national concerns and sensitivities and reflecting the state

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>595</sup>See Chemical Action Task Force: Final Report (Washington, D.C., June 1991).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>596</sup>The five chemicals added to Table I were: *N*-acetylanthranilic acid; isosafrole 3,4-methylenedioxyphenyl-2-propanone; piperonal; and safrole. Five chemicals were also added to Table II, namely: methyl ethyl ketone; toluene; potassium permanganate; sulphuric acid; and hydrochloric acid.

of knowledge of the diversion problem at that time. Since then, the Economic and Social Council and the Commission on Narcotic Drugs,<sup>597</sup> among others,<sup>598</sup> have sought to reflect the enhanced international understanding of relevant matters by, *inter alia*, formulating recommendations for action which reflect current best practice, often upon recommendations made by the Board. This authoritative guidance translates the general requirements of article 12 into specific actions which allow full implementation of controls. Article 24 also provides States parties with the requisite authority to adopt more strict or severe measures than are required by article 12 should they consider them appropriate to give effect to an evolving international consensus or developments at the national level.<sup>599</sup>

### General prerequisites for control

- 12.51 As emphasized already (see paragraphs 12.10-12.15 above), article 12, paragraph 1, imposes an obligation on each party to take whatever measures it deems to be necessary to prevent the diversion of the substances under control. In order to meet this requirement, not only does a legislative basis for control need to be established but an appropriate administrative framework is needed, as well as action by the competent authorities. Paragraph 1 refers expressly to a requirement to provide international cooperation to prevent diversion.
- 12.52 The identification and entrusting of appropriate powers and responsibilities to a national competent authority or authorities are fundamental to success in the discharge of those general obligations, which are set out in further detail in paragraphs 8-10. In this context, consideration should be given to the direct involvement of those departments or organs of government with the most intimate working knowledge of the chemical industry. Other ministries, particularly health ministries, need to be involved. The advantages are that they will as a rule have considerable experience in conducting controls with respect

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>597</sup>See, for example, Economic and Social Council resolutions 1992/29, 1993/40, 1995/20, 1996/29 and 1997/41; see also Commission on Narcotic Drugs resolution 5 (XXXIV) and the annually published report of the International Narcotics Control Board on the implementation of article 12, which contains an updated list of all relevant resolutions by United Nations bodies.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>598</sup>See, for example, the Model Regulations to Control Chemical Precursors and Chemical Substances, Machines and Materials (CICAD/PRECUR/doc.8/94), approved by the Inter-American Drug Abuse Control Commission at its seventh regular session; see also *Chemical Action Task Force: Final Report* (Washington, D.C., June 1991).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>599</sup>See below, comments on article 24.

to drugs. Many States have determined that a large number of their agencies should be involved in diversion control. In such cases it is essential to put in place an effective system to facilitate coordination between them all. It is particularly important that this system should extend to the relevant law enforcement agency or agencies.<sup>600</sup>

- 12.53 There is also an important external dimension to this issue. Experience has demonstrated the value of direct and effective international cooperation in this area. To that end, the Economic and Social Council, in its resolution 1992/29, invited the International Narcotics Control Board to publish and maintain a directory of competent authorities under article 12. The directory, which contains the names, addresses and telephone and facsimile numbers of the relevant administrative and law enforcement authorities entrusted with control of precursors under the provisions of article 12, is published by the Secretariat and updated periodically.<sup>601</sup> The information has proved to be of considerable practical value in situations ranging from the verification of the licit nature of intended exports to the identification and prevention of suspicious transactions.<sup>602</sup> It is essential that those staffing designated contact points be in a position "to give, receive and act upon information relating to precursor and essential chemicals".<sup>603</sup>
- 12.54 It is also of considerable importance for the effective functioning of international cooperation that counterpart agencies should have an adequate knowledge of the respective roles and responsibilities entrusted to each

 $<sup>^{600}</sup>$ See, for example, "Chemical Action Task Force Expert Meeting on Heroin, February 10-14, 1992, Kuala Lumpur: report of proceedings", para. 7.1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>601</sup>In addition to the section on competent authorities under article 12 of the 1988 Convention, the directory, which is entitled *Competent National Authorities under the International Drug Control Treaties* (ST/NAR.3/1997/1), also contains sections listing national authorities with competence under article 7 (Mutual legal assistance) and article 17 (Illicit traffic by sea) of that Convention, as well as authorities competent to issue import and export certificates and authorizations for narcotic drugs (article 18 of the 1961 Convention) and psychotropic substances (article 16 of the 1971 Convention).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>602</sup>See Precursors and Chemicals Frequently Used in the Illicit Manufacture of Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances: Report of the International Narcotics Control Board for 1994 on the Implementation of Article 12 of the United Nations Convention against Illicit Traffic in Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances of 1988 (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.95.XI.1), paras. 67-72.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>603</sup>See "Chemical Action Task Force Expert Meeting on Heroin, February 10-14, 1992, Kuala Lumpur: report of proceedings", para. 7.4.

designated authority in relation to the implementation of specific control measures. The Economic and Social Council specified accordingly that the directory called for in its resolution 1992/29 (see paragraph 12.53 above) should also contain "a summary of the regulatory controls that apply in each State", especially with regard to the importation and exportation of substances listed in Table I and Table II of the 1988 Convention. Importing countries that require individual import certificates for the import of substances listed in Table I and Table II should provide the Board with copies of authentic documents. All parties will need to comply with the terms of Council resolution 1992/29 and update the information as appropriate, if the general goal of effective cooperation is to be achieved.

In article 12, it is envisaged that parties will also cooperate with the International Narcotics Control Board. Of particular relevance in this context is the obligation, contained in paragraph 12 of the article, for each party to the Convention to furnish the Board, on an annual basis, with certain categories of information. For this purpose, the Board has adopted a standard form, known as "form D", entitled "Annual information on substances frequently used in the illicit manufacture of narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances". The information to be furnished pursuant to paragraph 12 consists of: (a) the amounts of substances listed in Table I and Table II that have been seized and, when known, their origin; (b) information on substances not included in Table I or Table II which are identified as being used in the illicit manufacture of drugs and which are deemed by the party concerned to be sufficiently significant to be brought to the attention of the Board; and (c) methods of diversion and illicit manufacture. On the basis of the analysis of this data and other information made available to it, the Board reports annually to the Commission, as required under paragraph 13, on the implementation of article 12. A report published by the Board in accordance with article 23 of the Convention<sup>604</sup> contains more general information on precursor control.

12.56 An annex to "form D" known as the "red list" contains an alphabetical listing of alternative names, including trade names if any, of substances listed in Table I and Table II. It may facilitate identification of those substances by

 $<sup>^{604}</sup>$ See above, comments on article 12, paragraph 13; see also below, comments on article 23.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>605</sup>See "Annex to form D ('red list')" of January 1997, which, like "form D" itself, is updated annually. The list is comparable to similar lists of narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances issued by the Board and known, respectively, as the "Yellow List" and the "Green List".

Government authorities. For example, regulatory and administrative authorities may find it useful to check the names of chemical substances appearing on applications for authorizations for export or import, and law enforcement and customs authorities to check documentation accompanying consignments of chemicals.

12.57 Since the Convention was concluded, however, it has become clear that the Board in fact requires certain additional categories of information in order to discharge effectively its responsibilities in this critical area. For this reason, the Economic and Social Council, in paragraph 8 of its resolution 1995/20, urged Governments to inform the Board of the quantities of substances listed in Table I of the Convention that they have imported, exported or trans-shipped, and encouraged them "to estimate their annual licit needs". 606

In paragraph 9 of the same resolution, the Council also requested the 12.58 Board to develop and strengthen its database in order to assist Governments in preventing diversion of substances listed in Table I. 607 That database is being used to assist Governments in verifying the legitimacy of orders in respect of individual shipments. An electronic communication network has been established between the secretariat of the Board and other competent regional and intergovernmental bodies, such as Interpol, the World Customs Organization and the European Union, as well as interested Governments. Working group meetings have been held on the use of international databases and on guidelines for use by national authorities in preventing the diversion of precursors and essential chemicals. The guidelines have been transmitted to all Governments, as noted by the Economic and Social Council in its resolution 1993/40. This is but one example of the benefit to be derived by competent authorities from the establishment of cooperative and information exchange relationships with international institutions and regional bodies involved in the monitoring and control of the diversion of substances listed in Table I and Table II. The Board's report on the implementation of article 12 includes updated information on trends in the illicit trafficking and use of precursors, as well as guidance and advice on preventing diversion.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>606</sup>See also paragraph 10 of that resolution and, in general, the recommendations and proposals for further action contained in the annually published report of the Board on the implementation of article 12 of the 1988 Convention.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>607</sup>See also Economic and Social Council resolution 1993/40.

## Prevention of diversion and international monitoring

- 12.59 As noted at some length above, the general obligations contained in paragraph 1 of article 12 to prevent the diversion of the substances in Table I and Table II and to cooperate internationally to that end are set out in detail in paragraphs 8, 9 and 10, which list both optional and mandatory measures suitable for that purpose. In practice, those responsible for the implementation of article 12 will have to focus primarily on those paragraphs.
- Paragraph 8 requires parties to take such measures as they deem appropriate to monitor the manufacture and distribution of the relevant substances carried out within their own territory. Subparagraph (b) then enumerates several measures that States may wish to take in that regard. By way of contrast, paragraph 9, which contains a number of mandatory measures, is largely directed at international trade, whereas paragraph 10 articulates certain contingent obligations in respect of exports of substances listed in Table I. While the distinction between domestic and international measures embodied in the Convention is clear in theory, in practice the two elements are very closely related. Without proper control at the domestic level (for example over manufacturers and exporters), international trade cannot be controlled adequately, and without proper control of international trade (for example of imports), it will not be possible to control domestic distribution. Given the interrelationship between the domestic and the international dimensions, and the growing acceptance in practice of the need to take some or all of the measures listed in paragraph 8, subparagraph (b), in order to construct an effective system, it is likely that many States will wish to address themselves to both dimensions in tandem.
- 12.61 The central precondition to effective action is to put in place an appropriate legal framework and administrative system capable of meeting both obligations under the Convention and specific domestic conditions in a manner that is sensitive to the requirements of legitimate commerce. To that end, States may wish to consider the ad hoc model legislation prepared by and available from the United Nations International Drug Control Programme; the recommendations contained in resolutions of the Economic and Social Council, based on the Board's proposals, as well as the Board's independent recommendations; and the growing body of domestic measures taken by other parties, as well as the product of relevant international and regional initiatives. The latter include, for example, the Inter-American Drug Abuse Control Commission's Model Regulations to Control Chemical Precursors and Chemical Substances,

Machines and Materials,<sup>608</sup> the relevant European Community directives and regulations (as amended)<sup>609</sup> and the recommendations of the Chemical Action Task Force.<sup>610</sup>

Regulatory controls, appropriate for the activities in question and the role or potential role of each State in the diversion process, should be applied to the manufacture, distribution, import, export and end-use of the substances listed in Table I and Table II. Regulatory controls commonly include requirements for chemical operators (which include manufacturers, importers, exporters, wholesalers and retailers) to identify purchasers, to maintain records and make them available to authorities, to notify authorities of suspicious orders as well as of the loss or disappearance of substances, and to request authorities to issue permits for specific types of transactions. For import and export authorizations, it may prove useful to have recourse to the model application forms annexed to the International Narcotics Control Board "Guidelines for use by national authorities to prevent diversion of precursors and essential chemicals". (In Economic and Social Council resolution 1993/40 of 27 July 1993, the Council urged Governments to consider the guidelines fully and, where appropriate, to apply them.) The competent authorities will also need to be provided with relevant powers to inspect records and facilities of such chemical operators, to deny or revoke licences and permits on reasonable grounds, and to suspend or seize shipments of substances on evidence of possible diversion. They may also need authority to conduct controlled delivery operations and to employ other investigative measures. Consideration will also have to be given to a range of related issues, including the role, if any, to be played by the criminal law in this sphere, the desirability of having recourse to concepts such as corporate criminal liability, and the appropriateness of attaching sanctions to negligent conduct. The requisite power to maintain the confidentiality of trade, business, commercial or professional secrets or trade processes obtained as a consequence of the provision of cooperation pursuant to paragraphs 9 and 10 should also be

<sup>608</sup>CICAD/PRECUR/doc.8/94.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>609</sup>For internal trade within the European Community, see Council Directive 92/109/EEC of 14 December 1992, as amended by Council Directive 93/46/EEC of 22 June 1993; for external trade, see Council Directive 3677/90 of 13 December 1990, as amended by Council Directive 2093/97 of 24 October 1997.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>610</sup>See Chemical Action Task Force: Status Report for the 1992 Economic Summit (Washington, D.C., June 1992) and Chemical Action Task Force: Final Report (Washington, D.C., June 1991); see also, for example, Economic and Social Council resolution 1993/40.

ensured.<sup>611</sup> Furthermore, experience has demonstrated the need to address the activities of brokers and other intermediaries. As the Board stated in 1994: "Governments should consider any additional measures that they may need to take to ensure that the activities of brokers handling precursors are controlled in the same way as are the activities of manufacturers, importers, exporters, wholesalers and retailers generally".<sup>612</sup>

12.63 Given the direct impact of these measures on those engaged in legitimate commerce, close consultation with representatives of the various sectors involved is to be recommended. Such cooperation, which is mandated by paragraph 9, subparagraph (a), in respect of the identification of suspicious transactions (see paragraph 12.30 above), is now commonplace at the national level. In 1994, the World Customs Organization signed a memorandum of understanding with the International Council of Chemical Industry Associations aimed at helping member States of the World Customs Organization "to facilitate the monitoring of trade in precursors, and to improve communication between industry and, in particular, customs authorities, through the more effective exchange of information between the various parties concerned". 614

12.64 An effective system of diversion prevention and monitoring should also encompass and put into effect a further range of specific actions. Insofar as

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>611</sup>See article 12, paragraph 11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>612</sup>Precursors and Chemicals Frequently Used in the Illicit Manufacture of Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances: Report of the International Narcotics Control Board for 1994 on the Implementation of Article 12 of the United Nations Convention against Illicit Traffic in Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances of 1988 (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.95.XI.1), para. 183.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>613</sup>See, for example, the *Code of Conduct to Protect against the Diversion of Chemicals into the Illicit Production of Drugs* issued by the Plastics and Chemicals Industries Association and the Scientific Suppliers Association of Australia Inc. and sponsored by the New South Wales Police Service. On occasion it might be desirable to have in place a single code of conduct to regulate relationships between industry and government across a wider sphere than illicit drug manufacture. It might also include other goods subject to export licensing such as chemical and biological weapons (see, for example, the Code of Conduct on Chemicals Subject to Trade Controls or Voluntary Requirements, issued by the United Kingdom Chemical Industries Association, as revised in July 1995).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>614</sup>Precursors and Chemicals Frequently Used in the Illicit Manufacture of Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances: Report of the International Narcotics Control Board for 1994 on the Implementation of Article 12 of the United Nations Convention against Illicit Traffic in Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances of 1988 (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.95.XI.1), para. 38.

export activities are concerned, these will include, in addition to the reporting of suspicious transactions, notice to the authorities of the exporting country by the exporter of the intended routine export of substances. In addition, and as required under paragraph 9, subparagraph (*d*), such exports must be properly labelled and documented (see paragraph 12.35 above).<sup>615</sup>

12.65 The authorities should be empowered or required to use national and international data systems and other available sources of information in order to determine the legitimacy of the consignment (see Economic and Social Council resolution 1992/29). A system should also be in place concerning notices to importing and transit States. Following a meeting on information exchange systems for precursor control, convened by the International Narcotics Control Board in July 1997 to bring together representatives of major chemical manufacturing, importing and exporting countries, the Board prepared a model form to standardize and facilitate such information exchange.

In paragraph 10, specific notification is required in respect of substances 12.66 listed in Table I when it is requested by the importing country in a communication to the Secretary-General (see paragraphs 12.36 and 12.37 above). In recent years, however, informed opinion has come to favour a broader application of some form of notification prior to export. For instance, in its resolution 1995/20, the Economic and Social Council requested the exporting country to provide such information, even when the Governments of importing countries have not yet formally requested such notification under article 12, paragraph 10, subparagraph (a), of the Convention. In the same resolution, the Council requested the Government of an importing country receiving such a notification to undertake, through its regulatory authorities and in cooperation with the law enforcement authorities, an investigation of the legitimacy of the transaction and, with the possible assistance of the International Narcotics Control Board, to convey information thereon to the exporting country. While pre-export notifications under paragraph 10, subparagraph (a), apply only to substances listed in Table I, some countries have requested similar pre-export notifications for substances in Table II as well. The Secretary-General notifies

<sup>615</sup>The World Customs Organization has assigned a tariff code in the Harmonized System of Customs Nomenclature for each of the substances listed in Table I and Table II. The requirement to retain certain documents for at least two years is contained in article 12, paragraph 9, subparagraph (e). There is widespread sentiment that the period of retention should be longer (see, for example, the Model Regulations to Control Chemical Precursors and Chemical Substances, Machines and Materials (CICAD/PRECUR/doc.8/94) of the Inter-American Drug Abuse Control Commission).

Governments of all such requests, and they are also reflected in the Board's annually published report on the implementation of article 12.

Article 12 does not specifically envisage a system of pre-export notification to transit States. Indeed, it is apparent that those responsible for the negotiation of paragraphs 9 and 10 devoted their energies preponderantly to the articulation of the respective rights and obligations of importing and exporting States. In some instances, however, a country involved in the shipment route for precursors will fit into neither of those categories. That will be the case, for example, where the consignment passes directly through a country without leaving the means of transport or where it enters under a customs arrangement for later shipment from a port in that country without any change in packaging. In such cases the authorities of the transit State are recognized in practice as having an important function in preventing diversion, and the national regulatory and administrative system must be capable of discharging that responsibility, for example by monitoring shipments to prevent or detect surreptitious repackaging, relabelling or other activities contributing to diversion. As noted by the International Narcotics Control Board, however, "due to the lack of full documentation, a transit country's authorities may not be aware that a specific transit is to take place. It is therefore essential that these authorities are informed fully and in advance by the authorities of the exporting country of the transit to take place."616

12.68 Insofar as importing countries are concerned, consideration should be given to establishing a system to require notification of both intended routine imports and of transactions which are suspicious in nature. The system must require that imports be properly labelled and documented, and steps can be taken pursuant to article 12, paragraph 10, subparagraph (a), to require preimport notification of substances listed in Table I. On receipt of such a notification or of a request for investigation of a consignee from an exporting country, a thorough investigation should be conducted. This should include the legitimacy of the consignee and associates, the requirement or end-use for the type and quantity of the substance ordered, the circumstances concerning any intended distribution or re-export of the substance, and an overall determination

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>616</sup>See "Guidelines for use by national authorities in preventing the diversion of precursors and essential chemicals", sect. III.11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>617</sup>Article 12, paragraph 9, subparagraph (d), applies to imports as well as exports.

that there is no reason to suspect possible diversion. The authorities of the requesting State should be notified of the results of the investigation.<sup>618</sup>

12.69 It is possible under the Convention for States to impose additional requirements or to formulate particular measures designed to accommodate their special national circumstances, to take account of specific trading relationships, and like matters. A growing practice of concluding informal arrangements or, where required, formal arrangements or agreements, bears witness to the attractions of this possibility for some countries. The Economic and Social Council, in its resolution 1992/29, invited "States in which precursor and essential chemicals are manufactured and States in regions in which narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances are illicitly manufactured to establish close cooperation in order to prevent the diversion of precursor and essential chemicals into illicit channels".

<sup>618</sup> See 'Precursors and Chemicals Frequently Used in the Illicit Manufacture of Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances: Report of the International Narcotics Control Board for 1994 on the Implementation of Article 12 of the United Nations Convention against Illicit Traffic in Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances of 1988 (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.95.XI.1), paras. 48-50.

#### **ARTICLE 13**

## Materials and equipment

#### General comments

- 13.1 Article 12 provides that the parties must take such measures as they deem appropriate to prevent the diversion of substances listed in Table I and Table II for the illicit manufacture of narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances. Such illicit activity, however, requires materials and equipment in addition to the substances listed. Prevention of the use of such items for that illicit purpose is the objective of article 13. Neither the term "materials" nor the term "equipment" is defined in the Convention, but they may be interpreted quite broadly to cover a vast array of goods. Materials for illicit drug production or manufacture include a wide variety of items: cutting and tablet-bulking agents, non-scheduled chemical products (for example, pharmaceutical preparations available over the counter, cement, kerosene, diluents),<sup>619</sup> packaging material, and even ice used to cool reactions. The equipment used, especially in illicit manufacture of synthetic drugs, might include general laboratory glassware and equipment, such as reaction vessels, heating mantles, transformers, vacuum pumps, and filters, as well as specialized equipment such as tableting and encapsulating machines. Equipment in illicit cocaine and heroin laboratories is generally not as sophisticated as that used for the illicit manufacture of synthetic drugs, but is just as necessary; it may include such things as generators, microwave ovens and heating lamps. In addition to the equipment that is obtained from licit sources, clandestine drug manufacturers may produce specialized items of equipment for use in illicit drug manufacture.
- 13.2 The single paragraph in article 13 concerns trade in and the diversion of such materials and equipment. It supplements other provisions, such as those in article 3, paragraph 1, subparagraph (a), clause (iv), making it obligatory for parties to establish as criminal offences the manufacture, transport or distribution of such materials (including non-scheduled substances) and equipment when they are to be used for illicit purposes.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>619</sup>For a more detailed examination of the status of non-scheduled substances, see paragraph 13.4 below.

## Single paragraph

The Parties shall take such measures as they deem appropriate to prevent trade in and the diversion of materials and equipment for illicit production or manufacture of narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances and shall cooperate to this end.

### Commentary

13.3 Under article 13, parties are obligated to take such measures as they deem appropriate to prevent the trade in and the diversion of materials and equipment for illicit drug production and manufacture. The measures relate not only to materials and equipment used for illicit laboratories within a party's territory, but also to materials and equipment that are smuggled out of or exported from the party's territory to other countries and used in illicit laboratories in those countries. As is the case for monitoring the substances listed in Table I and Table II to prevent diversion from licit channels, all parties share the responsibility for preventing the diversion of materials and equipment. Under article 13, parties are also required to cooperate with each other in preventing the trade in and diversion of materials and equipment for illicit use.

# Implementation considerations: article 13 as a whole

While, in general, substances not listed in Table I or Table II may be 13.4 considered "materials" in the context of article 13, some of those substances have been singled out and made the object of a limited international special surveillance list. This list, established and issued by the International Narcotics Control Board at the request of the Economic and Social Council (resolution 1996/29), identifies non-scheduled substances that are likely to be diverted from licit trade channels in order to be substituted for, or be used as co-reagents with, substances in Table I or Table II, or that are likely to be used in the illicit manufacture of drugs that cannot be manufactured using the precursors scheduled under the 1988 Convention. The Board also recommends what action competent national authorities can take to prevent diversion of those "materials". Some Governments have extended, mutatis mutandis, their national monitoring systems for substances listed in Table I and Table II to include the substances in the special surveillance list, thereby taking advantage of an existing control mechanism.

- Under certain conditions, stringent regulatory controls on the 13.5 manufacture, distribution, import and export of certain types of materials or equipment may be appropriate. This is more likely to be the case with specialized equipment such as tableting and encapsulating machines than with more widely used equipment such as generators or with materials that have numerous licit uses (see paragraph 13.1 above). Each party should assess the nature of the diversion and use of materials and equipment and establish regulatory controls where warranted. Generally speaking, there are four recognized categories of goods: those such as cement or ice, cited as examples in paragraph 13.1 above, the monitoring of which is clearly out of the question; specialized goods such as those cited at the beginning of this paragraph, which can and should be monitored; items of a broader and more generalized utilization, the monitoring of which is far more problematic but may be both useful and feasible depending on circumstances that vary from country to country (see paragraphs 13.6-13.9 below); and specialized equipment made (sometimes by the end-user) solely for the purpose of illicit drug production or manufacture which, in view of its illicit nature ab initio, cannot be diverted but can be traded in (see paragraph 13.10 below). Paraphernalia associated with drug abuse (i.e. consumption), such as hookahs and syringes, do not seem to fall within the purview of this article, but may be the subject of whatever control measures a party deems appropriate.
- 13.6 Monitoring and control programmes can be made more effective by paying special attention to certain items, for example, multi-punch tableting machines or rotary evaporators. Any inquiry made by a new customer for large-capacity items, or complete sets of apparatus, should arouse suspicion. Regulatory authorities should also consider monitoring the trade in certain pieces of second-hand equipment, for example tableting machines, or any export of such second-hand equipment.
- 13.7 In the case of materials and equipment for which regulatory controls are not practical, some monitoring of the trade in a number of those items may still be warranted and possible. This is particularly true in the case of laboratory and related equipment. Liaison with distributors of such items and investigation and surveillance of purchasers may provide information that will lead authorities to illicit drug laboratories. Although the industry manufacturing and distributing such items legitimately supplies a large number of customers in schools, colleges, universities, hospitals and scientific establishments, as well as in the chemical industry itself, the established guidelines used by the chemical industry for identifying suspicious orders for precursors may usefully be applied, *mutatis mutandis*, to the laboratory equipment industry as well. As with the monitoring

of precursors, companies made aware of the problem can alert law enforcement authorities to suspicious inquiries and orders, especially in fields in which legitimate customers are usually well known. In addition to efforts to raise the awareness of companies, the establishment of proper channels of communication between such companies and law enforcement authorities will facilitate monitoring. A prerequisite for regulatory and law enforcement authorities when monitoring sales of materials and equipment is that they should be aware of the extent of the industry, for example, of the identity of the manufacturers, suppliers and wholesalers or the existence of a trade association. The companies concerned can provide useful assistance in this respect, since they can be expected to be totally familiar with their product area.

- 13.8 The possibility or practicality of monitoring some equipment may depend purely on local circumstances. Thus, lighting and heating systems used for licit horticultural purposes may also be used for sophisticated illicit hydroponic cultivation, either for illicit trafficking or private, small-scale illicit cultivation of narcotic plants for personal consumption. Clearly the extent of licit horticultural use of such systems at the local level will dictate whether a party can envisage any monitoring or control measures on the licit trade in those systems. The same reasoning would apply to import or export of such systems.
- 13.9 A situation may also arise in an operational setting where a piece of equipment which would not normally be thought of as a candidate for monitoring becomes one on an ad hoc basis because of intelligence data. A flexible approach is therefore necessary to enable the competent authorities to respond quickly to developing trends in illicit drug manufacturing methods. New types of equipment may be used in new manufacturing methods.
- 13.10 The fourth category of goods referred to in paragraph 13.5 above, namely those manufactured exclusively for illicit drug production or manufacture (for example, "home-made" tableting machines produced by local artisans, as well as the so-called "cocaine machine"),<sup>621</sup> can, if at all, be subject to only indirect monitoring of component parts, such as vacuum tubes, which

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>620</sup>Police intelligence reports of the intended use of outboard motors to mix large batches of substances in a clandestine laboratory prompted the discrete monitoring of that piece of equipment in one area in the United Kingdom.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>621</sup>A revolving heated metallic disk against which cocaine base is sprayed in an atmosphere of hydrochloric acid, precipitating out as cocaine hydrochloride without requiring the use of solvents.

need to be acquired on the licit market. Circumstances permitting such monitoring will vary considerably from one country to another.

- 13.11 The provisions of article 13 may be applied to operational investigations, for example if law enforcement personnel have to follow up a lead when illicit drug manufacturing activity is suspected, perhaps by making inquiries regarding recent purchases of specialized pieces or sets of equipment or other materials such as uncommon cutting or tablet-bulking agents and gelatin capsules. Law enforcement personnel will need training and awareness-raising to ensure that they can correctly identify suspicious items encountered during routine drug-related operational inquiries and inquiries related to illicit drug manufacturing or processing activities.
- 13.12 Cooperation by parties should include the exchange of strategic intelligence among competent authorities to determine sources and patterns of trade and diversion of materials and equipment used in illicit drug laboratories; direct notification to and investigative cooperation with the competent authorities regarding specific shipments of materials and equipment suspected to be destined for illicit drug laboratories (including controlled deliveries, where appropriate); and the exchange of information among the competent authorities concerning specific investigations related to materials and equipment, involving, for example, the tracing of sources of seized materials and equipment or the identification of common drug sources through comparative analysis of seized tablets. The strategic intelligence and other information collected may also be used proactively by law enforcement agencies to monitor the activity of clandestine laboratory operators and thereby identify the source of illicit drug manufacture.

#### **ARTICLE 14**

# Measures to eradicate illicit cultivation of narcotic plants and to eliminate illicit demand for narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances

#### General comments

- While the 1988 Convention is in large measure designed to strengthen international cooperation and improve national criminal justice and administrative systems in an effort to tackle more effectively the illicit traffic in drugs, the drafters were fully aware of the complex nature of the problem and the consequent need for measures that would, on the one hand, reduce illicit demand for drugs and promote the treatment, education, aftercare, rehabilitation and social reintegration of abusers and, on the other hand, deal with an important aspect of the supply side through the eradication of illicit cultivation. Article 14 is notable in specifically recognizing this broader dimension of the requirements for national action and international cooperation. 622 Since the conclusion of the Conference, that approach has been even more firmly embraced by the international community, as illustrated by the Political Declaration and Global Programme of Action adopted by the General Assembly at its seventeenth special session, devoted to the question of international cooperation against the illicit production, supply, demand, trafficking and distribution of narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances (General Assembly resolution S-17/2, annex), held from 20 to 23 February 1990.
- 14.2 The initial draft of what was eventually to become article 14 of the 1988 Convention was entitled only "Measures to eradicate narcotic plants cultivated illicitly". The text contained succinct provisions requiring the parties to "take effective action to eradicate any opium poppy, coca bush and cannabis plants that may be cultivated illicitly in their territories" and to cooperate to increase the effectiveness of eradication efforts. The draft was much criticized by the intergovernmental expert group at its meetings in June and July 1987, although the criticisms were in some cases mutually incompatible. Some representatives felt that the draft article added nothing to what was already in the text of the 1961 Convention. One representative proposed a new text, which

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>622</sup>See also, for example, article 3, paragraph 4.

<sup>623</sup> Official Records, vol. I ..., document E/CN.7/1987/2, sect. II, ("Article 10").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>624</sup>Ibid., document E/CN.7/1988/2 (Part II), paras. 199-208.

subjected measures designed to eliminate illicit cultivation to "fundamental human rights, respect for the traditions of national and regional groups, and the protection of the environment"; he also proposed introducing references to "crop substitution" and "integrated rural development techniques" as adding to the effectiveness of eradication efforts. The reference to "traditions" was in turn criticized, as traditions could often be subject to change; and several representatives were of the view that the text should also deal with "demand reduction" as well as with the supply side of the equation, as "elimination of illicit demand was a major factor in dealing with the illicit traffic". A redrafted text incorporating many of those ideas was produced after informal discussions and was the basis for the work of the Conference.

## Paragraph 1

1. Any measures taken pursuant to this Convention by Parties shall not be less stringent than the provisions applicable to the eradication of illicit cultivation of plants containing narcotic and psychotropic substances and to the elimination of illicit demand for narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances under the provisions of the 1961 Convention, the 1961 Convention as amended and the 1971 Convention.

## Commentary

14.3 Paragraph 1 serves as an introductory paragraph, requiring that measures taken under article 14 should "not be less stringent" than the relevant provisions of the 1961 Convention, the 1961 Convention as amended and the 1971 Convention. This wording reflects concern that the text of article 14 should not produce any conflict with, or involve any implied amendment to, those conventions. It follows that measures under article 14 should supplement measures already taken under the earlier conventions. The purport of the drafting is further reinforced by article 25, which reads: "The provisions of this Convention shall not derogate from any rights enjoyed or obligations undertaken by Parties to this Convention under the 1961 Convention, the 1961 Convention as amended and the 1971 Convention."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>625</sup>Ibid., para. 200.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>626</sup>Ibid., para. 202.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>627</sup>See below, comments on article 25.

- 14.4 An amendment proposed by 12 delegations,<sup>628</sup> which would have omitted any reference to the 1961 Convention and that Convention as amended by the 1972 Protocol (the original proposal did not contain any reference to the 1971 Convention), was the starting point of a rather lengthy discussion revolving largely around the "traditional" use of coca leaf by various ethnic groups.<sup>629</sup> It was emphasized that any text adopted should "ensure that the convention did not penalize the licit cultivation of coca bushes and the licit traditional uses of coca leaf".<sup>630</sup> The amendment also introduced a reference to "basic human rights and environmental protection".<sup>631</sup>
- 14.5 In the ensuing discussion, a number of delegations, while recognizing the need to accommodate legitimate concerns of the delegations proposing the amendment, were strongly of the view that any deletion of reference to the 1961 Convention and that Convention as amended might effectively create a discrepancy between those conventions and the new convention being drafted. The compromise finally agreed to, on the suggestion of the Chairman, was to introduce the various ideas in separate paragraphs of an amended, and expanded, article. Thus, reference to the 1961 Convention was retained in paragraph 1 and reference to the 1971 Convention was introduced to cover the possibility of illicit cultivation of plants containing psychotropic substances. The inclusion of a reference to the 1971 Convention would have in any case become necessary to cover the added dimension of demand reduction which was integrated into article 14 (see paragraph 14.2 above).
- 14.6 Thus, the text of paragraph 1 of article 14 should be considered against the background of the provisions of the 1961 and 1971 Conventions which limit or control the cultivation of plants that are sources of widely abused substances or which encourage demand reduction activities.
- 14.7 Article 22 of the 1961 Convention, entitled "Special provisions applicable to cultivation", is couched in the following terms:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>628</sup>Bahamas, Bolivia, Colombia, Costa Rica, Cuba, Guatemala, India, Jamaica, Mexico, Panama, Paraguay and Peru (for the text of the proposed amendment, see *Official Records*, vol. I ..., document E/CONF.82/12, "Article 10" (E/CONF.82/C.2/L.13/Add.10), sect. II, paras. 2 and 3, pp. 149-150).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>629</sup>Official Records, vol. II ..., Summary records of meetings of the Committees of the Whole, Committee II, 25th to 28th meetings.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>630</sup>Ibid., 25th meeting, para. 7.

<sup>631</sup> Ibid., para. 9.

"Whenever the prevailing conditions in the country or a territory of a Party render the prohibition of the cultivation of the opium poppy, the coca bush or the cannabis plant the most suitable measure, in its opinion, for protecting the public health and welfare and preventing the diversion of drugs into the illicit traffic, the Party concerned shall prohibit cultivation."

The text gives considerable discretion to each party. The phrase "the diversion of drugs into the illicit traffic" does not itself prompt action under the article; consideration has to be given to the additional factor of "the public health and welfare".<sup>632</sup>

14.8 Parties that permit the cultivation of the opium poppy for the production of opium are required under the 1961 Convention to operate a system of controls. That involves the establishment of a government agency;<sup>633</sup> the designation of areas in which, and plots of land on which, opium poppies may be cultivated for the purpose of producing opium;<sup>634</sup> and the licensing of cultivators,<sup>635</sup> who are obliged to deliver their total crops of opium to the agency,<sup>636</sup> which must have a monopoly in the import and export of, and wholesale trade in, opium, as well as in the maintenance of opium stocks.<sup>637</sup> A party that permits the cultivation of the opium poppy for purposes other than the production of opium must take all the measures necessary to ensure that opium is not produced from such poppies and that the manufacture of drugs from poppy straw is adequately controlled.<sup>638</sup>

 $<sup>^{632}</sup>$ See Commentary on the 1961 Convention, paragraph 3 of the comments on article 22.

<sup>6331961</sup> Convention, art. 23, para. 1.

<sup>6341961</sup> Convention, art. 23, para. 2, subpara. (a).

<sup>635 1961</sup> Convention, art. 23, para. 2, subparas. (b) and (c).

<sup>6361961</sup> Convention, art. 23, para. 2, subpara. (d).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>637</sup>1961 Convention, art. 23, para. 2, subpara. (e); see also article 24 on the limitation of the production of opium for international trade. A new article 21 bis was inserted by operation of article 11 of the 1972 Protocol, imposing further restrictions on the production of opium.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>638</sup>1961 Convention, art. 25, para. 1.

- 14.9 The 1961 Convention requires a similar system of control to be applied where a party permits the cultivation of the coca bush.<sup>639</sup> The parties are required, as far as possible, to enforce the uprooting of all coca bushes growing wild and must destroy coca bushes that are being illegally cultivated.<sup>640</sup>
- 14.10 The 1961 Convention also requires a similar system of control to be applied where a party permits the cultivation of the cannabis plant for the production of cannabis or cannabis resin,<sup>641</sup> but the provision does not apply to the cultivation of the cannabis plant exclusively for industrial purposes (fibre and seed) or horticultural purposes.<sup>642</sup> In addition, the parties must adopt such measures as may be necessary to prevent the misuse of, and illicit traffic in, the leaves of the cannabis plant.<sup>643</sup>
- 14.11 In the 1961 Convention as amended, an additional provision appears: a party prohibiting cultivation of the opium poppy or the cannabis plant is required to take all appropriate measures to seize any plants illicitly cultivated and destroy them, except for small quantities required by the party for scientific and research purposes.<sup>644</sup>
- 14.12 While the general system of supply-side control introduced under the 1961 Convention was considered an important part of a comprehensive programme to combat drug abuse, it was equally clear to the authors that it could at best be only a part of such a programme, and that educational and other measures were also required to reduce illicit demand for drugs. That was first recognized in article 38 of the 1961 Convention, in its unamended form, entitled "Treatment of drug addicts", which calls for parties to "give special attention to the provision of facilities for the medical treatment, care and rehabilitation of

 $<sup>^{639}</sup>$ There is one modification: the agency's duties corresponding to those set out in article 23, paragraph 2, subparagraph (d), are in this context to consist only in taking physical possession of the crops as soon as possible after the end of the harvest (1961 Convention, art. 26, para. 1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>640</sup>1961 Convention, art. 26, para. 2.

<sup>641 1961</sup> Convention, art. 28, para. 1.

<sup>6421961</sup> Convention, art. 28, para. 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>643</sup>1961 Convention, art. 28, para. 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>644</sup>1961 Convention as amended, art. 22, para. 2 (inserted by operation of article 12 of the 1972 Protocol).

drug addicts".<sup>645</sup> For parties with serious problems of addiction, it is considered "desirable" that they "establish adequate facilities for the effective treatment of drug addicts".<sup>646</sup> Article 38 of the 1961 Convention as amended, entitled "Measures against the abuse of drugs", which was introduced by operation of article 15 of the 1972 Protocol, reflects the language used the preceding year in article 20 of the 1971 Convention. Both of those more recent texts require parties to take all practicable measures for the prevention of drug abuse and for the early identification, treatment, education, aftercare, rehabilitation and social reintegration of the persons involved.<sup>647</sup> They also call for the promotion of training of personnel in such demand reduction activities and of public awareness campaigns.<sup>648</sup>

14.13 For the historical record, article 49 of the 1961 Convention allowed parties to enter a number of transitional reservations which were in part directly relevant to the question of stemming drug abuse. Thus parties in whose territories such activity was traditional and permitted on 1 January 1961 could authorize opium smoking and coca leaf chewing, on a temporary basis. In addition, the quasi-medical use of opium and the non-medical use of cannabis and certain by-products could also be permitted temporarily. Under the terms of the 1961 Convention, only persons officially registered to that effect by the competent authorities on 1 January 1964 could be permitted to smoke opium; the quasi-medical use of opium had to be abolished within 15 years of entry into force of the 1961 Convention (that is, by 12 December 1979), and coca leaf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>645</sup>1961 Convention, art. 38, para. 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>646</sup>1961 Convention, art. 38, para. 2.

 $<sup>^{647}</sup>$ Compare article 3, paragraph 4, subparagraph (b), of the 1988 Convention, where similar language is used in respect of the treatment of offenders.

 $<sup>^{648}1961</sup>$  Convention as amended, art. 38, paras. 2 and 3, and 1971 Convention, art. 20, paras. 2 and 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>649</sup>Five States availed themselves of this possibility: Bangladesh, Nepal and Pakistan reserved the right to allow the quasi-medical use of opium, as well as the use of cannabis for non-medical purposes and the production and manufacture thereof and trade therein; India, in addition to the same reservations, also reserved the right to permit opium smoking; and Burma reserved the right to permit opium smoking in Shan State.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>650</sup>1961 Convention, art. 49, para. 1.

chewing and non-medical use of cannabis within 25 years of its entry into force (that is, by 12 December 1989).<sup>651</sup>

## Paragraph 2

2. Each Party shall take appropriate measures to prevent illicit cultivation of and to eradicate plants containing narcotic or psychotropic substances, such as opium poppy, coca bush and cannabis plants, cultivated illicitly in its territory. The measures adopted shall respect fundamental human rights and shall take due account of traditional licit uses, where there is historic evidence of such use, as well as the protection of the environment.

### Commentary

- 14.14 The background to paragraph 2 includes the relevant provisions of the 1961 Convention, especially those in article 49 allowing transitional arrangements for a limited period in respect of opium smoking, quasi-medical use of opium, non-medical use of cannabis, and coca leaf chewing (see paragraph 14.13 above). At one stage, a proposal before the Conference would have distinguished between the coca bush on the one hand and the opium poppy and cannabis plants on the other; it would also have required respect for a range of "licit uses" of all those plants: "traditional, domestic, medical, pharmaceutical and industrial". 652
- 14.15 There was, however, strong opposition to that distinction, and a concern not to amend, or to appear to amend, the control regime created by the 1961 Convention; the inclusion of paragraph 1 in article 14 was important for that reason. The discussion of paragraph 2 was therefore primarily focused on the second sentence, and agreement was eventually reached on the carefully worded phrase "due account of traditional licit uses, where there is historic evidence of such use".
- 14.16 When the provisions of article 22 of the 1961 Convention are read in conjunction with those of article 14 of the 1988 Convention, it can be seen that

<sup>651 1961</sup> Convention, art. 49, para. 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>652</sup>Official Records, vol. II ..., Summary records of meetings of the Committees of the Whole, Committee II, 26th meeting, para. 1.

the taking of measures to "prohibit cultivation"<sup>653</sup> or to "prevent illicit cultivation of and to eradicate" the relevant plants<sup>654</sup> is subject to a number of considerations:

- (a) The prevailing conditions in the territory of a party must render prohibition of cultivation the most suitable measure, in its opinion, for protecting public health and welfare and preventing the diversion of drugs into the illicit traffic;
- (b) Measures to be taken to prevent illicit cultivation and to eradicate the relevant plants must be judged:
  - (i) To respect fundamental human rights;
  - (ii) To take due account of traditional licit uses, where there is historic evidence of such use;
  - (iii) To take due account of the protection of the environment.
- 14.17 The last of these considerations raises technical issues, particularly in the context of eradication. The use of toxic chemicals, especially where they are sprayed from aircraft, may prove highly effective but the environmental risks associated with that and similar practices need to be weighed. The geography of a given region may also directly influence the suitability of the use of one eradication method over another (see paragraph 14.27 below).

# Paragraph 3

3. (a) The Parties may co-operate to increase the effectiveness of eradication efforts. Such co-operation may, inter alia, include support, when appropriate, for integrated rural development leading to economically viable alternatives to illicit cultivation. Factors such as access to markets, the availability of resources and prevailing socio-economic conditions should be taken into account before such rural development programmes are implemented. The Parties may agree on any other appropriate measures of co-operation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>653</sup>The language of the 1961 Convention.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>654</sup>The language of the 1988 Convention.

- (b) The Parties shall also facilitate the exchange of scientific and technical information and the conduct of research concerning eradication.
- (c) Whenever they have common frontiers, the Parties shall seek to co-operate in eradication programmes in their respective areas along those frontiers.

### Commentary

- 14.18 Paragraph 3 is substantially unchanged from the text agreed by the intergovernmental expert group at its meetings in June and July 1987. Subparagraph (a) creates no obligation on parties, but draws attention to the need, in some countries and regions, for programmes of integrated rural development designed, in effect, to rebuild a local economy hitherto partly or entirely based on illicit cultivation. From the point of view of the countries concerned, the issues listed in the third sentence (access to markets, resources and prevailing socio-economic conditions) are crucial. Behind the studied neutrality of the text of this paragraph lies the feeling of producing countries that countries in which drugs are most commonly consumed (and which are therefore perceived as fuelling the illicit economies of producing countries) should take an active part in the provision of resources to the producing countries to enable them to introduce alternative crops or other licit activities and should guarantee, or at least place no obstacles in the way of, access to markets.
- 14.19 Subparagraphs (b) and (c) do impose obligations on parties in respect of the exchange of scientific and technical information and of cross-border eradication programmes. Those provisions can be seen as specific applications of the duty of parties to cooperate closely under the terms of article 9.656

# Paragraph 4

4. The Parties shall adopt appropriate measures aimed at eliminating or reducing illicit demand for narcotic drugs

 $<sup>^{655}</sup>$ The only change was to divide the text into three subparagraphs, with small consequential drafting adjustments.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>656</sup>Article 9 is keyed to the offences established in accordance with article 3, paragraph 1, which include the cultivation of opium poppy, coca bush or cannabis plant for the purposes of the production of narcotic drugs contrary to the provisions of the 1961 Convention and the 1961 Convention as amended.

and psychotropic substances, with a view to reducing human suffering and eliminating financial incentives for illicit traffic. These measures may be based, *inter alia*, on the recommendations of the United Nations, specialized agencies of the United Nations such as the World Health Organization, and other competent international organizations, and on the Comprehensive Multidisciplinary Outline adopted by the International Conference on Drug Abuse and Illicit Trafficking, held in 1987, as it pertains to governmental and non-governmental agencies and private efforts in the fields of prevention, treatment and rehabilitation. The Parties may enter into bilateral or multilateral agreements or arrangements aimed at eliminating or reducing illicit demand for narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances.

### Commentary

14.20 Paragraph 4 is a very much expanded version of the basic text before the Conference, in which parties were merely required to adopt appropriate measures to eliminate illicit demand for narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances, with a view to removing the financial incentives for illicit traffic. That provision, with an added reference to both the reduction and the elimination of demand, and the insertion of the reference to human suffering, now forms the first sentence of a much more substantial text. The purpose of the whole paragraph is to deal with the demand aspect, and to correct what would otherwise be a lack of balance between the measures aimed at eliminating production and those aimed at reducing demand.

14.21 As regards the second sentence of paragraph 4, some representatives expressed strong reservations about a reference to the Comprehensive Multidisciplinary Outline of Future Activities in Drug Abuse Control that might appear to give mandatory force to the recommendations of a separate, non-binding instrument.<sup>657</sup> In fact the text of the second sentence of paragraph 4 enables but does not require the measures taken to be based upon the recommendations in the Comprehensive Multidisciplinary Outline (or the recommendations of the intergovernmental bodies referred to). It was judged expedient to refer to the Comprehensive Multidisciplinary Outline in that way

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>657</sup>Bulgaria, China, France, Ukrainian Soviet Socialist Republic and Union of Soviet Socialist Republics (see *Official Records*, vol. I ..., document E/CONF.82/12, "Article 10" (E/CONF.82/C.2/L.13/Add.10), sect. III, paras. 13-16, p. 151).

to avoid having to negotiate a text which would spell out the various recommendations, most of which are contained in chapter I of the Comprehensive Multidisciplinary Outline;<sup>658</sup> some of them (as the text acknowledges) are concerned with the work of non-governmental or private agencies.

14.22 The final sentence is one of a number of provisions in the Convention designed to encourage parties to strengthen the Convention's effectiveness through bilateral or multilateral agreements or less formal arrangements.<sup>659</sup>

## Paragraph 5

5. The Parties may also take necessary measures for early destruction or lawful disposal of the narcotic drugs, psychotropic substances and substances in Table I and Table II which have been seized or confiscated and for the admissibility as evidence of duly certified necessary quantities of such substances.

### **Commentary**

14.23 In the Comprehensive Multidisciplinary Outline, it is suggested that national legislation should be enacted to authorize the early destruction or other lawful disposal of seizures of narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances after the legally required samples have been taken for analysis and evidentiary purposes.<sup>660</sup> The object is to prevent the renewed diversion of seized drugs into

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>658</sup>Especially in targets 3 (Prevention through education), 4 (Prevention of drug abuse in the workplace), 5 (Prevention programmes by civic, community and special interest groups and law enforcement agencies), 6 (Leisure-time activities in the service of the continuing campaign against drug abuse) and 7 (Role of the media) (Report of the International Conference on Drug Abuse and Illicit Trafficking, Vienna, 17-26 June 1987 (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.87.I.18), chap. I, sect. A).

 $<sup>^{659}</sup>$ See, for example, article 5, paragraph 4, subparagraph (g), and article 6, paragraph 12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>660</sup>Report of the International Conference on Drug Abuse and Illicit Trafficking, Vienna, 17-26 June 1987 (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.87.I.18), chap. I, sect. A, para. 267.

the illicit market.<sup>661</sup> Paragraph 5, which is permissive rather than mandatory, incorporates the suggestion in the text of the Convention.

## Implementation considerations: article 14 as a whole

- 14.24 As noted above, much of article 14 is directed towards preventing the illicit cultivation of plants containing narcotic and psychotropic substances, promoting their eradication, and stimulating measures to eliminate illicit demand. As those concerns are also covered by other drug control treaties of global reach, it was necessary to ensure the consistency of the specific measures contained in that important article with those embodied in the earlier instruments.
- 14.25 Paragraph 1 of article 14 accordingly requires that measures taken pursuant to the 1988 Convention in relation to eradication of illicit cultivation and the elimination of illicit demand "shall not be less stringent" than those applicable under the earlier conventions. In consequence, this provision "leaves no question as to what cultivation is illegal in nature versus that which is legal for medicinal, traditional and scientific purposes".662 While parties to those instruments will necessarily have in place the requisite systems of control, specific implementation issues will arise for those States which become bound by the 1988 Convention but are not parties to one or more of the earlier instruments. Such States are under an obligation to take measures that are no less stringent than those contained in the specified treaties. Those involved in the implementation process could derive considerable benefit from a detailed examination of measures put in place by relevant States parties. In addition, the United Nations International Drug Control Programme has extensive experience in the provision of legislative drafting and related forms of technical assistance in this sphere. 663

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>661</sup>See, in this respect, the comments made by India (*Official Records*, vol. II ..., Summary records of meetings of the Committees of the Whole, Committee II, 25th meeting, para. 23, and 28th meeting, paras. 28 and 31).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>662</sup>"Report of the United States Delegation to the United Nations Conference for the adoption of a Convention against Illicit Traffic in Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances," 101st Congress, 1st Session, Senate, Exec. Rept. 101-15, p. 87.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>663</sup>See, for example, the model legislation contained in a reference document issued in September 1996 by the United Nations International Drug Control Programme.

14.26 Paragraphs 2 and 3 of article 14, which deal with the important and complex issue of eradicating illicit cultivation, may give rise in many countries to significant practical difficulties which will have to be overcome in elaborating and executing an effective programme. For example, the plants in question are often grown in remote locations or in areas beyond the effective control of Governments. An initial problem will thus be to identify the precise locations where cultivation is taking place. For many countries it may be necessary to mobilize both national resources and international cooperation. In paragraph 198 of the Comprehensive Multidisciplinary Outline and in paragraph 38, subparagraph (a), of the Global Programme of Action, for example, the importance is stressed of securing, by agreement, access to high-resolution satellite imagery and aerial photography from other members of the international community with such technological capabilities. Examples of areas for international cooperation for effective eradication programmes are provided in paragraph 3 of article 14.

14.27 Various methods and technologies are available for use in actual eradication operations, including manual and mechanical uprooting, and manual and aerial spraying. The importance of environmental factors in the choice of appropriate measures is stressed by the wording of paragraph 2 of article 14. This issue has been intensely discussed since 1988. As was stressed in the report of the Expert Group Meeting on Environmentally Safe Methods for the Eradication of Illicit Narcotic Plants, held at Vienna from 4 to 8 December 1989, 664 the use of control agents to eradicate such plants would depend on, and must respond to, a complex of factors such as geography, climate, topography and prevailing socio-economic conditions.

14.28 In some circumstances, the effectiveness of eradication efforts will be enhanced by other related initiatives, including, *inter alia*, support for "integrated rural development leading to economically viable alternatives to illicit cultivation". <sup>665</sup> Cooperation between parties in such initiatives is encouraged by the terms of article 14, paragraph 3, subparagraph (a). The methodology referred to is more commonly known as "alternative development" and involves an approach that deals with all aspects of the economy of an illicit cultivation zone, introducing an appropriate mix of improved infrastructure, health, education and job-creating measures, in addition to agricultural development and diversification. Alternative development is based on the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>664</sup>E/CN.7/1990/CRP.7, para. 9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>665</sup>The wording of article 14, paragraph 3, subparagraph (a).

principle that the removal of the causes of the economic dependance on an illicit crop permits the enforcement of a ban on cultivation. Such bans are often introduced on a phased basis parallel to the developmental inputs. The United Nations International Drug Control Programme has a wealth of experience in these and related matters, which can be drawn upon by those charged with the development of appropriate implementation policies. 666

By way of contrast, the focus of paragraph 4 is on the reduction or elimination of illicit demand for narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances and on facilitating international cooperation to those ends. In this area also, the obligations placed on parties are, of necessity, of an extremely open-textured nature. Much will depend on an assessment of what is appropriate given the economic, social, religious, cultural and related factors and traditions prevailing in the jurisdiction in question. Again, there is much experience, international and national, upon which those charged with implementation of this provision can draw, should they see fit. At the time that the present Commentary was being prepared, the Commission on Narcotic Drugs, acting on a request from the General Assembly, was in the process of elaborating a general statement of guiding principles to reduce illicit demand for drugs. That issue was to be examined by the General Assembly at its twentieth special session, to be held in June 1998, following which another important source of useful information on demand reduction would become available to parties and to the international community.

14.30 There is broad consensus that success in the fight against drug abuse depends on the existence of comprehensive programmes, including treatment and rehabilitation programmes, which give priority to the reduction of demand. While the nature and scope of national drug control programmes differ in significant respects, one common problem is the design of a system capable of delivering the selected strategy effectively. In tackling this problem, the experience of States that have established a special administration or administrations pursuant to article 17 of the 1961 Convention and article 6 of the 1971 Convention may prove instructive. As noted in the Commentary on the 1971 Convention: "The term 'special administration' as used in its technical sense in the field of drug control includes any special administrative arrangements to provide for liaison among the various national, central and local, governmental units entrusted with functions of control and to coordinate their work. Such arrangements may consist of the establishment of a special unit in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>666</sup>For a detailed description of the methodology, see UNDCP Technical Information Paper No. 5, 4 November 1993.

the competent central Government department, of an inter-departmental committee or of other administrative means in conformity with the constitutional and administrative structure of the Government concerned". 667 Those special units can also facilitate the preparation of coordinated national drug control plans, addressing the various sectoral requirements for which responsibility is often scattered among various ministries and departments. The United Nations International Drug Control Programme provides advice to Governments on the preparation of such national plans. 668

- 14.31 Article 14, paragraph 5, treats a quite distinct issue of great practical importance, namely the possibility of the early destruction or lawful disposal of illicit drugs and of substances frequently used in the illicit manufacture of those drugs, as listed in Table I and Table II of the 1988 Convention. Given the volume and value of the relevant substances seized or confiscated in the course of efforts to combat the illicit traffic, the high costs of storage, the security risks posed and related matters, it was felt appropriate to signal the acceptability of a strategy of early disposal which made provision "for the admissibility as evidence of duly certified necessary quantities of such substances".
- 14.32 Parties to the Convention whose laws and regulations do not at present provide for the possibility of pretrial destruction or disposal, and the consequent admissibility in evidence, of samples taken from seized drugs or precursors may wish to consider the enactment or amendment of national legislation to that end. If so, they would be able to draw upon the experience of an ever-growing number of countries, representing many of the world's principal legal systems, which have already taken this step. Those responsible for any such review could also profit from an examination of relevant work conducted in various international forums. Particularly useful in this regard are the reports of the meetings of two expert groups on pretrial destruction of seized narcotic drugs, psychotropic substances and precursor and essential chemicals, which were convened under the auspices of the United Nations in 1989 and 1990 respectively at the behest of the fourteenth Meeting of Heads of National Drug Law Enforcement Agencies, Asia and the Pacific, held at Bangkok from 3 to 7 October 1988.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>667</sup>Commentary on the 1971 Convention, paragraph 3 of the comments on article 6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>668</sup>See United Nations International Drug Control Programme, Format and Guidelines for the Preparation of National Drug Control Master Plans (December 1994).

- 14.33 The first of the expert groups was to consider the legal implications surrounding any such initiative and to propose practical measures for such destruction or lawful disposal without hindrance to evidentiary requirements. The meeting recommended that consideration be given to the implementation of a framework which identified procedures available for use from the time of seizure to that of ultimate disposal: "Such procedures included the inventory to be drawn up at the time of seizure, the urgent disposal, transportation, storage, sampling, expert analysis of those substances and decisions and actions regarding their disposal." 669
- 14.34 For any State which currently lacks the capacity to undertake the necessary analysis of retained samples, it may be necessary to formulate the relevant legal norms in such a manner as to "empower the judiciary to admit in evidence the analytical findings of foreign laboratories recognized by the Government".<sup>670</sup> If so, sufficient flexibility should be built in to facilitate the exportation and subsequent return of the samples in question. Attention could also be turned to satisfying the relevant international cooperation arrangements envisaged in article 9, including the provision, when appropriate, of "necessary quantities of substances for analytical or investigative purposes".<sup>671</sup>
- 14.35 All parties, irrespective of whether they elect to provide for pretrial destruction or to continue with a tradition of retaining the entire bulk shipment until after trial, face the common problem of making provision for the effective disposal of these substances while taking into account possible adverse effects on the ecology and environment. That was the focus of discussion at the second meeting of the Expert Group on Pre-Trial Destruction of Seized Narcotic Drugs, Psychotropic Substances, Precursors and Essential Chemicals, held at Bangkok from 22 to 26 October 1990. In considering methods of destruction, the expert group divided the substances into three categories: plant materials, cannabis resin and opium; compressed, powdered and other processed drugs; and precursors, essential chemicals and solvents. It then analysed for each category the safety, environmental and cost factors associated with various possible

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>669</sup>"Report on the Meeting of the Expert Group on Pre-Trial Destruction of Seized Narcotic Drugs, Psychotropic Substances, Precursors and Essential Chemicals, held at Vienna from 13 to 17 November 1989" (E/CN.7/1990/7/Add.1), paras. 3 and 21).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>670</sup>Report of the International Conference on Drug Abuse and Illicit Trafficking, Vienna, 17-26 June 1987 (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.87.I.18), chap. I, sect. A, para. 268.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>671</sup>See above, comments on article 9, paragraph 1, subparagraph (d).

methods of destruction. Having identified the advantages and disadvantages of the various methods, it then formulated particular recommendations, according high priority to the process of incineration. Incineration was defined as "burning by controlled flame in an enclosed area with appropriate safeguards to prevent the release of inorganic acid or toxic gases, ... ensuring the maximum possible combustion of the material".672 Certain other alternatives were also considered to be acceptable. For example, in regard to solvents, precursors and essential chemicals, the expert group was of the view that recycling was the best environmental option but that transport, safety and security considerations might make that method prohibitively expensive in remote locations. Appropriate provisions governing the sale or transfer of such substances in this context may need to be specifically provided in some jurisdictions. Although international drug control conventions do not expressly prohibit States from using seized drugs to meet their domestic needs, that practice is discouraged not only for obvious security reasons but also on grounds of cost-effectiveness in view of the need to reprocess seized drugs, which usually contain adulterants and impurities, before they can be used to manufacture medicaments. Moreover, in a number of resolutions of the Economic and Social Council, Governments have been requested to refrain from the proliferation of supply sources, and, in its resolution 33/168, the General Assembly invited Governments to ensure a continuing equilibrium between licit supply and licit demand and to avoid unforeseen imbalances caused by sales of seized or confiscated drugs.

14.36 The recommendations of the expert group at its second meeting also covered a number of related matters, including the pre-seizure involvement of forensic chemists, the provision of adequate training, and the appropriate storage of retained samples. Such matters would need to be dealt with by those responsible for the formulation of a comprehensive policy for the safe and secure operation of any pretrial destruction programme.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>672</sup>E/CN.7/1991/CRP.5, footnote to paragraph 8 (g).

#### **ARTICLE 15**

#### Commercial carriers

#### General comments

- 15.1 Article 15 has as its focus the need to ensure that means of transport operated by commercial carriers are, to the extent possible, not used in the commission of the serious offences of illicit traffic enumerated in article 3, paragraph 1. To that end, it acknowledges the necessity for each party to impose obligations on, and to cooperate closely with, the commercial sector in order to create an inhospitable environment for those engaged in international drug trafficking. This is another area in which the Convention breaks new ground at the international level. It is, for instance, "the first time an international treaty has recognized that commercial carriers have an obligation to prevent their means of transport from being used for illegal drug purposes". 673
- 15.2 A commercial carrier is defined in article 1 as "any person or any public, private or other entity engaged in transporting persons, goods or mails<sup>674</sup> for remuneration, hire or any other benefit".<sup>675</sup> Illicit traffic will very often involve the services of a commercial carrier within this definition, and the need for carriers to be aware of the possible misuse of their services and to be willing to cooperate fully with law enforcement personnel cannot be overstated.
- 15.3 The initial draft of what was to become article 15 was much stronger than the eventual text. It made mention of increased security at ports, of "thorough searches" where suspicion existed (such searches being considered reasonable cause for delaying the departure of commercial aircraft), and also of the possible forfeiture of the means of transport where the carrier was shown to have knowledge of its use for illicit traffic. 676 Many of those elements were seen as impractical or unduly burdensome by the open-ended intergovernmental

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>673</sup>"Report of the United States Delegation to the United Nations Conference for the adoption of a Convention against Illicit Traffic in Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances", 101st Congress, 1st Session, Senate, Exec. Rept. 101-15, p. 91.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>674</sup>See below, comments on article 19, paragraph 1, for an examination of the significance of the reference to "mails" in this context.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>675</sup>Art. 1, subpara. (d).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>676</sup>Official Records, vol. I ..., document E/CN.7/1987/2, sect. II ("Article 11").

expert group, and informal discussions at the first session of that group in June and July 1987 produced a revised draft<sup>677</sup> which, after further discussion in the Commission on Narcotic Drugs, was not further amended at the Conference.

### Paragraph 1

1. The Parties shall take appropriate measures to ensure that means of transport operated by commercial carriers are not used in the commission of offences established in accordance with article 3, paragraph 1; such measures may include special arrangements with commercial carriers.

#### **Commentary**

15.4 Paragraph 1 imposes an obligation on parties to take "appropriate measures". Some such measures are referred to in the remaining paragraphs of the article, but the final words of this paragraph point to the desirability of entering into special arrangements with commercial carriers. In a number of States, "carrier agreements" or memoranda of understanding have been used to good effect; this matter is further discussed below (see paragraphs 15.10-15.16 below).

### Paragraph 2

- 2. Each Party shall require commercial carriers to take reasonable precautions to prevent the use of their means of transport for the commission of offences established in accordance with article 3, paragraph 1. Such precautions may include:
- (a) If the principal place of business of a commercial carrier is within the territory of the Party:
  - (i) Training of personnel to identify suspicious consignments or persons;
  - (ii) Promotion of integrity of personnel;
- (b) If a commercial carrier is operating within the territory of the Party:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>677</sup>Ibid., document E/CN.7/1988/2 (Part II), paras. 216-222.

- (i) Submission of cargo manifests in advance, whenever possible;
- (ii) Use of tamper-resistant, individually verifiable seals on containers;
- (iii) Reporting to the appropriate authorities at the earliest opportunity all suspicious circumstances that may be related to the commission of offences established in accordance with article 3, paragraph 1.

#### Commentary

15.5 Under paragraph 2, every party is obliged to impose on commercial carriers the requirement to take "reasonable precautions" to prevent the use of their means of transport for the commission of offences established in accordance with article 3, paragraph 1.<sup>678</sup> What precautions are "reasonable" must depend on the circumstances of each individual case and will take into account such matters as the size of the carrier's enterprise, the experience of its employees, the sophistication of the systems available to it, and the known risks attending the use of particular routes. No provision is included in the final text regarding penalties for failure to take reasonable precautions; the matter is left to the national law of each party. Nor is it provided (as was the case in an early draft) that, subject to reasonable precautions having been taken, the carrier is not responsible if the illicit nature of the consignment has been misrepresented by the consignor; some such provision will commonly be found in the national law of a party.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>678</sup>The focus of this provision is clearly the use of means of transport for the carriage of narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances, but article 3, paragraph 1, gives the provision a wider ambit, perhaps not fully intended by the authors of the Convention.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>679</sup>Official Records, vol. I ..., document E/CN.7/1987/2, sect. II, ("Article 11").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>680</sup>See the English case of Customs and Excise Commissioners v Air Canada [1991] 1 All E.R. 570, C.A., where an Air Canada TriStar aircraft, on which large consignments of cannabis had been discovered, had been seized, the Court of Appeal holding that no element of knowledge was required under the relevant legislation. The European Court of Human Rights subsequently held that that did not constitute an unjustified interference with the peaceful enjoyment of possessions and was in conformity with the general interest in combating international drug trafficking (Air Canada v United Kingdom (Case 9.1994/456/537)). Although the offences established in accordance with article 3, paragraph 1, involve the element of intention, this is not reproduced in article 15, paragraph 1.

- 15.6 The text then offers a non-exclusive list of the precautions that may be required. The list is divided for jurisdictional purposes, so that the general requirements as to staff training and the "promotion of integrity" are to be imposed by the party within whose territory the commercial carrier has its principal place of business, whereas the more specific requirements are to be imposed on any carrier operating within the territory of a party (which will include any case in which the carriage begins or ends in, or passes through, that territory).
- 15.7 The individual items are self-explanatory and call for very little further comment here. "Container" in paragraph 2, subparagraph (b), clause (ii), is used in the general sense of the outer packaging of a consignment, rather than in the more technical meaning it has come to have in transport terminology. In the first draft there were additional items, relating to the limitation of access to means of transport and cargo at international ports and to the scheduling of arrivals of means of transport, where possible, to facilitate effective customs processing. The latter proposal received insufficient support and does not appear in the final text, but elements of the former are to be found in paragraph 3.
- 15.8 It was emphasized throughout the discussions by the representative of the United States that a party was free to apply the measures set out in both parts of paragraph 2 to any carrier; the two subparagraphs were not mutually exclusive.<sup>681</sup>

# Paragraph 3

3. Each Party shall seek to ensure that commercial carriers and the appropriate authorities at points of entry and exit and other customs control areas co-operate, with a view to preventing unauthorized access to means of transport and cargo and to implementing appropriate security measures.

# Commentary

15.9 As has just been noted (see paragraph 15.7 above), paragraph 3 reflects ideas contained in an earlier version of paragraph 2. It draws attention to the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>681</sup>Official Records, vol. I ..., document E/CN.7/1988/2 (Part II), p. 27; ibid., Official Records, vol. II ..., Summary records of plenary meetings, 7th plenary meeting, para, 66; and ibid., Summary records of meetings of the Committees of the Whole, Committee II, 3rd meeting, para. 37.

vulnerability of means of transport and cargo while awaiting customs clearance. The only way of minimizing the risks is to prevent unauthorized access to means of transport and cargo and to take whatever further security measures are appropriate. These may usefully be similar to those already in place in many airports to restrict access for general safety reasons. The obligation placed on the parties under paragraph 3 is merely to seek to ensure that carriers and appropriate authorities cooperate in those matters.

### Implementation considerations: article 15 as a whole

Article 15, paragraph 1, obligates each party to take "appropriate 15.10 measures" to ensure that means of transport operated by commercial carriers are not used in the commission of the offences of illicit traffic enumerated in article 3, paragraph 1. It is also envisaged that such measures may include the conclusion of "special arrangements" with such commercial carriers; in this regard it is important to remember that the Convention affords a fairly broad definition of that term (see paragraph 15.2 above). 682 While those charged with the implementation of article 15 must ensure that all those within the scope of the definition are subject to the "appropriate measures", consideration might also be given to the question of whether, in the light of national circumstances or prevailing international practice, to include other related actors. For example, in 1995, in the report of the Working Group on Maritime Cooperation, it was recommended that "commercial carriers, manning agencies, shipowners, port authorities, trade bodies and other professional groups active in maritime transport should be associated on the basis of voluntary cooperation in the fight against illicit drug traffic."683

15.11 Recognition of the need to encourage those involved in the transport of passengers and goods, whether by road, rail, vessels or aircraft, 684 to cooperate with the appropriate authorities to prevent illicit trafficking activities pre-dates the conclusion of the Convention. For example, the Comprehensive Multi-disciplinary Outline contemplates the conclusion of detailed arrangements with

 $<sup>^{682}</sup>$ See also above, comments on article 1, subparagraph (d).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>683</sup>"Report of the meeting of the Working Group on Maritime Cooperation, held at Vienna from 4 to 13 September 1994 and from 20 to 24 January 1995" (E/CN.7/1995/13), recommendation 23.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>684</sup>See, for example, the Programme of Co-operation and Assistance to Deter Narcotics Smuggling via Commercial Aircraft, agreed between the United States Customs Service and the Air Transport Association of America in March 1985.

participants from the transport sector in which the respective responsibilities of those involved would be established. Such arrangements "should whenever possible be based upon the Memoranda of Understanding established between CCC [the Customs Co-operation Council, also called the World Customs Organization] and the various international organizations concerned, e.g. the International Chamber of Shipping and the International Air Transport Association ..., and any accompanying guidelines detailing the cooperative measures to be taken by both the authorities and the members of those organizations". 685

- 15.12 States that are contemplating the establishment of a programme of negotiations with commercial carriers for the first time are in a position to draw upon the ever-growing body of practice generated by other States since 1988. Those initiatives have generally sought to build upon existing relationships with the local customs service or other appropriate authority by articulating practical measures through which the participants can enhance cooperation in tackling the problem of the illicit traffic in narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances. Further guidance on the appropriate scope and content of such a programme may be gleaned from an examination of the content of article 15, paragraphs 2 and 3.
- 15.13 While not mandated by the 1988 Convention, it is common for arrangements with commercial carriers to include coverage of supporting activities to be undertaken by the appropriate authorities in such areas as the provision of training, education, advice and information. For example, the provision of guidance to the private sector on how to identify unusual situations which may be indicative of illicit drug trafficking has proved in practice to be particularly beneficial. This might usefully be complemented by the establishment of guidelines and procedures for reporting suspicious situations and related matters to the appropriate authorities.
- 15.14 It will be recalled that elsewhere in the 1988 Convention a similar approach has been resorted to, based on the concept of the State reaching out to engage participants in legitimate commerce in the effort to combat the illicit

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>685</sup>Report of the International Conference on Drug Abuse and Illicit Trafficking, Vienna, 17-26 June 1987 (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.87.I.18), chap. I, sect. A, para. 297.

<sup>686</sup> Ibid.

 $<sup>^{687}</sup>$ This is a key feature of the Anti-Drugs Alliance established in the United Kingdom by Her Majesty's Customs and Excise.

traffic. The clearest example is to be found in the prevention of diversion of substances frequently used in the illicit manufacture of narcotic drugs or psychotropic substances.<sup>688</sup> Similarly, as has been seen elsewhere, since 1988 States have come to emphasize the importance of this cooperative dimension in their efforts to prevent the use of the financial system for the purpose of money-laundering.<sup>689</sup> The elaboration of policy in relation to commercial carriers should, for reasons of consistency, uniformity and insight, take cognizance of relevant initiatives in those fields.

- 15.15 Paragraph 1 is, however, based on the premise that "appropriate measures" taken by parties will be broader than the mere conclusion of special arrangements with commercial carriers.<sup>690</sup> Some parties have provided for the imposition of monetary penalties and/or for the seizure and forfeiture of the means of transportation that have been used in illicit drug trafficking activities.<sup>691</sup> The imposition of such penalties may be related to the conclusion of special arrangements of the types discussed above. For instance, in the United States, participation by a commercial carrier in such an arrangement "will be considered as a mitigating factor in any seizure or penalty decision or recommendation should illegal drugs be found aboard a conveyance belonging to that carrier".<sup>692</sup>
- 15.16 In any review of the adequacy of existing law in this sphere, which could be carried out in tandem with that relating to the confiscation of instrumentalities pursuant to article 5 of the Convention,<sup>693</sup> attention should be paid to the criterion of "reasonable precautions" established under paragraph 2. This formula was part of the compromise involved in the amendment of the earlier draft text (see paragraph 15.3 above). Some countries have, pursuant to the authority conferred under article 24, decided to impose a more exacting standard

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>688</sup>See above, comments on article 12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>689</sup>See above, comments on article 3, paragraph 1, subparagraph (b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>690</sup>See above, comments on article 15, paragraph 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>691</sup>For the position in the United States, see 19 U.S.C. 1584 and 19 U.S.C. 1594.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>692</sup>Manual for Compliance with the United Nations Convention against Illicit Traffic in Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances (Washington, D.C., United States Department of Justice, 1992), p. 53.

 $<sup>^{693}</sup>$ See above, comments on article 5, paragraph 1, subparagraph (b), paragraph 2 and paragraph 4, subparagraphs (a) and (b).

of care on commercial carriers,<sup>694</sup> and those responsible for implementing measures in this area will have to consider whether or not it would be appropriate to follow such broadly drawn precedents. Similarly, while the structure of paragraph 2 differentiates between carriers on the basis of whether their principal place of business is or is not within the territory of the party concerned, some States have declined to give expression to this distinction in their national policies and have opted for a uniform approach. The implementation process will thus have to include an assessment of the most appropriate posture to adopt in this regard.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>694</sup>See, for example, "Report of the United States Delegation to the United Nations Conference for the adoption of a Convention against Illicit Traffic in Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances", 101st Congress, 1st Session, Senate, Exec. Rept. 101-15, p. 91.

#### **ARTICLE 16**

### Commercial documents and labelling of exports

#### General comments

- 16.1 Hiding the identity of a product is one of the most frequently used methods for diverting or smuggling narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances. The importance of accurate labelling had indeed been acknowledged in the earlier conventions<sup>695</sup> and in 1986 the first Interregional Meeting of Heads of National Drug Law Enforcement Agencies had called for measures to ensure that consignments of narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances were correctly described on all accompanying papers, customs documents and manifests.<sup>696</sup> During the meetings of the open-ended intergovernmental expert group, however, the contents of what was to become article 16 proved controversial. A draft article was prepared but some representatives expressed reservations, suggesting that accurate labelling might induce criminal diversion by facilitating identification of the contents of a consignment.<sup>697</sup> It was finally agreed, however, that such a risk was offset by the preventive value of that practice.
- 16.2 In the 1961 Convention, there are detailed provisions in article 31 regarding import and export authorizations, which are required to state the name of the drug, with the generic name or the international non-proprietary name, if any, the quantity to be imported or exported, and the name and address of the importer and exporter.<sup>698</sup> A copy of the export authorization must accompany each consignment.<sup>699</sup> Under article 12 of the 1971 Convention, the import or export authorization required for substances in Schedule I and Schedule II must

 $<sup>^{695}</sup>$ 1961 Convention and 1961 Convention as amended, art. 31; 1971 Convention, art. 12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>696</sup>See "First Interregional Meeting of Heads of National Drug Law Enforcement Agencies (Interregional HONLEA), Vienna, Austria, 28 July-1 August 1986: report" (E/CN.7/1987/3), para. 2, recommendation 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>697</sup>Official Records, vol. I ..., document E/CN.7/1988/2 (Part II), para. 226.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>698</sup>1961 Convention, art. 31, para. 4, subpara. (b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>699</sup>1961 Convention, art. 31, para. 6.

contain similar information<sup>700</sup> and much of the same information is required for the export declaration for substances listed in Schedule III.<sup>701</sup>

16.3 The final text of article 16 deals in paragraph 1 with the contents of certain commercial documents and in paragraph 2 with labelling. It also deals with consignments of narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances and can be compared with the provisions of article 12, under which it is provided that each party must, with respect to substances listed in Table I and Table II of the Convention, require that imports and exports be properly labelled and documented and that commercial documents such as invoices, cargo manifests, customs, transport and other shipping documents must include the names, as stated in Table I or Table II, of the substances being imported or exported, the quantity being imported or exported, and the name and address of the exporter, the importer and, when available, the consignee. 702

# Paragraph 1

1. Each Party shall require that lawful exports of narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances be properly documented. In addition to the requirements for documentation under article 31 of the 1961 Convention, article 31 of the 1961 Convention as amended and article 12 of the 1971 Convention, commercial documents such as invoices, cargo manifests, customs, transport and other shipping documents shall include the names of the narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances being exported as set out in the respective Schedules of the 1961 Convention, the 1961 Convention as amended and the 1971 Convention, the quantity being exported, and the name and address of the exporter, the importer and, when available, the consignee.

# Commentary

16.4 In paragraph 1, the information to be contained in relevant commercial documents is specified, in addition to the documents required under the 1961 and 1971 Conventions. The listed types of commercial documents (invoices,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>700</sup>1971 Convention, art. 12, para. 1, subpara. (b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>701</sup>1971 Convention, art. 12, para. 2, subpara. (a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>702</sup>Art. 12, para. 9, subpara. (*d*).

cargo manifests, customs, transport and other shipping documents) are not exclusive. For example, air waybills are not expressly mentioned, though they could be treated as a type of "transport document", but they are clearly within the scope of the paragraph. The term "commercial documents" covers not only the documents that may accompany the consignment but also documents connected with but not accompanying the goods.<sup>703</sup> An example of additional information that might usefully be included in such commercial documents is the manufacturer's "batch number", which could be useful for identifying and tracing substances.

### Paragraph 2

2. Each Party shall require that consignments of narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances being exported be not mislabelled.

#### Commentary

16.5 Paragraph 2 makes no positive requirement as to the labelling of packages. It was, however, judged desirable to oblige parties to prohibit the mislabelling of consignments, not only in the interests of those in charge of the control of narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances but also to counter other problems such as the mislabelling of non-pharmaceutical products purporting to be medicaments, a matter of concern to WHO.<sup>704</sup> The wording would thus also assist authorities responsible for public health and the control of medicaments in general. To prevent such mislabelling, unauthorized abbreviations of names or codes should not be used; modifications in the names or quantities, including corrections or deletions, should not be permitted; and containers should be clearly and indelibly labelled.

# Implementation considerations: article 16 as a whole

16.6 The Expert Consultation on the Control of Brokers and Transit Operators Handling Psychotropic Substances and Precursors, organized jointly by the International Narcotics Control Board and the Pompidou Group of the Council of Europe in May 1995, concluded that the intentional mislabelling of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>703</sup>Official Records, vol. II ..., Summary records of meetings of the Committees of the Whole, Committee II, 4th meeting, para. 34.

 $<sup>^{704}</sup>$ Ibid., para. 42 (referring to a resolution of the 1988 World Health Assembly (WHA 41.26)).

goods was a major factor contributing to the diversion of both drugs and precursors from licit channels into the illicit traffic. The group recommended that mislabelling and falsification of commercial documents to facilitate such diversion should be made a punishable offence, with more severe penalties than for comparable offences involving non-controlled substances.<sup>705</sup>

- 16.7 A number of tell-tale signs should arouse the suspicion of control authorities and may indicate an attempt to obfuscate the origin or nature of a shipment.<sup>706</sup> Particular attention should be paid to any change in packaging or labelling from that of the original manufacturer or shipper, especially if the alteration is known or suspected to have taken place in a transit State or in a free trade zone or free port. Similarly, authorities in a transit State should be wary of any request for a change in the packaging or labelling of consignments in transit.
- 16.8 The advantages and disadvantages of specific labelling have already been debated at the international level (see paragraph 16.1 above), and the provisions of article 12, paragraph 9, subparagraph (d), and article 16, paragraph 1, require all documentation to reflect the names of narcotic drugs, psychotropic substances and precursors as they appear in the Schedules of the 1961 and 1971 Conventions and the Tables of the 1988 Convention. Any non-specific nomenclature (such as "organic chemicals" for "toluene") should provoke a closer examination of the shipment to determine whether or not it is bona fide. In this connection, national control authorities will find it useful and convenient to consult and use the specific codes in the Harmonized System of Customs Nomenclature of the World Customs Organization.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>705</sup>See, "Report of proceedings, conclusions and recommendations" (INCB/PS/1995/W.4), Expert Consultation on the Control of Brokers and Transit Operators Handling Psychotropic Substances and Precursors, organized by the International Narcotics Control Board and the Pompidou Group, Vienna, 3-5 May 1995.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>706</sup>See, the International Narcotics Control Board "Guidelines for use by national authorities in preventing the diversion of precursors and essential chemicals".

#### **ARTICLE 17**

#### Illicit traffic by sea

#### General comments

- 17.1 Article 17 contains highly innovative law enforcement provisions designed to promote international cooperation in the interdiction of vessels engaged in the illicit traffic in drugs by sea. The article is intimately connected with a number of other key provisions of the 1988 Convention. Thus, while its focus is on facilitating the acquisition of enforcement jurisdiction in relation to suspect vessels, the overall effectiveness of the scheme depends on the possession by States of appropriate prescriptive jurisdiction. This is the function of article 4.707 Furthermore, law enforcement activity in this area is but one aspect of the wider issue of police and customs cooperation to combat and suppress the commission of relevant offences. It should therefore be examined in conjunction with, among others, article 9 (Other forms of co-operation and training).708
- 17.2 Despite the importance of drug smuggling by sea, the earlier conventions on drug trafficking contained no express provisions on the topic. There was some reference to the matter in the 1958 Convention on the Territorial Sea and the Contiguous Zone. By way of contrast, there is no reference to illicit drug trafficking in the 1958 Convention on the High Seas. 11

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>707</sup>See above, comments on article 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>708</sup>See above, comments on article 9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>709</sup>See W. C. Gilmore, "Drug trafficking by sea", Marine Policy, No. 183, 1991.

 $<sup>^{710}</sup>$ Article 19, paragraph 1, subparagraph (d), authorizes the coastal State to exercise criminal jurisdiction on board a foreign ship passing laterally through the territorial sea if such action "is necessary for the suppression of illicit traffic in narcotic drugs"; paragraph 2 of the article leaves unaffected the right of the coastal State to exercise such jurisdiction on board a foreign ship passing through the territorial sea after leaving internal waters.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>711</sup>The 1958 Convention on the High Seas authorizes boarding of a foreign merchant vessel on the high seas only on suspicion of piracy or of the slave trade, or because the vessel is actually of the same nationality but misusing a foreign flag or refuses to show its flag (article 22).

- 17.3 The first substantial provisions applicable beyond the territorial sea are those of article 108 of the 1982 United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea.<sup>712</sup> That article, entitled "Illicit traffic in narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances", reads as follows:
  - "1. All States shall co-operate in the suppression of illicit traffic in narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances engaged in by ships on the high seas contrary to international conventions.
  - 2. Any State which has reasonable grounds for believing that a ship flying its flag is engaged in illicit traffic in narcotic drugs or psychotropic substances may request the cooperation of other States to suppress such traffic."

By virtue of article 58, paragraph 2, of the same Convention, this obligation applies in the exclusive economic zone as well as on the high seas.<sup>713</sup>

17.4 Although opinion was initially against making specific reference to the question of boarding vessels flying foreign flags in any revision of the 1961 Convention,<sup>714</sup> it was the view of the Commission on Narcotic Drugs that a provision should be included in what became the 1988 Convention, and an article on the subject was included in the earliest drafts. The present text is a considerably developed version of the text included in those drafts.

# Paragraph 1

1. The Parties shall co-operate to the fullest extent possible to suppress illicit traffic by sea, in conformity with the international law of the sea.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>712</sup>The Law of the Sea: United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.83.V.5).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>713</sup>The paragraph reads: "Articles 88 to 115 and other pertinent rules of international law apply to the exclusive economic zone in so far as they are not incompatible with this Part", namely part V of the convention, entitled "Exclusive economic zone".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>714</sup>See the report of the Expert Group on the Functioning, Adequacy and Enhancement of the Single Convention on Narcotic Drugs, 1961 (E/CN.7/1983/2/Add.1), para. 4.

#### Commentary

17.5 The text of paragraph 1 builds on article 108, paragraph 1, of the 1982 Convention on the Law of the Sea (see paragraph 17.3 above). It imposes an obligation on parties to cooperate in this matter, the importance of which is emphasized by the words "to the fullest extent possible". The reference to the international law of the sea<sup>715</sup> links the 1988 Convention to the relevant articles of the 1982 Convention on the Law of the Sea in that the relevant rules of the international law of the sea are reflected, in large measure, in the latter convention.

### Paragraph 2

2. A Party which has reasonable grounds to suspect that a vessel flying its flag or not displaying a flag or marks of registry is engaged in illicit traffic may request the assistance of other Parties in suppressing its use for that purpose. The Parties so requested shall render such assistance within the means available to them.

#### **Commentary**

17.6 Paragraph 2 develops the text of article 108, paragraph 2, of the 1982 Convention on the Law of the Sea (see paragraph 17.3 above) with respect to the assistance that a party may request in suppressing the use of a vessel flying its flag for illicit drug trafficking. In contrast to article 108, the provisions of the present paragraph also apply to ships without nationality. The second sentence qualifies the obligation of requested parties to render such assistance, as the phrase "within the means available to them" recognizes that there may be practical limitations on the ability of some parties to assist as fully as requested (see paragraphs 17.43-17.46 below).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>715</sup>An amendment to include the reference was originally withdrawn (see *Official Records*, vol. II ..., Summary records of meetings of the Committees of the Whole, Committee II, 17th meeting, para. 34), but the words were added again at a later stage as a result of informal discussions.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>716</sup>The 1982 Convention deals with ships without nationality in its article 92 (Status of ships) and article 110 (Right of visit).

### Paragraph 3

3. A Party which has reasonable grounds to suspect that a vessel exercising freedom of navigation in accordance with international law and flying the flag or displaying marks of registry of another Party is engaged in illicit traffic may so notify the flag State, request confirmation of registry and, if confirmed, request authorization from the flag State to take appropriate measures in regard to that vessel.

#### Commentary

- 17.7 The drafting of paragraph 3 proved highly controversial. That was not because of any difficulty with the principle but because of disagreement over the description of the maritime area to which it applied. In the draft before the Conference, the text referred to a vessel "beyond the external limits of the territorial sea of any State". The An earlier version of the text had used the expression "the high seas as defined in Part VII of the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea".
- 17.8 The reference to the exercise of "freedom of navigation in accordance with international law" in paragraph 3 and the statement in paragraph 11 that any action taken in accordance with article 17 must "take due account of the need not to interfere with or affect the rights and obligations and the exercise of jurisdiction of coastal States in accordance with the international law of the sea" are the result of a difficult compromise between those States which supported the exercise of enforcement powers beyond the outer limits of the territorial sea and those which claimed that other States did not have the right to take such action in the exclusive economic zone of a coastal State. The discussions that took place during the Conference indicate that there was general agreement that the provisions of the 1982 Convention on the Law of the Sea would constitute the basis for article 17 and that the "international law" referred to in paragraph 3

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>717</sup>See *Official Records*, vol. I ..., document E/CONF.82/12, "Article 12" (E/CONF.82/C.2/L.13/Add.11), sect. I, para. 1, p. 154.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>718</sup>Ibid., document E/CN.7/1987/2, sect. II ("Article 12").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>719</sup>See, for example, *Official Records*, vol. II ..., Summary records of meetings of the Committees of the Whole, Committee II, 17th meeting, paras. 7-52; 20th meeting, paras. 1-4; 28th meeting, para. 1; and 29th meeting, paras. 1-128 and annex.

and the "international law of the sea" referred to in paragraph 11 were that law as reflected in the 1982 Convention.

- 17.9 Under article 87, paragraph 1, subparagraph (a), and article 58, paragraph 1, of the 1982 Convention on the Law of the Sea, all States, whether coastal or land-locked, enjoy freedom of navigation on the high seas and in the exclusive economic zone. That freedom is subject to the general responsibility imposed on flag States to act in conformity with the 1982 Convention and other rules of international law, to have due regard to the interests of other States on the high seas and to have due regard to the rights and duties of the coastal State in the exclusive economic zone. The rights and duties of the coastal State in the exclusive economic zone are provided for in article 56 of the 1982 Convention.<sup>720</sup>
- 17.10 The rights and obligations and the exercise of jurisdiction of the coastal State under the 1982 Convention on the Law of the Sea, which are fully protected under article 17, paragraph 11, of the 1988 Convention, include the coastal State's right to exercise jurisdiction in its contiguous zone in order to prevent and punish infringement of its customs and fiscal laws and regulations, 721 and to exercise the right of hot pursuit. 722
- 17.11 In connection with the former right, State practice shows, and the discussions that took place during the Conference generally support, the assumption that illicit traffic in narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances is accepted as constituting an infringement of the customs and fiscal laws and regulations within the territory or territorial sea of a coastal State. Article 33 of the 1982 Convention on the Law of the Sea permits a coastal State to establish a contiguous zone extending to a maximum limit of 24 miles from the baselines from which the breadth of the territorial sea is measured, in which it may exercise the control necessary to prevent infringement of its "customs, fiscal, immigration or sanitary laws and regulations".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>720</sup>They are, in essence, "sovereign rights" over the natural resources of the zone, and jurisdiction with respect to the establishment of artificial islands, installations and structures, marine scientific research, the protection and preservation of the marine environment, and other rights and duties provided for in the 1982 Convention.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>721</sup>1982 Convention, art. 33.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>722</sup>Ibid., art. 111.

- A number of representatives made statements in the plenary meetings regarding their understanding of the position reached in the negotiations. The United States representative observed<sup>723</sup> that, in his view, paragraph 11 referred to "the limited set of situations in which a coastal State had rights beyond the outer limit of the territorial sea: those involved hot pursuit in the exclusive economic zone and on the high seas and the exercise of contiguous zone jurisdiction". The paragraph did not imply endorsement of any broader coastal State claims regarding illicit traffic interdiction in the exclusive economic zone. A statement to similar effect was made by the representative of the Netherlands, supported by the representative of the United Kingdom.<sup>724</sup> The representative of Mauritania observed that it was his understanding that the Convention would be applied "without prejudice to the rights of coastal States in territorial waters and their prerogatives, and in the contiguous zone and the exclusive economic zone under the international law of the sea". The representatives of India and the Ukrainian Soviet Socialist Republic submitted written observations to the same effect for inclusion in the Official Records under a procedure adopted by Committee II.726
- 17.13 In paragraph 3, a party that has reasonable grounds to suspect that the vessel concerned is engaged in illicit traffic is required to approach the flag State, first to confirm the registry of the vessel and secondly to obtain authorization to take appropriate measures. Very little is said regarding the manner in which a request is to be made or the contents of a request; that is in sharp contrast to the detailed provisions in article 7 in the context of mutual legal assistance. There are, however, procedural provisions in paragraph 7, which are considered below, and paragraph 4 is concerned with some "appropriate measures" to be taken.
- 17.14 In paragraph 3, and indeed in paragraph 4, reference is made to authorization by the flag State. That wording was deliberately chosen to stress the positive nature of the decision which the flag State, in the exercise of its sovereignty, was to take with regard to its vessel. Nothing in the article was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>723</sup>Official Records, vol. II ..., Summary records of plenary meetings, 7th plenary meeting, para. 80.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>724</sup>Ibid., paras. 81 and 83.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>725</sup>Ibid., para. 84.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>726</sup>Ibid., Summary records of meetings of the Committees of the Whole, Committee II, 29th meeting, annex.

intended in any way to affect the rights of the flag State with regard to its vessel and there is no obligation on a flag State to provide the authorization requested; it is entirely within the discretion of that State to decide whether or not to allow another party to act against its vessel.<sup>727</sup>

17.15 In the discussion of paragraph 3, the representative of Canada indicated that it was not the practice of the Canadian Government, when responding to requests of the type to be covered by the paragraph, to grant permission; its practice, instead, was to express no objection to the proposed action. The Government considered that to be consistent with the provisions of the Convention.<sup>728</sup>

### Paragraph 4

- 4. In accordance with paragraph 3 or in accordance with treaties in force between them or in accordance with any agreement or arrangement otherwise reached between those Parties, the flag State may authorize the requesting State to, inter alia:
  - (a) Board the vessel;
  - (b) Search the vessel;
- (c) If evidence of involvement in illicit traffic is found, take appropriate action with respect to the vessel, persons and cargo on board.

### Commentary

17.16 Paragraph 4 describes action that may be taken. It is related to paragraph 3 in so far as it sets out action that may be authorized under that paragraph, but it also codifies practices that may be authorized in accordance with treaties in force between the relevant parties or in accordance with any agreement or arrangement otherwise reached between them.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>727</sup>Ibid., 29th meeting, para. 7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>728</sup>Ibid., 29th meeting, annex.

17.17 The drafting of the paragraph was intended to make clear the disjunctive nature of the various processes which might be taken against the vessel concerned: boarding; search; and, only if evidence of illicit traffic were found, further appropriate action with respect to the vessel, persons and cargo on board. There is no greater specificity in respect of the further appropriate action: a reference to the seizure of the vessel in an earlier draft had deliberately been omitted, but this omission was balanced by the inclusion of the phrase *inter alia*, which indicates that the range of possible actions is not limited to those expressly mentioned.

# Paragraph 5

5. Where action is taken pursuant to this article, the Parties concerned shall take due account of the need not to endanger the safety of life at sea, the security of the vessel and the cargo or to prejudice the commercial and legal interests of the flag State or any other interested State.

#### **Commentary**

17.18 Paragraph 5 was inserted to ensure that action under paragraphs 3 and 4 did not endanger the vessel concerned, its crew or cargo, or the legal rights or legitimate commercial interests of the flag State or any other interested State. The language is carefully chosen: the parties are to "take due account of" the considerations listed in the text; there is no absolute language, a recognition, for example, that some prejudice to legitimate commercial interests may be inevitable if the onward progress of the vessel is halted or delayed.

# Paragraph 6

6. The flag State may, consistent with its obligations in paragraph 1 of this article, subject its authorization to conditions to be mutually agreed between it and the requesting Party, including conditions relating to responsibility.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>729</sup>Ibid., 29th meeting, para. 8.

<sup>730</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>731</sup>See below, comments on article 17, paragraph 6.

#### Commentary

17.19 It has already been emphasized (see paragraph 17.14 above) that no party is obliged to grant the authorizations referred to in paragraphs 3 and 4. The additional point is made that, where authorization is granted, it may be subject to conditions; it is not an "all-or-nothing" situation. Although the conditions are to be mutually agreed, the reality is that the flag State can define the terms on which it is prepared to grant the necessary authorization (see paragraphs 17.35-17.36 below).

17.20 A particular concern lay behind the inclusion of such a provision and it is reflected in the final phrase, the reference to conditions relating to responsibility. The responsibility or liability<sup>732</sup> meant is for damage to the vessel or its cargo or to any third party, or injury to the crew, which may be caused in the course of, or as a result of, the boarding or search of the vessel or the taking of further appropriate action. Whether any responsibility exists in respect of damage suffered by the requested party will be a matter for the law governing any claim; it is not dealt with in the Convention. In this context, the reference to the mutual agreement of conditions may be more meaningful, as jurisdiction and choice of law in respect of any claim could be mutually agreed; this would, however, be appropriately considered in formulating standard practices between pairs of parties and not in the context of a request for immediate authorization.

### Paragraph 7

7. For the purposes of paragraphs 3 and 4 of this article, a Party shall respond expeditiously to a request from another Party to determine whether a vessel that is flying its flag is entitled to do so, and to requests for authorization made pursuant to paragraph 3. At the time of becoming a Party to this Convention, each Party shall designate an authority or, when necessary, authorities to receive and respond to such requests. Such designation shall be notified through the Secretary-General to all other Parties within one month of the designation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>732</sup>The word "responsibility" was preferred in order to accommodate the needs of different legal systems.

#### Commentary

17.21 In paragraph 7, parties are required to respond expeditiously to requests made in accordance with paragraphs 3 and 4 and, as one means of securing that expedition, the concept is introduced of an authority designated to respond to requests. A party may "when necessary" designate more than one authority. The Convention text does not encourage this (for in practice it can lead to delays where the request is initially sent to an inappropriate authority) but legal and geographical considerations may make it essential that different authorities be designated in respect of different areas (see paragraphs 17.28-17.31 below). The text assumes direct communication with the designated authority rather than any indirect approach such as one made via the diplomatic channel; such direct communication is highly desirable given the urgency of such requests.

#### Paragraph 8

8. A Party which has taken any action in accordance with this article shall promptly inform the flag State concerned of the results of that action.

### Commentary

17.22 The provision in paragraph 8 underlines the authority of the flag State over actions taking place with respect to its vessels. At a more practical level, it makes for good relations between the relevant authorities that information should be promptly exchanged.

# Paragraph 9

9. The Parties shall consider entering into bilateral or regional agreements or arrangements to carry out, or to enhance the effectiveness of, the provisions of this article.

# Commentary

17.23 Paragraph 9 is one of the exhortatory paragraphs of the Convention, imposing no obligation upon parties save that of giving consideration to certain possibilities. Paragraph 4 makes express reference to the possibility of agreements or arrangements between parties in the context of the authorizations that may be granted under that paragraph. The present provision signals the usefulness of such agreements and arrangements across the whole range of

issues covered by this article. They may be bilateral or regional, and may deal with the detailed implementation of the terms of the article (for example, means of communication to ensure expeditious handling of requests) or the enhancement of its effectiveness (for example, by the exchange of relevant information within the spirit of article 9, paragraph 1, of the Convention).

#### Paragraph 10

10. Action pursuant to paragraph 4 of this article shall be carried out only by warships or military aircraft, or other ships or aircraft clearly marked and identifiable as being on government service and authorized to that effect.

#### Commentary

17.24 The wording of paragraph 10 is based on that of article 107 and article 111, paragraph 5, of the 1982 Convention on the Law of the Sea. It is designed to restrict the types of ships and aircraft that may properly be used in interdiction operations.

### Paragraph 11

11. Any action taken in accordance with this article shall take due account of the need not to interfere with or affect the rights and obligations and the exercise of jurisdiction of coastal States in accordance with the international law of the sea.

# Commentary

17.25 Paragraph 11, a particularly important one, was included as part of the resolution of the long discussions on the drafting of paragraph 3 of the article and has been examined in the commentary on that paragraph (see paragraphs 17.8-17.10 above).

# Implementation considerations: article 17 as a whole

#### General comments

17.26 As emphasized above, article 17 of the Convention is a highly innovative law enforcement provision designed to promote international cooperation in the interdiction of vessels engaged in the illicit traffic of drugs by

sea. To that end, it formulates various procedures, practices and standards that need to be implemented effectively by parties. Article 17 is, however, essentially a framework provision and, unlike article 7, on mutual legal assistance, is not a self-contained "mini-treaty". 733 Consequently, those responsible for implementing it will have to address themselves to a broad range of both policy and practical concerns. It must be acknowledged that international practice in this sphere is less fully developed than in many other areas of cooperation dealt with in the 1988 Convention. Guidance in some areas was given in the report of the meeting of the Working Group on Maritime Cooperation, held at Vienna from 19 to 23 September 1994 and from 20 to 24 February 1995,734 which was endorsed by the Commission on Narcotic Drugs in its resolution 8 (XXXVIII).<sup>735</sup> Similarly, there is a small but growing treaty practice in this area of concern which may be worth examining. While much of it is bilateral in nature, 736 it has recently been supplemented by a detailed multilateral instrument, the 1995 Council of Europe Agreement on Illicit Traffic by Sea, Implementing Article 17 of the United Nations Convention against Illicit Traffic in Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances. 737

17.27 In article 17, law enforcement activity is envisaged as taking place beyond the outer limit of the territorial sea and as being conducted in a manner that is "in accordance with the international law of the sea" (see paragraphs 17.7-17.9 above). The centrality of this concern with pre-existing norms of the international law of the sea is further reflected in the decision to include the non-derogation provision of paragraph 11. The "international law of the sea" is reflected in the provisions of the 1982 Convention on the Law of the Sea. It is therefore important to ensure that article 17 is implemented in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>733</sup>See above, comments on article 7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>734</sup>E/CN.7/1995/13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>735</sup>See Official Records of the Economic and Social Council, 1995, Supplement No. 9 (E/1995/29), chap. XII, sect. A.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>736</sup>See, for example, the exchange of notes of 13 November 1981 between the Government of the United Kingdom and the Government of the United States concerning cooperation in the suppression of the unlawful importation of narcotic drugs into the United States; and the Treaty between Spain and Italy to combat illicit drug trafficking at sea of 23 March 1990.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>737</sup>For the text of this important Agreement and the associated official Explanatory Report, see Council of Europe document CDPC (94) 22, Addendum of 27 June 1994 (European Treaty Series No. 156).

conformity with that Convention. Given the specialized nature of this complex branch of international law, the preparation of a manual of practical guidance may prove useful for those involved in the decision-making process.

### The interdiction of foreign flag vessels

17.28 As a practical matter, the most common situation in which article 17 applies is when the law enforcement authorities of one State wish to take action against a vessel flying the flag of another party to the 1988 Convention. While not all countries have the technical capability to project their national police power into ocean areas, all are potential recipients of requests for information or authorization from others made in accordance with paragraphs 3 and 4. Consequently, in paragraph 7 each party is required to designate an authority or authorities to receive and respond to such requests. This designation must, in turn, be transmitted to the Secretary-General, who will notify all other participating States. This essential contact information, including addresses, telephone and facsimile numbers, and hours of operation, is published by the United Nations and updated on a periodic basis. 739

17.29 While it is for each country to determine the appropriate location for its designated national authority and the powers and functions to be entrusted to it, the need for it to be in a position to respond effectively and efficiently to incoming requests is, if anything, even more important than in other areas of international cooperation. This flows from the fact that such requests will emerge in an enforcement context and will relate directly to the often difficult operational environment presented by open ocean areas. Given the fact that law enforcement action against the flag vessels of other parties can, under paragraphs 3 and 4, only be undertaken with the prior authorization of the flag State, the opportunity to take effective measures often may be lost if there are delays in responding to such requests.

17.30 In recognition of this fact, parties to the 1995 Council of Europe Agreement are required "so far as is practicable" to ensure that their designated authorities are in a position to respond to requests for authorization on a

 $<sup>^{738}</sup>$ This would also include land-locked States that have authorized vessels to fly their flags.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>739</sup>Competent National Authorities Under the International Drug Control Treaties, published by the United Nations in the ST/NAR.3 symbol series.

24-hour-a-day, seven-days-a-week basis.<sup>740</sup> Furthermore, they are obligated to "communicate a decision ... as soon as possible and, wherever practicable, within four hours of receipt of the request".<sup>741</sup> In its report, the Working Group on Maritime Cooperation also emphasized the importance of speedy decision-making and efficient communication in this regard.<sup>742</sup>

- 17.31 In order to ensure that the designated authority is in a position to respond expeditiously to a request from another party, as required in paragraph 7, it is highly desirable to provide for direct contact between the relevant national authorities (as apparently assumed by the drafters) rather than to use the much more cumbersome diplomatic channel. Thus, the provision of appropriate telephone and facsimile links should be a high priority. In situations where such direct contact is not practicable, parties may wish to consider the use of channels of communication available through Interpol or the World Customs Organization.<sup>743</sup>
- 17.32 Pursuant to article 17, paragraphs 3 and 4, the designated authority will be subject to at least two different, but clearly interrelated, types of request. The first will be to confirm the registry (and hence the nationality) of a suspect vessel. To that end, it is essential that each State should maintain a register containing information on vessels authorized to fly its flag and that the same should be readily accessible to the designated authority. It is widely acknowledged, however, that certain countries may require technical assistance in their efforts to upgrade their domestic systems in this regard, in order to ensure that the information is available in a form that will make it possible to respond promptly to requests.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>740</sup>1995 Council of Europe Agreement, art. 17, para. 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>741</sup>Ibid., art. 7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>742</sup>"Report of the meeting of the Working Group on Maritime Cooperation, held at Vienna from 19 to 23 September 1994 and from 20 to 24 February 1995" (E/CN.7/1995/13), recommendation 16.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>743</sup>See, for example, the 1995 Council of Europe Agreement, article 18, paragraph 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>744</sup>"Report of the meeting of the Working Group on Maritime Cooperation, held at Vienna from 19 to 23 September 1994 and from 20 to 24 February 1995" (E/CN.7/1995/13), recommendation 1.

- 17.33 The second type of request envisaged in these paragraphs is for authorization "to take appropriate measures in regard to that vessel". Such measures may include, *inter alia*, boarding and search of the vessel and, where "evidence of involvement in illicit traffic is found," the taking of "appropriate action with respect to the vessel, persons and cargo on board". Any such decision, which is in the sole discretion of the requested State, may be made subject to certain conditions. In order to be in a position to respond promptly and consistently to such requests, the requested State will need to be provided with sufficient relevant information on the facts of each case. It will also need to have in place a settled policy framework within which to determine whether or not to respond positively to the request and, if so, subject to what conditions, if any.
- 17.34 As far as the sufficiency of information is concerned, article 17 is silent as to the procedural and other general rules that are to govern such requests. Consequently, decisions will have to be taken on a range of matters, including the required form of requests, the language or languages in which requests must be formulated and, an issue of particular importance, the types of information each request should contain. In the latter context, the Working Group on Maritime Cooperation has suggested the use of the following standard format for "action requests":
  - 1. Identification of the requesting party, including the authority issuing the request and the agency charged with taking measures
  - 2. Vessel description, including name, flag and port of registration and any other information regarding the vessel
  - 3. Known details concerning voyage and crew
  - 4. Sighting information and weather report

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>745</sup>Art. 17, para. 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>746</sup>Ibid., para. 4, subpara. (c).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>747</sup>See above, comments on article 17, paragraph 6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>748</sup>See, for example, 1995 Council of Europe Agreement, articles 19, 20 and 21.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>749</sup>"Report of the meeting of the Working Group on Maritime Cooperation, held at Vienna from 19 to 23 September 1994 and from 20 to 24 February 1995" (E/CN.7/1995/13), recommendation 3.

- 5. Reason for request (articulation of the circumstances supporting the intervention)
- 6. Intended action
- 7. Any other relevant information
- 8. Action requested by the intervening State (including confirmation of vessel registry and permission to board and search, if applicable), together with any time-limits.

It is, of course, open to any party to vary its requirements in this regard, as well as to request additional information in any case.

17.35 As noted above, pursuant to paragraph 6 of article 17, the flag State may subject its authorization to conditions which are to be "mutually agreed" with the requesting State. While specific reference is made to conditions relating to responsibility, it is clear that there are no limits to the rights of the flag State in this regard. As a practical matter, however, it is equally apparent that this facility for the protection of the interests of the requested party must be used with caution and moderation if the full potential of article 17 is to be realized. As stated in the official explanatory report on the 1995 Council of Europe Agreement: "If the flag State imposed conditions which were not acceptable to the intervening State, it would refrain from the intervention. The Committee agreed therefore that States should be cautious in using conditions and only make use of them when strictly necessary."<sup>750</sup> When conditions are imposed by the flag State and an intervention based on article 17 subsequently takes place, they are binding on the intervening State. Consequently, failure to comply with these conditions may trigger international responsibility and legal liability.

17.36 State practice in this area reveals a wide variety of issues that have proved to be of importance to individual flag States. In addition to liability for loss, damage or injury resulting from law enforcement operations,<sup>751</sup> these include, *inter alia*, costs normally borne by the intervening State,<sup>752</sup> restrictions

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>750</sup>Explanatory Report on the 1995 Council of Europe Agreement, para. 44.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>751</sup>See above, comments on article 17, paragraph 6.

 $<sup>^{752}</sup>$ See, for example, the report of the Working Group on Maritime Cooperation (E/CN.7/1995/13), recommendation 19; see also the 1995 Council of Europe Agreement, article 25, paragraph 1.

on the use of information or evidence obtained,<sup>753</sup> the treatment of nationals of the flag State,<sup>754</sup> the reservation of rights to object, within a specific time-frame, to the continued exercise of jurisdiction over the vessel or persons on board,<sup>755</sup> and restrictions on the taking of the vessel into the jurisdiction of a third State.<sup>756</sup> It is important, however, that any temptation to impose conditions in order to rearrange the scheme of article 17 should be resisted. If a party concludes that for constitutional, legal or other reasons such a radical revision is required, consideration should be given to the negotiation of bilateral or regional agreements or arrangements under the mandate provided by paragraph 9.<sup>757</sup> This approach is also warranted where it is desired to simplify the 1988 Convention scheme in a significant manner by, for example, providing for a general advance authorization for boarding and related measures.<sup>758</sup>

17.37 Since the grant of authorization to a requesting State is always discretionary, arrangements should be made for the effective and prompt exercise of that discretion. The identification of the appropriate framework for the exercise of this power will have a bearing on the issue of where, within the governmental system, the designated national authority should be located. While article 17 does not require that reasons be given to the requesting State in instances in which a request for authorization is denied,<sup>759</sup> it would be within the spirit of the Convention to indicate, in appropriate cases, the basis for the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>753</sup>See, for example, the 1995 Council of Europe Agreement, articles 23 and 24.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>754</sup>1995 Council of Europe Agreement, art. 8, para. 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>755</sup>See, for example, the 1981 exchange of notes between the United Kingdom and the United States, paragraphs 4 and 5.

 $<sup>^{756}</sup>$ See, for example, the Explanatory Report on the 1995 Council of Europe Agreement, paragraph 44.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>757</sup>It is arguable, for example, that the complex provisions required to give full effect to the concept of "preferential jurisdiction" for the flag State are best met by resort to bilateral or multilateral instruments giving expression to this concept in relation to illicit traffic by sea (see the 1990 Treaty between Italy and Spain and the 1995 Council of Europe Agreement).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>758</sup>The advance "waiver of objection" system used in the 1981 exchange of notes between the United Kingdom and the United States is relevant in this context. The 1991 Treaty between Italy and Spain uses the concept of "agency" in article 5 to achieve a similar result. It should be noted, however, that it does so within a context of preferential jurisdiction for the flag State.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>759</sup>In contrast to the position taken under article 7, paragraph 16, in relation to mutual legal assistance.

decision taken. Indeed, some might regard it as appropriate to institute a policy whereby no request would be refused without prior consultation between the relevant designated national authorities.

17.38 Given the fact that authorized operations of the type contemplated here depart from the norm of exclusive flag-State jurisdiction on the high seas, it would be prudent for all States to take steps to reduce the possibility of misunderstanding on the part of operators of their flag vessels, and others with a practical interest, as to the nature of the arrangements set out in article 17. This point is clearly emphasized in article 22 of the 1995 Council of Europe Agreement, which reads:

"Each Party shall take such measures as may be necessary to inform the owners and masters of vessels flying their flag that States Parties to this Agreement may be granted the authority to board vessels beyond the territorial sea of any Party for the purposes specified in this Agreement and to inform them in particular of the obligation to comply with instructions given by a boarding party from an intervening State exercising that authority."

An initiative of this kind may be but one part of a wider scheme to associate those involved in maritime transport in the overall effort to combat illicit drug traffic by sea.<sup>760</sup>

17.39 Article 17 also imposes certain obligations and restrictions on the requesting State. Thus, law enforcement action may, under paragraph 10 and following normal international practice, only be carried out by certain categories of public ships and aircraft. Furthermore, paragraph 8 imposes a requirement of prompt reporting to the flag State of the results of any action taken. Finally, it must take "due account of the need not to endanger the safety of life at sea, the security of the vessel and the cargo or to prejudice the commercial and legal interests of the flag State or any other interested State". <sup>761</sup>

17.40 In the discharge of their obligations, intervening States will need to ensure that law enforcement personnel receive appropriate training and guidance and that procedures are put in place to secure compliance with accepted

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>760</sup>See the report of the Working Group on Maritime Cooperation (E/CN.7/1995/13), recommendation 23 for further thoughts on the nature and scope of such a programme.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>761</sup>Art. 17, para. 5.

international norms. For example, it is essential that arrangements should be introduced to guarantee that in stopping and boarding a vessel, resort to the use of armed force is undertaken only as a last resort and in a manner consistent with relevant rules of customary international law. Similarly, practical arrangements must exist whereby the designated national authority can promptly inform the responsible law enforcement authorities of any conditions and limitations that may have been imposed by the flag State and with which they must comply.

17.41 As stressed in the comments on article 4 (see paragraphs 4.27-4.29 above), the enactment of adequate implementing legislation is essential to the proper functioning of the regime of cooperation provided by article 17. Of particular relevance is the provision thereby of comprehensive enforcement powers in respect of foreign flag vessels. For example, the First Schedule of the 1994 Irish Criminal Justice Act<sup>763</sup> contains detailed treatment of, among other matters, the power to search and obtain information, powers of arrest and seizure, the use of reasonable force, the production of evidence of authority, the definition of relevant offences, and the provision of appropriate legal protection for the officers involved. Each party should give consideration to its needs in this area and ensure appropriate implementation.

17.42 It is also important for potential intervening States to give advance consideration to the circumstances in which they will normally make use of the facility to request authorization. For example, in the view of the Committee of Experts which drew up the 1995 Council of Europe Agreement, account should be taken of "the reasons militating against action against vessels in scheduled passenger service or larger vessels in commercial trade. Such vessels could often usefully be searched at the next port of call, in particular if the next port of call is located in the territory of a Party to the agreement or to the Vienna Convention". 764 Furthermore, in some instances the use of alternative cooperative law enforcement strategies may be indicated. It was the view of the Working Group on Maritime Cooperation that, where operational circumstances permit, "preference should be given to the surveillance of vessels and the increased use of controlled delivery in order to target the crime syndicates involved, rather than to boarding operations. In this case measures should be considered to ensure the integrity of the illicit shipment and to prevent its

 $<sup>^{762}</sup>$ See, for example, the 1995 Council of Europe Agreement, article 2, paragraph 1, subparagraph (d), and paragraphs 2 and 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>763</sup>Act No.15 of 1994.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>764</sup>Explanatory Report on the 1995 Council of Europe Agreement, para. 53.

possible diversion or transshipment before the vessel arrives at its planned point of destination."<sup>765</sup>

### Other forms of cooperation

- 17.43 While the primary focus of article 17 is to facilitate law enforcement action in relation to illicit drug traffic by sea involving the vessels of other parties, it is not solely concerned with that matter. This fact is underlined by the terms of paragraph 2, which specifically contemplate the provision of assistance to a flag State suppressing the use of one of its own vessels or repressing the use of a stateless vessel for the purpose of such illicit traffic. In neither case, however, is further guidance provided by the text as to the manner in which, or the limits within which, such cooperative activity is to take place. The provision merely indicates that such assistance is to be rendered by parties to the Convention "within the means available to them". It is for the requested party alone to assess whether or not it possesses the relevant means in each case.
- 17.44 In so far as assistance to a flag State is concerned, it can be expected that requests will normally envisage the taking of some or all of the actions contemplated in paragraph 4. Assistance can, however, also be sought for a wide range of other purposes. These might include searching for the suspect vessel, preventing it from unloading or trans-shipping its cargo, facilitating the presence of the law enforcement officials of the flag State on board the pursuing vessel and like matters. It is implicit in the nature of the process and explicit in article 4, paragraph 2, of the Council of Europe Agreement that the flag State may subject its request for assistance to such conditions and limitations as it sees fit. The requested party may similarly wish to articulate the conditions upon which it would be prepared to respond positively.
- 17.45 Two issues in particular are worth considering. The first relates to meeting the costs, which may be substantial, of giving effect to the request. As noted above, in normal circumstances, where action is taken at the initiative of the intervening State against a vessel of another party, the costs are generally met by the intervening State. In the special circumstances being considered here, however, international practice is less well established. It was the view of the Working Group on Maritime Cooperation that, in instances of assistance to and at the request of a flag State, it (and not the intervening State) should, save

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>765</sup>"Report of the meeting of the Working Group on Maritime Cooperation, held at Vienna from 19 to 23 September 1994 and from 20 to 24 February 1995" (E/CN.7/1995/13), recommendation 22; see also above, comments on article 11.

where otherwise agreed, meet the costs involved. A somewhat different solution was formulated within the Council of Europe. Under article 25, paragraph 1, of the 1995 Agreement, the requested State would normally be expected to meet the costs involved. As the explanatory report points out, however, "where substantial or extraordinary costs are involved, it can be assumed that ... the State requesting assistance would be asked to share the burden of the intervention ... . In such cases, it would be necessary for the concerned Parties to seek an agreement on the apportionment of the costs. Failing such agreement, the intervention would probably not take place." Similar considerations apply to action against vessels without nationality undertaken at the request of another party (see paragraph 17.47 below).

17.46 A second area that may command special attention from some countries in the light of international practice relates to liability for damage. Here the question arises whether the preponderant practice of allocating liability to the intervening State should be resorted to in such circumstances. The Committee of Experts that drew up the Council of Europe Agreement was of the view that a special rule was needed. It is contained in article 26, paragraph 3, of the Agreement and reads as follows: "Liability for any damage resulting from action under Article 4 [assistance to flag States] shall rest with the requesting State, which may seek compensation from the requested State where the damage was a result of negligence or some other fault attributable to that State."

17.47 In article 17, paragraph 2, requests for assistance are also contemplated to suppress the use of vessels "not displaying a flag or marks of registry" in illicit drug trafficking activity. The decision to refer to such vessels constitutes an explicit acknowledgement of the extent to which vessels without nationality and those assimilated to vessels without nationality under international law are in fact used by those engaged in the illicit drug traffic. In this case, however, there are significant differences compared with the other cooperative situations considered thus far. In particular, each State has, independently of the 1988 Convention, certain rights under article 110 of the 1982 Convention on the Law of the Sea, namely, the right to visit a vessel without nationality, which in accordance with article 92, paragraph 2, also includes a vessel flying the flags of two States, using them according to convenience. Article 110 indicates that the exercise of the right of visit involves boarding (paragraph 1) and inspection

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>766</sup>"Report of the meeting of the Working Group on Maritime Cooperation, held at Vienna from 19 to 23 September 1994 and from 20 to 24 February 1995" (E/CN.7/1995/13), recommendation 19.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>767</sup>Explanatory Report on the 1995 Council of Europe Agreement, para. 89.

(paragraph 2) of a ship. It would accordingly not be warranted to recognize any right on the part of a requesting State to attach conditions or limitations. It is for the requested party alone to determine what actions are appropriate. The obligation of the requested State, however, is to provide assistance within the means available to it and, as noted above, it may properly have regard to economic factors, including the expected costs of undertaking any relevant law enforcement action, in making that determination. In certain cases, it may be considered appropriate to make any positive response to a request contingent upon agreement as to the apportionment of such costs. The conditions of the recognize any right of the requested party alone and the requested party alone to determine the requested party alone to determine the requested party alone to determine what actions are appropriate.

17.48 While article 17 deals specifically only with the three categories of assistance examined above, the obligation of cooperation "to the fullest extent possible" is capable of encompassing other forms of valuable international activity relevant to the suppression of illicit traffic by sea. One area that is particularly emphasized in the report of the meeting of the Working Group on Maritime Cooperation relates to facilitating and enhancing the exchange, through appropriate channels, of general information on vessels suspected of involvement in the international drug trade and related matters. The particular, the Working Group recommended that States should identify, to the extent possible, and disseminate in a timely fashion to other States directly or through Interpol, the World Customs Organization, Mar-Info or other organizations or communication networks operating or involved in that field, those indicators that, in their judgement, might assist in the identification of vessels that were involved, or that might soon become involved, in illicit drug trafficking.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>768</sup>See, for example, the 1995 Council of Europe Agreement, article 5, paragraph 2.

 $<sup>^{769}</sup>$ See, for example, the Explanatory Report on the Council of Europe Agreement, paragraph 89.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>770</sup>"Report of the meeting of the Working Group on Maritime Cooperation, held at Vienna from 19 to 23 September 1994 and from 20 to 24 February 1995" (E/CN.7/1995/13), annex to recommendations.

The Mar-Info is an international customs intelligence exchange system for monitoring maritime traffic in the Atlantic Ocean, the Baltic Sea, the North Sea and the Mediterranean Sea, administered by national customs authorities in France (Mar-Info South) and Germany (Mar-Info North). Mar-Info covers only commercial vessels; a similar surveillance system operated by the same authorities with respect to private pleasure craft or other non-commercial vessels is known as Yacht-Info.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>772</sup>"Report of the meeting of the Working Group on Maritime Cooperation, held at Vienna from 19 to 23 September 1994 and from 20 to 24 February 1995" (E/CN.7/1995/13), recommendation 6; see also the 1995 Council of Europe Agreement, article 2, paragraph 5.

importance of a spontaneous exchange of information has been recognized elsewhere. Consequently those charged with the implementation of article 17 should consider what might be the most appropriate method or methods for making a positive contribution in this context.

#### **ARTICLE 18**

### Free trade zones and free ports

#### General comments

- 18.1 For many years, a number of States have sought to promote the development of international commerce, external trade and domestic employment through the establishment of free trade zones and free ports. Such areas are frequently located at sea and river ports, airports or other sites possessing significant geographical advantages. As has been pointed out elsewhere: "Countries attempt to attract investors to free zones by providing tariff and tax incentives and by reducing, to an absolute minimum, control procedures and documentation." A particular feature of such zones is that they are regarded for certain purposes as being outside the national customs territory and not subject to normal customs control.
- 18.2 While the propriety and acceptability of such a strategy to promote economic development has not been brought into question, there has been a determination among States to make sure that the legitimate concessions granted in these geographic areas are not abused by those involved in the illicit traffic in narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances. As one party to the 1988 Convention has stated: "This article is designed to ensure that free trade zones and ports do not become safe havens for drug traffickers."
- 18.3 In the Commentary on the 1961 Convention, the comments made on article 31, paragraph 2, the text of which corresponds broadly to that of paragraph 1 of the present article, indicate that only very limited supervision, if any, is normally exercised by customs authorities over goods being shipped from abroad into free ports and free zones, or from such ports or zones to foreign

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>773</sup>Sometimes known by other names, such as "foreign trade zones"; none of these terms is defined in the 1988 Convention.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>774</sup>Customs Co-operation Council, Manual on the Use of Customs Procedures to Facilitate Exportation (Doc.37.980E, April 1993), p. B/7/2.

 $<sup>^{775}1973</sup>$  International Convention on the Simplification and Harmonization of Customs Procedures, annex F.1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>776</sup>Criminal Justice (International Co-operation) Bill: Explanatory Memorandum on the Proposals to Implement the Vienna Convention Against Illicit Traffic in Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances (London, Home Office, 1990), p. 31.

countries. Such limited control or lack of control would make it possible for illicit traffickers to use free zones or free ports as convenient places for storing their contraband goods and to smuggle drugs over uncontrolled or insufficiently controlled border lines. In fact the conditions normally existing in free zones and free ports not only require the application of those measures which Governments generally adopt for the control of narcotic drugs but might even call for more drastic arrangements.<sup>777</sup>

18.4 It was for these reasons that what was to become paragraph 1 of article 18 was included in the earliest draft of the 1988 Convention, following a pattern established in the 1925 International Opium Convention, and continued in the 1961<sup>779</sup> and 1971<sup>780</sup> Conventions.

# Paragraph 1

1. The Parties shall apply measures to suppress illicit traffic in narcotic drugs, psychotropic substances and substances in Table I and Table II in free trade zones and in free ports that are no less stringent than those applied in other parts of their territories.

# Commentary

18.5 In paragraph 1, parties are required to apply, within their free trade zones and free ports, measures that are as stringent as, or more stringent than, those applied in other parts of their territory. This language is more precise than that used in the earliest draft, which spoke of measures "substantially equivalent to or more stringent than...". Article 24 contains a general provision that a party may adopt stricter or more severe measures than those provided by the Convention if, in its opinion, such measures are desirable or necessary for the prevention or suppression of illicit traffic. The special opportunities for illicit traffickers that may be presented by conditions in free trade zones and free ports

 $<sup>^{777}\!\</sup>text{Commentary}$  on the 1961 Convention, paragraph 1 of the comments on article 31, paragraph 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>778</sup>League of Nations, *Treaty Series*, vol. LXXXI, art. 14, p. 317.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>779</sup>1961 Convention, art. 31, para. 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>780</sup>1971 Convention, art. 12, para. 3, subpara. (a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>781</sup>Official Records, vol. I ..., document E/CN.7/1987/2, sect. II, ("Article 13").

persuaded the authors of the 1988 Convention, like their predecessors, to refer expressly in this context to more stringent measures.

# Paragraph 2

#### 2. The Parties shall endeavour:

- (a) To monitor the movement of goods and persons in free trade zones and free ports, and, to that end, shall empower the competent authorities to search cargoes and incoming and outgoing vessels, including pleasure craft and fishing vessels, as well as aircraft and vehicles and, when appropriate, to search crew members, passengers and their baggage;
- (b) To establish and maintain a system to detect consignments suspected of containing narcotic drugs, psychotropic substances and substances in Table I and Table II passing into or out of free trade zones and free ports;
- (c) To establish and maintain surveillance systems in harbour and dock areas and at airports and border control points in free trade zones and free ports.

- 18.6 The text of paragraph 2 incorporates a number of improvements to the text that was before the Conference. In the proposed text, there was no reference in paragraph 2, subparagraph (a), to any monitoring of the movement of persons. Similarly, the reference to the search of crew members, passengers and their baggage was contained in subparagraph (b) and so applied only in the context of passage in or out of the relevant areas; its transfer to subparagraph (a) makes it applicable within those areas. Finally, the reference to "surveillance systems" in subparagraph (c) replaced a rather old-fashioned reference to "patrols".
- 18.7 The provisions of article 18, paragraph 2, aimed at suppressing illicit traffic in controlled substances, in no way replace the strict control measures on the licit movement of such substances that parties have to apply in free ports and

 $<sup>^{782}\</sup>mbox{Ibid.},$  document E/CONF.82/12, "Article 13" (E/CONF.82/C.2/L.13/Add.4), sect. I, p. 158.

zones, in conformity with article 31, paragraph 2, of the 1961 Convention and that Convention as amended, and article 12, paragraph 3, subparagraph (a), of the 1971 Convention.

# Implementation considerations: article 18 as a whole

- 18.8 As has been seen, the structure of article 18 consists of two interrelated parts: first, the imposition of a general obligation in paragraph 1 to apply measures in free trade zones and free ports that are "no less stringent" than those applied elsewhere; and secondly, an enumeration in paragraph 2 of specific measures that each party must endeavour to establish. The challenge for those charged with the implementation of these obligations is to create a legislative, administrative, regulatory and enforcement structure that is effective and yet sensitive to the basic needs and commercial realities of such zones. This might, for example, result in a decision to make more extensive use of targeting, profiling and surveillance techniques in such areas than might be the case elsewhere.
- 18.9 Experience since the adoption of the Convention has revealed the need for particularly close attention to be devoted to the prevention of the diversion of precursors within such zones. Reflecting the depth of that concern, 783 the Economic and Social Council, in its resolution 1992/29, underlined "the importance of applying suitable regulatory measures, in accordance with the provisions of article 18 of the [1988] Convention, to every stage of the receipt, handling, processing and delivery of precursor and essential chemicals in free ports and free trade zones and in other sensitive areas such as bonded warehouses". More recently, the Council, in its resolution 1995/20, urged Governments to ensure, as far as possible, that shipments entering or leaving such zones are subject to "the controls necessary to safeguard against diversion".
- 18.10 In creating an appropriate framework in this context, States may derive particular benefit from an examination of the International Narcotics Control Board Guidelines for Use by National Authorities in Preventing the Diversion of Precursors and Essential Chemicals. An important aspect of the Guidelines is that consignments passing through such zones and ports are treated as exports

 $<sup>^{783}\</sup>mathrm{See},$  for example, Chemical Action Task Force: Final Report (Washington, D.C., June 1991), p. 22.

or imports<sup>784</sup> and that therefore the somewhat less exacting recommendations in respect of transit States do not apply. Experience has also shown that the activities of brokers and trading companies located in free trade zones should be subject to the same obligations as those of other commercial agents if the possibilities for diversion are to be appropriately limited.<sup>785</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>784</sup>See "Guidelines for use by national authorities in preventing the diversion of precursors and essential chemicals", 1993, "Guidance notes", sects. III.10 and III.12, pp. 20 and 21.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>785</sup>See Precursors and Chemicals Frequently Used in the Illicit Manufacture of Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances: Report of the International Narcotics Control Board for 1994 on the Implementation of Article 12 of the United Nations Convention against Illicit Traffic in Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances of 1988 (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.95.XI.I), para. 31.

#### **ARTICLE 19**

#### The use of the mails

#### General comments

- 19.1 The use of the mails for the purpose of illicit traffic in narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances has long been resorted to for both domestic distribution and international smuggling. The reliability and cost-effectiveness of the mails and the difficulties of detecting illicit items in the huge volume of legitimate mail have combined to ensure its abiding popularity, especially for relatively low-volume and high-value shipments such as cocaine, heroin and certain types of psychotropic substances. Moreover, limitations imposed by considerations of weight can be overcome in many instances by multiple use of the parcel post, so that, in practice, consignments of bulkier items, including cannabis, cannabis resin, and certain substances listed in Table I and Table II of the 1988 Convention, are also quite frequently transported in this way. The prevention and suppression of such illicit use of the mails is the object of article 19.
- 19.2 Despite the already well-established use of the mails for illicit trafficking, the 1961 Convention made barely any reference to postal services, either by way of exempting postal items from the general provisions of that Convention or by way of special prohibitions. The only provision dealing expressly with postal items was article 31, paragraph 8, which (in the context of international trade) reads: "Exports of consignments to a post office box, or to a bank to the account of a party other than the party named in the export authorization, shall be prohibited." Virtually identical provision is made in article 12, paragraph 3, subparagraph (b), of the 1971 Convention. The provision was judged necessary because it was hardly feasible to apply to post offices and banks the licensing procedures of the Convention.
- 19.3 At the global level, the primary role of promoting international collaboration in relation to postal matters is played by the Universal Postal Union (UPU), which has been in existence since 1875 and has been a specialized agency of the United Nations since 1947. One of its concerns has been the unauthorized insertion of drugs in the mails and provisions on this matter have

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>786</sup>Commentary on the 1961 Convention, paragraph 3 of the comments on article 31, paragraph 8; and Commentary on the 1971 Convention, paragraph 4 of the comments on article 12, paragraph 3.

been included, or are otherwise covered, in the instruments of UPU. Apart from the Constitution of the Universal Postal Union,<sup>787</sup> these include the Universal Postal Convention<sup>788</sup> and various specialized agreements, including one on postal parcels.

- 19.4 The Universal Postal Convention provides that the insertion in letter-post items of narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances shall be prohibited.<sup>789</sup> According to article 26.7 of that Convention, items containing such substances that have been wrongly admitted to the post shall in no circumstances be forwarded to their destination, delivered to the addressee or returned to origin.
- 19.5 These provisions must be read in the light of the principle of freedom of transit set out in article 1 of the Constitution and article 1 of the Universal Postal Convention: postal items in transit through a State party to those instruments may not be opened, and the relevant provisions are, therefore, applicable principally in the State of destination. As far as postal items in transit are concerned, the real difficulty appears, therefore, to lie in finding some means of reconciling law enforcement needs with the well-established principle of freedom of transit, which precludes the opening of mail in a transit State.
- 19.6 Consequently, in dealing with the issue of the illicit use of the mails for drug trafficking, the Conference had to be sensitive to the existing international regulation of this important and complex area of communication and to ensure an outcome that would be consistent with such regulation. Against this background, those who prepared the 1988 Convention had little scope for innovative provisions.

# Paragraph 1

1. In conformity with their obligations under the Conventions of the Universal Postal Union, and in accordance with the basic principles of their domestic legal systems, the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>787</sup>United Nations, *Treaty Series*, vol. 611, p. 64.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>788</sup>The Convention was adopted in Tokyo on 14 November 1969 under article 22(3) of the Constitution of UPU. The Convention and the agreements are revised from time to time. The latest revised version of the Universal Postal Convention was adopted in 1994 at the Seoul Congress.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>789</sup>Art. 26.5.1.

Parties shall adopt measures to suppress the use of the mails for illicit traffic and shall co-operate with one another to that end.

- 19.7 The purpose of paragraph 1 is plainly to suppress the use of "the mails" for illicit drug traffic. To further that purpose parties are required to adopt the requisite measures in their national legal systems and to cooperate at the international level.
- 19.8 The interpretation of the term "the mails", however, is not without its difficulties. The system of postal delivery through postal administrations governed by the instruments of UPU is not the only one to provide a delivery service to which the term "the mails" might be applied. In recent years, improvements in the field of international transport, the dramatic growth of the world economy and other factors have led to a major expansion of international commercial express, courier and similar services, whose products are also open to abuse by illicit drug traffickers. Developments such as the privatization of a number of national mail services and the abandonment or limitation of the monopoly enjoyed by many such services so far as letter post is concerned further contribute to blur the traditional concept of "the mails".
- 19.9 A reasonable interpretation of "the mails" in the 1988 Convention, in the light of the object and purpose of article 19,790 would be to consider that it covers the public postal services as well as private operations which offer a comparable service. The public or private status of a national mail system would seem immaterial for present purposes, and the distinction may well depend upon the approach taken in the law of each State party. Other express delivery services would appear to be outside the scope of this article, but such services will fall within article 15, on commercial carriers. As indicated by the definition of "commercial carrier" in article 1, subparagraph (d), namely "any person or any public, private or other entity engaged in transporting persons, goods or mails for remuneration, hire or any other benefit", there is indeed some overlap between the subject matter of article 19 and that of article 15. Whereas article 19 focuses on the use of the mails without considering the manner in which the mails are operated, the focus of article 15 is rather on an operational aspect, transportation and "means of transport", the mails being only one item among

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>790</sup>See article 31 of the Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties (United Nations, *Treaty Series*, vol. 1155, p. 331).

others that might be transported. In practice, many postal services will consign bags of mail for carriage by road, sea or air to a means of transport provided by a commercial carrier, especially where the destination is in another State. In normal usage, the post offices operate "the mails" but make use of carriers in carrying out their operations, so that measures adopted pursuant to both article 15 and article 19 may be applied to "the mails".

19.10 The parties' obligations under paragraph 1 are stated to be "in conformity with their obligations under the Conventions of the Universal Postal Union, and in accordance with the basic principles of their domestic legal systems". The brief discussion of the two phrases during the work of Committee II indicates that they were intended to impose cumulative limitations on the obligations being undertaken by the parties. <sup>791</sup> In earlier discussions, the relevant words were regarded as constituting a safeguard clause. <sup>792</sup>

## Paragraph 2

- 2. The measures referred to in paragraph 1 of this article shall include, in particular:
- (a) Co-ordinated action for the prevention and repression of the use of the mails for illicit traffic;
- (b) Introduction and maintenance by authorized law enforcement personnel of investigative and control techniques designed to detect illicit consignments of narcotic drugs, psychotropic substances and substances in Table I and Table II in the mails;
- (c) Legislative measures to enable the use of appropriate means to secure evidence required for judicial proceedings.

# Commentary

19.11 Paragraph 2 sets out a list, not intended to be exhaustive, of measures to be adopted in accordance with paragraph 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>791</sup>Official Records, vol. II ..., Summary records of meetings of the Committee of the Whole, Committee II, 2nd meeting, paras. 30-48.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>792</sup>Official Records, vol. I ..., document E/CN.7/1988/2 (Part II), paras. 243-247, p. 29.

- 19.12 Subparagraph (a) adds little to the language of paragraph 1: "to suppress", the language of paragraph 1, is elaborated into a reference to both "prevention" and "repression". The parties are obliged to take coordinated action, which will necessarily involve their postal administrations, customs and police services. At one stage the Commission on Narcotic Drugs had inserted a reference to "control" into subparagraph (a), but this was omitted by the intergovernmental expert group, which met in June and July 1987, to avoid any suggestion of infringement of the right of privacy and secrecy of communications.<sup>793</sup>
- 19.13 The reference in subparagraph (b) to "investigative and control techniques" was the end result of a discussion in which both the need for investigation to detect illicit consignments and also the enormity of the task, given the huge number of postal items, were recognized. The scale of the operation meant, according to some representatives, that control measures were more realistic than investigative ones; in the resulting text, both terms were used. The reference to "authorized law enforcement personnel" must be interpreted in accordance with national law and practice, but does forestall any argument that "the mails" can only be dealt with by agents of a postal administration to the exclusion of other appropriate law enforcement agencies.
- 19.14 Subparagraph (c) is a rather obscure provision, and the text was settled before the Conference turned its attention to the details of the mutual legal assistance provisions contained in article 7. It seems to have been designed to remove difficulties that had been, or might subsequently be, experienced in obtaining evidence where the mails had been used. These difficulties include such matters as the availability of search warrants and the admissibility of samples of a larger consignment. In the Comprehensive Multidisciplinary Outline, attention was drawn to the desirability, in some cases, of permitting the use of the mails to ship, in a controlled manner, samples of seized narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances to regional or other laboratories for analysis. 795

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>793</sup>Ibid., para. 248.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>794</sup>Official Records, vol. II ..., Summary records of the Committees of the Whole, Committee II, 2nd meeting, paras. 11-47.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>795</sup>Report of the International Conference on Drug Abuse and Illicit Trafficking, Vienna, 17-26 June 1987 (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.87.I.18), chap. I, sect. A, para. 268.

# Implementation considerations: article 19 as a whole

- 19.15 As noted above, article 19, paragraph 1, creates a general obligation for parties to take measures to suppress the use of the mails for illicit trafficking purposes and to cooperate with other parties to that end. These obligations are, however, limited by specific reference to two factors.
- The first of these is the need for the measures taken to be compatible with the obligations arising pursuant to the various instruments of UPU, in particular its Constitution and the Universal Postal Convention. Practice has revealed some tension between certain aspects of the traditional approach taken in the UPU instruments and the perceived operational needs of those sectors of the law enforcement community charged with the suppression and investigation of illicit trafficking activities. Reference has already been made to the fundamental principle of freedom of transit (see paragraph 19.7 above), which requires that postal items in transit may not be opened. This principle interacts uneasily with certain types of controlled delivery operations, especially "clean" controlled delivery as envisaged in article 11, paragraph 3,796 which implies a partial or complete substitution of contents and, therefore, the opening of postal items in transit. It is evident from this example that those charged with the implementation of article 19 should take appropriate specialized advice to ensure that all facets of the proposed strategy are similarly consistent with the requirements of UPU instruments.797
- 19.17 UPU and intergovernmental organizations active in the law enforcement field are striving to promote a harmonization of their sometimes divergent approaches to illicit trafficking by mail. Following its discussions with the Customs Co-operation Council (also called the World Customs Organization), UPU adopted resolution C54/1989, concerning bags of mail in transit suspected of containing narcotic drugs or psychotropic substances. In its resolution, UPU invited postal administrations to make all appropriate arrangements with the relevant authorities in their countries to ensure that bags of mail in transit suspected of containing narcotic drugs were not opened and to advise by the quickest means, at the request of their customs authorities, the administration of the country of destination so that the suspected bags could easily be identified on arrival and to request verification from the administration of the country of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>796</sup>See above, comments on article 11, paragraph 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>797</sup>The technique of controlled delivery, it should be stressed, is also very useful in instances of domestic trafficking where greater freedom of action in this context may be available.

origin.<sup>798</sup> In the same resolution, UPU also invited postal administrations, in consultation with customs services, to intervene with legislative authorities, so that laws and regulations would not impede the use of the technique of controlled delivery. The resolution also provided that the customs of the transit State, if required with the agreement of its competent authorities, should take appropriate measures to inform the customs authorities in the country of destination and, possibly, in the country of origin of the suspected postal items. Cooperation between the World Customs Organization and UPU was further promoted through a protocol of agreement between both organizations, signed on 15 September 1994, and the adoption of directives, to be regularly upgraded, with a view to improving cooperation between customs and postal authorities in the fight against illicit drug trafficking by mail.

- 19.18 The general obligations set out in paragraph 1 of article 19 are further qualified by reference to the concept that the implementation measures taken by parties need not go beyond those that are "in accordance with the basic principles of their domestic legal systems". In many countries legal protection is afforded to items placed in the mails, and interference with them may give rise to sensitive constitutional issues regarding civil liberties.
- 19.19 According to paragraph 2, parties should give concrete expression to their obligations under paragraph 1 in three specific areas. It is clear, however, that the list of action was not intended to be exhaustive; instead, it represents a minimum common core of action required of all parties.
- 19.20 Paragraph 2, subparagraph (a), calls for coordinated action to prevent and repress the use of the mails for illicit traffic. That has both a domestic and an international dimension. In so far as the former is concerned, it is of paramount importance that adequate arrangements should be established to permit efficient and effective coordination between the postal authorities, customs and other relevant agencies with a law enforcement mandate. That might include the formulation of guidelines designed to increase security, to facilitate the detection of illicit items and to provide ready access to relevant information.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>798</sup>The authentic text reads: "prendre toutes dispositions avec les autorités compétentes de leur pays afin qu'il ne soit pas procédé à l'ouverture des sacs de dépêches en transit dont elles soupçonnent qu'ils renferment des envois contenant des stupéfiants, mais à en aviser:

a) par les voies les plus rapides, à la demande de leurs autorités douanières, l'Administration de destination afin que les sacs litigieux soient facilement repérés à l'arrivée;

b) par bulletin de vérification, l'Administration d'origine de la dépêche;".

- 19.21 At the international level, the coordination and exchange of information between the law enforcement agencies of parties to the 1988 Convention are necessary if the overall goals of article 19 are to be achieved. For example, information of operational value acquired through the monitoring of outgoing international mail items may need to be communicated, as envisaged in article 9, paragraph 1, subparagraph (b), clause (iii), 799 to the law enforcement authorities in the country of intended delivery in order to permit appropriate action to be taken. Similarly, information acquired as a result of investigations in the country of intended delivery may often prove to be of value in the initiation or furthering of inquiries in the State of origin. The detection of even small amounts of prohibited substances may yield intelligence that is crucial to the identification of major offenders or the penetration of trafficking networks.
- 19.22 International coordination is also vital to the success of supervised postal delivery operations. Special difficulties arise when the potential for such an operation comes to the attention of a transit State (within the meaning of UPU instruments). In the Comprehensive Multidisciplinary Outline, it is recommended that "the customs service should urgently notify the customs authorities of the State of destination, by the quickest possible means, fully identifying the item and indicating its origin." While there are obvious parallels with the technique of controlled delivery in this context the potential for constant surveillance, and hence for true control, is lacking.
- 19.23 In paragraph 2, subparagraph (b), the introduction of law enforcement investigative and control techniques is called for to combat the use of the mails for illicit drug trafficking. Here the major challenge is to create systems which, in combination, can yield the desired results in a manner consistent with the effective functioning of the postal service. Given the huge volume of mail items in question, many law enforcement bodies have come to place considerable emphasis on "profiling" techniques. They use risk indicators, identified on the basis of prior practical experience, in an effort to identify suspect consignments. Frequently such profiles take into account such factors as the size and shape, the method of sealing, the manner of addressing (including whether the label is typed or handwritten), unusual or false names or addresses, unusual smells from

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>799</sup>See above, comments on article 9, paragraph 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>800</sup>Report of the International Conference on Drug Abuse and Illicit Trafficking, Vienna, 17-26 June 1987 (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.87.I.18), chap. I, sect. A, para. 322.

the parcel, destination and any intelligence information about the package.<sup>801</sup> Items thus identified by virtue of their characteristics as potentially suspicious may then be subject to further, and initially non-intrusive, forms of testing. Many countries make use of trained drug-scenting dogs ("sniffer dogs") in such circumstances. In addition, an increasing number of technological aids, such as X-ray equipment and ion-scanners, can be used to good effect in this context.

Finally, in paragraph 2, subparagraph (c), legislative measures are required to enable appropriate means to be used to secure evidence required for judicial proceedings. In order to ensure compliance with this obligation, those responsible for its implementation must examine the nature and adequacy of existing domestic law. In many States, specific legislative authority is required in order to permit the interception, opening and detention of postal items. 802 Given the frequency with which the international mails are subject to abuse for trafficking purposes, a growing number of States<sup>803</sup> have sought to ensure that such powers can be used in furtherance of foreign as well as domestic investigations. Consideration may also be given to buttressing the overall thrust of activities related to article 19 by creating a specific criminal offence of sending prohibited drugs through the mails. 804 Any such review of existing domestic law could, with profit, be extended to the acceptability of the use of special investigative techniques, such as the interception of telecommunications, which may be useful in the context of postal investigations, and the admissibility of evidence thus acquired in subsequent judicial proceedings. The possibility of making such powers available to other parties as a form of mutual legal assistance might also be considered at the same time. 805

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>801</sup>Manual for Compliance with the United Nations Convention against Illicit Traffic in Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances (Washington, D.C., United States Department of Justice, 1992), p. 59.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>802</sup>Such provisions differ significantly in terms of their nature and complexity: see, for example, Cape Verde Law 78/IV/93, art. 30; Finland, Coercive Measures Act, 30 April 1987/450, chap. IV; and South Africa, Drug and Drug Trafficking Act No. 140 of 1992, sect. 11 (c).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>803</sup>See, for example, Ghana, Narcotic Drugs (Control, Enforcement and Sanctions) Law 1990, sect. 27(1), and Zambia, Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances Act 1992, sect. 27(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>804</sup>See, for example, Trinidad and Tobago, Dangerous Drugs Act No. 38 of 1991.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>805</sup>See above, comments on article 7, paragraph 3.

# PART THREE

# IMPLEMENTATION PROVISIONS

#### **ARTICLES 20-23**

#### **ARTICLE 20**

# Information to be furnished by the Parties

#### General comments

20.1. Article 20 is the principal provision in the 1988 Convention regarding the information that has to be furnished to the Commission by the parties, although some other articles also require certain data to be provided through the Secretary-General to the Commission, to the International Narcotics Control Board or to the parties. Several earlier international drug control treaties required the submission of annual reports on the general working of those treaties for use by policy-making bodies; and still other drug control treaties contained provisions calling for specific reports, notifications or submissions. Thus, there is a long-established tradition of reporting certain data, and the 1988 Convention continues with that tradition while establishing some new specific requirements corresponding to its innovative provisions.

 $<sup>^{806}</sup>$ Art. 5, para. 4, subpara. (e); art. 7, para. 8; art. 7, para. 9; art. 12, paras. 2 and 3; art. 12, para. 7, subparas. (a) and (b); art. 12, para. 10, subpara. (a); art. 12, para. 12; art. 17, para. 7; and art. 22, para. 1, subpara. (a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>807</sup>1931 Convention, art. 21; 1936 Convention, art. 16; and 1953 Protocol, art. 10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>808</sup>The Commission on Narcotic Drugs of the Economic and Social Council, pursuant to Council resolution 9(I) of 16 February 1946 and the 1946 Protocol, succeeded to the functions of its predecessor, the League of Nations Advisory Committee on Traffic in Opium and other Dangerous Drugs.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>809</sup>See 1912 Convention, art. 21; 1925 Agreement, art. X; 1948 Protocol, art. 1; and 1953 Protocol, art. 4, subpara. (b).

- 20.2. Both the 1961 and 1971 Conventions specify that Governments should furnish certain information to the Secretary-General, whereas the 1988 Convention requires that such information should be furnished to the Commission on Narcotic Drugs, albeit through the Secretary-General. The distinction, however, is one of form rather than substance, since both of the earlier conventions add that the parties shall furnish to the Secretary-General such information as the Commission may request. In all cases, the Commission is the end-user of the information in the accomplishment of its policy-making and other mandated functions.<sup>810</sup>
- 20.3 The basic proposal before the 1988 Conference had contained an article on reports to be furnished by the parties<sup>811</sup> providing such information as the Commission might request. In Committee II, a number of amendments to the article were submitted for consideration.<sup>812</sup> The Committee finally agreed on the amendment submitted by the Netherlands, paragraphs 1 and 2 of which were identical, except for one drafting change, to those same paragraphs in article 20 as adopted by the Conference. Paragraph 3 of the amendment submitted by the Netherlands was deleted, its provisions being substantially those now found in article 12, paragraph 12, of the Convention dealing with information furnished annually to the Board by each party on the amounts of substances in Table I and Table II seized by them, on substances not included in the Tables that are used in illicit manufacture and on methods of diversion and illicit manufacture.<sup>813</sup> There was virtually no discussion either in Committee II or in the plenary on the reasons for the formulation of article 20 as adopted.<sup>814</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>810</sup>For a general discussion of the Commission's authority to request information and a party's (and also non-party's) obligation to submit such information, see Commentary on the 1961 Convention, paragraphs 1-6 of the comments on the introductory part of paragraph 1, and paragraphs 1-4 of the comments on paragraph 1, subparagraph (a).

<sup>811</sup> Official Records, vol. I ..., document E/CONF.82/3, Annex II ("Article 16"), p. 85.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>812</sup>For example, by Canada, Denmark, France, Germany, Federal Republic of, Norway and Sweden; by Japan; and by the Netherlands (for the text of the amendments, see *Official Records*, vol. I ...) document E/CONF.82/12, "Draft implementation clauses" (E/CONF.82/C.2/L.13/Add.13), sect. II, paras. 3-5, pp. 161-162.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>813</sup>See above, comments on article 12, paragraph 12.41, and below, comments on article 23, paragraph 23.5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>814</sup>Official Records, vol. II ..., Summary records of meetings of the Committees of the Whole, Committee II, 34th meeting, paras. 31 and 32, and Summary records of plenary meetings, 7th plenary meeting, para. 86.

20.4 The 1961 and 1971 Conventions require very detailed statistical and other information for both the Commission and the Board to enable them to carry out the control functions established by those conventions. The considerations that underlie the provision of information under the earlier conventions are not necessarily applicable to the same extent to the 1988 Convention. Apart from certain important basic data on laws and regulations to give effect to the Convention, other data required under article 12, paragraph 12, and specific information to be supplied under particular articles of the Convention (see paragraph 20.1 above), the information that would be of most use to the Commission is that regarding the working of the Convention in the territories of the parties. This is the principal means by which the Commission can assess the extent to which the Convention appears to be achieving its aims and can generate recommendations on areas where improvements could be made.

## Paragraph 1, introductory part

1. The Parties shall furnish, through the Secretary-General, information to the Commission on the working of this Convention in their territories and, in particular:

- 20.5 The first paragraph of the article is a considerably simplified version of corresponding provisions in the 1961 and 1971 Conventions. The 1961 Convention, in article 18, specifies the information to be furnished by the parties at the request of the Commission, and, in articles 19 and 20, defines respectively, the estimates of drug requirements and statistical returns to be furnished to the Board. The 1971 Convention consolidates the information requirements into a single article (article 16, on reports to be furnished by the Parties), which covers information requested by the Commission, notification to the Secretary-General of the names and addresses of the governmental authorities referred to in various articles, 815 reports to the Secretary-General on important cases of illicit traffic in psychotropic substances or seizure from such illicit traffic, and statistical reports to be furnished to the Board.
- 20.6 As pointed out above in paragraphs 20.2 and 20.3, the corresponding provisions in the 1961 and 1971 Conventions and the text in the basic proposal before the 1988 Conference all referred, in paragraph 1 of the article, to "such

<sup>815 1971</sup> Convention, art. 7, subpara. (f), art. 12 and art. 13, para. 3.

information as the Commission may request". The reference to the Commission's request is not retained in the final text of article 20. The proceedings of the 1988 Conference do not appear to shed any light on why the reference was deleted. In the Commentary on the 1961 Convention, the view was expressed that, even in the absence of such a general formula, it would not be entirely up to the party concerned to determine what information to provide. It was argued that the obligation of "Members of the United Nations to cooperate in the international campaign against drug abuse also includes their legal duty to furnish, at the request of the Council, the Commission or the Secretary-General, such data as these organs require for the performance of their functions under the United Nations Charter in regard to international co-operation concerning the social problem of abuse of drugs". 816 In this connection, it is interesting to note that, as early as 1920, the Advisory Committee on Traffic in Opium and other Dangerous Drugs had made a practice of asking Governments to furnish an annual report on the operation of the 1912 Convention in their territories and on illicit drug traffic and other matters bearing on the function of the League of Nations to exercise supervision in pursuance of Article 23 (c) of the Covenant "over the execution of agreements with regard to the traffic in ... opium and other dangerous drugs". A similar argument could also be made in respect of the 1988 Convention regarding information to be provided by the parties to enable the Commission to discharge its obligations under article 21, subparagraph (a), to review the operation of the Convention.

20.7 In any event, even though the reference to the request of the Commission is no longer there, the annual reports questionnaire sent to Governments by the Commission in pursuance of paragraph 2 of article 20 achieves much the same effect (see paragraph 20.13 below). It is thus possible that the deletion of the reference to the request of the Commission from the first paragraph of article 20 may have been based on a belief that it was superfluous in view of the long-established practice of obtaining information through an annual reports questionnaire that had been sent out under the 1961 and 1971 Conventions, and indeed even under earlier drug control conventions. Since the information is to be furnished to the Commission and since the specific examples given in subparagraphs (a) and (b) are qualified by the adverbial phrase "in particular", logic would dictate that the Commission must first establish what that information should be. Paragraph 2 of article 20 would seem to corroborate this interpretation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>816</sup>Commentary on the 1961 Convention, paragraph 1 of the comments on article 18, paragraph 1, introductory part.

20.8 The introductory part in paragraph 1 refers to the working of the Convention in the "territories" of parties. The word "territories" is not defined in the 1988 Convention, but in the context of the Convention it should be understood to relate to areas treated as separate entities in respect of the promulgation of legislation, or from which statistics or other data may be collected. It may also apply to regions that are considered "territories" under article 1 of the 1961 Convention as far as this is relevant in the context of the provisions of the 1988 Convention.<sup>817</sup>

# Paragraph 1, subparagraph (a)

(a) The text of laws and regulations promulgated in order to give effect to the Convention;

- 20.9 A recurring requirement under the international drug control treaties is the exchange between parties of the domestic legislation enacted to give effect to their obligations under a convention. That exchange was first effected through the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the Netherlands for the 1912 Convention and then, in succession, by the Secretaries-General of the League of Nations and of the United Nations for the later treaties. Such an exchange of national legislative texts serves a twofold purpose: on the one hand, it is proof that a party has established the legislative basis to carry out its treaty obligations; on the other hand, it may be of potential exemplary use to parliamentary drafters in other States, particularly if they share a similar legal system.
- 20.10 The provision of article 20, paragraph 1, subparagraph (a), requiring parties to furnish the text of laws and regulations promulgated in order to give effect to the Convention, can place an initially heavy burden on a party, as there are numerous articles in the Convention which probably require the promulgation of new or amended laws and regulations to give full effect to articles 3-19. As in the case of the 1961 and 1971 Conventions, the data provided should include not only the texts of national legislation but also "those of political subdivisions such as states or provinces of a federal union whenever legislation falls

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>817</sup>See also Commentary on the 1961 Convention, paragraph 7 of the comments on article 18, paragraph 1, subparagraph (a); and Commentary on the 1971 Convention, paragraph 13 of the comments on article 16, paragraph 1.

within the competence of such subdivisions".<sup>818</sup> Legislation and regulations, which are often furnished as annexes to the annual reports questionnaire (see paragraph 20.13 below), are published by the Secretariat in the E/NL series and circulated to Governments. Cumulative indexes are published periodically in the same series.

# Paragraph 1, subparagraph (b)

(b) Particulars of cases of illicit traffic within their jurisdiction which they consider important because of new trends disclosed, the quantities involved, the sources from which the substances are obtained, or the methods employed by persons so engaged.

## Commentary

20.11 The wording of paragraph 1, subparagraph (b) follows very closely the wording used in a similar context in both the 1961 and 1971 Conventions, <sup>819</sup> and the comments in the commentaries on those two conventions apply, *mutatis mutandis*, to subparagraph (b). <sup>820</sup> The "particulars" specified with respect to "quantities", "sources" and "methods" were initially spelt out in article 23 of the 1931 Convention, the reference to "new trends" appearing first in article 16 of the 1971 Convention. The inclusions of such a reporting requirement in the 1931 Convention merely codified the existing practice under the League of Nations, which, at the second session of the Assembly, on 30 September 1921, adopted a resolution in which it was recommended that Governments furnish information regarding cases of illicit traffic in drugs. <sup>821</sup> The reasoning behind the inclusion of such a requirement in succeeding conventions is as valid for the 1988 Convention as it was for the 1931 Convention: "Cases of illicit traffic furnish an important indication as to weak points in the world system of regulation for the

 $<sup>^{818} \</sup>mbox{Commentary}$  on the 1961 Convention, paragraph 1 of the comments on article 18, paragraph 1, subparagraph (b).

 $<sup>^{819}</sup>$ 1961 Convention, art. 18, para. 1, subpara. (c); and 1971 Convention, art. 16, para. 3.

 $<sup>^{820}</sup>$ Commentary on the 1961 Convention, comments on paragraph 1, subparagraph (c) of article 18; and Commentary on the 1971 Convention, comments on paragraph 3 of article 16.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>821</sup>See the "Historical and technical study" of the 1931 Convention by the Opium Traffic Section of the Secretariat of the League of Nations (C.191.M.136.1937.XI), paragraph 195.

legitimate trade, and notification of them is therefore necessary to the efficient operation of the Convention."822

# Paragraph 2

2. The Parties shall furnish such information in such a manner and by such dates as the Commission may request.

- 20.12 The second paragraph of article 20 is, *mutatis mutandis*, virtually the same as the concluding paragraphs of article 18 of the 1961 Convention and article 16 of the 1971 Convention.
- 20.13 Each year the Secretariat sends out an annual reports questionnaire to Governments of parties to the 1961 Convention, the 1961 Convention as amended, the 1971 Convention and the 1988 Convention to assist Governments in identifying and providing relevant information. The questionnaire is also sent to Governments of States that are not parties to the international drug control treaties, but compliance is of course voluntary in such cases. While the 1961 and 1971 Conventions specifically refer, in articles 18 and 16 respectively, to an "annual report" on the working of those conventions, no such expression appears in article 20 of the 1988 Convention. The Commission, however, pursuant to article 20, paragraph 2, authorized inclusion of requests for data on implementation of the 1988 Convention in the annual reports questionnaire. In this instance, the distinction between the text of the 1988 Convention and the two earlier conventions is, from a practical point of view, more one of form than of substance.
- 20.14 While the annual reports questionnaire, which cuts across all three recent international drug control treaties, contains requests for information specifically relating to the implementation of the 1988 Convention, data concerning the 1961 Convention or the 1971 Convention may also have a direct bearing on its implementation. The questionnaire, for example, includes a request for information on measures to counter drug abuse, including data on (a) the extent of, and patterns and trends in, drug abuse; (b) educational campaigns and workplace, community and media activities to combat drug abuse; and (c) treatment and rehabilitation of drug abusers. Data provided thereunder is relevant to the working of certain provisions of the 1988 Convention (for

<sup>822</sup>C.191.M.136.1937.X1.

example article 3, paragraph 4, on treatment, education, aftercare, rehabilitation or social reintegration). The questionnaire also seeks information on illicit drug traffic, including seizures of narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances, as well as other substances under national, but not international control, which have been detected in the illicit traffic; illicit manufacture of narcotic drugs or psychotropic substances; and diversion of all narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances from licit channels. Also requested in the questionnaire are data on the number of cases of forfeiture of the proceeds of drug crimes, as well as a general description of smuggling into or out of the country and illicit traffic within the country.

20.15 Many government authorities may find it difficult to complete the questionnaire fully because of lack of resources or data. Nevertheless, the data collected constitute an important basis for many United Nations activities in drug control and, without the information, major mandates cannot be carried out.

#### **ARTICLE 21**

#### **Functions of the Commission**

#### General comments

- 21.1 Article 21 confers on the Commission functions, which to a very large extent repeat the functions given to it under article 8 of the 1961 Convention and article 17 of the 1971 Convention. The views expressed in the commentaries on the 1961 and 1971 Conventions<sup>823</sup> are therefore relevant for the interpretation of the similar provisions in the 1988 Convention. Consistent practice followed over the years in the application of these parallel provisions can provide authoritative guidance on how they are likely to be interpreted and applied under the 1988 Convention.
- 21.2 In the basic proposal before the 1988 Conference,<sup>824</sup> the draft article on the functions of the Commission was clearly based on article 8 of the 1961 Convention, which, *mutatis mutandis*, is repeated. Article 21 of the 1988 Convention, together with the other implementation articles, was referred by the plenary to Committee II, where a number of amendments<sup>825</sup> were introduced, particularly in regard to the allocation of functions between the Commission and the Board.
- 21.3 The discussions in Committee II on the implementation articles reflected a variety of views on how functions should be distributed between the Commission and the Board under the Convention. Article 21, as eventually adopted, derives from the amendments submitted by the Netherlands. Introducing his amendments, the representative of the Netherlands explained that they were based on the assumption that the Convention's implementation machinery ought to be adapted to the subjects it covered and that, in view of its subject matter, the relevant precedents were not the 1961 and 1971 Conventions

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>823</sup>Commentary on the 1961 Convention, paragraphs 1, 2, and 5-11 of the comments on article 8; and Commentary on the 1971 Convention, paragraphs 1-11 of the comments on article 17, paragraph 1.

<sup>824</sup> Official Records, vol. I ..., document E/CONF.82/3, annex II ("Article 15").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>825</sup>In particular by Canada, Denmark, France, Federal Republic of Germany, Norway and Sweden; and by the Netherlands (for the text of the amendments, see *Official Records*, vol. I ..., document E/CONF.82/12, "Draft implementation clauses" (E/CONF.82/C.2/L.13/Add.13), sect. II, paras. 3 and 5, pp. 161 and 162).

but rather more recent conventions on the combating of terrorism and hijacking and the protection of diplomats, as well as other instruments that dealt with cooperation among parties in international criminal law. The amendments were also based on the assumption that, notwithstanding differences between the draft Convention before Committee II and the 1961 and 1971 Conventions, it would be wise to ensure as much continuity as possible in respect of implementation machinery. He would therefore prefer that the functions of both the Commission and the Board be maintained with respect to the various provisions of the new convention unless such functions were incompatible with its provisions. In addition, the Commission should, on the basis of reports submitted by the parties, exercise overall supervisory functions in relation to the Convention as a whole.<sup>826</sup>

- 21.4 In contrast, the sponsors of the other amendment proposal held the view that the Board should have full responsibility for supervising the implementation of the Convention, as sharing such responsibility between the Board and the Commission would, because of the close interlinking of most of the articles of the Convention, result in confusion and administrative conflict between the supervising bodies and poor or no supervision of the new Convention. 827
- 21.5 In support of the view of the Netherlands, it was stated by the representative of Austria that the most important point was to associate the Commission more closely with implementation of the Convention and, in his view, the political will of Member States required to make the Convention a success could best be mobilized within that body. After considerable discussion in Committee II, 29 it was decided that the Committee should base its consideration of the implementation articles on the proposals submitted by the Netherlands.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>826</sup>Official Records, vol. II ..., Summary records of meetings of the Committees of the Whole, Committee II, 31st meeting, paras. 56 and 57.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>827</sup>Ibid., 32nd meeting, paras. 5 and 12.

<sup>828</sup> Ibid., 31st meeting, para. 54.

<sup>829</sup> Ibid., 32nd meeting.

# Introductory part

# The Commission is authorized to consider all matters pertaining to the aims of this Convention and, in particular:

- 21.6 The Commission's right "to consider all matters pertaining to the aims of this Convention", embodied in the introductory paragraph, is, as pointed out in the commentaries on the two earlier conventions, a very comprehensive one. The 1988 Convention spells out, in subparagraph (a) of article 21, the requirement that the Commission "shall, on the basis of the information submitted by the Parties in accordance with article 20, review the operation of this Convention". The use of the word "shall" makes such a review mandatory. The other functions specified in article 21 are identified as facultative through the use of the word "may", the exception being in subparagraph (a), where it is laid down that the Commission "shall ... take such action as it deems appropriate" on any matter referred to it by the Board under article 22, paragraph (a) on review of the operation of the Convention. The provision in subparagraph (a) on review of the operation of the Convention is new, no parallel requirement being expressly contained in the earlier conventions, although the relevant introductory paragraph in those conventions would seem to cover some of the same ground.
- 21.7 The Netherlands text (see paragraph 21.2-21.5 above) did not contain the introductory paragraph that now appears in article 21, each of the functions treated therein having been the subject of independent paragraphs. The representative of the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics proposed that an introductory paragraph, taken from article 8 of the 1961 Convention, be added. That proposal was accepted by the Netherlands<sup>830</sup> and supported by other representatives. While the addition of the introductory paragraph did not give rise to any comment, it would seem to widen the scope of an article which would otherwise have merely listed a number of specific functions without reference to "all matters pertaining to the aims of the Convention". As already pointed out (see paragraph 21.6 above), those words are very comprehensive, and have been so understood in connection with the 1961 and the 1971 Conventions. Subparagraphs (a)-(f), instead of providing a comprehensive list of the functions

<sup>830</sup> Ibid., 34th meeting, para. 18.

<sup>831</sup> Ibid., para. 22.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>832</sup>Ibid., paras. 21 and 24-26.

of the Commission, now enumerate some specific cases of the general rule laid down in the introductory wording.

## Subparagraph (a)

(a) The Commission shall, on the basis of the information submitted by the Parties in accordance with article 20, review the operation of this Convention;

- 21.8 The legislative history (see paragraphs 21.3-21.7 above) indicates that article 21, subparagraph (a), was introduced to provide the Commission with a supervisory role in connection with the Convention which goes beyond its responsibilities under the earlier conventions, particularly as it is of a mandatory character. That appears to have stemmed from the view that, unlike the 1961 and the 1971 Conventions, which dealt largely with technical aspects of the international control of trade in narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances, the 1988 Convention had a more extensive political dimension in the areas of State sovereignty, extraterritorial jurisdiction, international criminal law and the law of the sea, where a supervisory organ composed of State representatives, such as the Commission, would in the final analysis be more appropriate than a technical body such as the Board.
- 21.9 The Commission is a body established by the Economic and Social Council under Article 68 of the Charter of the United Nations, with terms of reference<sup>834</sup> conferring on it wide responsibilities in assisting the Council in its powers of supervision over the application of international conventions and agreements in the field of narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances; in advising the Council of all matters pertaining to the control of narcotics; and in considering what changes may be required in existing machinery for international control in the area of narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances. Those wide responsibilities are supplemented by the responsibilities conferred on it in the various conventions on narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>833</sup>Commentary on the 1961 Convention, paragraph 6 of the comments on article 8; and Commentary on the 1971 Convention, paragraph 2 of the comments on article 17.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>834</sup>The Commission was created and its terms of reference laid down in 1946 in Economic and Social Council resolution 9(I), supplemented at a later date by Council resolution 1991/38 and General Assembly resolution 46/185 C, section XVI (see Commentary on the 1961 Convention, paragraph 2 of the comments on article 8).

The obligation to review the operation of the 1988 Convention clearly comes within the purview of those general responsibilities.

# Subparagraph (b)

(b) The Commission may make suggestions and general recommendations based on the examination of the information received from the Parties;

## Commentary

21.10 Article 21, subparagraph (b), is a variation on the corresponding provision in article 8, subparagraph (c), of the 1961 Convention, concerning the right of the Commission to make recommendations for the implementation of the aims and provisions of the 1961 Convention, including programmes of scientific research and the exchange of information of a scientific or technical character. The reference to research and exchange of scientific information has been deleted in the 1988 Convention, probably in view of its different character (see paragraph 21.8 above). When article 21, subparagraph (b), is read in conjunction with the opening paragraph, it would appear that the recommendations and suggestions the Commission may make on the basis of information received from the parties need not relate only to the implementation of the 1988 Convention but may also relate to the realization of its aims.

# Subparagraphs (c) and (d)

- (c) The Commission may call the attention of the Board to any matters which may be relevant to the functions of the Board:
- (d) The Commission shall, on any matter referred to it by the Board under article 22, paragraph 1(b), take such action as it deems appropriate;

# Commentary

21.11 Subparagraphs (c) and (d) of article 21 concern the close relationship between certain functions of the Commission and of the Board. They also illustrate the somewhat different roles both bodies may play under the Convention. Subparagraph (c), while of a general character, would appear to be especially relevant to the responsibilities of the Board in instances where there

is reason to believe that violations of the Convention may have occurred, particularly in respect of articles 12, 13 and 16. When the Commission encounters a case where it might appear that an infraction has occurred, it should in the first instance refer it to the Board for an investigation of an expert and technical nature. In the event that the Board concludes, after investigation, that remedial measures have not been taken by the party concerned that are consistent with the provisions of articles 12, 13 or 16, it may refer the matter back to the Commission and the Economic and Social Council, where the political responsibility for appropriate action rests.

## Subparagraph (e)

(e) The Commission may, in conformity with the procedures laid down in article 12, amend Table I and Table II;

## Commentary

21.12 Subparagraph (e) does not call for particular comment, as it is merely a cross-reference to a function of the Commission that is spelt out in detail in article 12 of the 1988 Convention (see paragraph 12.22 above).

# Subparagraph (f)

(f) The Commission may draw the attention of non-Parties to decisions and recommendations which it adopts under this Convention, with a view to their considering taking action in accordance therewith.

# Commentary

21.13 Subparagraph (f) of article 21 closely parallels the corresponding provision in article 8, subparagraph (d), of the 1961 Convention. In both cases the provisions of the subparagraph would appear to be intended to obtain universal implementation or as wide an implementation as possible. For a number of years the Secretary-General has, as a matter of principle, transmitted decisions and recommendations of the Commission to the Governments of all States, regardless of whether or not they are Members of the United Nations or parties to any of the international drug control conventions.

 $<sup>$^{835}\</sup>mathrm{See}$  also Preamble, tenth paragraph, the comments thereon in paragraphs 0.20-0.21 above.

#### **ARTICLE 22**

#### **Functions of the Board**

#### General comments

- 22.1 Substantially the same subject matter as that covered in article 22 of the 1988 Convention is dealt with in articles 9 and 14 of the 1961 Convention and the 1961 Convention as amended, entitled "Composition and functions of the Board" Measures by the Board to ensure the execution of provisions of the Convention" respectively, and in article 19 of the 1971 Convention, entitled "Measures by the Board to ensure the execution of the provisions of the Convention". The comments on articles 9 and 14 in the Commentary on the 1961 Convention and on article 19 in the Commentary on the 1971 Convention therefore apply in certain measure to article 22 of the 1988 Convention, at least where those provisions, *mutatis mutandis*, are virtually identical.
- Article 22 of the 1988 Convention appears to be based on the text of 22.2. article 14 of the 1961 Convention, in its unamended form. The detailed amendments introduced in article 14 by the 1972 Protocol are for the most part not reflected in article 22 of the 1988 Convention, no doubt because of the very different character of the latter Convention, dealing as it does with matters of criminal law and its enforcement that go beyond the scope of the earlier conventions into areas touching more closely on the sovereignty and jurisdiction of States. The comments in the Commentary on the 1972 Protocol on article 6 (amending article 14 of the 1961 Convention) may, however, also be relevant in determining the extent to which the Board's functions and powers under article 22 differ from its functions and powers under the 1961 Convention, that Convention as amended and the 1971 Convention. In summary, and as indicated in more detail below, the rights conferred on the Board in article 22 of the 1988 Convention differ from those found in the 1961 and 1971 Conventions. In particular:
- (a) They relate not to the aims of the Convention as a whole, which is the case under the previous conventions (see paragraphs 22.10 and 22.11 below), but only to matters within the competence of the Board when it has reason to believe that the aims of the Convention are not being met;

 $<sup>^{836}</sup>$ The words "and functions" were added by operation of article 2 of the 1972 Protocol.

- (b) Only in respect of articles 12, 13 and 16 of the 1988 Convention may the Board resort to the procedure provided for in article 22, paragraph 1, subparagraph (b), the Board having the right to do so in respect of all provisions of the 1961 and 1971 Conventions when certain conditions are met;
- (c) The Board is given no authority under article 22 of the 1988 Convention to recommend measures of the nature provided for in article 14, paragraph 2, of the 1961 Convention and article 19, paragraph 2, of the 1971 Convention, namely to impose suspension of export and import of narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances in respect of a country that has failed to provide satisfactory explanations or to take remedial measures in a case where the aims of the conventions are seriously endangered.
- 22.3 The basic proposal before the 1988 Conference<sup>837</sup> contained an article entitled "Measures by the [Board] [Commission] to ensure the execution of the provisions of the Convention". The option, retained throughout the text of the article in the basic proposal, to entrust the functions concerned to the Board or to the Commission reflects the lack of consensus on that point in the earlier proceedings, leaving it up to the Conference to select one of the two; the report of the Commission on Narcotic Drugs on its tenth special session, which forwarded this article to the Conference, reflects the general agreement that it would not be advisable to establish a new body for that purpose.<sup>838</sup> The tasks contemplated could, however, be carried out by the Commission or the Board and there was "no preference as to whether the Board or the Commission or both should be entrusted with the task of ensuring the execution of the provisions of the Convention".<sup>839</sup>
- 22.4 At the Conference, the differences over whether to entrust various supervisory functions under the new Convention to the Commission or to the Board continued (see paragraphs 21.3-21.9 above), as did differences over the scope and extent of those functions. Eventually, however, a compromise was reached on texts for articles 21 and 22 that could be adopted by consensus.
- 22.5 As with the other implementation articles, the article in the basic proposal dealing with the subject matter now contained in article 22 was referred

<sup>837</sup> Official Records, vol. I ..., document A/CONF.82/3, annex II ("Article 18") p. 85.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>838</sup>Official Records of the Economic and Social Council, 1988, Supplement No. 3, (E/1988/13), para. 120.

<sup>839</sup> Ibid.

by the plenary to Committee II for consideration. Amendments were submitted to the Committee by the Netherlands ("Functions of the Board"),<sup>840</sup> and by Canada, Denmark, France, Germany, Federal Republic of, Norway and Sweden ("General supervision of the execution of the provisions of the Convention").<sup>841</sup>

- 22.6 In its amendment, the Netherlands identified eight articles<sup>842</sup> in respect of which the Board would have exercised supervisory functions under the Convention similar to those eventually incorporated in article 22, paragraph 1, subparagraphs (a) and (b). The amendment by Canada and a number of other sponsors did not identify specific articles over which the Board would exercise supervisory functions, instead extending those functions to all the substantive articles of the Convention, as is the case in the 1961 and 1971 Conventions.
- 22.7 The discussion in Committee II revealed that no consensus could be reached on either of the proposed amendments, a number of representatives believing that both went too far in authorizing the Board to demand explanations, to impose sanctions and publish reports. After considerable discussion, however, it was decided to take the amendments by the Netherlands as the basis for the discussion of the implementation articles. As further discussion on the amendment by the Netherlands relating to the functions of the Board continued to reflect differing views, the Chairman proposed that informal consultations should be held to resolve the issue.
- 22.8 The representative of the Netherlands subsequently reported that the informal consultations had enabled the participants to reach agreement on a text. He explained<sup>845</sup> that his delegation had held consultations with the delegation of Canada and the other sponsors referred to in paragraph 22.5 above, as well as

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>840</sup>Official Records, vol. I ..., document E/CONF.82/3, "Draft implementation clauses" (E/CONF.82/C.2/L.13/Add.13), paras. 17 and 18, pp. 164-165.

<sup>841</sup> Ibid., para. 9, p. 163.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>842</sup>Articles 8, 9, 10, 11, 11 *bis*, 12, 13 and 14 of the basic proposal; these became articles 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18 and 19 in the 1988 Convention.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>843</sup>Official Records, vol. II ..., Summary records of meetings of the Committees of the Whole, Committee II, 31st meeting, paras. 59 and 63; and 32nd meeting, paras. 22, 30-32, 41, 43, 44 and 49.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>844</sup>Ibid., 32nd meeting, para. 13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>845</sup>Ibid., 34th meeting, paras. 1 and 2.

with other delegations, which had urged that the article be deleted; a compromise solution had finally been achieved that was acceptable to all three groups represented in the negotiations. The text of that compromise, subject to drafting changes, is that of article 22 of the 1988 Convention.

## Paragraph 1, introductory part

1. Without prejudice to the functions of the Commission under article 21, and without prejudice to the functions of the Board and the Commission under the 1961 Convention, the 1961 Convention as amended and the 1971 Convention:

## **Commentary**

22.9 The introductory paragraph of article 22 has no counterpart in the 1961 and 1971 Conventions, but it would appear to have its rationale in protecting to the full the functions and powers of the Board under those conventions, irrespective of such differences in this regard as may exist under the 1988 Convention. It also provides that the functions of the Commission under article 21 of the 1988 Convention are unaffected by the provisions of article 22. That may result in some overlap, particularly in the light of the Commission's obligation under article 21, subparagraph (a), to review the operation of the Convention as a whole.

# Paragraph 1, subparagraph (a)

(a) If, on the basis of its examination of information available to it, to the Secretary-General or to the Commission, or of information communicated by United Nations organs, the Board has reason to believe that the aims of this Convention in matters related to its competence are not being met, the Board may invite a Party or Parties to furnish any relevant information;

# Commentary

22.10 Speaking in Committee II, the representative of the Netherlands described paragraph 1, subparagraph (a), of the compromise text as being of "special importance". 846 The subparagraph contained a limitation not found in

<sup>846</sup> Ibid.

the corresponding articles in the earlier conventions, in that the Board's authority would be specifically limited to aims of the Convention "in matters related to its competence". In response to a question, the representative of the Netherlands said that the reference concerned the Board's competence under the new Convention and other existing conventions, as well as the new powers conferred upon it by what was to become article 12 of the Convention.<sup>847</sup> The representative of the United Kingdom stated that, while he was prepared to join a consensus on the text, he wished to enter a reservation in respect of paragraph 1, subparagraph (a) which gave the Board scope for action in relation to the wider aims of the Convention only in matters relating to its competence. The Board's competence was not defined in the new article, but it must certainly extend to the articles specified in paragraph 1, subparagraph (b). There was an implication that the Board might have wider competence. It already enjoyed wide-ranging competence in matters relating to illicit trafficking under the 1961 and 1971 Conventions and that competence was specifically preserved by the introductory wording of the new article 22. The situation was not clear and the representative of the United Kingdom feared that the lack of clarity would provide substantial scope for parties to argue that a particular matter on which the Board had asked for relevant information was not within its competence and, therefore, that the information need not be provided. Such a situation might militate against a strong and effective Convention.<sup>848</sup>

22.11 From the above it may be inferred that paragraph 1, subparagraph (a), could give rise to problems of interpretation that were not necessarily resolved by the comments of the sponsor of the text that was adopted. Difficulties could arise in reconciling the Board's competence in matters relating to illicit trafficking under the 1961 and 1971 Conventions and its competence under the 1988 Convention. It may be that in practice difficulties will not arise, as the Board now has long experience in the discretion required for it to act under article 14 of the 1961 Convention and of the 1961 Convention as amended and under article 19 of the 1971 Convention or to seek other ways of resolving issues where the aims of a convention are not being met. It is clear such discretion will certainly be called for under the 1988 Convention, where certain articles deal with matters that can be of a highly political character. The reference made under paragraph 1, subparagraph (a), to the aims of the Convention coming within the Board's competence should thus probably be seen as a direction to the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>847</sup>Ibid., para.9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>848</sup>Ibid., paragraph 16; the reservation was repeated by the representative of the United Kingdom, in plenary (ibid., Summary records of plenary meetings, 7th plenary meeting, para. 87).

Board to act in those areas under article 22 where its traditional expertise and experience is of particular relevance, rather than in areas covered by articles that represent some of the main innovations introduced in the 1988 Convention. That view would seem to be supported by the reference in article 22, paragraph 1, subparagraph (b), to articles 12 (Substances frequently used in the illicit manufacture of narcotic drugs or psychotropic substances), 13 (Materials and equipment) and 16 (Commercial documents and labelling of exports), those all being articles on subjects that clearly fall within the traditional regulatory responsibilities and expertise of the Board.

- 22.12 Under article 21, the Commission is required to review the operation of the 1988 Convention on the basis of information provided by the parties. Under article 22, paragraph 1, subparagraph (a), however, the Board is permitted to proceed on the wider basis of "information available to it, to the Secretary-General or to the Commission, or of information communicated by United Nations organs". Article 14, paragraph 1, subparagraph (a), of the 1961 Convention refers only to information submitted by "Governments to the Board ... or information communicated by United Nations organs". The latter wording is repeated in article 19, paragraph 1, subparagraph (a), of the 1971 Convention.
- 22.13 The amendments introduced in article 14 of the 1961 Convention by article 6 of the 1972 Protocol added several further sources of information on the basis of which the Board might act, namely information "by specialized agencies or, provided that they are approved by the Commission on the Board's recommendation, by either other intergovernmental organizations or international nongovernmental organizations which have direct competence in the subject matter and which are in consultative status with the Economic and Social Council under Article 71 of the Charter of the United Nations or which enjoy a similar status by special agreement with the Council …". None of this wording is reflected in article 22, paragraph 1, subparagraph (a), of the 1988 Convention.
- 22.14 In practice, however, the omission of similar wording in the 1988 Convention may make little difference in view of the generality of the reference in article 22, paragraph 1, subparagraph (a), to "information available to" the Board and "to the Secretary-General". Those formulations would seem broad enough to cover information coming from any of the sources listed in article 14, paragraph 1, subparagraph (a), of the 1961 Convention as amended by the 1972 Protocol. The omission of a reference to specialized agencies in article 22, paragraph 1, subparagraph (a), of the 1988 Convention is, likewise, not significant. Under the 1961 and 1971 Conventions the term "United Nations organs" has

been understood to cover the specialized agencies,<sup>849</sup> despite the fact that they are intergovernmental organizations established by separate treaties. They are, however, considered to be part of the United Nations family, having been brought into relationship with the United Nations pursuant to agreements concluded with the Economic and Social Council under Article 63 of the Charter of the United Nations. Such agreements normally provide for a full exchange of information on matters of common interest.

The powers conferred by article 22, paragraph 1, subparagraph (a), of 22.15 the 1988 Convention are more restricted than those of the parallel articles in the 1961 and 1971 Conventions. Not only are the Board's powers thereunder limited to matters within its competence as defined by the Convention (rather than extending to the provisions of the 1988 Convention as a whole), but also, when acting under paragraph 1, subparagraph (a), by inviting a party to furnish relevant information, the Board does not retain the right under article 22 itself that it has under the other conventions to call the attention of the parties, the Council and the Commission to the matter, unless it relates to articles 12, 13 and 16 as specified in article 22, paragraph 1, subparagraph (b). The Board would, however, retain the right to report on such matters under article 23 of the Convention ("Reports of the Board"), provided always that in so doing it does not expressly or by implication refer to the procedure laid down in article 22, paragraph 1, subparagraph (a), in view of the condition of confidentiality imposed under article 22, paragraph 5.850

# Paragraph 1, subparagraph (b)

- (b) With respect to articles 12, 13 and 16:
- (i) After taking action under subparagraph (a) of this article, the Board, if satisfied that it is necessary to do so, may call upon the Party concerned to adopt such remedial measures as shall seem under the circumstances to be necessary for the execution of the provisions of articles 12, 13 and 16;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>849</sup>See Commentary on the 1961 Convention, paragraph 10 of the comments on article 14, and Commentary on the 1971 Convention, paragraph 7 of the comments on article 19.

 $<sup>^{850}</sup>$ See Commentary on the 1961 Convention, paragraph 17 of the comments on article 14, paragraph 1, subparagraph (a); and Commentary on the 1971 Convention, paragraph 13 of the comments on article 19, paragraph 1, subparagraph (a), and paragraph 7.

- (ii) Prior to taking action under (iii) below, the Board shall treat as confidential its communications with the Party concerned under the preceding subparagraphs;
- (iii) If the Board finds that the Party concerned has not taken remedial measures which it has been called upon to take under this subparagraph, it may call the attention of the Parties, the Council and the Commission to the matter. Any report published by the Board under this subparagraph shall also contain the views of the Party concerned if the latter so requests.

- 22.16 The representative of the Netherlands, introducing the compromise text in Committee II (see paragraphs 22.5-22.7 above), explained that paragraph 1, subparagraph (b), clause (i), was in conformity with the relevant provisions of existing conventions and, in particular, the 1961 Convention.<sup>851</sup> The subparagraph does, in fact, repeat the corresponding wording in article 14 of the 1961 Convention and article 19 of the 1971 Convention, except for the addition of the limitation of the Board's authority under this provision to articles 12, 13 and 16 of the Convention. There is no similar restriction in either the 1961 or 1971 Convention. Nevertheless, the remarks in the commentaries on the 1961 and 1971 Conventions under the corresponding provisions are, mutatis mutandis, relevant to the interpretation of article 22, paragraph 1, subparagraph (b), clause (i), of the 1988 Convention.<sup>852</sup>
- 22.17 The provisions of article 22, paragraph 1, subparagraph (b), clause (ii), are not reflected in the corresponding provisions of the 1961 Convention and the 1971 Convention, although the commentaries on both those conventions express the view that the Board should treat communications between itself and a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>851</sup>Official Records, vol. II ..., Summary records of the Committees of the Whole, Committee II, 34th meeting, para. 10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>852</sup>See Commentary on the 1961 Convention, paragraphs 1-10 of the comments on article 14, paragraph 1, subparagraph (b); and Commentary on the 1971 Convention, paragraphs 1-7 of the comments on article 19, paragraph 1, subparagraph (b).

Government as confidential at this stage of the proceedings. Paragraph 1, subparagraph (a), of article 14 of the 1961 Convention and the corresponding provision in article 19 of the 1971 Convention require the Board, when acting under those subparagraphs, to treat any request it may make to a Government for information, and the Government's explanation, as confidential. The inclusion of an express confidentiality provision in article 22, paragraph 1, subparagraph (b), clause (ii), of the 1988 Convention is probably based upon the precedent provided in paragraph 1, subparagraph (a), of both article 14 and article 19 of the 1961 and 1971 Conventions respectively. In the 1988 Convention, however, this requirement of confidentiality is broadened and included as article 22, paragraph 5.854

22.18 Article 22, paragraph 1, subparagraph (b), clause (iii), of the 1988 Convention reflects similar provisions in the 1961 and 1971 Conventions. The remarks in the commentaries on the 1961 and 1971 Conventions are therefore relevant to the interpretation of subparagraph (b). 855

# Paragraphs 2, 3 and 4

- 2. Any Party shall be invited to be represented at a meeting of the Board at which a question of direct interest to it is to be considered under this article.
- 3. If in any case a decision of the Board which is adopted under this article is not unanimous, the views of the minority shall be stated.
- 4. Decisions of the Board under this article shall be taken by a two-thirds majority of the whole number of the Board.

 $<sup>^{853}</sup>$ See Commentary on the 1961 Convention, paragraph 11 of the comments on article 14, paragraph 1, subparagraph (b); and Commentary on the 1971 Convention, paragraph 5 of the comments on article 19, paragraph 1, subparagraph (b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>854</sup>See below, comments on paragraphs 5, 6 and 7.

 $<sup>^{855}</sup>$ See Commentary on the 1961 Convention, paragraphs 1-6 of the comments on article 14, paragraph 1, subparagraph (c), and paragraphs 1-8 of the comments on article 14, paragraph 3; and Commentary on the 1971 Convention, paragraphs 1-6 of the comments on article 19, paragraph 1, subparagraph (c), and paragraphs 1-8 of the comments on paragraph 3.

## Commentary

- 22.19 Paragraphs 2, 3 and 4 of article 22 were based on the language of an amendment introduced by the Netherlands (see paragraph 22.5 above). Paragraph 2 mirrors article 14, paragraph 5, of the 1961 Convention. In the 1961 Convention, the word "State" rather than "Party" is used, the change to "Party" in the 1988 Convention reflecting the fact that that Convention is open to entities other than States. The comments on article 14, paragraph 5, in the Commentary on the 1961 Convention are thus relevant, *mutatis mutandis*, to paragraph 2 of the 1988 Convention. The 1961 Convention, in article 14, paragraph 1, empowers the Board to take measures to ensure the execution of that Convention's provisions not only by parties but also by other countries or territories.
- 22.20 Article 22, paragraphs 3 and 4, of the 1988 Convention are likewise identical, except for drafting changes, to article 14, paragraphs 4 and 6, of the 1961 Convention. The representative of the Netherlands explained that "two-thirds majority of the whole number of the Board" meant a two-thirds majority of the full membership of the Board. Because of their identical character, the comments in the Commentary on the 1961 Convention on article 14, paragraphs 4 and 6, are thus relevant to article 22, paragraphs 3 and 4, of the 1988 Convention.

# Paragraphs 5, 6 and 7

- 5. In carrying out its functions pursuant to subparagraph 1 (a) of this article, the Board shall ensure the confidentiality of all information which may come into its possession.
- 6. The Board's responsibility under this article shall not apply to the implementation of treaties or agreements entered into between Parties in accordance with the provisions of this Convention.
- 7. The provisions of this article shall not be applicable to disputes between Parties falling under the provisions of article 32.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>856</sup>Official Records, vol. II ..., Summary records of meetings of the Committees of the Whole, Committee II, 34th meeting, para. 10.

## Commentary

The text of article 22, paragraphs 5, 6 and 7, of the 1988 Convention had been suggested by the representatives of Canada and Sweden.857 The requirement of confidentiality of information used by the Board pursuant to the discharge of its functions under article 22, paragraph 1, subparagraph (a) of the 1988 Convention, appears to derive from article 14, paragraph 1, subparagraph (a), of the 1961 Convention, which requires the Board, when acting under that paragraph, to "treat as confidential a request for information or an explanation by a Government under this subparagraph". This requirement was included in paragraph 1, subparagraph (a), of the amendment submitted to the Conference by Canada, Denmark, France, Germany, Federal Republic of, Norway and Sweden (see paragraph 22.5 above).858 The requirement also appears in article 22, paragraph 1, subparagraph (b), clause (ii), in respect of the Board's communication with a party before having possible recourse to the Council and the Commission. The wording in paragraph 5 is wider in scope than that found in paragraph 1, subparagraph (a), of the corresponding articles in the 1961 and 1971 Conventions, in that it imposes the requirement of confidentiality on all information coming into its possession when acting under paragraph 1, subparagraph (a). The requirement will cease to be operative if the Board, in connection with paragraph 1, subparagraph (b), has recourse to the provisions of subparagraph (b), clause (iii), pursuant to which the Board may publish a report. Furthermore, some of the information (for example, information provided by the parties) may become public in other contexts, such as a review of the operation of the Convention undertaken by the Commission under article 21, subparagraph (a), of the Convention or a report by the Board under article 23 (see paragraph 22.15 above). The exact parameters of the application of article 22, paragraph 5, of the Convention will thus have to be worked out in practice.

22.22 Under paragraph 6, it is not the Board's responsibility to supervise any agreements entered into by the parties with a view to furthering the purposes of the Convention. References are made in a number of articles of the 1988 Convention to the conclusion between parties of bilateral or multilateral treaties, agreements or arrangements to enhance the effectiveness of those

<sup>857</sup> Ibid., para. 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>858</sup>Official Records, vol. I ..., document E/CONF.82/3, "Draft implementation clauses" (E/CONF.82/C.2/L.13/Add.3), paras. 17 and 18, pp. 164-165.

articles, including article 5 (Confiscation), so article 6 (Extradition), article 7 (Mutual legal assistance), article 9 (Other forms of co-operation and training), article 11 (Controlled delivery), article 14 (Measures to eradicate illicit cultivation of narcotic plants and to eliminate illicit demand for narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances) and article 17 (Illicit traffic by sea). In addition to references of the nature just outlined, the 1988 Convention makes reference to other conventions, treaties and agreements already in force (for example extradition agreements), and it follows from the provisions of article 22, paragraphs 6 and 7, that the Board's competence would not extend to the implementation and interpretation of these other conventions, treaties and agreements, whether bilateral or multilateral in nature, except for the conventions enumerated in paragraph 1 (see paragraphs 22.10 and 22.11 above).

22.23 Paragraph 7 is not reflected in the corresponding articles of the 1961 and 1971 Conventions. It is a paragraph that puts the Board on notice that disputes between two or more parties are to be dealt with under article 32 of the Convention and not under article 22. Speaking in Committee II, for example, the representative of France pointed out that there could be no question of entrusting the Commission or the Board with the task of settling disputes arising between two parties concerning extradition, confiscation or any matter relating to reservations made under the Convention. 866

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>859</sup>Para. 4, subparas. (c) and (g), and para. 5, subpara. (b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>860</sup>Paras. 11 and 12.

<sup>861</sup> Paras. 6 and 20.

<sup>862</sup>Para. 1.

<sup>863</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>864</sup>Para. 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>865</sup>Paras. 4 and 9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>866</sup>Official Records, vol. II ..., Summary records of meetings of Committees of the Whole, Committee II, 32nd meeting, para. 29.

# Reports of the Board

#### General comments

- 23.1 Article 23 closely follows, *mutatis mutandis*, the corresponding provisions on reports of the Board to be found in article 15 of the 1961 Convention and article 18 of the 1971 Convention. The differences in paragraph 1 of the parallel article in the 1961 Convention are due solely to the more specific nature of the information to be provided under that Convention. The second paragraph in each article is identical except for a slight drafting difference in the 1961 Convention. The commentaries on the 1961 and 1971 Conventions with respect to the corresponding articles in those conventions are thus in large measure applicable and should be consulted.<sup>867</sup>
- 23.2 The basic proposal<sup>868</sup> before the Conference had not contained a provision requiring annual reports by the Board, and article 23 had its origin in a proposal introduced in Committee II by Canada, Denmark, France, Germany, Federal Republic of, Norway and Sweden.<sup>869</sup> Speaking on the proposal, the representative of the United States pointed out that it reproduced the wording used in the 1961 and 1971 Conventions; and he suggested that the Board's reports under the article would be even more eagerly awaited in the light of its new responsibilities in respect of chemicals and precursors, materials and equipment.<sup>870</sup> The discussion that followed was largely confined to stressing the need for the article to conform as far as possible to the wording of the earlier conventions and to avoid placing on Governments reporting obligations that were too heavy, the final drafting of the article being entrusted to the Drafting Committee on that understanding.<sup>871</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>867</sup>Commentary on the 1961 Convention, comments on article 15, paragraphs 1 and 2; and Commentary on the 1971 Convention, comments on article 18, paragraphs 1 and 2.

<sup>868</sup> Official Records, vol. I ..., document E/CONF.82/3, annex II.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>869</sup>Ibid., document E/CONF.82/12, "Draft implementation clauses" (E/CONF.82/C.2/L.13/Add.13), sect. II ("Article 18 bis"), paras. 10 and 11, pp. 163-164.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>870</sup>Official Records, vol. II ..., Summary records of meetings of Committees of the Whole, Committee II, 34th meeting, para. 57.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>871</sup>Ibid., paras. 58-67.

# Paragraph 1

1. The Board shall prepare an annual report on its work containing an analysis of the information at its disposal and, in appropriate cases, an account of the explanations, if any, given by or required of Parties, together with any observations and recommendations which the Board desires to make. The Board may make such additional reports as it considers necessary. The reports shall be submitted to the Council through the Commission which may make such comments as it sees fit.

## Commentary

- 23.3 As is the case in the 1961 and 1971 Conventions, the annual report of the Board on the 1988 Convention is mandatory, while it is left to the Board to determine when additional reports may be necessary. In the implementation of article 15 of the 1961 Convention and article 18 of the 1971 Convention, the Board has developed the practice of submitting a consolidated annual report, which provides an entire overview of the effectiveness of the international drug control treaty system and an analysis of the world situation with respect to drug abuse and illicit traffic. The consolidated report now also covers the 1988 Convention and has dealt, *inter alia*, with the implementation of that Convention and cooperation with Governments.<sup>872</sup>The very broad view that the Board has taken on what should be included in its annual report has thus been maintained.<sup>873</sup>
- Under article 22, concerning remedies available to the Board when it believes the aims of the Convention are not being met, the Board may publish a report drawing attention to a party's non-compliance with the Convention. Paragraph 5 of that article, however, provides for restrictions on the publication of information obtained in such cases. The Board could decide not to proceed under article 22, paragraph 1, since the provisions of that article are of a facultative (through the use of the word "may"), rather than mandatory, nature. Instead it could rely on the provisions of article 23 and on its right to seek or to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>872</sup>The report is published each year. The most recent report was *Report of the International Narcotics Control Board for 1997* (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.98.XI.1).

 $<sup>^{873}</sup>$  Commentary on the 1961 Convention, paragraph 6 of the comments on article 15; and Commentary on the 1971 Convention, paragraph 8 of the comments on article 18, paragraph 1.

receive information provided by parties to the Commission, under article 20, or to the Board itself, under article 12. Under article 23, the Board's annual report shall contain "in appropriate cases, an account of the explanations, if any, given by or required of Parties, together with any observations and recommendations which the Board desires to make". The provisions just quoted would appear to enable the Board to achieve, under article 23, much the same result as may be achieved under article 22. Experience shows that publicity is perhaps the most potent force in obtaining compliance with treaty provisions, where the mere possibility of resorting to such publicity can bring about the result desired by the Board. Reports prepared by the Board under article 23 of the 1988 Convention, as in the earlier conventions, have to be submitted to the Economic and Social Council through the Commission. That permits the Commission to append its own comments, usually adding further political weight to the Board's observations and recommendations. While the requirement of submission through the Commission may cause some extra delay<sup>874</sup> (reports published by the Board under article 22, paragraph 1, subparagraph (b), clause (iii), are to be given directly to the parties, the Council and the Commission), it is unlikely to influence the eventual outcome in cases where the record clearly establishes that the aims of the Convention are not being met.

23.5 In addition to the annual report called for under article 23, the Board is required under article 12, paragraph 13, of the 1988 Convention to report annually to the Commission on the implementation of that article. That requirement is discussed under the comments on article 12 (see paragraphs 12.41-12.42 above).

# Paragraph 2

2. The reports of the Board shall be communicated to the Parties and subsequently published by the Secretary-General. The Parties shall permit their unrestricted distribution.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>874</sup>See, however, Commentary on the 1961 Convention, paragraph 4 of the comments on article 15, paragraph 1, for two instances in which the Council considered the Board's report before it was examined by the Commission.

## Commentary

23.6 As mentioned in paragraph 23.1 above, the text of paragraph 2 is virtually identical in the 1961, 1971 and 1988 Conventions. The comments on that paragraph in the commentaries on the 1961 and 1971 Conventions are thus fully applicable. In particular, any report of the Board should be sent to parties as soon as it is reproduced, and in any case not later than its transmittal to the Commission. In addition, the report should be published by the Secretary-General, thereby ensuring its release to the public, and should be allowed to circulate freely by all parties, thereby also ensuring its availability to news media.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>875</sup>See Commentary on the 1961 Convention, comments on article 15, paragraph 2; and Commentary on the 1971 Convention, comments on article 18, paragraph 2.

# **PART FOUR**

# FINAL CLAUSES

**ARTICLES 24-34** 

#### **ARTICLE 24**

# Application of stricter measures than those required by this Convention

# Single paragraph

A Party may adopt more strict or severe measures than those provided by this Convention if, in its opinion, such measures are desirable or necessary for the prevention or suppression of illicit traffic.

# Commentary

24.1. Article 24, the first of the final clauses of the 1988 Convention, <sup>876</sup> corresponds to article 39 of the 1961 Convention and article 23 of the 1971 Convention. The remarks on those articles in the commentaries on the 1961 and 1971 Conventions thus apply, *mutatis mutandis*, to this article. <sup>877</sup> The article follows most closely article 23 of the 1971 Convention, the changes in the text reflecting only the different nature of the two conventions, the one relating to the control of psychotropic substances and the other to measures, largely of a criminal law nature, to suppress illicit traffic; thus article 24 of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>876</sup>For the legislative history of the final clauses of the 1988 Convention (articles 24-34 in the text as adopted), see annex I to the present *Commentary*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>877</sup>Commentary on the 1961 Convention, paragraphs 1-4 of the comments on article 39; and Commentary on the 1971 Convention, paragraphs 1-4 of the comments on article 23.

1988 Convention refers just to "measures" and not to "measures of control" and ties such measures to the "prevention or suppression of illicit traffic" and not to "the protection of public health and welfare", as is the case in the 1971 Convention.

- 24.2. The article was contained in the basic proposal<sup>878</sup> before the Conference set out in the report of the review group on the draft Convention. In Committee II the article as such gave rise to no comment, beyond the suggestion that the wording of the 1961 and 1971 Conventions should be used for the article.<sup>879</sup> Attention was instead directed to the inclusion in the same article of a non-derogation clause,<sup>880</sup> which eventually became article 25 of the Convention. In the plenary of the Conference, no comments of substance were made on article 24, which was adopted without change.
- 24.3. Article 24 establishes that the 1988 Convention, like the earlier ones, provides the minimum level of measures to be taken by all parties, leaving it to them to take "more strict or severe measures". Attention is drawn in particular to the comments on the interpretation of those words in the commentaries on the 1961 and 1971 Conventions, under articles 39 and 23 respectively.881 The repetition of the same words in the 1988 Convention would seem to indicate that the participants in the Conference took the view that, in the past, application of such a provision had not given rise to serious difficulties. In the previous commentaries, it was pointed out that the article permitted a party to adopt measures additional to those prescribed by the Convention or to replace them by stricter or more severe measures than those provided for in the Convention. As an illustration of the second of these two approaches under the 1988 Convention, in connection, for example, with article 3, paragraph 8, calling for a long statute of limitations period for offences established under that article, a party might provide instead that the prosecution of those offences would not be subject to any time-limit.

<sup>878</sup> Official Records, vol. I ..., document E/CONF.82/3, annex II ("Article 19").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>879</sup>Official Records, vol. II ..., Summary records of meetings of the Committees of the Whole, Committee II, 34th meeting, para. 69.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>880</sup>Ibid., paras. 70-72.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>881</sup>Commentary on the 1961 Convention, paragraphs 2-5 of the comments on article 39; and Commentary on the 1971 Convention, paragraphs 2-4 of the comments on article 23.

24.4 In addition to the general provision of article 24, article 12 includes, in paragraph 10, subparagraph (b), a clause to the effect that a party "may adopt more strict or severe measures of control than those provided by this paragraph if, in its opinion, such measures are desirable or necessary".

# Non-derogation from earlier treaty rights and obligations

# Single paragraph

The provisions of this Convention shall not derogate from any rights enjoyed or obligations undertaken by Parties to this Convention under the 1961 Convention, the 1961 Convention as amended and the 1971 Convention.

## Commentary

- 25.1 The basic proposal before the Conference set out in the report of the review group on the draft Convention<sup>882</sup> did not contain an article corresponding to article 25. That article originated in discussions at the Conference on the draft article of the basic proposal concerning offences and sanctions (which became article 3 in the 1988 Convention). The draft article had been referred by the plenary to Committee I, which in turn decided to refer the basic proposal and the amendments thereto to a working group for consideration.<sup>883</sup>
- 25.2 The Chairman of the Working Group, in introducing the report of the Working Group to the Committee, 884 explained the rationale behind a recommendation by the Working Group that the Convention should contain a non-derogation clause. 885 At one point, there had been a proposal to include in the list of offences in what was to become article 3 almost the same types of conduct as those listed in article 36 of the 1961 Convention, except for cultivation, possession and purchase, which would be excluded on the understanding that they were adequately provided for in the 1961 Convention. Some representatives having expressed the view that their omission might imply the possibility of derogation from the existing conventions, the Working Group had decided that the draft should contain an appropriate non-derogation clause, preferably in the

<sup>882</sup> Official Records, vol. I ..., document E/CONF.82/3, annex II.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>883</sup>Official Records, vol. II ..., Summary records of meetings of the Committees of the Whole, Committee I, 3rd meeting, paras. 57-59.

<sup>884</sup> Ibid., 24th meeting, para. 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>885</sup>Official Records, vol. I ..., document E/CONF.82/11, "Article 2" (E/CONF.82/C.1/L.18/Add.1), sect. II, para. 3 ("Paragraph 8"), p. 103 .

draft article on the application of stricter measures than those required by the new convention<sup>886</sup> so that it could not be interpreted as implying any modification of the obligations which the existing conventions imposed on the parties to those conventions.

25.3 The provisions of the basic proposal before the Conference on the application of stricter measures than those required by the Convention had been referred by the plenary to Committee II for consideration. In view of the Working Group's decision (paragraph 25.2 above), the representative of Canada proposed the following addition to what was later to become article 24 on application of stricter measures:

"The provisions of the present Convention shall not derogate from any rights enjoyed or obligations undertaken by Parties to this Convention under the Single Convention on Narcotic Drugs, 1961, that Convention as amended by the Protocol of 1972 or the Convention on Psychotropic Substances, 1971."

After some discussion in the Committee, 888 where the text gained considerable support, it was proposed and accepted by the Committee that the text be adopted and included in the draft Convention as a separate article. 889 With some drafting changes introduced for purposes of conformity with other articles, article 25 was adopted by the plenary without comment.

- 25.4 The legislative history outlined above makes it clear that the 1988 Convention is intended not to weaken the earlier conventions but to supplement and reinforce them by introducing measures to deal with areas not necessarily covered by those conventions. Where certain provisions overlap or are parallel to each other, the 1988 Convention, in certain articles, makes the consequences clear. For example:
- (a) Article 3, paragraph 1, subparagraph (a), clauses (i) and (ii), and paragraph 2, provides that the measures called for to establish criminal offences

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>886</sup>Official Records, vol. II ..., Summary records of meetings of the Committees of the Whole, Committee II, 34th meeting, paras. 71 and 74.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>887</sup>Ibid., para. 74.

<sup>888</sup> Ibid., paras. 75-83.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>889</sup>Ibid., paras. 81 and 84.

under those paragraphs are to be established in conformity with the relevant provisions of the 1961 Convention, the 1961 Convention as amended and, where applicable, the 1971 Convention;

- (b) Article 12, paragraph 8, subparagraph (a), contains a specific non-derogation clause, to the effect that measures to be taken by a party to monitor the manufacture and distribution of substances listed in Table I and Table II shall be "without prejudice ... to the provisions of the 1961 Convention, the 1961 Convention as amended and the 1971 Convention";
- (c) Article 14 provides that measures taken under the 1988 Convention to eradicate illicit cultivation of plants containing narcotic and psychotropic substances and to eliminate illicit demand for narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances shall not be less stringent than those provided for in the earlier conventions.

Likewise, in article 22 on the functions of the Board, it is provided that such functions shall be without prejudice to the functions of the Board and of the Commission under the earlier conventions. Still another provision providing for measures supplementary to the earlier conventions is article 16, on commercial documents and labelling of exports, which requires that additional information be provided under the 1988 Convention.

- 25.5 The general rules of international law on the interpretation and application of treaties are clear in providing that a subsequent treaty dealing with the same subject matter as a previous treaty overrides the previous treaty to the extent of any incompatibility. When, however, a treaty specifies that it is subject to, or that it is not to be considered incompatible with, an earlier treaty, the provisions of that other treaty prevail.<sup>890</sup>
- While the general rules may be clear, their application in a specific case is not necessarily a simple matter, particularly in relation to a convention which, while containing some provisions that overlap or are parallel to provisions in earlier conventions, is intended to regulate areas outside those previous conventions as well as to strengthen and reinforce certain of the provisions in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>890</sup>See article 30 of the 1969 Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties (United Nations, *Treaty Series*, vol. 1155, p. 331) and article 30 of the 1986 Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties between States and International Organizations and between International Organizations (A/CONF.129/15). See "Reservations" (annex II, section A, below) on the applicability of those two conventions to the 1988 Convention.

those same conventions. Thus, in interpreting the provisions of the 1988 Convention, considerations to be borne in mind include the following:

- (a) A basic aim of the Convention is to provide for areas not covered by the existing drug control treaties;
- (b) Another aim, as evidenced by the preamble, is to reinforce and supplement the measures provided for in the earlier conventions in order to counter the magnitude and extent of illicit traffic;
- (c) In certain articles, the 1988 Convention indicates expressly that those articles are to be interpreted in conformity with the previous conventions (see paragraph 25.4, subparagraphs (a) and (b), above);
- (d) In one article it is specifically laid down that the measures to be taken cannot be less strict than those contained in the previous conventions (see paragraph 25.4, subparagraph (c), above);
- (e) In another article there is a requirement that more information be provided than is called for in the earlier conventions (see paragraph 25.4 above);
- (f) The 1988 Convention contains a general non-derogation clause in article 25, in respect of the 1961 Convention, the 1961 Convention as amended and the 1971 Convention. The specific provisions mentioned above would prevail over the general provision in the event of conflict.
- It is not useful to speculate in advance on the interpretation of a 25.7 particular treaty provision in a particular case. Taking into account the considerations listed above, however, it can be argued that article 25 is intended to ensure that no provision of the 1988 Convention will weaken in any way a corresponding provision in the earlier conventions. It is not intended, on the other hand, that the 1988 Convention should be weakened in any particular provision by the argument that a similar provision in the earlier conventions is less stringent. The subsequent practice of the parties in implementing the 1988 Convention may in due course assist in interpreting the application of article 25 to parallel or overlapping provisions in the various conventions. It can, however, be said with some cogency that the articles in the 1988 Convention, for example those identified in paragraph 25.4 above, already indicate the consequences in the most significant areas where the various conventions overlap and that article 25 is thus of a residual nature, expressing in general terms the wish of the parties not to weaken in any way the various rights and obligations that flow from all the conventions.

## Signature

# Single paragraph

This Convention shall be open for signature at the United Nations Office at Vienna, from 20 December 1988 to 28 February 1989, and thereafter at the Headquarters of the United Nations at New York, until 20 December 1989, by:

- (a) All States;
- (b) Namibia, represented by the United Nations Council for Namibia;
- (c) Regional economic integration organizations which have competence in respect of the negotiation, conclusion and application of international agreements in matters covered by this Convention, references under the Convention to Parties, States or national services being applicable to these organizations within the limits of their competence.

# Commentary

26.1. Article 26 reflects the evolution that has taken place in United Nations practice with regard to the entities that may become parties to multilateral conventions, intended to be of a universal character, concluded under the auspices of the Organization. The corresponding provisions of the 1961 and 1971 Conventions (article 40, paragraph 1, and article 25, paragraph 1, respectively) both contain what was known as the "Vienna formula", <sup>891</sup> which opened conventions of this nature to States that were recognized as such, at the relevant times, by the majority of the international community. The test of such recognition was membership in the United Nations, or one or more of its specialized agencies, or the International Atomic Energy Agency, or being a party to the Statute of the International Court of Justice, or receiving an invitation from a principal United Nations organ to become a party to the convention concerned. By the time the 1988 Convention was adopted, the issues of statehood that had

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>891</sup>The clause became widely used after its inclusion in the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations of 18 April 1961 (United Nations, *Treaty Series*, vol. 500, p. 95).

given rise to the "Vienna formula" had been almost entirely resolved, and thus the 1988 Convention was opened for signature by "all States".

- 26.2. The draft final clauses set out in the basic proposal before the Conference<sup>892</sup> contained two variants of this provision: one variant retained the "Vienna formula", while the other contained the "all States" provision. The draft final clauses prepared by the Secretariat,<sup>893</sup> at the request of the General Committee of the Conference, incorporated the "all States" provision, which was adopted by the Conference.
- 26.3. Article 26 of the Convention also opens the Convention for signature by "Namibia, represented by the United Nations Council for Namibia". This represents the evolution in United Nations practice at the time the Convention was adopted, following on the assumption by the United Nations of full authority for Namibia. The provision was not incorporated in the draft final clauses contained in the basic proposal, but was included in the Secretariat's draft of those clauses as then representing current United Nations practice.
- 26.4. The third evolutionary aspect reflected in article 26 is found in the opening of the Convention to regional economic integration organizations which have competence in respect of the negotiation, conclusion and application of international agreements in matters covered by the Convention.
- 26.5. The provision originates with the review group on the draft Convention, which met at Vienna from 27 June to 8 July 1988. The review group took note of a proposal by the Commission of the European Communities to amend the then existing text of the final clauses to add a provision to the effect that regional economic integration organizations which had competence in respect of the negotiation, conclusion and application of international agreements in matters covered by the Convention might become parties to the Convention and that references under the Convention to parties, States or national services should be applicable to those organizations within the limits of their competence. The review group agreed to amend the draft final clauses to include that provision.<sup>894</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>892</sup>Official Records, vol. I ..., document E/CONF.82/3, annex II.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>893</sup>Ibid., document E/CONF.82/12, "Draft final clauses" (E/CONF.82/C.2/L.13/Add.12), sect. II, para. 2, pp. 169-171.

<sup>894</sup> Ibid., document E/CONF.82/3, para. 196.

- As mentioned in the note on the legislative history of the final clauses 26.6. (see annex I), the draft final clauses in both the basic proposal and the Secretariat's draft were referred to the Working Group on Final Clauses established by Committee II. Introducing in Committee II the set of final clauses proposed by the Working Group, 895 the Chairman of the Working Group stated that the Convention would be open to all States, to Namibia, as represented by the United Nations Council for Namibia, and to regional economic integration organizations. While some reservations had been expressed in the Working Group regarding the need to refer expressly to Namibia, in view of recent developments and the fact that the United Nations Council for Namibia was in no position to exercise the rights and duties of the Convention, the majority had considered that the reference should be retained, as it reflected not only the most recent United Nations treaty practice but also the current legal situation. The Working Group, while noting the observations and reservations made, had decided to retain the provision.
- 26.7. The other issue that had arisen in the Working Group was the reference to regional economic integration organizations. The competence of such organizations in penal matters had been questioned and the Philippines had submitted an amendment<sup>896</sup> that would have limited participation in the Convention to States. That view had not enjoyed majority support in the Working Group and the reference to such organizations had been retained. It had, moreover, been the understanding of the Working Group that the word "regional" should be interpreted in the widest sense to cover groupings of States, including subregional groups.
- 26.8. Committee II<sup>897</sup> approved the draft article as submitted by the Working Group. In the discussion on the article in plenary, statements were made for the record on Namibia and on regional economic integration organizations.<sup>898</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>895</sup>Official Records, vol. II ..., Summary records of meetings of the Committees of the Whole, Committee II, 30th meeting, paras. 2-18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>896</sup>Official Records, vol. I ..., document E/CONF.82/12, "Draft final clauses" (E/CONF.82/C.2/L.13/Add.12), sect. II, paras. 3 and 4 ("Article 20"), p. 171.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>897</sup>Official Records, vol. II ..., Summary records of meetings of the Committees of the Whole, Committee II, 30th meeting, paras. 20-39.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>898</sup>Ibid., Summary records of plenary meetings, 7th plenary meeting, paras. 94-97.

- With the accession of Namibia to full independence, and its admission to the United Nations on 23 April 1990, the specific reference to Namibia in article 26 ceased to be operative, the Convention being open to Namibia under the "all States" provision.
- 26.10. As regards regional economic integration organizations, the European Community signed the 1988 Convention on 8 June 1989 and deposited an act of formal confirmation on 31 December 1990. That instrument was accompanied by the declaration on the extent of competence of the European Community called for in article 27, paragraph 2.899
- 26.11 The 1961 Convention, in its article 40, requires States that have signed the Convention to ratify it. It does not appear to contemplate the possibility of a State, which so indicates, being bound by signature alone. The 1971 Convention, however, expressly provides in its article 25 that States may become parties by signature alone. The draft final clauses contained in the basic proposal before the Conference provided, in one variant, 900 for a potential party to be bound by signature alone, but that approach was not adopted in the Working Group, which based itself on the draft final clauses prepared by the Secretariat. 901 The 1988 Convention thus makes no express reference to a State becoming a party by signature alone, and the provisions of article 27 that require ratification, acceptance, approval or acts of formal confirmation appear to establish that the possibility of States becoming parties solely by signature was not contemplated. This is hardly surprising in a convention that has repercussions on the domestic legislation of each party to it, probably requiring that internal measures be taken before a State becomes a party. In any event, the question is a hypothetical one, as the closing date for signature of the Convention was 20 December 1989, and none of the signatories by that date<sup>902</sup> appears to have taken the position that it had become a party by signature alone. 903

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>899</sup>For the text of the declaration, see the note verbale by the Secretary-General acting as depositary (C.N.250.1990.TREATIES-12 (Depositary Notification)), dated 15 March 1991.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>900</sup>Official Records, vol. I ..., document E/CONF.82/12, "Draft final clauses" (E/CONF.82/C.2/L.13/Add.12), sect. I, para. 1, p. 166.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>901</sup>Ibid., sect. II, para. 2, p. 169.

<sup>902</sup> See Multilateral Treaties Deposited with the Secretary-General: Status as at 31 December 1996 (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.97.V.5), chap. VI, sect. 19.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>903</sup>See below, comments on article 28.

# Ratification, acceptance, approval or act of formal confirmation

## Article as a whole

- 1. This Convention is subject to ratification, acceptance or approval by States and by Namibia, represented by the United Nations Council for Namibia, and to acts of formal confirmation by regional economic integration organizations referred to in article 26, subparagraph (c). The instruments of ratification, acceptance or approval and those relating to acts of formal confirmation shall be deposited with the Secretary-General.
- 2. In their instruments of formal confirmation, regional economic integration organizations shall declare the extent of their competence with respect to the matters governed by this Convention. These organizations shall also inform the Secretary-General of any modification in the extent of their competence with respect to the matters governed by the Convention.

# Commentary

27.1 The corresponding provisions in the 1961 and 1971 Conventions relating to the subject matter of paragraph 1 of article 27 of the 1988 Convention (article 40, paragraph 2, and article 25, paragraph 1, subparagraph (b), and paragraph 3, respectively) refer only to "ratification", this being the term most commonly used in United Nations practice (when those conventions were adopted) for the act by which a State, after signing a treaty, expressed its consent to be bound by that treaty. The corresponding provision in the draft final clauses in the basic proposal that was before the Conference<sup>904</sup> also referred only, in two variants of the article, to "ratification", as was the case of the draft final clauses prepared by the Secretariat<sup>905</sup> at the request of the General Committee. Japan

<sup>904</sup> Official Records, vol. I ..., document E/CONF.82/3, annex II, pp. 85-86.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>905</sup>Ibid., document E/CONF.82/12, "Draft final clauses" (E/CONF.82/C.2/L.13/Add.12), sect. I, para. 1, pp. 166-167.

proposed an amendment<sup>906</sup> referring to acceptance as a form of consent to be bound by the Convention.

- 27.2 When the draft article was being considered in the Working Group on Final Clauses established by Committee II, the words "acceptance or approval" were added after the word "ratification". That brought the article into line with the provisions of the 1969 Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties, <sup>907</sup> which employs all three terms.
- 27.3 Article 2, paragraph 1, subparagraph (b), of the Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties provides that "'ratification', 'acceptance', 'approval' ... mean in each case the international act so named whereby a State establishes on the international plane its consent to be bound by a treaty." The three terms are synonymous in their effect<sup>908</sup> and there is no legal distinction between them. They thus represent the three terms most commonly used in international practice for the act whereby a State becomes a party to a treaty after signing that treaty, unless it has expressly agreed to be bound by signature alone (see paragraph 26.11 above). It is left to national practice to decide which term to employ when depositing the necessary instrument with the Secretary-General.
- 27.4 The 1986 Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties between States and International Organizations or between International Organizations<sup>909</sup> provides, in its article 1 (b bis) that an "'act of formal confirmation' means an international act corresponding to that of ratification by a State, whereby an international organization establishes on the international plane its consent to be bound by a treaty". The term was therefore included in the draft final clauses of the 1988 Convention prepared by the Secretariat and was agreed in the Working Group on Final Clauses. Article 1 (b) of the 1986 Vienna Convention also provides that "acceptance" and "approval" mean acts whereby an international organization establishes on the international plane its consent to be bound by a treaty. That, however, is not reflected in article 27 of the 1988 Convention.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>906</sup>Ibid., sect. II, para. 4, p. 171.

<sup>907</sup>United Nations, Treaty Series, vol. 1155, p. 331.

<sup>908</sup>The term "ratification" is limited to acts by States. "Acceptance" and "approval" may also be employed by organizations when indicating their willingness to be bound by a treaty.

<sup>909</sup>A/CONF.129/15.

- 27.5 Paragraph 2 of article 27 was added in the Working Group on Final Clauses, not having been included in either the basic proposal or the Secretariat's draft final clauses. Introducing in Committee II the Working Group's set of final clauses, the Chairman of the Working Group indicated that it had also been decided that the article, as well as the subsequent article on accession, should contain a paragraph describing the extent of the competence of the regional economic integration organization concerned regarding matters governed by the Convention. That was in order to provide other parties with a clear understanding of the role that the organization concerned would play in the implementation of the Convention. 910
- 27.6 There was little or no express reference to the draft article in the discussions in Committee II, except for the comments on regional economic integration organizations, referred to under the preceding article (see paragraphs 26.7 and 26.8 above). When the final clauses were before the plenary for comments, no comment was made on article 27.

 $<sup>^{910}</sup>Official\ Records$ , vol. II ..., Summary records of meetings of the Committees of the Whole, Committee II, 30th meeting, para. 6.

#### Accession

#### Article as a whole

- 1. This Convention shall remain open for accession by any State, by Namibia, represented by the United Nations Council for Namibia, and by regional economic integration organizations referred to in article 26, subparagraph (c). Accession shall be effected by the deposit of an instrument of accession with the Secretary-General.
- 2. In their instruments of accession, regional economic integration organizations shall declare the extent of their competence with respect to the matters governed by this Convention. These organizations shall also inform the Secretary-General of any modification in the extent of their competence with respect to the matters governed by the Convention.

## Commentary

- Article 28 follows on naturally from the provisions of articles 26 and 27, the three articles forming an integral whole in respect of the States and entities to which the Convention is open and of the methods by which those States and entities may become parties. Except for drafting changes, the text of the article is essentially that proposed in the draft final clauses prepared by the Secretariat pursuant to the request of the General Committee of the Conference.<sup>911</sup> The article was not discussed when the final clauses were before the Working Group on Final Clauses, Committee II or the plenary, since the issue of the potential parties to the Convention had already been disposed of in connection with article 26.
- 28.2. Accession is the means by which any State or other entity entitled to become a party to a convention, which has not signed the convention, establishes its consent to be bound by the convention. As the final date for signature of the 1988 Convention, under article 26, was 20 December 1989, any

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>911</sup>Official Records, vol. I ..., document E/CONF.82/12, "Draft final clauses" (E/CONF.82/C.2/L.13/Add.12), sect. II, para. 2, p. 169.

*Art. 28 - Accession* 405

State or organization not having signed by that date will have to proceed by way of accession if it wishes to become a party to the Convention. Limitations are placed on the periods during which most United Nations conventions are open for signature in the hope that doing so will encourage States to act as quickly as possible to become parties. As the conventions normally remain open for accession without time-limits, States or other entities may, however, always avail themselves of the option of accession.

28.3. Article 28, paragraph 2, repeats the requirement contained in article 27, paragraph 2, regarding the need for a regional economic integration organization to include in an instrument of accession a declaration of the extent of its competence with respect to matters governed by the Convention. Any modification in the extent of such competence is also to be notified to the Secretary-General.

## **Entry into force**

#### Article as a whole

- 1. This Convention shall enter into force on the ninetieth day after the date of the deposit with the Secretary-General of the twentieth instrument of ratification, acceptance, approval or accession by States or by Namibia, represented by the Council for Namibia.
- 2. For each State or for Namibia, represented by the Council for Namibia, ratifying, accepting, approving or acceding to this Convention after the deposit of the twentieth instrument of ratification, acceptance, approval or accession, the Convention shall enter into force on the ninetieth day after the date of the deposit of its instrument of ratification, acceptance, approval or accession.
- 3. For each regional economic integration organization referred to in article 26, subparagraph (c), depositing an instrument relating to an act of formal confirmation or an instrument of accession, this Convention shall enter into force on the ninetieth day after such deposit, or at the date the Convention enters into force pursuant to paragraph 1 of this article, whichever is later.

# Commentary

- 29.1 The principal issues that arose when article 29 was being drafted during the preparatory process, and later at the Conference, were related to:
- (a) The number of instruments of ratification, acceptance, approval or accession required for entry into force;
- (b) The time that should elapse after the deposit of the necessary instruments for the Convention to enter into force;

- (c) The time that should elapse between deposit in each case of an instrument by a State or other entity to which the Convention was open and the entry into force of the Convention in respect of that State or entity.
- 29.2. The 1961 Convention had provided for entry into force on the thirtieth day after the deposit of the fortieth instrument of ratification or accession and for instruments deposited after that date to become operative 30 days after such deposit. The 1971 Convention, however, provided for entry into force on the ninetieth day after 40 States had signed the Convention without reservation as to ratification or had deposited their instruments of ratification or accession. After that date, the Convention would enter into force in respect of a State depositing an instrument 90 days after such deposit.
- 29.3 The provisions of what eventually became article 29 in the basic proposal before the Conference<sup>912</sup> contained two variants. Both, however, proposed options on entry into force on the thirtieth, sixtieth or ninetieth day after 20, 30 or 40 States had acted to become parties to the Convention. Thereafter, action taken by States to become parties would become effective on the thirtieth, sixtieth or ninetieth day following such action. The draft final clauses proposed by the Secretariat<sup>913</sup> pursuant to the request of the General Committee of the Conference provided that the Convention should enter into force on the thirtieth day after the deposit of the twentieth, thirtieth or fortieth instrument of ratification or accession. After the Convention's entry into force, any instrument deposited would become operative on the thirtieth day after its deposit.
- 29.4 Japan proposed an amendment<sup>914</sup> to the basic proposal to the effect that the Convention should enter into force 90 days after the deposit of the requisite number of instruments.
- 29.5 All the foregoing texts were considered by the Working Group on Final Clauses, which recommended the text of the article as it now stands. Except for drafting changes, it was so adopted by the Conference. Introducing the draft

<sup>912</sup> Ibid., document E/CONF.82/3, annex II ("Article 21"), p. 86.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>913</sup>Ibid., document E/CONF.82/12, "Draft final clauses" (E/CONF.82/C.2/L.13/Add.12), sect. II, para. 2, p. 169.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>914</sup>Ibid., paras. 3 and 4, p. 171.

article in the Committee, the Chairman of the Working Group explained<sup>915</sup> that discussions in the Group had revealed a consensus that it was desirable to bring the Convention into force as soon as possible and that the number of instruments that had to be deposited for that purpose should not be unduly large. The Working Group had opted for 20 instruments and agreed that, to permit States to complete all necessary domestic formalities, 90 days should elapse between deposit of an instrument and entry into force in respect of the depositing entity. The text recommended by the Working Group was not the subject of any comment either in Committee II or in the plenary when the final clauses were discussed and adopted.

29.6 Article 29 does not seem to call for any further comment. It should be noted, however, that to bring the Convention into force only instruments deposited by States, or by Namibia, represented by the United Nations Council for Namibia, were to be counted. An act of formal confirmation by a regional economic integration organization would not count for this purpose. The exclusion probably stems from the fact that such an organization has only limited competence in matters governed by the Convention, States alone having full competence in that respect. 917

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>915</sup>Official Records, vol. II ..., Summary records of meetings of the Committees of the Whole, Committee II, 30th meeting, para. 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>916</sup>The Convention entered into force on 11 November 1990, 90 days after the deposit on 13 August 1990 of the instrument of ratification of Spain. For dates of signature and deposit of acts of adherence, see *Multilateral Treaties Deposited with the Secretary-General: Status as at 31 December 1997* (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.98.V.2), chap. VI, sect. 19.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>917</sup>For information on the entry into force of the Convention, see above, "Introduction", paragraph 25.

#### Denunciation

#### Article as a whole

- 1. A Party may denounce this Convention at any time by a written notification addressed to the Secretary-General.
- 2. Such denunciation shall take effect for the Party concerned one year after the date of receipt of the notification by the Secretary-General.

## Commentary

- 30.1 Article 30 is a simplified version of the articles on denunciation contained in articles 46 and 29 respectively of the 1961 and the 1971 Conventions. Those conventions, unlike the present one, did not permit any denunciation until two years had expired from the date on which they came into force. One variant of the draft article in the basic proposal before the Conference<sup>918</sup> and the draft article included in the final clauses prepared by the Secretariat at the request of the General Committee<sup>919</sup> also provided that denunciation could only be effected two years after the entry into force of the Convention. A second variant of the draft article in the basic proposal omitted that requirement. As stated below, the latter variant was adopted.
- 30.2 Articles 46 and 29 respectively of the 1961 and 1971 Conventions provide that denunciation, if received by the Secretary-General on or before 1 July of any year, shall take effect on 1 January of the succeeding year and, if received after 1 July, shall take effect as if the denunciation had been received on or before 1 July in the succeeding year. Those elaborate provisions were motivated by considerations relating to the provision of estimates or annual reporting requirements under those conventions. Such considerations are not applicable to the 1988 Convention.

<sup>918</sup> Official Records, vol. I ..., document E/CONF.82/3, annex II, p. 86.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>919</sup>Ibid., document E/CONF.82/12, "Draft final clauses" (E/CONF.82/C.2/L.13/Add.12), sect. II, para. 2 ("Article 25"), p. 170.

30.3 The 1988 Convention thus simply provides, in article 30, paragraph 2, that denunciation by a party shall take effect one year after the date of receipt of a notification by the Secretary-General. The text had been proposed both in the second variant of the draft article in the basic proposal and in the draft article prepared by the Secretariat. Introducing in Committee II the report of the Working Group on Final Clauses, the Chairman of the Working Group explained that discussions on the article had centred on whether a party, in the interests of stability in treaty obligations, should be obliged to remain a party for a number of years before it could denounce the Convention. As the text proposed that denunciation would take effect only one year after notification, it was, however, agreed by consensus in the Working Group not to include any other time requirements. The Working Group's text was adopted by Committee II without discussion and gave rise to no comment when the final clauses were discussed in plenary.

30.4 The 1961 and 1971 Conventions make provision for denunciation by a party on behalf of a territory for which it has international responsibility, both conventions having articles on territorial application (articles 42 and 27 respectively). As no article on territorial application was included in the 1988 Convention as eventually adopted, however, there is no corresponding provision in that Convention. The matter remains to be dealt with under the provisions of general international law and the depositary practice of the Secretary-General (see under "Territorial application" in annex II, section B, below).

<sup>920</sup>Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>921</sup>Official Records, vol. II ..., Summary records of meetings of the Committees of the Whole, Committee II, 30th meeting, para. 10.

#### **Amendments**

#### Article as a whole

- 1. Any Party may propose an amendment to this Convention. The text of any such amendment and the reasons therefor shall be communicated by that Party to the Secretary-General, who shall communicate it to the other Parties and shall ask them whether they accept the proposed amendment. If a proposed amendment so circulated has not been rejected by any Party within twenty-four months after it has been circulated, it shall be deemed to have been accepted and shall enter into force in respect of a Party ninety days after that Party has deposited with the Secretary-General an instrument expressing its consent to be bound by that amendment.
- 2. If a proposed amendment has been rejected by any Party, the Secretary-General shall consult with the Parties and, if a majority so requests, he shall bring the matter, together with any comments made by the Parties, before the Council which may decide to call a conference in accordance with Article 62, paragraph 4, of the Charter of the United Nations. Any amendment resulting from such a Conference shall be embodied in a Protocol of Amendment. Consent to be bound by such a Protocol shall be required to be expressed specifically to the Secretary-General.

# Commentary

31.1 The 1961 and 1971 Conventions contain virtually identical articles on amendments, whereby amendments can be proposed by a party, through the Secretary-General, to the Economic and Social Council. The Council can then either decide to convene a conference to consider the amendment or to ask the parties whether they accept the amendment. In the latter case, if no party rejects the amendment within 18 months after circulation by the Council, it enters into force. In the event of a rejection, the Council can decide whether or not to convene a conference to consider the amendment. Article 31, paragraph 1, of the 1988 Convention provides for a similar procedure for circulating a proposed amendment, except that the Council is bypassed and the Secretary-General proceeds on his own authority to circulate the amendment. Article 31,

paragraph 1, also introduces a proviso not found in its counterparts, namely that an amendment accepted under paragraph 1 only enters into force for a party to the Convention after it has submitted an instrument expressing its consent to be bound by that amendment. It should be noted that, in article 12 of the Convention, on substances frequently used in the illicit manufacture of narcotic drugs or psychotropic substances, the procedure for amending Table I and Table II is entirely different. Under article 12 there is no requirement for, nor is there any possibility of, deposit of an instrument of acceptance of an amendment made to Table I or Table II by the Commission. A party may, however, request a review by the Council of an amendment so made, the Council having the final authority to confirm or reverse the decision of the Commission. 922

- 31.2 The corresponding draft article on amendments in the basic proposal before the Conference<sup>923</sup> and the draft article in the draft final clauses proposed by the Secretariat<sup>924</sup> at the request of the General Committee essentially repeat the provisions of the 1961 and the 1971 Conventions. An addition made in the Secretariat text would have permitted the Economic and Social Council, in the light of comments received, to adopt a revised text of an amendment proposed by a party before determining which of the two procedures outlined above it should follow.
- 31.3 Japan submitted to the Conference an amendment<sup>925</sup> to the effect that acceptance of an amendment "shall be dependent upon each Party's decision".
- 31.4 Introducing the draft article in Committee II, the Chairman of the Working Group on Final Clauses noted that it had been the subject of considerable discussion and that a preference had emerged for a clause that would place the amendment procedure largely in the hands of the parties rather than of a body such as the Economic and Social Council, in which non-parties might predominate. A suggestion by the Netherlands had been endorsed by the Working Group, which laid down a procedure for circulating a proposed amendment, allowing for its entry into force after a lengthy period if no party objected to it. Some representatives in the Working Group had emphasized that,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>922</sup>See above, comments on article 12.

<sup>923</sup> Official Records, vol. I ..., document E/CONF.82/3, annex II ("Article 24"), p. 87.

 $<sup>^{924}\</sup>mbox{Ibid.,}$  document E/CONF.82/12, "Draft final clauses" (E/CONF.82/C.2/L.13/Add.12), sect. II, para. 2, p. 170.

<sup>925</sup> Ibid., paras. 3 and 4.

because of constitutional requirements, they were not generally in favour of the "tacit approval" of amendments provided for in the draft article. Any State could, however, object to a proposed amendment and thus would not in any way be bound without its consent, and the two-year period provided for in paragraph 1 would give a State sufficient time to complete the necessary legislative procedures before an amendment entered into force. Those representatives who had expressed their concern in the Working Group had agreed that, provided their views were placed on record, they would not oppose a consensus on the draft article. 926

- 31.5 The Chairman of the Working Group went on to say that the Legal Consultant, in reply to specific questions from the representative of Japan, had explained that a State would in no case be bound by an amendment without its consent. He had added that, under the "tacit approval procedure", States had the unrestricted right to object during a two-year period; moreover, if an amendment were submitted to a conference, the results of that conference would have to be embodied in a protocol of amendment, to which any State could refuse to become party if it did not approve of the amendment. The representative of Japan then withdrew his amendment to the draft article.<sup>927</sup>
- The article on amendments proposed by the Working Group read as follows:

## "Amendments

- "1. Any Party may propose an amendment to this Convention. The text of any such amendment and the reasons therefor shall be communicated by that Party to the Secretary-General who shall communicate it to the other Parties and shall ask them whether they accept the proposed amendment. If a proposed amendment so circulated has not been rejected by any Party within twenty-four months after it has been circulated, it shall be deemed to be accepted and shall enter into force after a further period of one year.
- "2. If a proposed amendment has been rejected by any Party, the Secretary-General shall consult with the Parties and, if a majority so requests, he shall bring the matter, together with any comments made by the Parties, before

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>926</sup>Official Records, vol. II ..., Summary records of meetings of the Committees of the Whole, Committee II, 30th meeting, para. 11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>927</sup>Ibid., para. 12.

the Council, which may decide to call a conference in accordance with paragraph 4 of Article 62 of the Charter of the United Nations." <sup>928</sup>

- 31.7 The above draft article was considered by Committee II, where a number of oral amendments were proposed by the representative of Brazil, 929 the first of which was to delete, at the end of paragraph 1, the words "after a further period of one year" and to replace it by the wording now included at the end of that paragraph to the effect that the amendment would enter into force in respect of a party 90 days after that party had deposited with the Secretary-General an instrument expressing its consent to be bound by that amendment. He also proposed adding to paragraph 2 the last two sentences as they appear in the final text of the article. While some representatives preferred the text of the article as proposed by the Working Group, they agreed, in the interest of consensus, to accept the Brazilian amendments, which had received wide support. No comments were made on the article, as revised, when the final clauses were discussed in plenary.
- 31.8 The draft of the article on amendments as it emerged from the Working Group was clearly intended, in paragraph 1, to lay down a procedure which, by tacit consent, would expedite amendments that were generally acceptable. The introduction in Committee II, however, of the requirement for each party expressly to accept the amendment through deposit of an instrument with the Secretary-General may in practice negate the original intent of the paragraph and result in a situation in which some, but not all, States may be parties to the Convention as amended, even in cases where the amendment gives rise to no objections. It remains to be seen whether, in these circumstances, parties would not prefer the procedure foreseen in paragraph 2 of the article for convening a conference. Furthermore, the inclusion of this article does not, per se, prevent the Economic and Social Council or the General Assembly from deciding on other procedures for amendment. In the commentaries on both the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>928</sup>Official Records, vol. I ..., document E/CONF.82/12, "Final draft clauses" (E/CONF.82/C.2/L.13/Add.12), sect. III, para. 8 ("Article 25"), p. 173.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>929</sup>Official Records, vol. II ..., Summary records of meetings of the Committees of the Whole, Committee II, 31st meeting, paras. 3-18.

1961 Convention and the 1971 Convention, this possibility is dealt with at length under articles 47 and 30, respectively. 930

31.9 For the procedure to amend Table I and Table II annexed to the Convention, see comments on article 12, in particular on paragraphs 2-5 (see paragraphs 12.15-12.22 above).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>930</sup>See Commentary on the 1961 Convention, paragraphs 1-3 of the comments on article 47; and Commentary on the 1971 Convention, paragraphs 2-4 of the comments on article 30.

## Settlement of disputes

#### Article as a whole

- 1. If there should arise between two or more Parties a dispute relating to the interpretation or application of this Convention, the Parties shall consult together with a view to the settlement of the dispute by negotiation, enquiry, mediation, conciliation, arbitration, recourse to regional bodies, judicial process or other peaceful means of their own choice.
- 2. Any such dispute which cannot be settled in the manner prescribed in paragraph 1 of this article shall be referred, at the request of any one of the States Parties to the dispute, to the International Court of Justice for decision.
- 3. If a regional economic integration organization referred to in article 26, subparagraph (c), is a Party to a dispute which cannot be settled in the manner prescribed in paragraph 1 of this article, it may, through a State Member of the United Nations, request the Council to request an advisory opinion of the International Court of Justice in accordance with Article 65 of the Statute of the Court, which opinion shall be regarded as decisive.
- 4. Each State, at the time of signature or ratification, acceptance or approval of this Convention or accession thereto, or each regional economic integration organization, at the time of signature or deposit of an act of formal confirmation or accession, may declare that it does not consider itself bound by paragraphs 2 and 3 of this article. The other Parties shall not be bound by paragraphs 2 and 3 with respect to any Party having made such a declaration.
- 5. Any Party having made a declaration in accordance with paragraph 4 of this article may at any time withdraw the declaration by notification to the Secretary-General.

## **Commentary**

- 32.1 Article 32, paragraph 1, of the 1988 Convention is essentially the same, except for drafting changes, as the corresponding provisions of the 1961 and 1971 Conventions (article 48, paragraph 1, and article 31, paragraph 1, respectively). The comments on these paragraphs in the commentaries on the earlier conventions are therefore relevant sources of information. Article 32, paragraph 1, of the 1988 Convention follows article 33, paragraph 1, of the Charter of the United Nations in its enumeration of the various methods of settlement of disputes. The comments on article 31 of the 1971 Convention contain an explanation of some of those methods. 931
- Article 32, paragraph 2, of the 1988 Convention essentially repeats 32.2 article 31, paragraph 2, of the 1971 Convention, which was an elaboration of the corresponding text in article 48, paragraph 2, of the 1961 Convention. In the 1971 Convention, the words "at the request of any one of the parties to the dispute" were added after the words "shall be referred". The additional words, missing from the 1961 Convention, clarified the doubts that had existed under that Convention as to whether the compulsory jurisdiction of the International Court of Justice was provided for in cases where one or more, but not all, of the parties to a dispute made the necessary application to the Court. 932 In the 1988 Convention the word "States" was added before the word "Parties", as the Convention is open to entities other than States (see article 26). Article 34, paragraph 1, of the Statute of the International Court of Justice provides that "only States may be parties in cases before the Court". Consequently, other procedures for settlement are required where a party to a dispute is an entity other than a State.
- 32.3 Paragraph 3 of article 32 therefore provides for the situation in which a regional economic integration organization is a party to a dispute that cannot be settled in the manner prescribed in paragraph 1. The paragraph lays down the procedure for obtaining, through the Economic and Social Council, an advisory opinion of the International Court of Justice and also provides that such an opinion shall be "decisive", thus giving the opinion the same binding character as a judgement of the Court under paragraph 2 of the article.

<sup>931</sup>Commentary on the 1971 Convention, paragraphs 2-4 of the comments on article 31.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>932</sup>Commentary on the 1961 Convention, paragraph 3 of the comments on article 48.

- 32.4 Under article 32, paragraph 4, States or regional economic integration organizations are permitted to opt out of the provisions of paragraphs 2 and 3 of the article at the time of signature or of becoming parties to the 1988 Convention. The provision thus has the effect of permitting any State or regional economic integration organization to enter a reservation by making a declaration under paragraph 4. The effect of such a declaration is to make paragraphs 2 and 3 inoperative between the State or organization making the declaration and other States and organizations that have not made such declarations.
- 32.5 Paragraph 5 provides that a party may at any time withdraw a declaration made under paragraph 4 by notifying the Secretary-General of such withdrawal, thus bringing paragraphs 2 and 3 into operation between the State or organization withdrawing the declaration and all other States and organizations that have not made such declarations. Once withdrawn, such a declaration may not be made again. Paragraph 5 refers only to withdrawal of a declaration by a "Party". Under paragraph 4, however, declarations may be made upon signature as well as at the time when a signatory becomes a party. The fact that there is no reference in paragraph 5 to withdrawal of a declaration by a signatory prior to its becoming a party is probably devoid of practical significance, as the article as a whole only becomes operative after a State or organization becomes a party.
- 32.6 Article 32 represents a compromise arrived at during the Conference between participants who favoured the compulsory settlement of disputes, in the final analysis, by the International Court of Justice and those who did not favour such an approach. As the Conference proceeded by consensus (see "Introduction", paragraph 25, above), an article reflecting both points of view was the only available compromise.
- 32.7 The draft article on disputes in the basic proposal before the Conference contained two variants. The first repeated essentially the provisions of article 31 of the 1971 Convention. The second provided for negotiation as the first means of settlement and, failing that, arbitration. If the parties could not, within six months of a request for arbitration, agree on the organization of the arbitration, any one of the parties could refer the dispute to the International Court of Justice. The second variant also provided that a State could, upon signature or ratification, declare that it was not bound by the latter provision relating to referral to the International Court of Justice.

<sup>933</sup> Official Records, vol. I ..., document E/CONF.82/3, annex II ("Article 26").

- 32.8 The draft article on disputes prepared by the Secretariat<sup>934</sup> at the request of the General Committee of the Conference also contained two variants, the first of which was substantially similar to paragraphs 1, 2 and 3 as eventually adopted by the Conference. Paragraphs 4 and 5 of the article, as eventually adopted, were not included in that variant. The second variant proceeded along the lines of the second variant in the basic proposal (see paragraph 32.7 above), with the addition of a provision for an advisory opinion of the International Court of Justice when a party to the dispute was a regional economic integration organization and the addition of a paragraph on the withdrawal of a declaration of non-acceptance of the settlement procedures identical to that eventually adopted as paragraph 5 of article 32.
- 32.9 The Working Group on Final Clauses considered the various formulations referred to in paragraphs 32.7 and 32.8 above and an amendment by Turkey to the draft article<sup>935</sup> that was to the same effect as paragraphs 4 and 5 of the article as eventually approved by Committee II and adopted at the Conference.
- 32.10 Introducing in Committee II the text proposed by the Working Group on Final Clauses, 936 the Chairman of the Working Group explained that the article on disputes proposed by the Working Group combined various features of the two variants in the Secretariat's draft of the final clauses, together with the amendments by Turkey. The second of those amendments, to the effect that the unilateral instrument referred to in paragraphs 4 and 5 should be described as "a declaration" rather than a "reservation", had given rise to considerable discussion. It had been generally agreed that such a declaration had the full effect of a reservation and that, in view of the provisions of the Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties, 937 in which a reservation, however named, was defined, use of the word "declaration" was not inappropriate.
- 32.11 In the discussion in Committee II on the Working Group's text, a number of representatives indicated their preference for a text that would have

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>934</sup>Ibid., document E/CONF.82/12, "Draft final clauses" (E/CONF.82/C.2/L.13/Add.12), sect. II, para. 2 ("Article 28"), pp. 170-171.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>935</sup>Ibid., paras. 3 and 4 ("Article 28") p. 172.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>936</sup>Official Records, vol. II ..., Summary records of meetings of the Committees of the Whole, Committee II, 30th meeting, paras. 14 and 15.

<sup>937</sup>United Nations, Treaty Series, vol. 1155, p. 331.

omitted paragraphs 4 and 5, thus obviating the situation that might arise when a dispute could not be definitively settled for all parties to the dispute because one or more of those parties did not accept paragraphs 2 and 3 of the article. It was, however, recognized that the text represented a compromise and the Committee approved the text proposed by the Working Group;<sup>938</sup> no comments were made on the article when it came up in plenary.

32.12 Article 32 could be understood to leave open the issue of what would happen if one party filed an application before the International Court of Justice and another party (for example one that had made a declaration under paragraph 4) indicated that it objected to a reference of the dispute to the Court. In such circumstances, the Court would have to determine whether or not it had jurisdiction. Given the wording of the article and the jurisprudence of the Court, the answer would probably be in the affirmative.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>938</sup>Official Records, vol. II ..., Summary records of meetings of the Committees of the Whole, Committee II, 31st meeting, paras. 19-30.

#### **ARTICLE 33**

#### **Authentic texts**

### Single paragraph

The Arabic, Chinese, English, French, Russian and Spanish texts of this Convention are equally authentic.

### **Commentary**

- 33.1 Article 111 of the Charter of the United Nations provides that the authentic texts of the Charter are those in the Chinese, English, French, Russian and Spanish languages. It was thus the standard practice in major multilateral conventions concluded under United Nations auspices to provide for authentic texts in those languages, examples being the 1961 and 1971 Conventions and the 1972 Protocol. By its resolution 3190 (XXVIII), the General Assembly decided to include Arabic among its official and working languages. In its resolution 35/219 A, the Assembly decided to include Arabic among the official and working languages of its subsidiary organs, no later than 1 January 1982 and requested the Economic and Social Council to include Arabic among its official languages, no later than 1 January 1983. By its decision 1982/147, the Council, in pursuance of Assembly resolution 35/219 A, decided to include Arabic among its official languages, with effect from 1 January 1983. Arabic was thus added as one of the languages of the authentic texts of the 1988 Convention.
- 33.2 The basic proposal before the Conference<sup>939</sup> contained no article on the authentic texts. One was, however, included in the draft final clauses prepared by the Secretariat<sup>940</sup> at the request of the General Committee. It was introduced in Committee II by the Chairman of the Working Group as "self-explanatory"<sup>941</sup> and approved, as so proposed, in the Committee. It was adopted in the plenary without comment.

<sup>939</sup> Official Records, vol. I ..., document E/CONF.82/3, annex II, p. 74.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>940</sup>Ibid., document E/CONF.82/12, "Draft final clauses" (E/CONF.82/C.2/L.13/Add.12), sect. II, para. 2 ("Article 29"), p. 171.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>941</sup>Official Records, vol. II ..., Summary records of meetings of the Committees of the Whole, Committee II, 30th meeting, para. 16.

#### **ARTICLE 34**

### **Depositary**

## Single paragraph

The Secretary-General shall be the depositary of this Convention.

### Commentary

- 34.1 Article 34 reflects, in simplified form, the most recent practice of the United Nations. Unlike the 1961 and 1971 Conventions and the 1972 Protocol, it does not attempt to spell out certain functions of the depositary.<sup>942</sup>
- 34.2 The basic proposal before the 1988 Conference<sup>943</sup> had contained a draft article enumerating various notifications to be provided by the Secretary-General as the depositary. The article as eventually adopted, however, was set out in the draft final clauses prepared by the Secretariat<sup>944</sup> at the request of the General Committee. Introducing the report of the Working Group in Committee II, the Chairman of the Working Group on Final Clauses referred to the explanation by the Legal Consultant<sup>945</sup> that, since the adoption of the 1969 Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties,<sup>946</sup> the Secretary-General had advised against detailed articles on such matters as notification or transmission of certified copies and had brought United Nations practice into line with the requirements of that Convention. The article was approved by Committee II and adopted in plenary without change.

<sup>942 1961</sup> Convention, art. 51; 1971 Convention, art. 33; and 1972 Protocol, art. 22.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>943</sup>Official Records, vol. I ..., document E/CONF.82/3, annex II ("Article 27"), p. 88.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>944</sup>Ibid., document E/CONF.82/12, "Draft final clauses" (E/CONF.82/C.2/L.13/Add.12), sect. II, para. 2 ("Article 30"), p. 171.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>945</sup>Official Records, vol. II ..., Summary records of meetings of the Committees of the Whole, Committee II, 30th meeting, para. 17.

<sup>946</sup>United Nations, Treaty Series, vol. 1155, p. 331.

34.3 The functions of a depositary are laid down in article 77 of the 1969 Vienna Convention, which provides as follows:

### "Functions of depositaries

- "1. The functions of a depositary, unless otherwise provided in the treaty or agreed by the contracting States, comprise in particular:
- "(a) Keeping custody of the original text of the treaty and of any full powers delivered to the depositary;
- "(b) Preparing certified copies of the original text and preparing any further text of the treaty in such additional languages as may be required by the treaty and transmitting them to the parties and to the States entitled to become parties to the treaty;
- "(c) Receiving any signatures to the treaty and receiving and keeping custody of any instruments, notifications and communications relating to it;
- "(d) Examining whether the signature or any instrument, notification or communication relating to the treaty is in due and proper form and, if need be, bringing the matter to the attention of the State in question;
- "(e) Informing the parties and the States entitled to become parties to the treaty of acts, notifications and communications relating to the treaty;
- "(f) Informing the States entitled to become parties to the treaty when the number of signatures or of instruments of ratification, acceptance, approval or accession required for the entry into force of the treaty has been received or deposited;
  - "(g) Registering the treaty with the Secretariat of the United Nations;
- "(h) Performing the functions specified in other provisions of the present Convention.
- "2. In the event of any difference appearing between a State and the depositary as to the performance of the latter's functions, the depositary shall bring the question to the attention of the signatory States and the contracting States or, where appropriate, of the competent organ of the international organization concerned."

34.4 In addition to the standard depositary functions laid down in the 1969 Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties, the 1988 Convention contains provisions conferring certain express responsibilities on the Secretary-General, examples of which can be found in the following: article 5, paragraph 1, subparagraph (e); article 7, paragraphs 8 and 9; article 12, paragraphs 2, 3 and 6 and paragraph 7, subparagraphs (a) and (b), and paragraph 10, subparagraph (a); article 17, paragraph 7; and article 22, paragraph 1, subparagraph (a).

### ATTESTATION CLAUSE AND CONCLUDING PARAGRAPH

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the undersigned, being duly authorized thereto, have signed this Convention.

DONE AT VIENNA, in one original, this twentieth day of December one thousand nine hundred and eighty-eight.

- 35.1 The attestation clause follows the most recent practice of the United Nations in that, unlike the 1961 and 1971 Conventions and the 1972 Protocol, it does not state that the Convention has been signed by representatives "on behalf of their respective Governments". The reason for the omission is that the 1988 Convention is open for signature, in accordance with the provisions of article 26, not only on behalf of States, but also on behalf of Namibia, represented by the United Nations Council for Namibia, and by regional economic integration organizations meeting the qualifications laid down in subparagraph (c) of that article.
- 35.2 Furthermore, the attestation clause, unlike the case in the 1961 and 1971 Conventions and the 1972 Protocol, contains no reference either to the deposit of the original text in the archives of the United Nations or to the transmission of certified copies thereof. These are now regarded as standard depositary functions that come under article 34 of the 1988 Convention and the standard provisions laid down in article 77 of the 1969 Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties (see paragraph 34.3 above).
- 35.3 Unlike the 1961 and 1971 Conventions and 1972 Protocol, the concluding paragraph lays down that the 1988 Convention shall be signed "in one original", instead of "in one copy". The word "original" is used in order to avoid the confusion that could arise in certain of the languages of the Convention from the use of the word "copy", which could denote a text other than the original.

## **PART FIVE**

## TABLES ANNEXED TO THE CONVENTION

### ANNEX TO THE CONVENTION

#### **ANNEX**

### Table I

Ephedrine
Ergometrine
Ergotamine
Lysergic acid
1-phenyl-2-propanone
Pseudoephedrine

# Table II

Acetic anhydride Acetone Anthranilic acid Ethyl ether Phenylacetic acid Piperidine

The salts of the substances listed in this Table whenever the existence of such salts is possible.

The salts of the substances listed in this Table whenever the existence of such salts is possible.

## Commentary

36.1 The text of the draft Convention annexed to General Assembly resolution 39/141 and forwarded to the Commission as a working document (see "Introduction", paragraphs 7-9, above) did not contain any proposal to monitor or control substances which, while not themselves either narcotic drugs or psychotropic substances, could be used in the illicit manufacture of drugs.<sup>947</sup> Such a proposal is first reflected in the written record of preparatory work

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>947</sup>See above, comments on article 12 (especially paragraphs 12.1-12.8) and, for control measures applicable to substances in Table I or Table II, comments on paragraphs 8-10 of article 12.

leading to the adoption of the Convention in the note by the Secretary-General on the initiation of a draft convention against the illicit traffic in narcotic drugs, 948 which was before the Commission at its thirty-first session, in February 1985. As pointed out in that document, a number of Governments as well as the Commission itself had "long been concerned with establishing closer control measures over some chemicals which are essential for the manufacture of illicit drugs and which are readily available on the licit market". 949 No specific substances, however, were identified for such treatment, and the drafting of what was to become article 12 in the final text of the Convention evolved on the understanding that the substances in question would be identified at a later stage.

- 36.2 In the comments received from Governments during the next step of the preparatory work (see "Introduction", paragraph 12, above), it was evident that support for such control measures was developing, 950 and this was reflected further during discussions of the Commission at its ninth special session in February 1986. 951 The comments at that session were again on the general advisability of introducing an article on the control of certain substances, and it was suggested "that a list of chemicals and precursors could be established by the Commission, following assessment of the substances by the International Narcotics Control Board". 952 That procedure, further refined during the drafting process, ultimately become the basis for amending Table I and Table II, annexed to the Convention. 953
- 36.3 At its thirty-second session, in February 1987, the Commission considered a preliminary draft of the Convention prepared at its request by the Secretary-General (see "Introduction", paragraphs 16-17, above) where reference is made for the first time to substances as being in "List A" or

<sup>948</sup>E/CN.7/1985/19.

<sup>949</sup>E/CN.7/1985/19, para. 16.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>950</sup>See the report of the Secretary-General on comments and proposals received from Governments concerning a draft convention on illicit traffic in narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances (E/CN.7/1986/2), paras. 62-70.

<sup>951</sup> Official Records of the Economic and Social Council, 1986, Supplement No. 3 (E/1986/23), paras. 14 and 17.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>952</sup>Ibid., para. 17.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>953</sup>See above, comments on paragraphs 2-5 of article 12.

"List B". 954 The substances in question were not further defined or identified, but they were referred to in both the title of the draft article and in the body of the text of the article as "specific chemicals". The introduction of two lists was a development due to the distinction made during early discussions between "precursors" and "essential chemicals" (including reagents and solvents). 956 The comments and proposals received from Governments in response to the preliminary draft were also before the Commission at its thirty-second session, 957 and, for the first time, a specific listing of substances was put forward by the United States. The proposal of the United States 959 was to include the following "specific chemicals" in "List A" and "List B":

List A

Anthranilic acid
Ergotamine
Ergonovine
Phenylacetic acid
Phenyl-2-propanone
Ephedrine
Pseudoephedrine
Piperidine

List B

Acetic anhydride Acetone Ethyl ether

That proposal was the basis for further discussions at the open-ended intergovernmental expert group established by the Council at the request of the Commission (see "Introduction", paragraphs 18-21, above) and was the starting

 $<sup>^{954}</sup>Official\ Records,$ vol. I ..., document E/CN.7/1987/2, sect. II ("Article 8"), pp. 7-8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>955</sup>See footnote 540 above.

<sup>956</sup>See footnotes 541 and 542 above.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>957</sup>"Preparation of a draft convention against illicit traffic in narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances: report of the Secretary-General" (E/CN.7/1987/2/Add.1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>958</sup>States had possibly submitted other proposals for inclusion of specific substances in an article on monitoring or control measures in response to the various requests for contributions to the draft Convention addressed to them by the Secretary-General, but, if so, they were not reproduced as part of the written record.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>959</sup>"Preparation of a draft convention against illicit traffic in narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances: report of the Secretary-General" (E/CN.7/1987/2/Add.1), para. 480.

point for consideration of the matter in the working document that was before the expert group. 960

36.4 Following informal consultations in the expert group, a redraft of article 8 (later article 12) and related lists was put forward<sup>961</sup> in which it was spelled out that "List A" would contain "immediate precursors" and "List B" would cover "essential chemicals". In the section at the end of the draft article entitled "Tentative lists", the distribution of substances between the two lists was as follows:

### List A

List B

Ephedrine
Ergometrine
Ergotamine
Lysergic acid
Phenyl-2-propanone
Pseudoephedrine

Acetic anhydride

Acetone

Anthranilic acid Ethyl ether

Phenylacetic acid

Piperidine

The substances in "List A" and "List B", which were not further modified during the remainder of the meetings of the open-ended intergovernmental expert group, are identical to those in Table I and Table II, respectively, as finally adopted at the Conference.

- 36.5 The question of the inclusion of salts of the substances was left open for the time being by the addition of the phrase "further definition of substances concerning salts, etc. to be made". That phrase was maintained in the various drafts before the three meetings of the open-ended intergovernmental expert group and the review group and was finally resolved only at the Conference (see paragraph 36.9, below).
- 36.6 In the interim report of the open-ended intergovernmental expert group, issued following its first meeting in July 1987, the title of the article read "Measures to monitor or control immediate precursors and essential chemicals used in the illicit processing or manufacture of narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances". Although tentative definitions for the terms "immediate

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>960</sup>DND/DCIT/WP.1, para. 676.

<sup>961</sup>DND/DCIT/WP.8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>962</sup>DND/DCIT/WP.12, p. 26.

precursors" and "essential chemicals" had been proposed by the expert group, 963 it became clear, following further discussions, that specific definitions could not be agreed on and that such a distinction was inappropriate. The draft article (now retitled "Measures to control substances frequently used in the illicit processing or manufacture of narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances"), as it appears in the report issued after the second meeting of the expert group in October 1987, refers only to "substances in List A and List B", 964 and does not suggest that "List A" should include only "immediate precursors" and "List B" only "essential chemicals". This result arose from an agreement on the deletion of any definitions and the consequent simplification of reference to only substances in "List A" or "List B", as had been recommended during informal consultations and endorsed by the expert group, 965 which also agreed to include, tentatively, the substances proposed. The position thus adopted by the expert group not to consider the substances in either "List A" or "List B" as representing two distinct categories of substances (i.e. "immediate precursors" and "essential chemicals") was thereafter followed by the review group and the Conference. 967

36.7 At the tenth special session of the Commission, in February 1988, comments on draft article 8 concerned only the text of the draft itself, no comments being made on the contents of "List A" and "List B" as such. 968 The Commission decided to forward the article as drafted, including "List A" and "List B", to the Conference for final action on its content and formulation. 969

<sup>963</sup>DND/DCIT/WP.8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>964</sup>"Report of the open-ended intergovernmental expert group meeting on the preparation of a draft convention against illicit traffic in narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances" (E/CN.7/1988/2 (Part II)), annexes, p. 51.

<sup>965</sup> Official Records, vol. I ..., document E/CN.7/1988/2 (Part II), para. 179.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>966</sup>Ibid., para. 160.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>967</sup>In practice, the results of the scheduling procedure since the entry into force of the Convention have also reflected the clear intention of the drafters that substances in Table I not be necessarily considered "immediate precursors", nor that Table II be limited to "essential chemicals". The distinction between Table I and Table II concerns only the control measures applicable to the substances therein.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>968</sup>See Official Records of the Economic and Social Council, 1988, Supplement No. 3 (E/1998/13), paras. 39-50.

<sup>969</sup> Ibid., para. 50

- 36.8 Committee II of the Conference devoted all or part of seven meetings<sup>970</sup> to consideration of draft article 8, later to become article 12 in the final text, but most of its deliberations were directed to the technical contents of the article with respect to measures to be taken by parties. No re-examination of the composition of "List A" and "List B" (later Table I and Table II) was carried out.<sup>971</sup> Early in the discussions, the question of re-designating the lists was raised.<sup>972</sup> Later, the German Democratic Republic, supported by France, proposed to redesignate "List A" and "List B" as "Schedule I" and "Schedule II".<sup>973</sup> Following informal consultations, the Chairman announced that a majority of delegations favoured using the term "schedule" as in the existing international drug control treaties and the Committee agreed to that change.<sup>974</sup>
- 36.9 At the same time, the Chairman proposed, and the Committee agreed, to clarify the issue of the status of salts of scheduled substances (an issue that had been left in abeyance since the open-ended intergovernmental expert group) by adding after each list of substances the words "The salts of the substances listed in this Schedule whenever the existence of such salts is possible". 975
- 36.10 In the Drafting Committee, following some doubts as to the most suitable word in all languages for the notion of "schedule", the term eventually adopted for the English text was "table", and the final text of article 12 and the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>970</sup>Official Records, vol. II ..., Summary records of meetings of the Committees of the Whole, Committee II, 10th to 16th meetings, pp. 245-267.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>971</sup>But see the comment of the representative of Turkey that acetic anhydride should appear in "List A" rather than "List B" (Official Records, vol. II ..., Summary records of meetings of the Committees of the Whole, Committee II, 11th meeting, para. 30, p. 252) and comments by the representative of Sri Lanka (Official Records, vol. II ..., Summary records of meetings of the Committees of the Whole, Committee II, 15th meeting, paras. 16-19, p. 263).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>972</sup>See the intervention by the representative of the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics (*Official Records*, vol. II ..., Summary records of meetings of the Committees of the Whole, Committee II, 10th meeting, para. 19, p. 247).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>973</sup>Official Records, vol. II ..., Summary records of meetings of the Committees of the Whole, Committee II, 15th meeting, para. 20, p. 263.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>974</sup>Ibid., 16th meeting, paras. 1-2, p. 264.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>975</sup>Ibid., paras. 3-4, p. 264.

annex to the Convention were adjusted accordingly.<sup>976</sup> The texts of article 12 and the annex containing Table I and Table II were adopted in plenary without further comment as to their formulation.

- 36.11 From the entry into force of the Convention on 11 November 1990 to the publication of the present *Commentary* in 1998, the amendment procedure foreseen in article 12, paragraphs 2-5, has been invoked once, <sup>977</sup> with the result that a number of substances have been added to both Table I and Table II. The amendment proposal was to include in Table I *N*-acetylanthranilic acid and 3,4-methylenedioxyphenyl-2-propanone, and in Table II hydrochloric acid, isosafrole, methyl ethyl ketone, piperonal, potassium permanganate, safrole, sulphuric acid and toluene.
- 36.12 In accordance with the amendment procedure called for in paragraph 3 of article 12, the Secretary-General transmitted the proposal to parties to the Convention, as well as to the Commission and the Board. Following an assessment of the ten substances in accordance with the provisions of article 12, paragraph 4, the President of the Board conveyed to the Commission through the Secretary-General the Board's opinion that *N*-acetylanthranilic acid, isosafrole, 3,4-methylenedioxyphenyl-2-propanone, piperonal and safrole should be added to Table I and that hydrochloric acid (excluding its salts), methyl ethyl ketone, potassium permanganate, sulphuric acid (excluding its salts) and toluene should be added to Table II of the Convention. Comments on the amendment proposal received from parties as well as the assessment of the Board were taken into account by the Commission at its thirty-fifth session<sup>978</sup> when deciding to amend Table I and Table II as recommended by the Board.<sup>979</sup> The official notification of those amendments by the Secretary-General<sup>980</sup> not having given rise to any request for review of the Commission decisions by the Council,<sup>981</sup> the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>976</sup>See the explanations given by the representative of the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics and the Chairman of the Committee (*Official Records*, vol. II ..., Summary records of meetings of the Committees of the Whole, Committee II, 34th meeting, paras. 86-87, p. 332).

<sup>977</sup>Pursuant to a notification from the United States dated 5 July 1991.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>978</sup>See Official Records of the Economic and Social Council, 1992, Supplement No. 5 (E/1992/25), paras. 124-141.

<sup>979</sup> Ibid., para. 232, decisions 4 (XXXV) and 5 (XXXV).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>980</sup>Note verbale NAR/CL.3/1992 dated 27 May 1992.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>981</sup>Pursuant to the provisions of article 12, paragraph 7.

amendments became fully effective for parties on 23 November 1992, through the operation of paragraph 6 of article 12. Amended versions of the Convention issued since that date by the Secretary-General reflect the inclusion of the 10 substances in Table I and Table II, as well as the specific exclusion of the salts of both hydrochloric acid and sulphuric acid from Table II.

36.13 At the time of the publication of this *Commentary* in 1998, the revised versions of Table I and Table II, annexed to the Convention, were as follows:

### Table I

N-acetylanthranilic acid
Ephedrine
Ergometrine
Ergotamine
Isosafrole
Lysergic acid
3,4-methylenedioxyphenyl-2-propanone
1-phenyl-2-propanone
Piperonal
Pseudoephedrine
Safrole

The salts of the substances listed in this Table whenever the existence of such salts is possible.

#### Table II

Acetic anhydride
Acetone
Anthranilic acid
Ethyl ether
Hydrochloric acid
Methyl ethyl ketone
Phenylacetic acid
Piperidine
Potassium permanganate
Sulphuric acid
Toluene

The salts of the substances listed in this Table whenever the existence of such salts is possible (the salts of hydrochloric acid and sulphuric acid are specifically excluded).

### **ANNEXES**

#### ANNEX I

### Legislative history of the final clauses

- I.1 Very little consideration was given to the draft final clauses in the discussions that led up to the Conference. They had originally been prepared by the Secretary-General, pursuant to Economic and Social Council resolution 1987/27 (see "Introduction", paragraph 18, above), and had been circulated to Governments and to the open-ended intergovernmental expert group (see "Introduction", paragraphs 19-21, above) established pursuant to Council resolution 1987/27, which had held two sessions in 1987 and one in 1988. The three reports of the expert group<sup>a</sup> were considered by the Commission on Narcotic Drugs at its tenth special session, held from 8 to 19 February 1988.
- I.2 Attention both in the expert group and in the Commission was directed almost exclusively to the articles of the draft Convention other than the final clauses, which received only cursory consideration.<sup>b</sup> The review group on the draft Convention established by the Council in its resolution 1988/8 (see "Introduction", paragraphs 22 and 23, above) after the tenth special session of the Commission had taken place, did not address itself to the final clauses, except as noted in the comments on article 26 (see paragraph 26.6 above).
- I.3 Together with the draft substantive articles, the draft final clauses were forwarded to the Conference as the basic proposal<sup>c</sup> before the Conference. At the Conference, the draft final clauses were referred to Committee II for consideration.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup>Official Records, vol. I ..., document E/CN.7/1988/2 (Part II) and (Part IV).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>b</sup>Ibid., document E/CN.7/1988/2 (Part II), paras. 7-14; see also the report on the tenth special session of the Commission on Narcotic Drugs (*Official Records of the Economic and Social Council*, 1988, Supplement No. 3 (E/1988/13), paras. 124-136).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>c</sup>Official Records, vol. I ..., document E/CONF.82/3, annex II.

- I.4 The General Committee of the Conference requested the Secretariat, taking into account the draft final clauses contained in the report of the review group on the draft Convention, to propose a reformulated text of those clauses, reflecting the most recent practice of the Secretary-General as the depositary of multilateral conventions.
- I.5 Committee II decided to establish a Working Group on Final Clauses to consider the draft final clauses contained in the basic proposal<sup>d</sup> and in the text proposed by the Secretariat<sup>e</sup> at the request of the General Committee. The Working Group prepared a set of final clauses, which was introduced by the Chairman of the Working Group<sup>f</sup> in Committee II for consideration. The text resulting from the Committee's consideration was transmitted to the Drafting Committee.<sup>g</sup> The Drafting Committee's report to the Conference contained the text of the draft Convention resulting from the work of Committees I and II,<sup>h</sup> the final clauses in that text being considered by the Conference at its 7th plenary meeting.<sup>i</sup>

dIbid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>e</sup>Ibid., document E/CONF.82/12, "Draft final clauses" (E/CONF.82/C.2/L.13/Add.12), sect. II, para. 2, pp. 169-171.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>f</sup>Official Records, vol. II ..., Summary records of meetings of the Committees of the Whole, Committee II, 30th meeting, paras. 2-18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>g</sup>Official Records, vol. I ..., document E/CONF.82/12, "Final draft clauses" (E/CONF.82/C.2/L.13/Add.12), sect. IV.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>h</sup>Ibid., document E/CONF.82/15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>i</sup>Official Records, vol. II ..., Summary records of plenary meetings, 7th plenary meeting, paras. 87-100.

#### ANNEX II

### Subjects not included in the Convention

#### A. Reservations

II.A.1 The 1988 Convention contains no article on reservations, contrary to both the 1961 Convention<sup>a</sup> and the 1971 Convention.<sup>b</sup>

II.A.2 In the 1961 Convention, article 49 deals with transitional reservations (those intended to be of limited duration) and article 50 with other reservations. The latter article lists the articles in the Convention to which reservations are permitted, no other reservations being allowed. The same approach is to be found in article 32 of the 1971 Convention.

II.A.3 In the draft final clauses, set out in the basic proposal<sup>c</sup> before the Conference, a draft article was included<sup>d</sup> that would have permitted reservations to several articles, to be expressly identified by the Conference. It further provided that a reservation incompatible with the object and purpose of the Convention would not be permitted, incompatibility being established if at least two thirds of the parties to the Convention objected to it. The proposal also laid down a procedure whereby, through notification to the Secretary-General and to other States, a State might make a reservation other than one expressly permitted if not objected to within one year by one third of the States parties. The draft final clauses prepared by the Secretariat at the request of the General Committee included a draft article<sup>e</sup> on reservations that was substantially similar. Japan submitted an amendment, that would have substituted a modified form of the other two proposals regarding reservations not expressly permitted by the Convention.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup>1961 Convention, arts. 49 and 50.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>b</sup>1971 Convention, art. 32.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>c</sup>Official Records, vol. I ..., document E/CONF.82/3, annex II.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>d</sup>Ibid. ("Article 25"), p. 87.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>e</sup>Ibid., document E/CONF.82/12, "Draft final clauses" (E/CONF.82/C.2/L.13/Add.12), sect. II, para. 2 ("Article 27"), p. 170.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>f</sup>Ibid., paras. 3 and 4 ("Article 25"), p. 172.

II.A.4 The above texts were all referred to the Working Group on Final Clauses established by Committee II. Introducing the draft clauses recommended by the Working Group in Committee II, the Chairman of the Working Group explained<sup>g</sup> that, during the Working Group's discussions, some delegations had felt that the Convention should contain a provision indicating that no reservations whatsoever were permitted; others had taken the view that the right to enter reservations that were not contrary to the object and purpose of the Convention should be maintained. The Working Group had decided that, as it would be exceedingly difficult and time-consuming to enumerate in the final clauses those articles to which reservations were or were not permitted, the reservations clause should be omitted and the matter left to be dealt with in accordance with the rules of international law relating to reservations, which were clear since the adoption on 23 May 1969 and the entry into force on 27 January 1980 of the 1969 Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties.<sup>h</sup>

II.A.5 In Committee II, several representatives commented on the absence of an article on reservations. While recognizing that the 1969 Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties could provide guidance, they would have preferred an article either indicating that no reservations were permitted, or listing those articles to which reservations would be permitted. A few representatives indicated clauses in respect of which their Governments would have to consider entering reservations, for example in respect of the extradition of nationals and the reference of disputes to the International Court of Justice. Similar comments were made in the plenary, where again reference was made to the guidance that could be provided by the 1969 Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties.

II.A.6 In the absence of an article on reservations, it is necessary to have recourse to the general international law on the subject, the most authoritative statement of which is, in fact, in the 1969 Vienna Convention, which is restricted to treaties concluded between States. The subsequent 1986 Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties between States and International

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>g</sup>Official Records, vol. II ..., Summary records of meetings of the Committees of the Whole, Committee II, 30th meeting, para. 13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>h</sup>United Nations, Treaty Series, vol. 1155, No. 18232.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>i</sup>Official Records, vol. II ..., Summary records of meetings of the Committees of the Whole, Committee II, 31st meeting, paras. 32-51.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>j</sup>Ibid., Summary records of plenary meetings, 7th plenary meeting, paras. 101-105.

Organizations<sup>k</sup> was not yet in force when the present *Commentary* was prepared. The provisions of both conventions, however, are identical as regards reservations and are considered to be indicative of general international law applicable to reservations to multilateral conventions to which both States and organizations may become parties.

- II.A.7 Article 2, subparagraph (d), of the 1969 Vienna Convention provides that "'reservation' means a unilateral statement, however phrased or named, made by a State, when signing, ratifying, accepting, approving or acceding to a treaty, whereby it purports to exclude or to modify the legal effect of certain provisions of the treaty in their application to that State."
- II.A.8 If an instrument has the effects indicated in the above definition, it is irrelevant whether the depositary State denominates the instrument as a declaration or employs any term other than "reservation". It is for each contracting State to determine whether, in its view, an instrument deposited by another contracting State contains a reservation and whether or not it objects to that reservation.
- II.A.9 Under article 19 of both the 1969 Vienna Convention and the 1986 Vienna Convention, reservations may be made upon signature, ratification, acceptance, approval or accession to a treaty unless they are prohibited by the treaty; unless the treaty provides only for specified reservations, not including the reservation in question; or unless the reservation is incompatible with the object and purpose of the treaty. Again, it is for each contracting State to determine whether, in its view, a reservation by another contracting State is acceptable or not.
- II.A.10 As regards acceptance of and objection to reservations, the 1969 Vienna Convention contains the following provisions in its article 20, which appear relevant in the context of the 1988 Convention:
  - "1. A reservation expressly authorized by a treaty does not require any subsequent acceptance by the other contracting States unless the treaty so provides.

**"**2. ....

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>k</sup>A/CONF.129/15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>United Nations, Treaty Series, vol. 1155, No.18232.

- "3.
- "4. Unless the treaty otherwise provides:
- "(a) Acceptance by another contracting State of a reservation constitutes the reserving State a party to the treaty in relation to that other State if or when the treaty is in force for those States;
- "(b) An objection by another contracting State to a reservation does not preclude the entry into force of the treaty as between the objecting and reserving States unless a contrary intention is definitely expressed by the objecting State;
- "(c) An act expressing a State's consent to be bound by the treaty and containing a reservation is effective as soon as at least one other contracting State has accepted the reservation.
- "5. For the purposes of paragraph 4 and unless the treaty otherwise provides, a reservation is considered to have been accepted by a State if it shall have raised no objection to the reservation by the end of a period of twelve months after it was notified of the reservation or by the date on which it expressed its consent to be bound by the treaty whichever is later."
- II.A.11 While it is not expressly so identified in the 1988 Convention, a reservation of the character referred to in paragraph 1 of the article just quoted is to be found in paragraph 4 of article 32, on settlement of disputes, in the 1988 Convention (see paragraph 32.4 above).
- II.A.12 On the legal effects of reservations and of objections to reservations, the 1969 Vienna Convention provides, in its article 21, that:
  - "1. A reservation:
  - "(a) Modifies for the reserving State in its relations with that other party the provisions of the treaty to which the reservation relates to the extent of the reservation; and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>m</sup>Ibid.

- "(b) Modifies those provisions to the same extent for that other party in its relations with the reserving State.
- "2. The reservation does not modify the provisions of the treaty for the other parties to the treaty *inter se*.
- "3. When a State objecting to a reservation has not opposed the entry into force of the treaty between itself and the reserving State, the provisions to which the reservation relates do not apply as between the two States to the extent of the reservation."
- II.A.13 Both the 1969 Vienna Convention and the 1986 Vienna Convention lay down in article 22 that, unless the treaty provides otherwise, a reservation and an objection to a reservation may be withdrawn at any time. They also require that, if a reservation is formulated on signature of a treaty requiring ratification or another formal act of confirmation, that reservation must be formally confirmed by the reserving State or organization when it expresses its consent to be bound by the treaty.
- II.A.14 Since the conclusion of the 1988 Convention, a number of States have formulated reservations, as well as declarations and understandings, either upon signature or at the time of ratification or other formal act of confirmation, in relation to the Convention in general or to provisions of specific articles. In addition, other parties have entered objections to some of those reservations, declarations and understandings. At the time of publication of this *Commentary*, two reservations had been withdrawn and several had not been confirmed, either in part or in their entirety, upon ratification. The status of all reservations, declarations and understandings, as well as objections thereto and any withdrawals which may have occurred, is published annually by the Secretary-General acting in his capacity as depositary of the Convention.<sup>o</sup>

<sup>&</sup>quot;Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>o</sup>For a list of all reservations, declarations, understandings, objections and withdrawals, see *Multilateral Treaties Deposited with the Secretary-General: Status as at 31 December 1997* (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.98.V.2).

### B. Territorial application

- II.B.1 The 1988 Convention does not include an article on territorial application.
- II.B.2 Provisions on territorial application are to be found in articles 42 and 27, respectively, of the 1961 Convention and the 1971 Convention, which provide that those conventions shall apply, under conditions specified in those articles, to all non-metropolitan territories for the international relations of which a party is responsible.
- II.B.3 Draft articles on territorial application were contained in the basic proposal before the Conference<sup>p</sup> and in the final clauses prepared by the Secretariat<sup>q</sup> at the request of the General Committee. The decision to omit such an article was taken in the Working Group on Final Clauses. Introducing the report of the Working Group in Committee II, the Chairman of the Working Group explained that a few representatives had wished to retain a clause on territorial application, but the majority had been of the opinion that it was no longer appropriate in the current world situation. Those who had favoured retaining the clause had subsequently joined the consensus and the Working Group had decided to omit the clause.<sup>r</sup> No suggestion to insert such a clause was made subsequently either in Committee II, when the final clauses were discussed, or in plenary, when they were before the Conference for comment.
- II.B.4 The matter is thus regulated by general international law and applicable depositary practice. In a notification received on 2 December 1993, the Government of the United Kingdom notified the Secretary-General that the Convention should apply to the Isle of Man, with a stated reservation in respect of a provision in article 7. On 8 February 1995, the Government of the United Kingdom further notified the Secretary-General that the Convention should also apply, as from that same date, to the following territories: Anguilla, Bermuda, British Virgin Islands, Cayman Islands, Montserrat, and Turks and Caicos

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>p</sup>Official Records, vol. I ..., document E/CONF.82/3, annex II ("Article 22"), p. 86.

 $<sup>^</sup>q{\rm Ibid.},$  document E/CONF.82/12, "Draft final clauses" (E/CONF.82/C.2/L.13/Add.12), sect. II, para. 2 ("Article 24"), p. 170.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>r</sup>Official Records, vol. II ..., Summary records of meetings of the Committees of the Whole, Committee II, 30th meeting, para. 9.

Islands.<sup>5</sup> None of those declarations gave rise to any observations by other parties to the Convention. It would thus seem that previous practice regarding the application of the 1961 Convention and the 1971 Convention continues to apply in respect of dependent territories, even in the absence of a territorial application clause. That presumably would also be the case with regard to any denunciation of the Convention in respect of a dependent territory to which the Convention had been applied.<sup>6</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>s</sup>Multilateral Treaties Deposited with the Secretary-General: Status as at 31 December 1997 (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.98.V.2), chap. VI, sect. 19, note 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>t</sup>See above, comments on article 30.



#### كيفية الحصول على منشورات الأمم المتحدة

يمكن الحصول على منشورات الأمم المتحدة من المكتبات ودور التوزيع في جميع أنحاء العالم . استملم عنها من المكتبة التي تتمامل معها أو أكتب إلى : الأمم المتحدة ، قسم البيع في نيويورك أو في جنيف .

如何殉取联合国出版物

联合国出版物在全世界各地的书店和经售处均有发售。 请向书店询问或写信到纽约或日内页的联合国销售组。

#### HOW TO OBTAIN UNITED NATIONS PUBLICATIONS

United Nations publications may be obtained from bookstores and distributors throughout the world. Consult your bookstore or write to: United Nations, Sales Section, New York or Geneva.

#### COMMENT SE PROCURER LES PUBLICATIONS DES NATIONS UNIES

Les publications des Nations Unies sont en vente dans les librairies et les agences dépositaires du monde entier. Informez-vous auprès de votre libraire ou adressez-vous à : Nations Unies, Section des ventes, New York ou Genève.

#### КАК ПОЛУЧИТЬ ИЗДАНИЯ ОРГАНИЗАЦИИ ОБЪЕДИНЕННЫХ НАШИЙ

Издания Организации Объединенных Наций можно купить в книжных магазинах и агентствах во всех районах мира. Наводите справки об изданиях в вашем книжном магазине или пишите по адресу: Организация Объединенных Наций, Секция по продаже изданий, Нью-Йорк или Женева.

#### COMO CONSEGUIR PUBLICACIONES DE LAS NACIONES UNIDAS

Las publicaciones de las Naciones Unidas están en venta en librerías y casas distribuidoras en todas partes del mundo. Consulte a su librero o diríjase a: Naciones Unidas, Sección de Ventas, Nueva York o Ginebra.